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SYNOPSIS

LAw ENFORCEMENT AT FORT SMITH 1871-1896

‘The 32d Congress on March 3, 1851, established a Court for the Western
s Disth&n“s- Though they
we;g'separate courts, the Eastern and Western Districts of Arkansas had
the same judge. Congress on March 3, 1871, passed & law shifting the seat
_for the Court for theWestern—District—frowVan—Buren-to-Fort Smith, and
WJPMM%MWMMtﬁcL
The first session of the Court for the Western District to convene at
Fort Smith was called to order by Judge William Story on Monday, May 8, 1871,

{n the Kogers' Building. On November 14, 1872, a fire destraoyed the Rogers!
Building, and the court on November 18 opened in the old "Soldiers' Quarters."

Graft and corruption in the Court for the Western District sparked a
congressional investigation in the spring of 1874. Bills were introduced
‘ to abolish the Court for the Western District. When Story resigned under
i fire, the Senate failed to act. Pending the appointment of a new judge,
Henry J. Caldwell presided over the Fort Smith court. kWhile Story was
Jjudge, seven men were sentenced to death and were executed by the Court
for the Western District. At the November 1874 term of court, Judge
Caldwell doomed one man.
Isaac Parker was appointed to be judge of the Court for the Western
District by President Ulysses S. Grant in March 1875. Parker on May 10
opened the first term of the Fort Smith court over which he was to preside
for the next 21 years. At the May 1875 term of court, eight men were
convicted of murder and sentenced to death. Six of these men were hanged
in the old Garrison on September 3, 1875.
Five of the six men convicted of murder at the November 1875 term of
court were hanged on April 21, 1876. Five months later, four more men were
8 tﬁto the gallows. Thus, within a period of 371 days, 15 convicted v

':*. Since these executions were public affairs, they had been witnttaodf?
By the time the next two men went to the gallows on -
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'Qtpprobfiate funds for the construction of better facilities for the

December 20, 1€78, publie hangings at the old Carrison were a thing of the
;past; a stockade had been erected around the scaffold and the enly personl
j;dmitted were those with tickets. -
Du}ing the fall of 1883 pressure began to mount for congress to

court and Jail at Fort Smith. The hue and cry raised by the Fort
Smithites reached Washington. Aqgg_9§!§§j-gg@&glgwgpscribing conditions
in the U. S. Jail was widely circulated, and on March 16, 1886, President
Grover Cleveland sizned a bill appropriating $125,000 for the construction
of a courthouse and jail at Fort Smith. Work on the new jail was started
in_gggggzy 1887, and on February 1, 1888, the contractor turned the new
jail over to Marshal John Carroll. On March 17 the prisoners in Cell No., _
1 of the old jJail sought to burn their way out. The attempt failed. Two
days ys later the inmates were transferred to the new jail. Following the

removal of the prisoners, the old jail was used for hospital purposes,

“The new courthouse was completed during of 188 7 ke

, convened his doﬁ?f"IE"fE15~E;;I;;;;—;:e;t:j;::;l;:_;;;5?4_222—j::&:;iit;;f:;

. at"the "Garrison" was then turned i . es.
r__E53iE_EEF?6II—WEE—EE;gE;i_;;;;3::-Z;z:ipitil;:ig;i:fiih District an

unusually large number of law enforcement officers were slain in ecarrying
out their duties. In the 20 months between May 1886 and December 1887,
nine deputy marshals, two possemen, and three guards were killed by
desperados.

During the 1890's a number of outlaw bands terrorized the Indisn
Territory, western Arkansas, and southern Kansas. Although it was hard,
dangerous work, the lawmen broke up these gangs, Henry Starr and a number
of his confederates were brought before Judge Parker. Although Starr was
convicted of murder and sentenced to death, his case when appealed to the
Supreme Court was ordered retried. Unce again, Starr was convicted and
doomed by Judge Parker only to be saved by the high court. After Parker
had left the bench, Starr in 1898 was allowed to plead guilty to manslaugh crrﬁ
Elxﬁicame the struggle against the Cook Gang. A number of the me: ]
&I‘Mha:gang, along with several lawmen, died in gunbattles. The leadeffhf.
th§ gang, William T. Cock, was convicted of armed robbery in Judge Parker's

ii



Court and sentenced to 45 years'! imprisonment. One of Cook's henchmen,
Cherckee Bill Goldsby, was convicted and doomed by Judge Parker for murder.
;Cherokee Bill on July 26 killed Guard Lawrence Keating in an attempt t_:
gv“eékdut of the U, S, Jail., When he was executed on March 17, 1896, i.
attracted national interest. ;-;':

) Durinb the sumner of 1895, the Rufus Buck Cang conducted a 13-day reign o
cf terror in the Indian Territory. Captured, the five members of the Buck
Gang were convicted of raping Rosetta Hassan and sentenced to death by Parker.
James C. Casharago, who was executed on July 30, 1896, was the last min to be
executed by the Court for the Western District. While Farker was judge, 79
of the men upon whom he had. passed sentence of death were hanged at Fort
Smith. Altogether, 87 men were executed by the Court for the Western District
from the time of removal to Fort Smith from Van Buren in 1871 until Parker's
retirement from the bench in 1896.

Con:ress on January 6, 1883, passed an act reducing the area in the

Indian Territory over which Judge Parker's Court had jurisdiction. The
legislation, however, had little effect on the volume of business coming
before Judge Parker. The 50th Congress enacted several laws bearing on
the jurisdiction of the Court for the Western District. The most important
of these was passed on February 6, 1869, and was to take effect on May 1.
Section 6 of this act authorized the granting of a writ of error to the
Supreme Court of the United States im all criminal cases tried before any
U. S. trial court where there had been a conviction carrying a death

sentence.

The law of 1889 was in effect 15 months before any of the Fort Smith
lawyers saw fit to challenge Judge Parker. In October 1890, Parker had
sentenced to death two men, "Bood" Crumpton and ¥illiam Alexander, who
had been convicted at the August term of court. On February 2, 1891, the
Supreme Court handed down its opinion in the two cases: Crumpton's
sentence was affirmed, while Alexander's was reversed and remanded to
the Court for the Western District for retrial. Alexander's second and .
«third trials ended in hung juries. Satisfied that he would now be unabl'
ﬁo aecnre a conviction District Attorney William H. H. Clayton consen‘
h;dna nolle prosequi. B

On March 3, 1891, congress passed another law directed at Judge
Parker's Court. Section Five of this enactment authorized a direct review
by the Supreme Court in all cases tried in the district or circuit courts

iii




of the United States where there had been a conviction for a capital, or. .

étherwise infamous, crime. In the five years, 1891-1896, fifty criminél
'ses wéré appealed from Parker's Court to the Supreme Court. The high _
éourt ruled that 30 of the 47 persons convicted of murder hadn't had fair SN
trials. Cf these 30, 16 were discharged or won acquittal at their retrials:
The remainder ended up in the penitentiary. Seven of these 14 were convicted
of manslaughter at the retrial; the other seven were found guilty of murder.
Congress on March 1, 1836, passed an act stripping Judge Parker's Court
and the Listrict:Courts at Paris, Texas, and Fort Scott, Kansas, of their
Jurisdiction over all offenses against the laws of the United States
comnitted in the Indian Territory, except such cases as they had already
proceeded against. This law was to take effect on September 1. When
September 1 arrived Judge Parker was not on hand to hear the words "QOyez!
Oyez! The Honorable District and Circuit Courts of the United States for
the Western District of Arkansas, having criminal jurisdiction of t he Indian
Territory, are now adjourned, forever. God bless the United States and the

honorabkle courts!”

Farxer did not long survive the curtailing of the court's jurisdiction.
On November 17 the end came at 2:45 a.m.-~two months and 17 days after his
court had lost its authority in the Indian Territory. Judge Parker on the
18th was laid to rest in the Fort Smith National Cemetery.

iv



-~ himself from the fact of previous possession or ownership,” 4 Pogu

LAY ENFORCEMENT AT FORT SMITH 1871 - 1896

Chapter I

“ The Court for the Vestern Distirict Moves to Fort Smith

The seed from which the Court for the kKestern District of
Arkansas sprouted was sown in 1834. Two years before Arkansas
was admitted to the Union, the 23d Cengress on June 30 passed
"an Act to Hegulate Trade and Interccurse with the Indian Tribes
and Precerve Peace on the Frontiers,® ! Section one of the
"lnterccurse Law" described the Indian Country as "all that part
of the United Utsies west of the Mississippi and not within the
States of Missouri or Louisiana or the Territcry of Arkansas,
also that part of the Unlted States east of the Mississippi and
not within any state, to which the Indian title hais not been ex-
tinguished,.® 2

According tc Section 20 of the "lntercourse Act  the penalty
for selling, exchanging, giving, bartering cr dispesing of any -
erdent spirits or wine" to a redman in the Indi&nlCountry was to
be a fine of §500, For introducing or attempting to introduce the
same, "except such supplies as shall be necessary for officers
of the United States troops for the service under the direction
of the War Department," the fine was #300. OUne thousand dollars was
to be the penalty for setting up or maintsini: g a distillery for the
Ymanufacture" of ardent spirits, 3

Secticn 22 of the "Intercourse Act" provided that trials dealing
with the right of ‘property to which an Indian was a party on one side
and .a white on the other, the burden of proof was to rest on the
white "whenever the Indian shall make out a presumption cf title in

%burpose of carrying the enactment into effect all that part of ﬁgwgﬁ
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| the Indian Country *west of the Mississippi River that is bounded
north by the north line of lands assigned to the Osage Indians,

and hereby is annexed to the Territory of Arkansas," while the
remainder of the Indian Country west of the river was assigned to
the judicial district of Missouri, The "several portions" of the
Indian Country east of the Mississippi were to be annexed to the

judicisl district in which they were sltuated. 5

Section 24 of the Act of 183L clearly demonstrates that the
Indian Country west of the Territory of Arkansas was subject for
judicial purpose to the Federal district court for Arkansas long
before the Court for the Western District was established at Fort
Smith.
It was previded by Sectien 25 of the "Intercourse Law" that
’ "go much of the laws of the United “tates as provideé for punishment
of crimes committed within any place within the sole or exclusive
jurisdiction of the United States," are Yeclared to be in force
in saic Indian Country, excepting crimes comnitted by one Indian
against the person or property of another redman. Finally, accerding.to
3ections 26 and 27 the viclation of any of the acts, provisions, or
regulations of the "Intercourse Law" was- made "Jjudically cognizable"
in the district court having Jurisdiction over the said territory. 6
The Territory of Arkansas on June 15, 1835, was admitted to
the Union, and the new state was organized into one federal jJudicial
district. A district court was constituted tc be presided over by
one judge, who was to hold at Little Kock two sessions annually on
the first Mondays of April and November, The judge for the Arkansas
district was to hzve and exercise the "same Jurisdiction and powers"
ynich were by law given to the judge of the Kentucky District under
~ﬁ§h¢;act of September 24, 1789, entitled, "An Act to establish thqu u
lﬂf;eial Courts of the United States,® 7 %




The s2lary of the Judge for the Arkansas district was fixed at
‘A§2,000 per year, payable quarterly. He was authorized to appoinﬁ“kﬁ&g
clerk who was to receive the same fee as the clerk of the Kentucky
3 'Dﬁstrict; prevision was made for the appointment of a district
%ﬁié"vattbrney to be paid besides his stipulated fees, $20U yearly, A"
marshal was to be appointed "tc perform the same duties, be subjlect ~
to the same regulations and penalties and be entitled to the seme
fees as are prescribed to the marshal in other districts, and he
shall be entitled to $200 annually as compensatica for extra services."”
Nine manths later, the 24th Congress on March 1, 1837, enacted
a messure to extend the jurisdiction of the district court of Arkansas.
The court was clothed with the same "Jurisdiction and powers" conferred
on the several district courts by the act of March 30, 1802, "to
reguluate trade and intercourse with the Indian tribes, and by sub-
sequent acts of Congress, cuncerning crimes, offenses, and mis-
demeancrs, comnitted against laws of the United 5States in any town,
settlement, or territcry belongirg to any Indian tribe in amity
with the United States,” I
Congress on June 17, 1844, approved an act previding:

That the courts for the United States in ané for
the district of Arkansas be and hercby are vested with
the same power and Jurisdiction to hear, try, determine
and punish all crimes committed within that Indian
country designated in the twenty-fourth section of the
act to which this 18 a su;plement, and therein and
thereby annexed to the Territory of Arkansas as were
vested in the ccurts of the United States for said
territery before the same became a state. And for the
sole purpose of carrying tnis act into effect all that
Indian ccuntry hereunto annexed by the said twenty-fourth
section of the said act aroresald to the Territory of
Arkansas be, and the same hereby is, annexed to the
State of Arkansas. 10

A zooming population in western Arkansas increased the
_business brought before the federal distriet court for Arkansas, ;
”)iiytl, except by water, was difficult on the frontier. Little .
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~ Rock, while centrally located to take care of cases arising in
VArkansas, was a long way from the Indian Territory. An act was

285f, creating the Westem District of Arkansas., Section ! of thd»
'new legislation provided that the counties of Benton, Washington,
Crawford, Scott, Polk, Franklin, Johnson, Madison, and Carroll,
along with that part of the Indian Country within the present
Judicial district of Arkansas; should constitute a new judicial
district to be designated the "Westem District of Arkansas,® The
remainder of the state would be organized as a Judicial district,
styled "the Eastern District of Arkansas,” The same Jjudge was to
preside over each district,

It was provided in Section 2 of the enactment that the judge
for the Western District would hold two terms per year at Van
Buren, the ccunty seat of Crawford county. These terms were to
begin on the second Mondays of May and November, In addition to
the ordinary Jurisdiction and power of a district court, the court
for the western Distriet would hsve within the limits of its juris-
diction all: |

causes, civil or criminal, except appeals and writs of
error, vhich now or hereafter may by law be made cognizable
in a eircuit ccurt and an appeal or writ of error shall

" be prosecuted from the final degree or judgment of said
district court tc the Supreme Court of the United States
in the same manner that appeals and writs of error now
are, by law, from a Circuit Court of the United States,

2 i‘(" %

The President was to appoint a district attorney and a marshal
for the ¥estern District, whc were to receive the same salary and
fees as the officers holding these positions of trust in the court
for the Eastern District, The judge was to appoint a clerk for the
Court for the Westemm District, "
~. . Three years later, the 33d Congress on March 27, 185., amended .
3,1:_- act dividing Arkansas into two districts. Henceforth, orrend""




~Court to the Penitentiary House in the Easterm District of Arkansaa
‘tha‘aame as if the Penitentiary House was in the Western District{..’
'He#vy penalties for arson were announced. It was provided that éﬁy&
E"-'fh.e "setting fire to, or attempting to fire, any buildings in tho ( %
" ‘Indian Territory belonging to an Indian, or any Indizn setting firc”'m o
to, or attemptling to fire, any buildings belonging to or in lawful
possession of a white person, should on conviction thereof be deemed
guilty of a felony and be sentenced to hard labor" for a term of
not less than two or not more than 21 years, At the same time,
it was provided that any white assaulting a redman or other person
in the Indian Territory, or any Indian assaulting a white person,
with deadly weapons with intent to kill or injure should on conviction
be declared guilty of a felony and sentenced to irprisonment at hard
labor for a term of from one to five years,
By the same amendmenty the recently organiged counties of Sevier
and Sebastian, of which Fort Smith was the county seat, were added
to the Western District. 12
Judge Daniel Ringo, who presided over the Arkansas district
when the Act of March 3, 1851, was passed, now had Jurisdiction
in both the Western and Eastern Districts. Although the Court for
the Western Listrict had tremendous power, Judge Rirgo didn'i make
his weight felt. Judge Ringo's sympathies were with the South,
In February 1861, the judge resigned and tumed the court records
over to his clerk, John B, Ogden. Following the withdrawal of
Arkansas from the Union in May 1861, President Jefferson Davis
appointed Ringo judge of the ccurt which the Ccnfederacy established
at Helena, Arkansas, In the last week of Decexmber, 1862, a Federal
column led by Brigadier General James G, Blunt raided Van Buren.
The Crawford County Courthouse was burned and the records for the
Court for the Western Listrict destroyed.




“general amnesty issued by the President.
8 g . . |
During the winter of 1871 United States Representative Thomas

Boles drafted and introduced in the 3d Session of the L1st Congress
a bill designed to shift the United States Court f'or-the Western
District of Arkansae from Van Buren tc Fort Smith., The bill wzs
approved Msrch 3. But the act as passed was scarcely recognizable
as the bill prepared and dropped in the hopper by Congressman
Eoles, True, it attained the original object aimed at by its

author, but so many ‘“amendments had been attached that it was
14

hardly recognizable,
Section 1 provided, "That in addition to the terms of the
district court of the United States for the western distriet
. of Arkansas, required by existing laws to be held at Van Buren,
(. in the State of Arkansas, there shall be held by the Jjudge of
said district two terms of said court in each year at the city of
Helena, in said State, on the second Menday of Harch and September,”
No court was to be held at Helena until such time as “an
instrument in writing be duly executed by the proper authorities
of Phillips ccunty agreeing to furnish suitable rooms for holding
court for ten years without expense tc the government." This
document was to be filed with the clerk cf the United States
District Court at Little Rock,
According to the fifth section:

the countiez of Phillips, Crittenden, Mississippi,
Craighead, Greene, Randclph, lawrence, Sharp, Poinsett,
Cross, Saint Francis, Monroe, Woodruff, Jzckson, Inde-
pendence, * izard, Maricn, Fulton, and Goone, in the said o
 State shall hereafter be deemed and be a part of the gt
/' western district of Arkansas, and there shall be appointed . o
: by the President of the United States, by and with the
- advice and consent of the Senate, a district judge for




the westermn district aforesaid, who shall, from and
-:. after the time of his appointment, hold the terms of

" court at the times and places required by law, Said
district judge shall be paid the same salary anc in the
pame manner as the judge of thc eastemn district of
. said State. And the terms of the court now required

' to be held at Van Buren, shzll hereafter be held at
Fort Smith in said district, and the present district
Jjudge of the said State shall be and remain the district
Juige of the eastemn district thereof, as if criginally
appointed thereto,

Finally, it was provided by Section 6 that so much of the bill
entitled "An act to divide the district of Arkanszs inte two
Judicial districts, as approved March three, ei};hteen hundred and
fifty-one, a2s gives the Judge of the district of Arkansas Surisdic-
tion over the western district of said State, and all laws
inconsistent herewlth, are hereby repealed.” 15

Congressman Boles opposed the riders annexing the eastem
counties to the western District and the establishment of a place

. for holding court at Helena with all his strength. He gy in
them 5 scheme to strike at and cripple the jurisdiction of his friend,
Judge Caldwell, He likewise realized that the radical facticn of

the Arkansas Fepublican p:rty would push to have cne of their
wheelhorses appointed to the new Federal Judgeshig. 16

Upon receipt of the news of the passaze of the bill of March 3,
the Fort omithites were cunfronted by the problem of hcw "to make

the necessary preparaticns" to accomnodate the court, and "the

neekly Herald suggested arrangements be made "whereby some Of the
buildings of the Garrison may be secured for that purpose, " If
not, with the post scheduled to be sbandoned by the military and
The reservation sold, the city of Fort Smith or Sebastian county

might purchase from the sovernment such of the buildings "as

o ! 7 e
will be suitable urposes, ? ¥ o

Colonel Logan H. lioots who had been appointed by President

ooy
oy B
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for the Western District of Arkansas was expected to reach Fort
‘Suith during the third week of April. Prior to his arrival, j
'arshal Roots nemed Colonel 1. W. Fuller to take charge of the 4
 0£:1¢3 which he planned to establish in Fort Smith, Fuller's |
appoinbment was well received by the Fort Smith press, The A
editor of the Tri-Weekly Herald informed his readers, "Col. Fuller
poasesges the energy and the ability necessary to fill this office.”
At the end of the fourth week of April, Colonel Fuller saw that
the offices of the U. S. Marshal and the clerk of the court were
transferred from Van Buren to Fort Smith, They were lodged in a
roon over the bank., Colonel Ben T. DuVal had his law office in
the adjoining building,
As yet neither Mzrshal Foots nor Judge william Story, who had
been appointed by President Grant to preside over the newly
v constituted court, had reached Fort Smith. When questioned by the
‘ editors, Fuller said that he was expecting Foots at any moment.

Judge Story, he coentinued, would arrive in good season. According
to the latest word from the Jjudge, he planned to open the first
session of his ccurt at Van Buren and then adjourn to Fort Smith, 19
Colonel Fuller let it be known on Mcnday, May !, that the U, S,
Court for the Western District of Arkansas would comvene in Fort
Smith on the following Monday. Though the Judgze and marshal hadn't

arrived, preparaticns for the opening of court were much in evidence,
20

Cut-of-tewn attomeys were making arrangements for lodging.

Judge Story and Marshal Roots reached Fort Smith at the end of
the first week of May. At 10 a.m. on May 8, Judge Story rapped for
order, For the first tire, the U, S, Court for the western District
of Arxansas convened in Fort Smith. Cclonel Fuller had arranged
for the court to comduct its proceedings in the second story of the
Rogers' Building in the hall formerly used by the Masons and Odd

i3 5
. kv

< 0. Churchill, and District Attorney Huckelberry, Very
little business was on the judge's agenda for the first day. After

8



reappointing Churchill clerk of the court, Story admitted a popular '
local lawyer, James Brizzolara, to practice before his court, ‘
all t.he returns had been made at Van Buren, the judge, to give e?eryca

Lt P

o:i')lay 9e
The editor of the Tri-Weekly Herald was impressed by the large
number of attorneys from other counties in attendance. As he informed
his subscribers, "The town is jJammed with strangers from all parts,
some in office, some hunting for office, and a vast number that
have been in, and now out, and some who do not want pdp, though
they are scarce; altogether the U, S, Court adds considerably to
the life of the city.” 21
When the court opened on Tuesday, the 9th, "everything seemed
to run smoothly," The “Tri-Weekly Herald informed its readers that
Judge Story gave "entire satisfaction, and his new Marshal, Col, Roots,
with his many and efficient aids [ gi_c] » doing things up in apple
' pie order,” Not too much business was transacted. While getting
o organiged, the new officers of the Court seemed to be "getting
the harness fitted, so as to give general satisfaction,®
After charging the“grand -iﬁxry, Judge Story adjourned the tourt
until 9 a.m,, Wednesday moming, 22
The %:ourt finally got down to business on Wednesday, By nocn
on Friday, the 12th, 17 civil and 7 eriminal cases had b een considered
and disposed of, Among the criminal cases brought before Judge
Story was one for murder. Heuse Posey and George Spaniard were charged
with the crime, The defendmts' lawyers, Ben DuVal and Robinson ’
argued that as the killing had occurred in Arkansas, the United States
didn't have jurisdiction, Judge Story agreed and ordered Posey

and Spaniard released from custody,
Editor James H, Sparks of the Herald believed the Court "addod




were in the courtroom. "Usually this might have led to cmfusicn, "
Mft the editor added, "everything moves smoothly along in the mos}w 5
i‘dgrly manner, and the Court gets off a large amount of buaines
mgfwe leam in a manner quite satisfactory to all the of ficers ¢
the Court, and the members of the bar in attendance,® 2 \
Although Congress had shifted the court to Fort Smith, a number
of the civic leaders were afraid that if they didn't provide suitable
facilities it would be removed, Editor Sparks urged that the Sebastian
County Courthouse be speedily ccmpleted to provide for the United
States Court. While the rooms occupied in the Rogers' Building were
"spacious and good,” the Fort Smithites mustn't lose "sight of the
importance of finishing the Court House," nor of the necessity of
doing "all in our power to make full provision for the United States
Court" and its officers,”
Editor Dunham of the Van Buren Press sat in on a session of
Judge Story's Court. He was unimpressed with his surroundings. He
reported to his subscribers that he found the U, 8. Court at the
"Hole in the Wall" at Fort Smith., The room was "gloomy and dark
and rank with nigger and Indian." Duhham felt that Marshal Roots
had entered "easily and readily" upon the duties of his office,
Roots, he forecast would make "a prompt and courteous officer,®
while Judge Story was disposing of the business brought before his
court with "commendable geal,"
The editor of the Herald didn't appreciate the Press' allusion
to the "Hole in the %all.® The "Nigger and Indian,* Sparks reported,
were “certainly no more 'rank' now, than they were" when the court
had set at Van Buren, Sparks believed the transfer of the ecourt
had made "the difference with our n®dghbor," 25

Judge Story disposed of 11 criminal and 2 civil cases on May 17,
- Ruth Shores, the first woman to be brought before the bench since

10



*“yenewed vigor.

A public school picnic was scheduled for May 19, so Judge Story »

While the number of cases was large; most of them
were of minor character, which caused "much anncyance, trouble, and
expense, " 28

On May 24 the §rand dfry for the Western District adjourned,

The Jurors seemed pleased with the thought of "getting an opportunity
to go home, and become acquainted with the family.® Prior to the
discharge of the #rand -.ﬁ?ry, Marshal Roots threw & party to which he
invited the jurors, Judge Story, several of the officers of the court,
and & number of the more influential Fort Smithites. A guest reported,
it was a very pleasant "sociable.* The &rand 4u~y on taking their
leave presented Judge Story and Marshal Roots with a "flattering
testimonial.® 2

The petit Au-y concluded its business on May 31, Q’x. doing so,
the members signed a memorial stating that they considered "the
remcval of the United State Court from Van Buren to Fort Smith, an
act of wisdom and justice, too obviocus to all in the least cognisant
with the mcrits of the respective places to require any further comments,
and the authors and prosecutors of the removal are entitled to much
praise.®

Judge Story and Marshal Roots wer: commended for the way they
discharged their onerous and important duties.

The editor of the Herald felt certain the endorsement of the
Jurors would echo and re-echo across the district. Acéording to
Editor Sparks, "the justice of the move has long since been acknowledged,
but something always appeared in the way of the move; in fact the
lukewarmness of those most directly interested was one great causs,

T

c§ credit is due to those who effected the move, no odds what h




“"""uitnesses could be called on short notice, Judge Story planned w-;;

) ftciae, assumpset, contempt, and libel.

Just as it was being predicted that the gourt was about te wrap

dispose of these cases, Editor Sparks voiced his approval. "That
is the way to do business,apt:iaoct keep them /the accused 7 waiting
for menths in Jail to know if an offence has bsen committied.” 3

The special grand §ury had cozpleted its deliberations by June 8

and was discharged.

Judge Story on Saturday, June 17, adjourned his ourt until the
next regular term. Pecple who had been in frequent attendance
reported that the court had functioned very smoothly during the late
session. Besides giving gemeral satisfaction, 1t had added much to
the 1ife, and nome to the disturbance of the town. -3

While in session the Court for the Western District had disposod
of 132 cases., Of the 37 civil actions brought before the ¢ curt,2!
had been disposed of, 15 continued, and ! taken under advisement.
Eighty-nine criminal ¢ ases had been heard. There had been 23
eonvictions, 24 acquittals, 13 nolle prosequis entered, 2 indictments
quashed, 6 forfeitures of recognisance, while 21 of the cases had
been continued. Of the oriminal cases, practically all fell into
three catagories., There were 25 cases of larceny, 2, of introducing
ppiritious lidquors into the Indian Territory, and 16 assaults with
intent to kill. Four people indicted for murder had appeared befors
Judge Story. The most severe sentance handed ocut by the judge was
to Levi Shepperd, who was sentenced totwo and one-half years in the
penitentiary for assault with intent to kill., Civil cases fell into

six catagories: bankruptcies, voluntary and involuntary, scire
34
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to hold the term of court which was scheduled to convene in that -
l(iaaissippi River town., Deputy Marshal Kermmes was also aboard té FEE
boa . Kemes had with him four priscners (two white, one Indianj
lu}:a Negro) who had been sentenced by Judge Story to terms in the 3
“penitentiary. The whites and the Negro had been convicted of larceny,
while the Indian hed been found guilty of assault with intent te
kill, Commenting ocn the priscrners, Editor Sparks obaervéd, tThis
is perhaps the smallest shipment ever made from the Western District,
and we trust they will become smaller still,® 35 '
Marshal Roots an July 28 returned to his Fort Smith office. 3
* % *

6

Although the court wasn't in session, its agents were busy,

U. S, Deputy Marshals D. C. Winton, who had been operating in the
Indian Territory for several months reached Fort Smith on Saturday,
August 12, The lawman had two prisoners — Thomas Cook and George
Cooper, Both men were accused of stealing two "fine stallions® from
Billy Nero of Micco, Choctaw Nation. At the time they were taken into
custody, the two men still had the horses in their possession,

Visiting with Editor Sparks, Marshal Winton reported that erop
prospects were excellent in the country through which he had ridden,

He warned the editor that it would require more than %as ordinary
effort" to amash the bands of horse thieves now infesting the Territory,
At the moment, the Indians were peaceable and quiet, and looking
anxiously for the railrosad.

Deputy Marshal Joe Peavy brought in two men charged with murder,
Simmons and Keyes, while GeorgeTt. Rutherford had arrested Grubb,
who was charged with killing a Negro in the Choctaw Nation the previous
year.

The prisoners were confined in the U. S. Jail at Fort Smith, pending
their appearance before the U, S, commissioner, .
After talking with the lawmen, Editor Sparks informed his s
® marshal business is good, and from present prospects, a ; 1

e oc‘ket will greet his honor next session,”
é‘ii;é»%wr*ﬂ 8
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» Doctor C. W. Feirce, the attending physician, took Editor Sparks
"mfa tour of the prison where people arrested by the marshals veﬁ» =
ecé:tined while awaiting the next session of the ecourt. (The cour ‘
.lt":f.,hia time used as its place of confinement a building of hcwodg"
iogs cut on Belle Point.) Sparks found the priscn "in a very clean ™
and healthy condition, and the priscers in good health and apparently
. 4n fine order." They gave every appearance of "enjoying thedr
confinement with a steical indifference and nonchalance, that mdght
characterige men in & more comferteble situstion.®
At the time of Sparks' August 30 vieit there were 21 priscners:
9 whites, 7 Negroes, 4 Indians, and one Mexican. If he had been
directed to pick out 21 murderers or horscthieves, the editor admitted
that he would bave passéd by many of the prisoners, although some
of the inmates, "judging from their phiz,” had locked through bars
before. ' , , .
The priscners all spoke well of their keepers and quarters. Their
only complaint was of the beef they were fed, which they claimed was
neck and shank. Sparks was glad to s ee that their treaiment was
humane, &nd to discover that their "wants in siclness and inkhkealth
were promptly attended to.®
Sparks missed the preachér, as did the prisoners, According to
one of the inmates he had been "bailed out the day before, and now
they...[ wero] left to work out their s:lvation alone."
The guards (James Brogan, J. Mgledon, H. B. Hershey, and W. Lewis),
who were supervised by Jaller Charles burns, escorted the editor and
his party through the variocus department of the jail and its appurtenances.
Everything was found in "apple-pie order.” The coocking and laundry
departments wore clean and neat,
Entering the prism, the accused wers shown a list, cntaining
the names of 67 ettomeys. In vain did they look "for a chart eontaining
*‘“%‘S‘oir 'photos!.” Since the lawyers outnumber the prisaners throyio,wﬂ
M;‘* i, the inmates remarked, "Sif there were fewer lawyers their ho i
*‘;f‘delivery would be better.” 38
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LAW ENFORCEMENT AT FORT SMITH 1871-1896
Chapter 11

:J‘uﬁg'e Stery Resigns Under Fire

An economy minded 42d Cecngress cut the appropriation for the
" Justice Department, HMarshsi Hoots accordingly was compelled to
drastically reduce his force of deputy marshals. Of the 28 lawmen
.currently on Roots' payroll 17 would have to be released, The
task of selecting who should be retained was disagreeable. It
was left to the deputy marshals to indicate the manner of doing it,

8o as to give no offense to those who would be discharged. They
decided to do it by lots. After the drawing, which was made at

the beginning of February 1872, it was found that Jacob Owens, Jacob
Bear, Joseph Williard, Joseph Peevy, Lee Hclemcre, B zh McGuire,

Rube Lamson, Geo. Dean, John Scoitie, W. H. Johnson, and C, R,
Stephenson would remain on the force, !

Commissicner Churchill on April 11 issued a warrant for the arrest
of Ezekiel Proctor for a murder committed in the Chcrokee Nation.

At the moment, the Chcrokee court was reportedly trying Procter. The
deputy marshals were directed to tske Proctor into custody in vasse
the Cherokees released him,

Deputy Mzrshal Bentz had been killed in the Cherokee Nation a
short time before, so the authcrities of the Fort Smith court calculated
on taking his idllers into custody on the same patrol. A strong posse
was accordingly sent. Deputy Marshals Owens and Peew, were placed
in charge of the posse. The marshals proceeded to a point 12 to 15
miles west of Evansville where the Cherckee court was in seasiom,

a@nching wnitmore's Barren Fork, the lawmen (about a dosen in m)b e
sounted and approached the courthouse. Hot words were cngaged

ey ;-
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Within a matter of moments, seven marshals and three Cherokees had
been killed or mortally wounded. Among the dying was Deputy
Harshal Cwens,

Deputy Marshal Feewy - sent an urgent appeal t® Fort 3mith for
help, VWhen he scribbled a note, he warned, "we are in a devil of a
strait.” He asked his superiors to:

send us men and means instanter, Wwe are with the dead and
wounded and expect tostay until the last one of us goes up,
For God saike send help, and send quickly. Ccme to Dutch
Town, and then down Barren Fork to Whitmore's. We lock for

help to-morrow night by dark and lots. We are looking to
be attacked every moment.,

News:of the bloody affair caused consternation in Fort Sz_nit.b.
Managing darshal Kerens ordered out a 20-man posse, accompanied by
phyrieci-na; to attend to the dead and wounded. 2

Seven months later, Fort Smith was visiteu by a dreadful con~
flagration &% 7:30 a.m. on November 14, the cook in the Wasnington
Street restaurant owned by the Ferry brothers shcuted, "Fire!" The
flames spread rapidly. Hamilton's Saloon was the second building en-
veloped. Next, the fire swept through the "immense brick building
belonging to William H. Rogers. (n the other side a restaurant,on
the comer of Garrison Avenue were consumed, and 30 on down to the
alley. There, the fire was arrested by pulling down C. F. Boccuin's
frame building,

wWind fanned by the roaring inferno carried sparks across to Thomas
Lanigan's store, alongside which several hundred bales of cotton were
stacked. After a desperate struggle the fire fighters succeeded in
centrolling the fire,

wWhile the excitement was highest, the cry "Fire!" announced a new
danger. Hundr:ds rushed to the new scene oi trouble, to find a small
frame hcuse cn Walnut Street near Catholic Avenuc had caught fire from
a defective flue. The new brick building owned by Buckley ;: Yeleh

was soon ignited. Both these structures were soon gutted,
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_ As soon as the fires had been extinguished, the city fsthers mado
& énrvey of the damage. Losses in the ccnflagration were listed a;l
: - Captain Rogers' large two story brick building in which were x
‘l’pcated the Post Office, Marshal's Office, U. S. Court, the law o&ficé% 5
“of Walker & Rogers, and Ed. Brogan's Salcon. While the pmpertljfuw‘”
valued at $15,000, it was only insured for §3,000,

TR brick building owned by Mrs. Bomford and Mrs. Shumard valued at
$3,000.

One brick and two frame buildings belonging tc John Gardner. O(ne
of the frame structures was occupled by Metszhauer's Cafe and the other
by Guler's Confecticnery.

Hrs. ¥. H. Mayers' two story frame bui ding which housed J. H.
Hamilton's Saloon and Ferry Brothers'! Restaurant.

Three buildings of Ed Czamikow -- one a two story frame
structure ‘haaing Nester's Saloon, the second & docuble story brick
6difice occupled by Czarnikow as @ store, and the third a frame building
rented to Bowers as a saloon.

Two frame dwellings occupled by J. J. Phillips and a Hr. Spler
were burned to the ground. ‘

Pecple familar with fire fighting, on inspecting the scene of
desolation, were satisfled that if ladgan's store had burned, the
entire town would have gone up in smoke. The editor of the Westemm
independent observed, “Thos_e,_merkuhoﬂ—»fough%vave-that—Ab&ading
deserve the thanke of the public.w®

Because of the fire, which had destrgred its quarters, the court
for the Westem District did not meet on the i4th. The next moming,
November 15, the ccurt convened at the Sebastian County Circuit Courtroom,
where a two-day session was held. Meanwhile, Karshal Roota had received
permission frow the Department of the Interior to open the large
brick building, known as the Soldiers' Quarters, within the walh of

SV i‘.hq: Garrison.
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A "priated for use as the courtroom, while the other room wa _____!éi;@_
ft..-.;‘..;as ofrices for the marshal, clerk, and other cfficers of be__cg.grﬁ;
" Underneath the building were the two rooms formerly used as
these w ere quickly turned intc a Jail, and the log stockade nesr the
bank of the Poteau & bandoned, >

At the time of the fire,the trial of John Childers for murder
was being conducted before Judge Story.

John Childers was of strong, muscular bulld, five feet eleven
inches in height, and weighed 160 pounds. He was the son of John
Crildirs, a white man, and Katy Vanne, his Cherckee wife. Childers
was born on Cowskin Creek in the Cherokee Nation on Kay 3, 18,8. Previous
to comnitting the crime for which he was on trial for his life, Childers
had had trouble with the law,

The man Childers was accused of killing wasReyburn Wedding, a
peddler, who made his livelihood by traveling through the Indian Territory
with his wagon bartering flour and bzcon for hides and agricultural '
products. Wedding had a handsome black horse to vhich Childers took
a fancy. Childers fell in with Wedding «n the moming of October 14,
1870, a8 he drove his wagon up Caney Cresk in the northkern-part ‘of the
Cherokee Nation near the Kansas border. Childers scught to talk
¥Wedding into parting with his hLorse,

The peddler dec-ined, remakiing that he had no intention to trade
and drove on.

Childers' brow *darkened," and he reined up his horse, while
planning his next move., Having decided to possess the horse, no .
matter what the gost, the hreed touched his spurs to his pony's
flanks. Cvertaking Wedding, Childers asked if he could hitch a ride

. in "t.he wagon, |
* Wedding said it was all right.
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until the wagon reached Caney Creek near Childer's Station., All the
"lﬁle, Childers kept trying tc deal vedding out of his horse, Suﬁ;;f;j .
& ‘breed whipped out a bowie knife. Wrestling the peddler to th¢ bed: :
the wagon, Childers slashed his throat from esr to ear. He th" G
'dum;;ed the body into the stream and drove the wagon out onte the prﬁrio.ka&
Childers nowiraced on his own terms, After stiipping the hamess from
the dead man's horse, the breed saddled it and rode away.
The stolen horse led to Childers! arrest. At Broken Arrew:in
the Creek Naticn, the horse was recognized, and Childers was taken
into custody by Deputy Harshal Vennoy and & posge of hard-riding
Kansans. Vennoy and the posse started for Kansas with their prisoner,
Childers, however, escaped,
About Februsry 1, 1E71, Childers was a gain arrested at Broken
Arrow and taken to Kansas. Frum Kansas, he was escorted to Van Buren
and examined by United States Comsissioner J, A. Churchill, who
ordered him held to await action by the next grund Jury.
Childers didn't remain in the Van Buren jall long. He and six
others escaped and took tc the woods, The others were gsoon captursd,
‘Pat Childers returned tc his old hsunts, joined a renegade gang that
was terroriging the Cherokee and Creek Nations, and succeeded in
eludin: the law for months, He m ght never have been pesarrested nor
Wedding's death averzed had he not fzllen for a Fort Smith prostitute.
She induced Childers to believe that she was madly in love with him,
vhile she secretly planned to secure zonecy {rom him by various pre-
texts, Lerrning that Childers was in the area, Marshal Vennoy contacted
the harlot. For $10, she agreed tc agsist the marshals to capture
her lover.
She sent word to Childers that she wished to sde him. Marshal
Vennoy was notified of the scheduled rendezvous. That very night
while Childers "was reveling” in the¢ harlot's embrace, the house vu

Wi apprisec of the presence of the intruders by the click of t.he'

B &0 g s a2
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as two guns were pointed at him. Dragging the breed from the arms of

. ' his seducer, who eagerly snatched the promised reward, the officora R

u-iescorted their prisoner back to jail, vw’
« The Fort Smith Grand Jury on May 15, 1871, made a report retnrning
11 true bills of indictments, naming 16 persons charged with major - =
crimes. At the bottom of the list appeared Jochn Childers, charged

with murder. <Childers was arraigned on Thursday, May 18. He pled

not guilty; Judge Story continued his case till the next term of

court., While awaiting trial, Childers' bail was set at $1,500.

On Novemwber 16 J. S. hobinson, whom Childers had retained as his
attorney, applied to Judge Story to subpoena as witnesses for the
defense, Cowito, Micco, and William Sevier. Three weeks later, the
defendant's attorney asked that the trial be continued., Two dayse
later, Cecewber 7, Judge Stery granted the application. The trial
was rescheduled for the May 1872 term. &An order was issued by the
court transferring Childers to the Little Kock Penitentiary for safe
-keeping. Childers' attorney protested. On January 18 Judge Story
set the order aside. Eleven days later, Childers was admitted
to 2,000 bond.

A further postponement was requested by Childers' lapyer on May 30,
because of ilack of witnesses for the defense. Judge story was aéreeable.
The case finally came to trial on November 6, It lasted until the
18th, one day Lesides Sunday being lost because of the destruction
of the hogers' Fullding by fire. Childers was defended by Colonel
Du Val; the prosecutor was District Attorney Newton J. Temple,
assisted by John H. Rogers, Vedding's kansas friends had hired hkogers
to help the district attorney. The Jury was out only a short time.

. When the jury returned, the foreman announced the verdict, guilty.

Following his conviction, Childers was kept in confinement until
May 19, 1873, when he was again brought before Judge Story. The judge
= pronounced sentence. Childers was to be executed on Friday, Augpat 35, g

‘  the murder of Reyburn Wedding.
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“"God would forgive them for it.® Childers announced that he had nor "

) "PU pals and me once swore to help each other, no matter what
circumstances,” he added, "but they seem to be doing nothing for me
now,*

Marshal Sarber interrupted to say, "If you'wlll’give me their
names," Childers, "I pledge yoUusot to hang you now. What is your
answer?®

It grew so quiet on the old Garrison parade ground that. the drone
of insects in the trees was the only sound. Dust and tobacco smoke
‘hung motionless in the air. The head was stifling,

Tuming away from Sarber, the condemned man surveyed the crowd,
Among 1t he recogniged many femer companions in crime, but Childers
was nct one to turn informer,

Instead, he wsved farewell with & general sweep of his hand., To
the marshall cffer he replied in a firm, clear voice heard by all, |
"Didn't you say you were going to hang me?"

"Yes,® Sarber answered.

"Then," Childers coldly responded, "why in hell don't you do it.,"

After Childers had finished speaking, Reverend Harrell made a
few eloquent remarks., Harrell closed with a prayer which brought
tears tc many eyes,

Jailer Burns read the death sentence. The rope was adjusted by
Eurns and Deputy Marshal Messler, while the prisoner offered a short
prayer. The black cap was adjusted. At 2 o'clock Marshal Sarber gave
the signal, and Messler pulled the lever which sprung the trap, John
Childers' neck jerked to one side as he shot down to the end of the rope.

e At the same moment there was a flash of lightning and a chp of .
st al NG R

nnder. Minutes later the work was done, the cloud had vanishedgu
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Several days before August 15, a gallows was erected. Until a
e tou hours before the fetal date, Childers had anxiously expected §t
‘be fipardoned or to have his sentence commuted. Petitions for cxecqjgi
_q_iaency had been forwarded to President Grant by Childers! attomeyl
) Thése hopes were dispelled by a telegram from Attorney General Ge%rgo -
¥illiams, informing the lawyers thet it was believed in Washington that \
their client was guilty. Consequently, the President had determined
not to intervene, Heavy pressure was said to have been exerted by
persons living in southern Kansas who had been friends of Wedding teo
let the law take its course.
The day of the execution dawned bright and clear. A large crowd
had turned out to'watch, with ezger, morbid curiosity Childers'
execution. As the fatal hour approached, the multitude grew restless,
Finally, at | p.m. there was a shout. The cry alerted the crowd that
Childers guarded b six deputy marshals, led by Marshal John Sarber and
Jailer Burns, had left the jail. As the execution party approached
the scaffold, a small blask cloud was sighted bearing in from the south-
west. By the time the group had reached the steps leading to the gallows

it wtarted to sprinkle.

Childers displayed the same cool demeancr he hsd meintained from
the beginning. Marshal Sarber faced the prisoner and the throng quieted,
while Childers puffed a cizar with "as much nonchalance as if the
affair wasg none of his.” Wher given an opportunity to speak, the doomed
man spoke for 16 minutes., Since it had been rumored that Childers
had made a full confession before lesving the Jail, the onlockers
listened eagerly. Childers "quibbled” at first, then admitted that
he had killed wedding. He claired, however, that there should have
been a mistrial, because the date of the murder named in the indictment
and in the testimony sworn tc by Vennoy and Erkhart was wydGiiy.

Young and clc were cautioned by Childers to avold evil companions

SRt "":"f"‘bad practices. Headmitted that those witnesses who had sworl that:
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The entire proceedings, the hanging and the storm, filled many
£ _the spectators with awe, Those who belicved in the supematuxp}"'" o

Voot A Negro woman in the erowd screamed, “John Childers' scul m
gone to helly I dons heard de chains clankin.* Other superstitious
persons believed that Childers was never executed, but that the
form appearing on the scaffold that day was "the devil in human
disgulse.”

Perhaps the thunder, l:lghthing, and rain which accompanied
Childers' execution ecould be interpreted as God's condemnation of the
swelling battle between good and evil in the Indian Territory — the
Armageddon of the West. Because John Childers was only the first of
87 eonvicted felons to dive cn the gallows which had been erected at
the old Garrison for crimes committed in what in 1907 became the state
of Cklahoma.

Nor was the battle to be easily won. It was to rage for 23 years,
John Childers himself had revealed the temper of the men who composed
the forces of evil when he refused to identify his companions in
crime, 6

* #* =

Three Cherokees were tried in June 1873 for murdering two white
trappers on Grand River in their Kation. The accused (Ybung Wolf,

Six Killer, and Tu-ne-ha) had merely planned to rob the trappers,

Their erime had nettoed them several #sitedl traps but little else

of value. The Jury on June 23 retumed a verdict of guilty. Juige
‘Story on August 4 sentenced the three redmen t o die en Friday, October 10,

1873,

Cn the day of the scheduled execution, the doomed men were marched
from the Jall to the gallows. After the ropes had been adjusted and
before the t rap was dropped, they eachaddressed the drowd in Che
ﬁmb only a few were present who understood the languago, no aocf?‘é

Eed

”bde of the gsentiments expressed, 7
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’ Aiyres by this time had scrambled to his feet and seized Eilly.

% ® #

Within the basement of the U, 8. Jail were three men, "who caréd
not for the beauties and pleasantry of the day, and whose lives were
goon to be ended for crimes committed against Ged and man.® According
to reports reaching the Fort Smithites, the three felons had given
little thought to "religious devotions"™ until ten days before the

date scheduled for their execution. As the fatal daj’ neared, they
laid ¢ards and fiddle aside. Ministers were called in. Each of the
convicte spoke well of the treatment they had received from Captain
Alnutt, the jailer, and guards Charles Burns and Jack Rutherford,

John Billy, & heavy-set Choctaw, was about 55 snd the oldest
of the trio. He was married and the father of four. Eilly, along
with three other redmen, h&id b een arrested fcf & petty érime near
Muskogee the previocus autumn.

One of the arresting officers, Perry DuVal had jJokingly told
BEilly that on his arrival at Fort Smith, he wculd be hanged, Not
understanding that DuVal was Jesting, Billy looked for an opportunity
to escape. Whi.e DuVal and the other deputies were sleeping, Billy
slipped one of his handcuffs end succeeded in getting hold of DuVal's
pistol. Ke shot DuVel through the head, killing him instantly. Kext,
Billy fired at Deputy Marshal Will Ayres, who was sleeping on his back,
his right hand thrown across his chest. The ball ripped through the
hand and cut away the right pap. Deputy Marshal James Wilkinson was

msleep in an adjoining room with another priscner-end a guard, Hearing

the shots, Wilkinson leaped to his feet and was shot through the back,
the projectile tearing through cne of his kidneys.

Iy was heuled to Fort Smith,




Arriving at the gallows, the three felons ascended the steps and

“ Ganfronted the mass of hunanity that had gathered to watch the ™ :
T execution. After the reading of the death warrants, each of th‘
doomed men was allowed to speak. ;

Pointer spoke through an interpreter. As before, he "most
emphatically declared his innocence.®

Filmore's youthful voice gave no indication of fear when he
addressed the crowd. Like Pointer, Filmore claimed to be innocent.
He swore that he was two and one-half miles from the scene of the
crime. Many in the multitude believed that Filmore had told a
“falsehood while on the brink of eternity."

John Lkilly showed no sign of fear. His voice was clear and
distinct. Unlike Pointer and Filmore, Billy acknowledged his crime,
and "was perfectly satisfied that he deserved to die.”

The ropes were lowered and adjusted around the necks of the

felons., C. Messler supervised the task. The black caps were placed
over the men's heads, and at 2:30 the drop fell, Doctors DuVal,
Dunlap, Maine, and others were present. Filmore was pronounced
dead in 13 minutes, Billy in 15, and Pointer in 16 minutes.,

“"Thus the laws have been vindicated and these bloody minded
men have suffered the extreme penalties," wrote Editor Wheeler in
the Western lndependent on April Y, 1874. 8

The execution of three redmen at the Garrison on April 3,
made six that had been hanged during the past six months. All had
been citigens of the Indian Territory. "It is getting to be a very
common thing tc hang & man in this part of the country,” Editor
Wheeler warned his readers. ¥

:
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Billy, Pointer, and Filmore, although they didn't know it, were
;ydostined to be the last men Judge Story was to send to the gallnnu
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After recovering from his wounds, Billy was lodged in the sane
_611 with John Childers. According to the editor of the L’estem.‘ﬂ

R "1sﬁsaid to te, by those who knew his character, an experienced

and daring desperado.®
Pointer, an 16-year-old Seminocle, "had a rather wild loock," and

swore that he was innocent of the murder cf the white man he was
accused of killing in the Chickasaw Nation. He said that a man
named KcGee had been the perpetrator of the foul deed. When Editor
Wheeler visited the Jail, Pointer was asleep. Upon being waked,
he seemed "quite playful® and unconcerned about his approaching
fate, "laughing and Jumping about as though he had years to live.*
His cell was the one previously occupied by Tu-ne~ha, who had been
sent to the scaffold six months before. Having embraced religion,
Pointer appcared ready to meet his fate, "although he persistently

’ asserted his innocence,

The third man slated to be executed was a Choctaw, Isaac Filmore,
whno had been sentenced te death for killing a white man in the Creek
Nation. Filmcre was a "stripling, a&nd was nc doubt leading a wild
and reckless life when arrested."® He had murdered hia victim in a
robbery, which had netted him §$1.50, near Fishertown in June 1873.
The killer denied his guiltv. Circumstantial evidence, together
with a confession made when first arrested, had satisfied the jury
that Filmore w:8 the murderer. Like the others, Filmore was converted
while in his death cell, '

The Garrison enclosure where the gallows had been erected was
"literally thronged with anxious humanity, waiting to witness" the
execution. Shortly before | p.m., the prisoners were escorted from
t.he Jail by a strong force of marshals. Their spiritual advisorl
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VD marshal most of the year and expenses fell to $264,447 - makindgi?

Karshal Roots had been replaced, but John 3arber who was named as

;hié replacezent on March 18, 1873, was no improvement., Sarber iéiuba
A'warrants to witnesses and jurors for their services some of whichset&

compelled to sell their horses and walk home,
Clarges of receiving bribes were preferred ageinst Judge Story.
In April 1874, Ben DuVal, Judge John T. Humphrey, and District
Attorney Newton J. Teuple were called to Washington to appear as
witnesses before the House sub-committee on Expenditures in the
Department of Justice.,
When Judge Story was called to Washington to appear before the
sub-comzittee, it became necessary to adjourn the May 1€74 term of
court at Fort Swith. Marshal Sarber infommed the Foft Smith
newspapers that the Cou:t for the Western District would be called
tc order on June 15, ‘ .
Humors reaching Fort Smith from Washington dufing the second
week of May indicated that the Court for the ¥estern District would
be abolished, If so, the Federal District Court would continue
tc meet at Fort Swuith with Judge Caldwell presiding. Editor Wheeler . _
felt this solution weuld "give satisfaction to all the people interested.”
Congressman Jameg B, Sener of the Sub-Committee on Expenditures
in the Department of Justice reported on June 6 as to "expenses,
disbursements and general management” of the Western Judicial District
oF Arkansas since its reorganization im 1871. Mr. Sener's committee
found that the expenditures had been "extraordinary"” and not in-all
cases supported by appropriste vouchers. For the riscal Year ending
Junéd 30, 1871, the disbursements of Marshal Britton had been $137,958;
the next year, with logan Roots being marshal, they had reached the
sextraordinary" sum of $321,653. In Fiscal Year 1873, Britton was
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total of $724,058 for three years. I1f the salaries of the clerka,

gt present.”

mp\xld be boosted to $750,000, .
- The committee had been unable to discover the reasons behind"
these huge disbursements, At the same time, the members were 1n
agreexent that "there was a most lamentable state of morals among

the court officials in the district.” According to the court reeord:,
Judge Stery had allowed bail to be posted by felons after their

conviction of capital offenses and while awaiting sentence,

Bail had been allowed people while moticns were pending for new
trials which were never acted upon. This was done despite the law
that the juige "shall examine and approve accounts current of the
marshal before allowing the same.® At least one instance had been
found by the investigators where Judge Story had signed "blank
accounts current, wnich was filled up by the marshal, for $20,000,
the same being allowed and paid at the treasury." Story's explanation
to the committee of this action was characterized as "lame, disconnected,
and unsatisfactory.”

The committee was in agreement that the only way to institute reforms
was to abolish the Court for the Western District of Arkansas, The
district would be annexed to the gnstern pistrict, so that there
would be one district and one judze for the area currently embraced
in two districts,

Tc form some judgment as to how excessive the expenditures of
the Court for the Western District had been, the comnittee contrasted
them with the Jjudicial expenses for the entire state before the Civil
Kar. In 1858 these had totalled $25,000; in 1859, $19,000; and in
1860, §16,000,

The committee believed that if the district were abolished and
legisla.t on enacted for the proper examination and recording of actl

" wmned in tohe territory now co“PﬂBing the Westem district . ;-_-:?_

1



As had been rumored at Fort Smith, Congressman Sener on June 9
” ’m‘tyoduced a bill to abolish the Court for the Western District
kamsas and annex its jurisdiction to the Eastern Distriet, On
-Ii'xg 80, he asked the speaker for permission to offer a resolutiﬁl
ﬂi'i'ecting Attorney General Williams "to institute a full and t.horoﬁah
investigation into the character of the allowances paid at the
treasury department, as well as claims still due for expenditures
in the marshal's office, of the western district of Arkansas, since
the first day of July 1870, and to report the result thereof to the
house on the first day of the next session," '
Representative Charles Hays of Alabama objJected, unless he was
permitted to offer an amendment that "no part of the claims shall
be paid until the department has been satisfied of their correctness,®
Mr. Sener shouted, "No!® He anchored his objection on the g round
that it would allow the Justice Department to be the legitimate Judge in
the ' ‘matter, consequently, the resolution was tabled,
Representative Robert H, Speer of Pennsylvania asked for and
received the floor, When he addressed the House, he referred to
the judze of the Western District "as a person named Story, who
had remained in that position to mock the administration of Justice,"
Tracing the history of the district, Speer said that it had
started "with the corrupt judge who was in the habit of admitting
to bail persons tried and cenvicted of capital offenses and letting
them go free afterwards,” Evidence had shown that Judge Story had
bought certificates issued for the payment of jJurors and witnesses
at the district court at forty and sixty cente on the dollar, ®A
Judge who was charged with having received a brive of $2,500 for
Admitt.ing a nolle prosequi to be entered in a certain case; a Sudge
whose records were marred and interlined, and erased and confused;
8 Judge who had approved one of the marshal's vouchers for $20,000
: in"ﬁank; a Judge who had allowed the government to be plunderod
ifeds of thousands of dollars,®
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In Justiee to Judge Story, Speer remarked, he had responded to
% 7, - the committee's invitation to appear. His statement was found tﬁh‘"
"1ame and unsatisfactory." Speer characterized it as "not a st,af.em
of a man conscious of his official and personal integrity; it wag’.':
Ta otatement of a man who felt keenly the injustice done by such Bl
charges, but a statement of a eringing, shrinking, cowardly and
corrupt man,®
Next, Representative Speer turned his ire on "an infamous and
corrupt marshal, named Wm. A, Britton.” Britton was accused of
#prenering fictitious lists of deputy-marshals and making cut bills
in such names," Evidence had been found that Britton had bought up
vouchers from jurors, witnesses, and deputies for 30 and 4LO¢ on
the dollar, Instances had been reported where cartloads of vcuchers
could be obtained at 2¢ on the dollar. These vouchers had been
subsequently presented to the Treasury and paid in full.
Suspicions had been arocused in Washington, and an investigation
. order by a grand Jury, sc it had been arranged by Britton and the
district attomey, who was also a party to the frauds, that a favorable
report should be made, The bills were paid, and Britten (who had
been removed) was reinstated by President Grant, in the absence
of the Attorney General. Subsequently, the Attomey General had
appeared before the Senate and blocked Britton's appointment.
In disposing Britton a "worse man was a ppointed in the person
of Logan H. Roots,” According tcg.peer, Roots had immediately
orgahized a national bank at Fort Smith. Owning three-fifihs of
the bank stock, Roots "continued to peddle out by the cart-locad the
certificates for pay of the witnesses, jurors and deputy marshals.®
Roots had forwarded these vouchers for payment to his wwn bank to
the tune of hundreds of thousands of dollars, These vouchers were
peid at a tremendous discount. |
«+ Speer claimed that the expenses for the court for 1871=-1873 wm b
’743,023. Of this figure, 14,791 was paid to grand jJurors, $32 m

Fbazy
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| I T T b ‘petit juroxa, "and $114,117 to witnesses. ‘f'hié 1er't’""$5s'2 IO! '“t'o:;""-:'

"the marshals, deputies, “and clerks. Citing”the year 1872 when thc ?'

EX]
&I‘ L3S RAE '’ ~%

expenses ‘for the ‘district with a population of 300 000 wére ‘$321 653.

t"'\

ﬁxSpeer pointed out that they exceeded the expenses ‘for the same period
for ‘81l the New England otates, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, anahéhio with
g population ©of 10,500, 000 * At the ciose of Mr.’ Speer‘a speech the “?'
'.objection to Mr. Sene r's resolution was withdrawn, and’ it ﬁée”adopted. 12
X7 LY he editor of the Fort Smith ‘Herald in commenting on Lr. Speer 8
'1‘:’;charbes, felt that he had used "£00 pointed a 1ance, ‘and that not e
o too well poised,yin‘the mentlon of Lovan H Roots." As he recalled,_
’Foots' connection wlth the bank while he was marshal, couldn't have
extended beyond a month or two. The bank had ‘been chartered in ea;ly
"1872 and had bebun operating about June. Koots had been removed'"
‘:'as marshal in July; Editor aparks didn't believe cne could\censufe B
the tank or an 1ndividual for placing surplus capital "where it will N
: a.y best." 13
. o " 4 bill to sbelish the Court for the Western District of Arkansas
was passed by the House, House Bill 3621 provided ‘that "until further
provision shall have becn made by law, court shall be held at the
same places [ Helena, Little Kock, and port bmltn;7 and at the same N
" time as now provided by law" in Arkansas. B
Judge Story, sensing the temper of Congress, could see that unless
he resigned he would be impeached. on June 16 Story submltted his
V resignation as judge of the Court for the Western District. Editor
Sparks Telt this was encouraging, because as yet the Senate hadn't
- _’taken up House Bill 3621. As he informed his subscribers on June 20,
""The esignation of Judge Story, i; accepted-and we have no doubt
but that it will be~-may settle the question of the distrlcp and
it may not be abollshed." L
‘ Story's resignation weakened the forces pushing for the abolition

“of the kWestern District and the legislation failed to pass the Senato.
WAL posh. .
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... Arkensans were delighted to learn that President Grant en July

a

2

had nominated a Cenfederate hero, General James F, Fagan to
Ssrberts place.

+o Editor wheeler of the Weekly Independent hailed Fagan's
appointment:

This is an indication of better times in the
future sdministration of the affairs of that dept.
of the public service here.

It is an indication too, that ¥r. Grant is
trying to rise above that political pressure,
which has hitherto ferced him to make his appoint-
ments from party considerations alone; ard find his
appointees only among his p:rty adherents without
regard to honesty and capacity. When the appointing
power of the govt. will have been influenced more
by the honesty and capacity of the aspirants for
office, and less by party fealty of such aspirants;
then there will be less tize for unloading purposes,

Fheeler at the same time informed his subscribers that
it was nct his purpose to castigate Sarber. According to

the latest news from Washington, no charges had been filed
against the ex-marshal. The change had been made "to make
& new st.rt in the aduinistration of affeirs” in the Court
for tne Western District. e

Marshal Fagan reached Fort Smith during the second week
of July and assumed his new duties. Even before he reached
his new post, Fagan had msde several appointments which were
well received by the Fort Smithites., Ben Field was named chief
clerk in the marshal's office; Dr. W. W. Bailey wouldbe surgeon
and physician for the priscners cuifined in the U, 5. Jail;
Major Ripley of Little Rock was given the cuntract for feeding
the inmates, 19

8everal days before Marshal Fagan entered on his new duties,

thero was an attempted Jail break., On a quiet Sunday morning,




-, ¢wo prisoners succeeded in breaking cut. 4s they raced toward
t!;e Poteau, Guard George Maledon opened fire, The ball struck
,. %llis McKee, one of the fleeing men, in the back, knocking
b him to the ground. MNcKee's companion was recaptured by one
of the deputy marshals and another guard. The wounded man
was taken to & hospital, where Dr. Bailey eut out the ball, At
the time the Westem Independent went to press on July 8,
McKee was reportedly well on the way to recovering from his wound,
At thebeginning of the third week of July, District Attomey
for the Viestern District Newton J. Temple tendered his resig-
nation, Tecple's many Fort Smith friends were disturbed by
this develomment, Editor Wheeler commented, Temple's
"earnest, atle, and persistent opposition to judicial frauds
here has endeared him tc the honest pecple of the District.
His record in the Dept. of Justice ana before the country 45 clear.

’ We hope we may get as good a man to £i11 his place.” Temple

had told his friends that he wauld re-establish himself in
California, 2!

Fresident Grant named William H. H. Clayton, the brother
of United Stetes Senator Powell Clayton, to replace Temple,
Claytcen at the time he received his appointment was the
prosecuting sttorney for the First Arkansas Judicial Circuit.
Several weeks passed before Clayton was atle to wrap up
his business in the state ccurt. Clayton reached Fort
Smith en August 31 by stage, Editor Wheeler, as & good
Democrat, wasn't happy to leam of the new disirict attorney's
arrival. When his subscribers read the Weekly Independent
for September 3, they learmed that Clayton was in town. "Have
we & Clayton among us?" the editor inquired. Answering his
- question, he commented, "We have. Then Heaven help us," 2
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4'.:dis;:over that Jailer Elanks was a good disciplinarian. Blanks

Marshal Fagan and District Attomey Clayton wers delighted tg s g

1hspected the Jail twice a day. Not only did the Jailer make t.hc_

5 .P’:i°°n°’8 keep the cells "neat," but he saw that they kept themselves " ..

“clean.” The food sent into the jail by Contractor Ripley was
Proncunced good, wholesome, and well cooked, 23

The posses sent ocut by Marshal Fagan found plenty to keep them
busy in the vist territory over which the Court for the Westem
District had Jurisdiction. Many times, the deputy marshal in charge
was able to report a successful m.ssicn, on occasions he reported
failure, and scmetimes he told of exciting gunfights.

Deputy U. S, Marshale W, M. and J. C. Cockran rode into the
old Garrison on September 3 with two priscners, one of whom was
8 Choctaw named Stephen Anderson. The Indianws a desperado of
the most "violeat type.,? Lawmen had frequently t ried to apprehend
him without success, Anderscr was accused of mRany crimes e
robbery, horsestealing, and murder,

The Cockrans and their posse had ridden up to Anderson's house
before dayli.ht the morning of August 29 and had taken cover,
At daybreak, Anderson walked cut into his yard. He was armed with
& sporting rifle and a Smith and Wesson six-shooter. Calling his
dogs, Anderson walked toward the underbrush in which the marshals
had taken cover,

Tom Sanford, a member of the posse, crsw his gun and called for
Anderson to surrender. Instead of daing as directed, Anderson
fired at Sanford. As he did, J, C, Cockran shet, "giving him a
good sprinkling® of buckshot. W. M. Cockran rushed up behind Anderson
and caught him by the neck. Placing his pistol to Anderscn's head,
W. M. Cockran told him to give up, which he did.
. After the marshals hzd taken Anderson into custody, the tclon‘:’-' 2
‘tthcr and brother trailed the posse for 15 miles on the chance,
Mch proved futile, of rescuing their kinsman, ¥
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Not so fortunate was the posse led by Deputy Marshals Hugh

'”j-Cg;roll and Davis. Near Maysville, they arrested two brothera,%)yad%

_characters," belonging to the Tittle family. Carroll and one gg@;ﬂé
'Aook the prisoners aside, while Davis and the rest of the posse irodi ;
' {nto Maysville to capture a third brother. Meanwhile, "old manggittle'ié
had gathered together a number of armed friends and prepared to recapture
his sons. "0ld man Tittle" and his confederates came upon Deputy Marshal
Carroll. Urawing their guns; they ordered him and the guard to release
their prisoners. Next, they relieved the deputy marshal of his gun
and money. After giving Carroll and the guard a "sound cursing," the
desperados rcde into Maysville, Davis and the rest of the posse had
stopped at a house. One of the posse had been stationed outside as
a guard. As "Cld man Tittle" and his party galloped up, several of
the men trained their shotguns on the juard. After disarming him,

they compelled Davis and the rest of the lawmen to hand over their

S

weapons.
Commenting on the discomforture of the posse, the editor of the
wWestern Independent observed:

* fThe Tittles are said to be daring men, and defy all
law, and it is useless for three or four men to attempt
to arrest them, and to accomplish their arrest it will
take 25 to 30 men tc do it. This news we learn from
one of the guards who expressed himself as perfectly
willing to stay as far away from the Tittles as
neretofore. ke have no doubt but Gen. Fagan will soon
attend tc these desperatc characters as the law directs.

More successful than the Carroll-Davis posse was one led by
Deputy Marshals Cockran and Carter. The Cockran-Carter detachment
reached Fort Smith during the second week of October from a patrol

25

through the Creek Nation with nine prisoners.
vhile on their sweep, the marshals had learned the hiding place
of Kedmouth, a noted renegade. Early on Getober 4, they had closed
- dn on Redmouth's hiding place. Kedmouth was camped in a deep ravino g
'with one of his wives. Awakening, Redmouth began shooting. Aikhaujk

$ 4t was very dark, the marshals returned the fire, using the tlfﬁini ;
vioao-% fpom Redmouth's plstol as an aiming point. As scon &3 it was light,qM*i
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5 the marshals advanced and found a woman "completely riddled with
ets and in a dying condition,® Before expiring, the woman JJ*

uounded. After pursuing Redmouth a number of miles, the posse Ibs’b‘
his trail, and the marshals sadly admitted that their man had given

them the slip. 26

By the end of the first week of October, Jaw
that W "Each week, as the posses
refimed, saw the number of Blanks' charges increase "at the rate
of 10 to 12." The townspeople on learning this felt certain that
Judge Caldwell would have his hands full when he opened the Court
for the Westermn District on the first Monday in November, 27

The most important trial which took place during the November
term of court was that of McClish Impson, "a young and ignorant

‘ Indian," who was tried for killing an unidentified white man in
the Creek Nation. The jury returmed a verdict of guilty on November

13, The next day, Judge Caldwell sentenced Impson todeath. On
January 15, 1875, Impson was escorted from his cell, While on the
sceffold and waiting for the rope to be adjusted, Impson confessed
the crime and blamed his fathert!s teaching for bringing him to
the gallws. 28

Editor Wheeler was impressed with the way Judge Caldwell ran
his court. The readers of the Western Independent for November 19

learned:

The U, S. District Court for the Western District of
Arkansas has been in session for nearly two weeks, and the
amount of business dispatched in that time is surprising.
Judge Caldwell is on the bench, and ®every thing moves like
clock=work," In the Grand Jury room is kept an attorney -
Col. Harrington of the Eastern District - who acts as clerk
for that body; thus enabling them to progress admirably,

We are told by a member of the Grand Jury that they will soem .
complete their labors and adjourn. 29 -
?f
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By the end of November, so many cases had been disposed of that et
'tho population of the jJail had been more than cut 4n half. thn,
..thé' westermn Independent went to press on December 3 thers were 2 i
\vhif.e men and 8 Negroes confined in the U. S. Jail, "Quite a cleani
'ut.:since Juige Caldwell has been presiding,” Editor Wheeler obsor;;ad. 30
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LAW ENFORCEMENT AT FORT SMITH 1871 - 1896
Chapter 1II
Judge Parker Hangs Six

By 1875, the year lsaac Charles Parker was appointed to the Fort
Smith bench, there was no worse spawning place for Satan’s own than
the Indian Territory. People called the area "Kobbers! Roost" and
*The Land of the Six-Shooter.” At the time of the hanging of John
Childers in 1873, crime was so rampant that the candition give rise
to the phrase; 9There is no Sunday west of St. Louis ~- no God

west of Fort Smith." !

Parker's fprmative years were not too dramatic. The future
¥hanging Jjudge" was bom in a log cabin on October 15, 1838, in
Belmont wounty, Chic. While helping on the family farm, he spent
several winters in g rade schcol and took some work at Barmesville
. Academy that was aboutss advanced as today's junior high school.
P The Kansas-Nebraska question was the absorbing topic of the day, and
A. young Parker, fond of debate, took anactive part in the discussions.
After digesting a few law books, Parker in 1859 was admitted to the
Chio bar. 2
In the same year, young Parker caught the Western fever., Not
thet Ohic was overcrowded, but moving west was:acharacteristic of
the people of 19th Century America. Isaac's father, Joseph, had
migrated from Pennsylvania, while his father's people had emigrated
to the "Keystone State" from Massachusetts, On Parker's mother's
side, the Shannons had been Virginians. Consequently, Parker merely
followed a pattern traced by his forebearers when he pushed on into
the Missourd Valley, -
» He went down the Chio River by packet, caught a boat up the
ﬂsaissippi and Missouri, and landed at St. Joseph, Missouri. Sts:
wipséph was a gateway to the great westem frontier. Trappers, taé X
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acout.s, gamblers, and the nondescript gathered here on the border,
" Ben Holladay was running a freight lineto the West. The first p&i}
axg?ess rider was tothunder westward toward California from St. ;;;:
Joseph the next year, It was a wild town on a wild frontier. A“w
ian with a little legal knowledge was needed and welcomed, Parker
liked St. Joseph and hung up his shingle,

Within & short time of his arrival on the Missourd frontier,
Parker was courting dark-eyed Mary O'Toole, She had been born 4n
St. Joseph and had graduated from the Convent of the Sacred Heart,
Mary was:a Roman Catholic and Parker a Protestant, This delayed
but didn't prevent a marriage. To them were born two sons, Charles
and James, "Parker worshipped his dark-eyed cheerful Mary, was
devoted to her and their two sons." Mary in turn found her "Isaae
 perfect, a kind and loving husband, an indulgent father," b

Although he had just come of age, Parker lost no time in becoming
interested in politics. He had a background for his interest, a
great-uncle, Wilson L. Shannon had twice been governor of Ohio,
then minister to Mexico, member of Congress, and finally governor of
Kansas Territory. Like Shannon, Parker was a8 Free Scil Democrat,

His hero was the Little Giant, Senator Stephen Douglas of Illinois,
Parker wus president of the first Douglas for president club organized
in Missouri. In 1860, Parker did his best in a futile effort to

have his idol elected fo the presidency.

The election of Abraham Lincoln resulted in the s ecession of
the Lower South, The firing on Fort Sumter and Lincoln's call for
75,000 volunteer precipitated a crisis in the Upper South. Pour
of these states c ast their lot with the Confederacy, In the border
slave states there was a political tug of war between the forces
of Unien and secession, As a Korthe®efya nonslaveholder, and a
Douglas Democrat, Parker declared for the Union, Parker during the

'mhsaw service as a corpoeral in the militia, and used his skillﬁfgg |
3 politician to help keep Misscuri on the side of the Union.. f‘"i‘%-".*‘
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?proaecuting attorney for Buchanan Sounty. When President Linco

] TFGRAb 0

"cast. Missourit's vote for "Old Abe," In the same year, Parker wal A

Parker had now become a lepublican, His reputation began to

- -grow, Having held the office of city attorney, he was elected [i+'

elected State's Attormey for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit of Missouri,
During the reconstruction period which followed the Civil War,

Parker, when just 30 years old in November 1868, was elected judge

of the Tw®lfth Judicial Circuit for a six Year term, Twc years

later, he quit the bench to run fOr Congress, He was elected a

representative from the 6th Missouri District. Two years later he

was re-elected, 5 | .
Intenticnally or not, Parker while in Congress laid the foundation

for becoming a Federal judge. During the 42d Congress, Parker

served as chairman of the Committee cn Bxpenditures of the Navy

Department and was a member of the committee on Territcries, Because

of his latter assignment, he tB.came deeply interested in the problem

of the American Indians and was sympathetic to their problems, His

second term afforded him even richer opportunities, Parker was

appointed tco the powerful Committee on Appropriations. He steered

the Indian Appropriation Bill of 1872 through the House, and sponsored

& measure to organize & territorial government for the Indian

country in the Western District of Arkansas, which failed to pass,

Little by little Parker became the champion of the Indians, In the

halls of the 43d Congress, Parker was known as "the Indian's best f riend,”

Parkert's work pleased President Gfant. In a message to Congress
in 1872, the President cbserved:

The policy which was adopted at the beginning of this
Administratioh with regard to the management of the Indians
has been as successful as its most ardent friends anticipated
within so short a time., It has reduced the expense of their
_ government, decreased their forays upon the white settlementg,,.» P
" tended to give the largest opportunity to the extensionss
of the great railways through the public domain, and the
pushing of settlements into more remote districts of the
. country, and at the same time improved the condition of the ﬁ%

41

6



Unlike many men with a military background, Grant expressed
.qmcem for the welfare of the redmen living in the Indian Territcﬂ‘
?o;' as he said: ;
: The subject of converting the so-called Indian 'I’erritoti?
south of Kansas, intc 8 home for the Indian, and erecting v=-°
therein a territorial form of government, is cne of grest
importance, ias a complement of the existing Indian policFesee
A territorial govermment should protect the Indians from
the inrocads of whites for a term of years uhtil they have
become sufficiently advanced in the arts and civiligzations

to guard thevir own rights and from the disposal of lands
held by them for the same period, 8

In 1874 the Missouri Republicans nominated Parker for the United
States Senafe, This was in the nature of a compliment, because
Missouri was again in the hands of the Democrats and no Republican
could hope to win. Moreover, the situation in the Sixth Congressional |
District was such that Parker had little chance of being re-elected
to the House of Rkepresentatives, It was understood, however, that
with the Kepublicans in control in Washington that Parker would
get an appointment from the ¥hite House when he retired from Congress
in March 1875,

President Grant accordingly appointed Parker chief justice of
the newly created Utah Territory. Parker now took the most important
step of his career, Befdre the Senate could act an his appointment,
Parker wrote Grant asking him to withdraw it, Instead of the Utsh
assgn ment, Parker asked that he be considered for judge of the United
States Court for the Western District of Arkansas, While the Utah
position had a more high-sounding title, it had numerous d rawbacks,
Besides being a long way off, the Utah post was temporary. Territorial
officers would loose thsir jibs whenever Utah became & state., At
the same time, the district judge:nip was for life, and Fort Ssdth
was not too far from St. Joseph,

In writing to the White House, Parker had assured Grant that:

s

! ,,could handle the task, He knew the law; the Presidp:t could h 3
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on that. Parker as Juige of the Twelfth Judicial Circuit of Missﬁuri,
*had previous service on the bench. Having lived in a region simiigg‘
0. the Arkansas frontier, Parker believed he could cope with the.
Aproblems canfronting the Court for the Western District better than e “Mz
“an easterner, Furthermore, Parker, having specialized in Indian afraira \\
while in Congress, believed he could handle any judicial problem which
might arise in the vast Indian Territory over which his court had
Jurisdiction, J

Arkansas' two #Repuilican senators (Powell Clayton and Stephen W.
Dorsey) requested that Parker be named to £ill the vacancy existing
at Fort Smith. 7Tne depublican party had fallen on evil times in
this section of the southwest, Arkansas had just passed through
the throes of reconstruction., It had witnessed only & short time
before, the split in Republican ranks which had resulted in the
Brooks-Baxter War. It was doubtless this factional split in the
Arkansas Hepublican party which led President Grant to select a man
from outside the state, not identified with either wing,

Upon receiving these requeste, President Grant withdrew Parkerf's
nomination as chief justice of the Territory of Utah and appointed
him Judge of the Court for the Western District of Arkansas st
a salary of $3,500 per annum. Parker's nomination was quickly
confirmed by the Senate. Grant on March 19, 1875, filled out and
transmitted to Parker an official copy of his appointment., At

36 years of age, Parker bccame the Youngest judge or. “he Federal
10

bench, _ 4

No man ever entered into judicial office under more trying or
unfortunate circumstances, 4 triumphant and réghteously indi gnant
Democracy had secured control of the Arkansas state government,
which had been denied to it b¥ force of ams for a period of years,
The term “carpetbagger" was anathema in the ears and hearts of the




word that he hud received the endersement of the Arkansas senators,
) ""Lboth of whon were "radical® Republicans, could eause difficult:l“
’In_ addition, the scandal that had compelled Judge Story to resigs,,
[“ enough to make thinking men pause and wender if another ”barpct.bmu-'
" Had been foisted upon them. H - LAY
President Grant didn't expect that Parker would desire the positien
as Judge of the Court for the Western District very longe
*Stay a year or two," Grant wrote, "and get things straightened

out.”
#] did not expect to stay here more than a year or two," Parker

told a reporter 20 years later, "but I am still here, as you see,"

“Yes, it was the greatest mistake of ycur life," remarked the
Judge's wife, as she added, "ile 1s only fifty-elght but he locks
like a very old man,"

"No, Mary, not a mistake," exclaimed the jJudge, "for we havs
been enabled to arrest the flood tide of ¢ rime," 12

The Judge, Mrs. Parker, and their two boys reached Fort Samith
by steamboat on a pleasant Sunday morning, Hay 2, 1875. Although
its population numbered less than 3,000, Fort Smith was justly called
a center of commerce and trade, The Arkansas, when navigatle, afforded
a low-cost meanc cf transportation; wholesale warehcuses had been
established; Fort Smith was the distribution center for a vast region
in the eastern Indian Territory and much of western Arkansas,

Being realists, the newconmers expected little in the way of
progress and "ereature comforts.” They were correct. Even the
boosters would admit that Fort Smith was a second class town,

There were no paved streets; no sidewalks; nc streetlights, except an
occasional lantern; no bustling factories; no decent hotels or |
public schools, The chief means of travel were river craft and
horse~drawn carriages and wagens, Fort Smith boasted four newspapers,
* sndf0 saloons which did a thriving business wit: steazboaters ln(f rilb-
$ders, cowboys returning to Texas frum the drives to the xmaq “
__'gonri railheads, and transient traffic to the great Southwest
“bank, the First National, had been established in 1872, 13

‘? " st
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uninviting " a ®geething mass of mud and filth," It was "simp];
) "a Bud hole with all the garnishments needed to complete its filttw
L"grostesqueness. When the sun shone, as it did on the day of P ax"ker

Garrison Avenue was wide enough, but rain made it “nasty a.nd

N

arrival, there was dust to baffle the pedestrian or to drive hil
into the saloons, 14

Many had flocked to the landing, not especially to welcome
the newcomers, but to get a good look at the new juige. They saw
a broad-shouldered man over six feet in heightj weighing 200 pounds,
with plercing blue eyes, and tawny mustache and goatee. They noted
his quick, firm step and square-set jJaw, and thes guessed that he
would be forceful, Beyond this, he was a "carpetbagger" and
another appointment of President Grant, who four years before
had sent them Judze Story. In Mrs, Parker, the citizens saw a pleasant
woman, larger than average, while the two children were remarkably
handsome,

After Parker had obtained lodging for his family, he took a
look about town and the Garrison and sized up the siltation. Only
then did he realize that he had accepted one of the most difficult
offices in the eountry,

During the latter months of Story's tenure, the Court for
the Western District had fallen into disrepute, People on the
street were openly critical of Story's regime and the wasteful
and inefficient methods of his court. Witnesses were difficult te
secure, and many of the law abiding citizenz living in the district
were openly antagonistic toward its officers., The bar itself was
sullen and even openly rebellious. 15

Moreover, many of the Agkansas Democrats distrusted Parker
because of his switch to the Republican party. Local newspapers

bad expressed their disgust at Parker's congressional votes on hill’
‘l.ffecting sectional issues, 16 Despite the successes registerod ‘tr ;




Parker had likewise been & member of the House when it had voted to
3mmmmmmmmMMmmmm.menmmm

] lct, which was referred to by a Fort Smithite as "one of the mosé

‘yiniquitous measures ever brought to the attention of a delibera

body. n 17

The newspapers ave the judse only guarded publicity,

“Wh have made a great mistake, Isaac," Mary remarked,

“No, Mary," the judge replied, "We are faced with & great task,
The people need us, We must not fail them.,"

Failure wculd mean bloodshed and domination of the Indian
Territory by the forces of evil. Parker had experienced the druel
border warfare as carried out by Jim Lane and his Redlegs, and the
Bushwhackers led by William C. Guantrill and Bloody Bill Anderson.
Parker was familar with the type of ruthless individual that had made
his way intc the Indlan Territory. He rcalized that politics for
the time being must be pushed aside. Polities could play no pert
in bringifg law and orderto the Arkansas frontier. The country's
salvation, the fate of the Court for the Western District, lay in
the Arkansans!'! hands. Only if he eoculd have their help and co-
operation in attacking this "vast problem of crime" could Parker
achieve his ideal, "a great govemmment, where liberty, regulated
b law, would be guaranteed tc all, even the humblest,” 18

For clerk of the court, Judge Parker hand picked Stephen
vheeler. A Union veteran and Kepublican wheelhorse in Arkansas,
Wheeler had been appointed in April 1875 to be elerk of the Federal’
Circuit Court at Fort Smith, a division of the Eighth Judicial
Circuit, Wheeler accepted the t ask with alacrity and never left this
position until June 1897, eight months after Parker's death, In
‘the 22 years he held the office, Wheeler issued 18,877 warrants




As private bailiff, Parker retained George S, ¥Winston, private
:bailiff under Story and Caldwell. Wkinston always gave close attent.im B
£0 court affairs, and he came to Parker with the unanimous recomm‘datimﬂ
f the other court officers, 20 § &
: " " Parker quickly became acquainted with Marshal Fagan and Dis‘bricﬁj,,,
Attorney Clayton., James Brizzolara was named Clayton's assistant
on May 8, 1875. 21

The physical setting of the ccurt was as grim as the work ahead,
The old "Soldiers! Quarters" was a story and half brick structure
with its sides facing to the northeast_md_mnthnest,_its_gabln\
pointing to the northeast an ast half of the
first floor was partitioned off and used as the courtroom;—while—
the other half f was employed as offices for clerks, the sarshal,
and attorne attorneys, Beneath the building M&EW
deep and partitioned by a solid stcne wall into twe c¢ells, each
29 by 55 feet, Sinc;*tjl;:—fire in November 1872, these had served
as the U, S, Jail, 8Small bascment windows provided the chief source
of light and ventilation. Entrances tc the cells were made from the
outside on either side of the porch facing southeast., Inside each
basement entrance was built of r.ugh timber a small vestibule,
eight by ten feet, where prisoners, during sessions of court, :;re

permitted to confer with their attorneys.

The old Commissary Storehouse was—eecupled—by Jud; e Farker—and
theother-officers of the court as offices, 22
& % #» :

The people wanted proof that Parker was a man of action, and
they quickly got it. Judge Parker opened the Court for the Westemn
District an May 10, only eight days after his arrival at Fort Smith,
During his first term of court, 18 persons came before him charged
with murder, '

€ -s-’eﬁwmssouﬂ the Bible that was so important to his 1be;

It was a ponderous, stiff-backed book, held together by a fancy brass -

ﬁclup.\
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The first murder trial over which Parker presided was that of

&ud boy's footg#¥r had been removed, lidden bencath a stone wer%“
.a battered pair of heavy work shoes, Searching the bcﬂcy, the
discoverers found a pocketbook bsaring the name "3eabolt.® A few
miles away, a bullet through its brain, was found a small, grey
pory, Nearby was a well-worn saddle,

Follewing the discovery of the corpse, the authorities instituted
an investigation, When questioned, the settlers living in the area
recalled having seen two riders, cne a man the other a boy, several
days before. The boy was reportedly wearing new boots with high
heels and fancy tops, and riding a large bay with a fine new saddle.
At the same time, his companion was sald to have been mounted on
& small, grey pony with old saddle, and his fest encased in a pair
of heavy work shoes, |

A United States d eputy marshal was sent for. A search for the
dead boy's traveling companion was launched., Near Eufaula, the
posse overtock & man of about 20 summers, Wwhen the marshal hailed
the man, he noticed that he was riding aWeautiful bay, with a
new saddle, and was wearing a fancy pair of boots, with sloping
hedls and highly omamented tops. In response to the marshal's
questions, the horseman identified himself as Daniel H. Evans
of Bosque Gounty, Texas.

One of the posse ssked Evans where he had bought the boots/

51 didn't buy them, I traded for them,”

®A boy 1 met in the Creek portion,” Evans retorted, "Said
he got them in Texas,®

The story seemed plausible, but the posse wasn't convinced,
pospite Evans! prot.ests, the deputy marshal decided to escort Mx

: Daniel Evans., This case was typical of many that were to follw,';;‘ n 4&

R
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The ccmmissioner decided to hold Evans in jJall to awalt mveatigati.cn
X by the grand Jury. ¥hen the evidence was presented to the grand“ i
i- . .

: i‘f */ Evans was arraigned before Judge Caldwell oan the following day
As expected, Evans pleaded “not guilty as charged.” H. A, Rogers
and William M. Cravens were retained as attorneys for the defense,
The trial which began on December & lasted two dayss All evidence
presented by t he govermment against Evans was circumstantial.
Consequently, the jury was unsble tc agree, After being out 60
hours, the jJurore returned; the foreman annouvnced that they were
unable to reach a vsrdict, standing 11 to | for ccnviction,

Juige Caldwell on December 10 discharged the jurors. Evans
was retumed to the jail beneath the courtroom to await a new
trial. There he was when Judgc Parker opened the May term of the

. Court for the Western District,

_Evans?! gsecond trial commenced on Mmday, May 17, Three days
(- | before, the attorneys for the d efense had appeared in court,and
on their motion Bond and Robinson were appointed to assist in the
defense, A motion for conBlnuunce was overruled., Evans, bolstered
by his first experience hefore the bar, was ccnfident. There was
no new evidence; this time he would be set free,

The t rial moved rapidly. During the first day, most of the
testimony was presented, Mistaken identity, the defense shoutly
waintained. That evening s District Attorney Clayton was sitting
alor® in his office, he heard footsteps in the hall, He was worried,
unless the prosecution dug up additional evidence, Evans would
probably be acquitted. There was a knock at the door. Gdayton called,
#Come ini¥ "

A stranger who appeared to be about LO entered,




S6 startled was the prosecutor by this announcement that hé o

v "f;‘oéet.her in October of 1874. Early in November, he had received & "
letter from his son written at Denison, Tex®:, stating that he and
his friend were going into the Indian Territory,

Prior to his son's departure, Scabolt had given him 8 large,
bay horse and a pair of boots. The elder Scabolt had purchased
an identical pair for himself. At this, he raised ane foot tothe
level of the table so Clayton could have a close looks Clayton's
heart beat raster. The boot, with its high heel and fancy top,
was an exact mate to the ones worn by Evans,

"Cne of the he2ls came off,” Seabclt continued, *Jjust before
ny boy left home, and he put it back and drove three horse-shce
neils into it to hold it in place.” As the senior Seabolt recalleqd
it was the left one, and when repaired it was a little off-center.
Then feeling that the other heel might come loose, the boy had driven
three nails into it.

. Cddyton was eleted. What a ccincidence that the father

of the victim, of vhom the government had heretofore known nothing,
sheuld suddenly agpear to furnish vital evidence needed to put a noose
around Bvans' neck. It was late when the interview terminated,
Chayton took the fsther to a quiet boarding house &axd arranged
for him to Fesmitn there until summed. :

When court reconvensd on the $8th, the attorneys for the defemnse
submitted their clcasing arguments and rested their case,

Clayton now rose and exclaimed "Ca)l Mr. Seabolt."

As he said this, Evans was seen to twist nervously in his chair.
It was apparent to all that the "defendent was surprised by the




The father took the stand. He told the same story as he had

.;s* the previous night. When the elder Seabolt ceased speaking, all

;{ ojca, including those of the judge and Jury, were focused on b
" ":!;: ij'}yana, who sat a little back, his feet thrust beneath one of hil"'

¥ *'yftorneys? chairs, :

Evans was asked to show his boots to the jury. As he did,
Clayton pointed to the heads of the three horseshoe nails in the
heel of sach boot, and to the unmistakeable indications that the
heel on the left boot had at sometime been removed and replaced,

A cmmparison of Evans' boots with those worn by the witness com-
pleted the testimony., Arguments were made by the opposing counsels
on Wednesday, the 19th, Time was now at hand for Parker to charge
the jurors. He did this at length. As he did, the judge led the
jury. Parker believed Evans was guilty — and the guilty must be

punished,
| The jury wus out only a few minutes, When it returned, the
. foreman announced that Evans had been found guilty.
{ Judge Parker on June 26 pronocunced sentence, Instead of

saying that a person was to be hanged until he was dead, Parker
repeated the dread word three times, Evans rose. Parker talked
for several minutes, denouncing him in & harsh, cold voice; then
he set the date for the exécution, and said, %I sentence you to
hang by the neck until you are dead, d ead, dead!" 23

Evans' face took on a scornful smile as he thanked the jJudge,
As the doomed man was led aside, Parker's eyes filled with tears,

Six~-feet-tall and handsome James H, Moore, like Evans, was a
professional bad man, Bom in 1847 near Warrensburg, Johnson
county, Missouri, Moore had moved at an early age with his parents
%o Grayson county, Texas. Befcre he was of age, young Moore had
joined a band of cutlaws in the Indian Territory. The band's
féﬁc}d of operation extended from Kansas into the northem cotmtiq.




%% to Fort Cibsen and from there to Eufaula., There, cne of the posse -

Moore and an outlaw named Hunton on the night of August 26, i8710,

. _robbed Cox, & crippled farmer, living in ¥ashington county, Arkanm. 2y

'4'

‘ far the site of Cld Fort Wayne. Hunton stood guard while Moore
t_oak the old man's two horses. A citisens' posse pursued the oum

caught a scuthbo.nd trainj the rest followed on horseback the trail
left by Moore and Hunton, At Atoka, the lone pursuer sighted the
two outlaws as he was getting off thetrain. Collecting another
posss, he gave pursuit., After a long, hard chase the posse on the
evening of September 1 overtook the two fugitives on the Little
Blue, & slprt distance from the Red, A pun-battle ensued, Foore
was one of the best shots with a six-shooter in the Territery. He
" knocked one of the pursuers, William Spivey, froz his horse with a
bullet in thetrain at 100 yards. A second member of the posse,
Captain A. D. Irvwin, was cut down, badly wounded,

In the darkness which soon bjanketed the ares, the desperadoss
lost their horses and gseparated. Munton doubled back and was captured
by the citizens' posse, 16 wiles south of Perryville. He was then
taken to Fayetteville, where he was allowed to plead guilty to
horsestealing. Since he gave the authorities valuable informatiom,

Hunton waan't prosecuted for murder, Transferred to the Federal
jail at Fo:t Smith, Hunton escaped. He was pursued into the Indian
Territory and killed when he resisted arrest,

After kKilling S;ivey, Moore made his way to Caddo, whers he
boarded a northbound train. Detraining at Eufaula, Mocre hired
a Negro to lead him to the camp of a drover., Moore had decided to
get into the cattle btusiness. He would get rid of the owner and
sell the cattle. So Moore walked along with the man, kindly
helping him with the beeves,

Bucountering @ confederate named Nowlen, HMoore told him to

-« proceed to Old Fort Wayne, where he would make arrangements to nn
the cattle. Nowlenset off on his exciting mission, 3




Hardly had Nowlen reached the cattle market at Cincinnati,
', Arkensas, before he was recognized and taken into custody. Whe:i":'““““"”' ¥ T

'.off with his cattle., Nowlen informed the authorities where Moo r?
“2‘could be located. Having secured this valuable information, R
Deputy Marshal James E, Oates and ancther man rode out of Fort
Smith, One mile east of Fort Gibson near the National Cemetery,
Oates and his companion on September 10 found the drover's camp,
Moore wasn't around, They asked as to Moore's whereabouts,
At first, the drover denied having any knowledge, When Moore
had seen the officers approaching, he had told the drover that
if he informed on him he would be killed, Prdssed by Oates, the
drover finally pointed to the gulley in which Moore was hiding, The
officers rode over to the ravinej there they found Moore, "as close
to the ground as a wagon tracif He begged them not to shoot,
Subsequently, Oates reported that Moore's clothing was saturated with
. cold sweat, The deputies soon had the cuffs on their priscner,
After he had time to reflect on his situation, Moore asked Qates
‘how the officers knew where he was hiding,
Oates refused to say,
Moore suspected Huntog, He expressed neither sorrow nor surprise
when told of Spivey's death., Instead, he boasted that counting
Spivey he had killed eixght white men, and as for "niggers and
Indians he did not count," Continuing, he said, "If he ever got
out of the scrape, he wauld golack to his old life; never intended
to Iiwork for a living, but Ywould have it, if he had to war on
civilization, as long as he couldf,"®
‘The c apture of Moore, Hunton, and Nowlen smashed a band of
horse-and cattlethieves which had been operating in the Territory
for about three years, Several men who hadn't been suspected of
' cuhawing left the area soon after the capture of the three men, o
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At Moore's trial before Judge Parker, the defendent denied
e being present when Spivey was killed, He claimed "with brazen

* ’comit.ted. The jury refused to believe Moore. On May 25 -

il vendict of guilty was handed down, One month and a day later, o
Parker sentenced Moore to the gallows, When he did, the judge |
olLserved that it was a pity to waste: such talent at Moore's,
Nevertheless, he continued, "sympathy should nét be reserved
wholly for the criminal. I believe in standing an the side of
the innocent...quict, peaceadble, law-atiding citizens. Is there
no sympathy for him.® Could one tum loose the unregenerate and
1re¥igible, the men like this James Mocre, who boasted & Wl#rsins? 25

In Texas and Arkansas there wa. no law against selling whiskey,

consequently, saloons were established just across the border,
80 residents of the Indian Territory could quench their thirst. One
such was the groz shop run by Ottery cn the Texas eide ¢f Red River,

. A trip to Ottery's saloon on Pebruary 7, 1875, a Sunday afternoom,

spelled disaster for two Chickasaw Nation farmers., William Jackson

Whittington was a native of Taylor county, Georgia, but he had

grown up in Upshur county, Texas. In 1870 he had removed to the

Chickasaw Nation, where he sharecropped for Simon James,

On the fatal Sunday, Whittington and a neighbor, John J.

Turner, crossed the rivey, After drinking a considerably quantity

of Ottery's rotgut whiskey, the two friends left the saloon. While

at the shop, Whittington had noticed that "Old Man™ Turner was

carrying a considerable sum of money, $105,

After fording the river, the two men rode along together, Whittington
thought about the =zoney. By this time, Turner had taken the lead,
Stopping and picking up & club, ¥hittington rode up behind Turner,
and knocked the old man from his horse with a fierce blow, Whittinston
jmd ; Leaping off his horse, he drew his bowie knife ; 1‘#'_
M'ﬂuhed Turner's throat. After rifling Tumer's pockets, mé*kx o




. As chance would have it, Tumer's 18-year~old son had ridden
& ¢y -Out to meet his father, Young Tumes while crossing a emall pra{ﬁ‘&l‘;“" 5

,gaua man in the distance with two horses., The man stooped as l%' #
engaged with same object on the ground,™ When the boy galloped:
ﬁp;:"‘-he saw khittington, who fled into the woods, Recognizing the" < "
victim as his father, young Turner went after the murdierer, He
cBUght Whittington before he could escapeacross Red River, Money
belonging to the dead man was found in the killer's pocket,
while the murderer's blood-stained knife, was picked up near the
corpse, 26

The now-sobér Whittington was escorted tc Fort Smith for trial,

As was to be expected, the jury found Whittington guilty, Judge
Parker was much sffected by the t rial, When it was ovey Judge Parker
thundered as he sentenced khittdington to death:

The man you murdered, was your friend and you had
spent most of the Sabbath day,..in his company. In an
. unsuspecting hour when he no doubt was treating you as

8 trusted friend you stole upon him unperceived and
eimed the deadly weapon at his head and with the fateful
knife you brutally hacked his throat to pieces and with
these fatal instruments of death, you mangled, youmur-
dered your wvictim,

But your guilt and your depravity did not stop
there. Scarcely had you committed the bloody deed before
you entered upon the commission of another crime. You
converted to your person as spoils of the murder your
victim's money, 27

Smoker Man-killer was aptly named -- he had killed two men before
he was of age. HMan-killer was a full-blood Cherokee who 1ived in
the Flint District (now Adair Sounty, Oklahoma), The murder of
another Cherokee brought Man-killer into tribal ccurt, for the Court
for the Westermn District had no Jurisdiction in cases involving
only Indians, This meant acquittal because the redzen's tribunals,

re o J;ike the ecclesiastical courts of the Middle Ages, were well-knowy.
5 . % ok Yeniency., 3
’j"’?";iln-killer was a moody Indian who carried a chip on his shoulder,

L -
s

,.0n.8eptember 1, 1674, Man-killer encountered William Short, & nelighbus,
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as he was out hunting wild gawe. Man-killer cculdn't speak English,
5go he hailed Short in Cherckee. GShort understood and answered
:puﬂxging what little Cherokee he knew and sign language. Suddenly,
;ihe'lndian made a sign that he wished to see Short's gun:. ¢The
unsuapecting hunter handed his weapon to Man-killer, whereupon the A
redman shot and killed him. To make certain that Short was dead, the Indisn \\
drew his knife and hacked his neighbor into ribbons. Tossing the rifle
aside, Man-killer walked home. ‘then.Short failed to return, his wife
sounded the alarm and a searching party was organized. It wasn't long
before the nutilated body was found.

Smoker Man-killer had boasted to his friends of the killing,
consequently, he was soon arrested and taken to Fort Smith. Since
he didn't speak knglish, the trial had to be conducted through a

court interpreter. Judge Parker was known to wind up a murder

trial in a day. Lecause of the language barrier, the Man-killer
proceedings took longer--nearly three days. Nevertheless, it
. ended up with a verdict similar to the ones handed down in the trials

of Lvans and hNoore. 28

"The law has come cn me," cried Man-killer.

rindeed," snapped Parker, "the sword of human Jjustice trembles
over you and is about to fall upon your guilty hesd." 27

Edmund "Heck" Caupbell had bLeen born irtc bondage on the REing
plantation in the Choctaw Nation on the Fort Smith-Scullyville
road, nine miles west of Fort Smith. Campbell, his brother 3arm,
and his half-brother Frank butler had been freed from slavery
by the 13th Amendment. Heck had married and started farming in the
Choctaw Hation., Kearby was the fart worked by another Negro, Lawson
Ross. For some time there had been bad blood between the Campbells
and their neighbor. After a prayer-meeting brawl, the Camptell brothers
and butler went to lioss' cabin. tieck Campbell shot hoss, and then

'ihe brothers butchered Maria McKinney, a young Negress who lives

p.,-

ﬁk the victin. %

s S

. for manslaughter. The other members of the trio were convicted of 6
' murder and sentences to death on June 26 vy Judge farker. Before the
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:ncguntry schools, So isolated were these schools that it wvas
“‘difficult to get teachers, Moreover, it was necessary for the ©7

J%:Hia_father, James, and uncle, Benjamin, had come to Fort Smith 1%

.sentence could be carried out, Frank Butler was killed in a futile
: tttempt to break out of the U, 8. Jail, R

30

Scattered through the Indian Territory in 1872 were 1so1ataﬂ
p:

teachers to go to the agency to collect their salaries,
Jéyn Ermett Naff of Jonesboro, Tennessee, had migrated to the
Indian Territory at the beginning of the 1870s. According to the

_ Jonesboro Journal, "Ko other young man that was ever reared in our

town poassessed natural gifts superior to his. He lacked steadiness
and application to make his life a succession of brilliant successes.®
But, being of "erratic dispostion,® Naff preferred a "wandering and
adventurous life," Following his arrival in the Cherokee Fation,

Naff became known as the "barefoot school teachers,® a drifter,

but a likeable and useful person,

Naff finished up his school term near Tahlequah in the summer
of 1872. W¥ith his pay, 2250, in his pocket, he packed his clothes
and books, stuffed them in a carpetbag, and started for the Illinois
River., Nightfall overtook Naff near the home of Deputy Marshal C. R.
Stephenson. The following morning, after breakfast, Naff asked Krs,
Stephenson how much he owed,

She replied, "fifty cents,®

The teacher pulled out his wallet and handed the woman a five
doller bill,

Mrs. Stephenson couldn't change it, so she told Naff to get the
bill changed and leave her 50¢ at a store by Mackay's Saltworks.

Haff agreed, and started out the door.

A brother of Mrs, Stephenson, Sam Fooy of Webbers Falls chanced
to have also spent the night at the house,

Fooy at the time was 22 years cld and had a wife and three children

ik e F L,

!hnphis in the late 18,0s. James Fooy had married a mix-blood Chiﬁék 'i
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{;Qhﬁetian upbringing. They failed, Sam preferred the wild life” :
“He drank heavily and frequented the Fort Swith gamdling dens and

f&n"a stepfather and mother tried their best to glve the boy a

brothels. Sexm had had sevcral brushes with the law but had elways
escaped conviction,

Sam left his siBter's with Naff., This was the last time the "barefoot

school teacher” was seen alive,

About a year later, a skeleton was found at tie foot of a high
bluff next to the Illinois River, A bullet hole was in the skull,
Shortly afterwards, an Indian bcy, while exploring the area, came
across a partlally bound book. On the flyleaf was the name of the
missing school teacher written in Gothic script, his last residence,
and other memoranda, along with a quotation 4n Lstin frow Horace,
bock | ode 4, wihich when translated read, "Fale deathtreads with
even step the hovels of the poor and the palaces of the kings.n
Cther articles subsequertly identified as belonging tc Naff were found
in the area.

Sar had been wnable tc keep his terrible seccret. It d eveloped
that he hzd told the sordid tale to Stephenson, begging him
to keep it a secret. He had also talked too much to a young harloet
of whom #e was enamored. These cunfessions helped assist Listrict
Attormey Clayton in getting & conviction,

Sar. Fooy mide a grand impression in the U. S. Jail. Cheerful
and gregarious, he was liked by the iwnat.es and the visitors, Guards
called him a model priswier, 3,

Public interest in the fate of the men slated to be exccuted

on Friday, September 3, 1875, intensified as the day approached, The
clergy vere untirinb and regular in their attendince at the jail. '

Sam was born in 1649, Subsequertly, the Pooy brothers moved to the
?}béfokee Nation, where they died. Sam's mother remarried, Both%: ;



the doomed men's time was spent in prayer and singing. Their former
"’z".reckleseneas had changed "to seriocus thought and affectionate depomt"
1 iheir companions,® ;;: ' ;
vﬁﬂindness and sympathy were manifested by the Fort Smithites l”?
fbr the condemned. Ladies had visiied the jall to give thé men "an
abundant supply of frults, pastry, and substantials." Eouguets
of flowers sdorned the cell windows, which the priscners carefully
watered. One of the men told the editor of the Meekly Independent
that he "was ready to die, but regretted that hLe had led a wild
life, and had not earlier known the savior." ke had suffered with
chills and fever, and his sleeg had been disturbed by dreams.

Fooy informed & reporter:

I dreamed that I was on the gallows btefére a great
crowd of people, I was sick ani weak and felt like
fainting, and 1 thought I could not face death. Just
then a fellow stepped up from the crowd, ceme right to
me anc said "Look here, Sam, don't you be afraid to let
thez jump you. Jesus is standing under the floer and he
will cateh you in his arms.®™ 1 felt strong and when the
drop came 1 felt no pain, but fell aslee};, and I woke up
in a beautiful garden - the most beautiful place 1 ever
saw, with runnin; waters and st:rs dancing on the waves,

Heck Campbell was visited by his mother on Saturlday. She spcke
to him but little. At intervals, whe seemed to satisfy her "heart
by long and lingering looks from her moistened eyes at her condemned
boy." 3he bought him a emall gift, a stick of candy, & suall paper
of cookies, and a few ilesves of home grown tobacco.

Sc many visitors at the jJail increased the "labor and necessary
vigilance of the guardasy Their ccurtsey and attention tc the many
callers was called tc the attention of the Fort Smithites by the
editor of the keexly Independent. 32

The scaffold upon which the men were t o be executed hsd been
erected at the scuth side cf the old Garriscn, & gainst the front ‘

vwax Of the magazine, .accoraing tc the correspondent fram the St. ngii?”
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" posts, very strongly braced, The platform is about seven

-0f these three. {here were farmers in working clothes, well-dressed
4 d” people, and pough-clad frontiersmen, b

_ The structure is built of rough ticders. The cross-
- beam 48 a stout stick of hewed ocak, supported on two upright ;..

feet from the ground., The.distance between the supporting
posts is about twelve feet, giving nearly two feet spsce =
5 for the fall of each victim. The trap extends across the ﬁ ;

hinged to the flooring of the platform so that they form

a connection in the nature of a ccuble door when closed

from below. These are held in place when brought up by a
stout beam of oak, extending in the direction of the gallows!
beam on which rest two arms firunly fastened to one tiap

of the door below, To this beamdbout the middle is secured
an iron trigger bar which passes up through a place provided
in the t rap doors and is secured by & knew in a strong iron
lever about three feet long, well secured on the facing

of the platform flodr, By a movement of this lever back, ‘
the trigger bar which holds the trap in positicn is released
and the doore drop down, '

On this door the cundemned men will stand. 3ix ropes
at this moment are tied over the beam, ard six bags of
sand of 200 pounds in weight each have been thrice dropped
to test the further werking of this swful enginery of death., 33

A large crowd, estimzted to number 5,000, assembled at an early
hour on Septerber 3 at the Garrison. Judge Parker had determined
that the six men sentenced to death at the May term of court should
be hanged together., It appears that he thought this would be &
dramatic way tc warn the outlaws that law had come to the Indian
Territory. In passing sentence, Farker had decreec that the executions
should take place at sane time between 9 a.m. and § p.me General
Fagan, as United States Marshal, was to designate the hcur and choose
& "convenient place,"

It would be a wellereported hanging. All the local newspapermen
were present, along with others from Little Rock, St. Louis, and
Kansas City. A4 strange crowd, observed the big-city correspondents,
There were whites, Negroes, Indians, and every possible mixtures
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_counties of Arkansas. More, however, probably came from the
p ;iu'rbulent Indian Territory. For the Parker court, although
e doinicﬂ.led in Arkansa:., was importent chlefly because it had juria-_ L
diction over 70,000 miles of the Indian country. From that area cam‘o
most of the prisoners who appeared in Parker's Court for the Western
District, including the six who were to be hanged. 34
The felons had prepared themselves for their firal roments
on earth in different ways. Moore, the braggart and horsecthief,
announced that he wished to receive the sclace of religion.
Shackled and manacled, with guards at his side, Moore was escorted
to the Cathclic church, where he received holy communicn from
Father Lawrence Smythe, Dan Evans, the first man whom Judge Parker
had condemed, made the trip to see the father at the same time,
Reverend v. A. Sample (Presbytérian) and Reverend H. M. Granade
(Methodist) visited with the cu.demned men f requently during the
final days. Heck Cs:pbell announced that he h:d jcined the church
and would die in peace knowing that he had received forgiveness,
khen gsked wnich church he had Joined Campiell didn't know, 35
Sam Fooy, with the help of his minister, prepared a statement
which was given to the 5t. Louls Republican. 36
hs the final hours approached, Smoker Man-killer accepted his
fate with stcicsl Indian indifference, his mother, Lucy Mar-killer,
sat opposite the door to the cell of the condemned, where she could
gaze wistfully at her son. by her side sat the wife of the priscner
with their baby on her knees. Man-killer csme tc the bars and called
out in Cherckee to¢ the infant,
When askes by a reporter if he were afraid to die, Man-killer
said,, 0, he hau become good. when the correspendent asked Man-killer
. 4f he h:d murdsred Willism Short, a note of hardness came into his
::wlca an: ke reterted in Engiish, "...,I not kill Saort; aomebody'
ll” kill; he die.,” 37 gp
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¥hile awaiting the end, Man-killer composed a letter in Cherokee.
%% -:, Wben translated it reads
e

Flint District, Cherokee Kation. Was raised in
% that district, My mother is living, my fatler 48 not,
.- They killedny father about nine years ago. My mother
' raised me. I feel very good, only I think the law did

not serve me right, Jesus Christ is looking upon the -

people on earth; the time is put for the Loxd tc take

us away. ¥e all have to die at a certain time. I don't

¢hink it 4s right that the law has taken hold of my

case, I deny my guilt on the charge of murder. Parties

who brought the charges told falsehoods on me., I did

not kill the man they charge on me -~ Williem Short.

John and Dick Welch did it. I was not acquainted with

William Short., I think that they Just want to charge

me with it. I feel good in the way 1 am going.

Smoker Man-killer 38
The erowd which was nolsy at the start, calmed down as the guards
appeared. Hangman George Maledon hurried about, He tested each rope.
While these preparations were taking place, Judge Parker didn't go
near the scaffold. He was grim and silent and under & strain, sc the
court officials said, Word was sent that .. Jailer Pierge was
ready to bring out the prisoners. When the judge received this
news, he walked tc the window at the far and of his room. From
there he cculd sce the ;&llows, 39
At 8 c'clock the canvicted felons!' shackles were removed, and
they washed and dressed in black suits. Promptly at 9:30 a.m,,
the priscn door swung open., Out marched the prisoners, two abreast,
toward the waiting gallows. On each was a lezg~iron, each man's wrists
were secured by handcuffs. Four Fort Smith clergymen marched with
the procession, while the well-armed guards coamanded by Marshal
Fagan fell in at the sides and rear., The doomed men clunked up the
steps and tock their seats on the rough benches, £ large awning
shaded those on the spacicus platform, After listening to Major
» . Pierce read the death warrants, Marshal Fagan asked the men if

-bad anything to say. 40




Sam Fooy remarked briefly that he hoped thst all present would
. 7 'seek the Savior and die as happy as he did. hi ' “
' ::;Several of the others were more verbose, dJames Yoore, a gian§
1 g man with a well-merited reputation as & gunfighter, spoke 3 ;
- next. The crowd pressed forward to eatch his final words, lfdore‘i :
life had been exciting. Would he, they asked themselves, display
bravado to the end? ' |

He would, Looking down at his last audience, Moore spoke in
clear, crisp tones; "I have lived like a man, and I will die like a
man. 1 af prepared..,.] think I see men here who are worse than I
have ever been., 1 hope you may make peace with God before brought
to my condition,®

Recognizing a friend, Moore called out, "Goodbye, Sandy." He
tried to wave but his hands were too tightly bound,

William khittington was sick and worried about his wife and
children. Afraid that he wouldn't be up to speaking, Whittingtan
had drafted a letter and handed it tc his clergyman, the Reverend
He M. Granade. The reverend read the message to the throng,

How 1 Came tc the Gallows:

My father taught me to be honest, and to aveid all
those great sins that disgrace the world; but he did not
teach me to be religious. If he had 1 wculd have been
& christian from my boyhood. I was just what my father
taught me to be, He showed me how to drink whiskey, and
set me the example of getting drunk. I took to this prac-
tice, and this is what has brought me to the gallows.
When I got drunk I knew not what I was doing, and so I
killed my best friend, If it had been my own brother
it vould have been the same. If I had been blessed with
the good instruction that I have had since I have been
in prison, I would have been a good and happy man to-day,
with my family. Oh! what will become of my poor wife and
two dear little boys, who are away out on Red River? I
fear that people will slight them and compel them to go
into low, bad company, on account of the disgrace that

ca*zswn- 3 have brought upon them, But I leave them in the hands
.#0f the gracious God in whom I have learned to t.rust.,..
‘@h! that men would leave off drinking altogether. And,




0, rarents, I send forth this dying warning to-day,
- standing en the gallows: "Train up your children in the
. way they should go,® My father's example brcught me ze to
- ruin, God save us all! Farewell! Farewell! 43

-5, - Fooy, Moore, and Whittington had not denied their guilt. a8 i
" ""'three other docmed felons used their final words tod eclare thelf
innocence. It was &s if they still had a lingering hope that they

risht receive sn executive reprigve, |
Dan Evans displayed the same cocky attitude on the scaffold
as he had in the courtrdong, The crowd, knowing that Heck Campbellls
half-btrother had diditrylng to break jail, viewed the Negro with
interest. Heck was cah and cool as his end approached, He bade
the multitude "farewell and hoped they wiuld all meet in Heaven,% e
When his turn to address the crowd came, Smoker Man-killer
spoke in Cherckee. An interpreter translated hiz words into English,
“] am prepared to die...l did not kill Short; I would acknowledge
it if I had, I have never been guilty of a mean act in my life. I
killed & Cherokee; but I killed him in self-defence...., My convietion
was caused by prejudice and false testimony.® b5
The warrants rezd and the last words spoken, the preliminaries
were about over. After a prayer by i)z Father Smythe, the hymns,
*Jesus, Lover of My Soul,® snd "Let us jJoin our Friends Above,*
were sung, The Reverend Savple then gave & prayer, followed YR he

hymn "Nearer zmy God to Thee,® with the benediction by the Reverend
46

Gransde.
It was now the hangman's turn. George Maledon stepped forward,
and lined the copficted felons up with "their feet squarely across
the line where met the two planks forming the death~-trap.” One
by one, the Ralck caps were placed over the men's heads and the
nooses adjusted, 47
"hobed in the black uniform of death, this frightful phalanx
tﬂwﬁmit‘od firm and betrayed no sign -of weakness or faltering."




i‘fcnmpbell shouted, "Farewell to all? 1I'11 aocon be gone! Hay we
et &

Several seemed to snile as the caps were drawn, At the last mament,

L mest in Heaven,® ,
“"ZHoore called, "Dios amigosi® ;"
- #Farewell, vain world!® Ewens cried as he waved his heridkerchisd - = -
et a friend, 48 - |

"lord Jesus receive me," one of the doomed men shouted, Most
of the spectators felt it was Sam Fooy, but there was no telling,
for at that instunt Maledon had pulled the lever which sprang the
trap,

The bodies dropped at 11305, Not cne struggled., Maledon had
dene his work well, every neck was broken by the fell., It was a
gryesome sight: aix lifeless bodies dangling from the end of the
hangman's ropes,

Below the platform wers doctors (Price, Bailey, Hain, DuVal,
&nd Booth) with gold wstehes in their hands, After a few minutes,
the doctors tested each man to see if therewas any pulse beat,

Dr. DuVal was pald two dcllars for each man, When he filled out his
officlal papers, he noted, opposite Cause of death, "Strangulation."

After the mer had been pronounced dead, the bodes were taken
down. HMaledon did this by means of a Jerk-knot that looped around
the beam. The thrifty exccutioneer would use the ropes again,

The six corpse were placed in coffins. Fooy's Fort Smith relatives
took charge of his coffin, while Father Saythe came for Evans' and
Moore's. Smoker Man-killer's mother claimed his remains. The coffin
was placed in a little wagon, and she started back to the Cherokee
Nation, with Man-killer's wife walking alongside, carrying the baby,
Whittington's and Campbell's bodies were taken over by the authorities

and buried in a little plot on the reservation reserved for thst
49




Kow that these desperadoes are gene, many will

. breathe freely who have been active in their arrest and

s prosecution. On the growing youth of our country these
terrible scenes should make a lasting impressitm, All 4
‘of these men were young and in their full prime of strength,:
and should have been active and useful members of society, §
#~'the pride of their friends, the staff of their aged parents, i f0E

And why does society, through the stern mandates of the

law, thus consi;n these men to death and exterminate them

from the face of the earth? Because they are preying

wolves upon the lives and property of their fellow beings,

unfit to live and unsafe t¢ remain at large. The moral

should not be lost in the excitement and g ars of the

terrible exhibition, nor forgotten in the morbid curiousity

which sbsorbs the mind in witnessing the event so rare and

tragical, 50




LAY ExXFORCEMENT AT FORT SMITH 1871 - 1896
Chapter IV

Judge Parker Sends Five to the Scaffold

On Septumber 26, 1875, Just 23 days after the mass hanging,
four prisoners in the U. S, Jail thought they saw their chance to
sscape. When the door to one of the cells was opened to send &n
the evening meal, the desperste men made a break, Dast-ing past
the startled guards, the felons raced toward one of the gates,

The guards quickly recovered and opened fire. & Choctaw named
Nagse dropped. His companicns now heeded the calls to halt. When
the prison surgeon examined Magee, he found that he had been struck
and severely wounded by three balls. !

Deputy Marshal M. Wallace spent the first week of September
on patrol in the Led River country. He stopped on the 4th at the
cabin ef a known "Choctaw desperado™ to serve a writ., The Choctaw
“placed himself on a war footiry, and declared his intention to
fight tc the bitter end." Wwalleace and the Choctaw blazed away.
The lawman proved the better marksman for he killed the Indian.

The grand jury which was ccnvened on the first Monday of
November sat for 38 days. By the time the body aijourned on December
15, 4t had examined 215 cases, returning 140 true bills, while
ignoring 75. During the sescdon the grand hiry had questioned at
least 1,500 witnesses. Editor Wheeler of the Westem Independent
was given to understand that "the records show that this body of men
did four times the amount of work as any preecsding jury.® 3

® @ n
... - As the news of the mass hanzing spread, the evildoers in t.ho
Indiln Territory wondered what zanner of man had taken over as

2
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Judge of the Court for the Western District. Was it mere chance, .
"‘they asked themselves, that he had hanged six men &t one time? v
ould he be ®"reached?® &
L5t . Inside of eight months, they had their answer, On April 2!; Y
1876, five men were sent to the gallows. Counting,McClish Impson, d\
who had been doomed by Judge Caldwell, this made an even dozen to
be executed in a 16 month period at the old Garrisan,

John Wadkins lived in what is now Adair county, Oklahoma, A

wagon-maker by trade, Wadkins also played the fiddle for neighborhooed
dances, One day he received a message to provide music for a dance
at Fayetteville, Arkansas, about 25 miles to the east, Eager to
pick up a little extra money, Wadkins saddled his horse on the
morning of March 8, 1875, and rode over to William Leach's house,
Leach, a neighbor of Wadkins, had been born 44 years before in
Hall county, Georgia. A Confederate veteran, Wadkins had served
in the 29th Georgia Infantry, during the Atlanta campaién. The
stocky, fair complexioned veteran had moved to the Cherokee Nation
in 1867 from Texas, Leach's wife was a Cherokee,

Wadkins asked Leach to accompany him and show him the best way,
It was about 9:30 when the two men left Jeach's, An hour later,
they stopped at Foreman's blacksmith shop, about three miles east
of Leach's. Here, Leach had his horse shoed., While this was being
attended to, Leach talked with the blacksmith and several other men
who chanced to be in the shop,

When the two men resuned thelr journey, the men at the blacke
smith shop observed that Wadkins was riding Leach's horse and
carrying his fiddle under his arm; Leach was walking, a gun sloped

- over his shoulder,
Wadkins failed to show up at the dance as scheduled., Word
.., was sent back by a traveler to find out why he hadn't kept his
dﬂltlo The man was told that Wadkins had left Foreman's blacksmith

PR
- Rh 8 ngp, saying that he was en route to the FPayetteville dance, Lu‘iﬁ
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was questioned. Although his answers were jague and evasive, suspicions
. Weren't greatly aroused, It was decided that the fiddler had changod e
"qh:r.ind, picked up his gear, &nd moved on tc another section ortb%
;femt.m-y. Little thought was given to Wadkins' disappearance, bOEauSe
ﬁoople were constantly pulling up stakes and moving on for L‘ltt.l‘ :
apparent reason,
A turkey hunter on April 8 saw a flock of buzgards hovering
over & thicket. ¥hen he investigated, he was horrified to find a
huzar skeleton,
When an investigation was launched, numcrcus signs indicating
that the victim had been murdered were fcund. Eurned leaves showed
that the killer had tried to cremate the corpse in an effort to
destroy all t races of the crime or chances for identiffication. The
larger bones were charred, while most of the mnaller ones had been
reduced to ashes. The skull had been punctured by a ballj e of
the ribs showed what sppeared to be the scar made by & bullet, which
. seemed to indicate that the fatal shot had been fired from the rear,
e Some 75 yards distant from the bod., a place was found in the road,
where a fire had been kindled from small sticks. Serapping away
the ashes, the deputy marshals found cloited blood on the rocks,
A few steps from this place were found signs that a‘ heavy body had
been dragged through the undergrowth. Amcng the ashes where the
skeleton lay were found & plece of catgut, a knife, fragments
of clothing, a screwdriver, and a glove; articles which were identified
as having belonged to wWadkins,

Upcn being presented with this evidence, U, S. Commissioner
Harrison at Fayetteville issued a warrant for Leach's arrest. Taken
into custody, Leach was escorted to Fort Smith. At the trial, swomn
testimony was heard that Leach had on seversl occasions attempted
to sell a pair of boots. When produced as evidence, these boots

> 9re identified by several witnesses as having been worn by Wadmga, W,
A_M last seen alive. On Decaxber 20, 1875, Leach wes convicted §
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- Prior to thelr arrest in 1875, the two murderers had trad«!»

. khollou log. ¥hen queat.ioned, Sealy and Ishtonubbee confessed t.o' i
R*the crime, for which they were convic ed on December 31, 1875, 5 &t
Rotert Alexander left his home in the Choctaw Nation on April 20,

1874, to visit his neighber, Conruad Miller, Since he was on the
lockout for game, he carried s gun. ¥khile talking with Miller,
Alexander heard & wild turkey gzobble nearby. "There's cne,” he
cried. Getting up, Alexander picked up his gun and disappeared
in thc directicn of the sound,
About 30 minutes later, Miller heard two shots fired in rapid
succession. Hiller had expected his friend to return for supper.
When hours passed and he failed tc show up, HMiller blew his horn as
a signal, There was no answering sheut,
It was now gelting late. Perhaps, Miller thought, Alexander
‘ would retum during the night. But he didn't. The next moming,
Hiller becoming alarmed notified Alexander's brother, hed. Hiller
and Red Alexarder spent the entire day looking for the miesing man,
On the following day, the two searchers were accempanied by a young
Negro. The boy found Robert Alex:nder's body ir the timberabout
5¢ yards from the road. He stopped, shcuted, and waited for the
others to come up. As scon a8 Red and }iller dashed up, Red told
the others to estand back while he looked for tracks. Not finding
any, he rolled the body, which was lying on its side, over. (n
doing sc, the men discovered a large wound in hobert's neck. A ball
hed struck thc decessed in the throat, hit a btone, glanced downward,
and came out the small of the back.
A deputy marshsl was sent for. 3Susplcien was soon focused
on a good looking Choctaw Indian, Orpheus McGee. When questianed,
-NeUse told a confusing story. To make matters worse, he had the A
’WMQred man's gun. The Indian was arrested and taken to Fort X
qﬁ'ﬂh to be charged with murder. McGee was tried and ecnvicted of

n
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Eight miles from Stonewall in what is today Fontotoe ccunty,
s ";;nglgghom, lived a harmlese white, medicine man named Finrey., He ..ipiza:

: 0 % Por this the whites called him "Squirrel,® while the neighborin
R C‘hiekasaws fuferred to him as Funny., Dr. Funny had a Negro cook,’f%
Krs. Mason, who lived with him in his log cabin, | ‘

Isham Sealy and his uncle, Gibscn Ishtonubbee, were two yomg
Chickamsws. Three days previous to their fatal visit to Dr. Puny's,
Sealy had threatened the cld medicip man's life.

On the night of May 10, 1873, the two Chickesaws rode over to
Dr. Funny's isolated cabin. Before knocking at the door, Sealy
killed Funny's horse. bKext, Sealy and lshtonubbee called and asked
if they cculd spend the night in the cabin. Fumny 1lit a latemn, came
to the door, and ssid they could, Hlankets were brought cut, and
the two Chickasaws bedded down an the floor,

Shortly before daybreak, Sealy snd his uncle arose. Ishtonubbee
crept out into the yard and procured an ax, while Sealy armed himself
with a gun-barrel that was standing in the corner of the room, MNrs.
Kasen was the first of the intended victim §o be awakened. Before
she could screcaw, Sealy felled her with & blow from the gun-barrel
on the head, He cuntinued to rain blows on the women until she was
lifeless, Meanwi.ile, Dr. Funny had been awakened, Before he could
come tc the woman's aid, Ishtonubbee rushed him with the ax, After
Ishtconubbee had knocked the old man down, Sealy whipped cut his bowie
knife, cut his throat, and stabbed him in the back. Before leaving
the scene of the crime, the indians made off with a pair of boots,
pantaloons, &nd a dress.

Kext day, & neighbor passed {y. looking throush a erack in the

& oor he saw the body of Mrs. Mason lying in the bed, while Dr., Funny's
wasaprawled on the floor.
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Prior t¢ his execution, HcGee msde a& cunfession., He szid,
"I took his [ Alexander's] gun froz him and shot him down, end
.. then took hispistol and shot him with it. I shot him cnce with
% gun and once with the pistol. It was sbout sundown....” At:
" the close of nis statement, McGee rezarked, "I was not raised
right and that 1s the very reason I am in this fix now, — Try
and do right. My mother tried to teach me right, but I would nct
1isten to her. The Choctaws have bad laws that make them do wrong.
There cught to be preachers all over the Nation to teach them right.*

At the same time, HcGee charged that the Alexander brothers
had killed a Chociaw, & erime for which they had escaped punishment.

James Harris had a small drygoods and "general furnishings"
store in Beattie, Kansas. He felt that he could deo better in Texas.
Loading his merchandise in a covered wazgen, Harris started for the
"promised land." He was accompanied by his 12 year old son, John F.
Besides & team and a spare horse, the Harrises had a dog and two
shotguns, cne a single barrel and the other & double-barrel.

Driving across the Indian Territory, the emigrants passed
Fort Sill. &Kot far from the fort, they came to a canp of Comanches,
The Harrises clicbed down from their wagen and walked among the
lodges. Tnv boy enj)oyed himself imuansely.

There chanced t¢ be in the camp that day & Negro, Aaron
Wilson. He coveted Harris' three ncorses., When Harris anc his sen
pushed on, kilson waited abcut one hour and untied his old grey
horse. lesvin: camp, he slewly trailed the wagor as it rolled
southward. The first night out from the camp of the Comanches,
kilson watched the Harrises from a distance. OGn the following night,
he¢ rode taldly up t¢ their camp Just as the senior Harris was pre-
psring supper. Jamss Harria invited the Negrc to share their meal,

As the three sat arcund the fire talkdng, Wilson asked if he ,
‘wight stay all night. The elder Harris was agreeable and offered’..

6
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¥ilson a blanket, All lay down by the czmp fire. About z’.idniaht,

‘tizi:'xegm awakened. Picking up an ax, he struck the elder H&rm

‘Q foarful blow on the head. The screams of the dying man awakmﬂxg

AHtahe -son. The terrified boy begzed the killer to apare him, M‘t.ir

ﬂ'lmu‘sing himself with the boy's fears and prayers, kilsf.,n welked -
over to the wagon, pulled out the double-barrel ehot.g\n, which the
elder Harris had shown him earlier in the evening, and cruselly
blasted the boy at pointblank range. Rexi, he sent the contents
of the second barrel crashing into the faether's right breast,

After removing the old men's clething and rifling the pockets,
Wilson wrapped the bady in the quilt under which he had slept, and
drazged it about 25 yards from the wigon. He hid the cerpse
behind the roots of an upturned tree., The body of the boy was
carried about 175 yards in the opposite direction and left uncévered.
After t wubling the goods out of the wagun, wilson pawed thr:bggh them
and discovered a sult which struck his fahcy. FPeeling off his
discarded army clothez, he calmly put ¢n a new suit.

Turning his broken down mount loose, Wilson mscured the Herrises!
three good horses, Wwilson hadn't gene wery far, when he noticed that
the Harrises' dog was tralling the wagen, just as it h.d all the
way from Kensas. Wilson swung down off the seat and threw stones
at the dog. The dog dodged into the underbrush, but when the wag
rolled on, he followed,

Four days after the Harrises had paused at the Comanches' camp,
kKilson returned just at dark. The barking of the Indians' dogs
arcused the attestixrief ‘@s Comanches, They recognized the Harris
dog and observed that he had a new owner. The chief stepped out
of his shelter, and saw & man with his head wrapped in a blanket,
Pulling the blanket sside, the chief recognired Wilson. The
chief asked the Negro what he was doing with the gun, dog, and thn‘cw




Wilson replied that he had traded for the horses and the gw’m.

: ‘&ﬁ‘ss, the chief borrowed one of ¥Wilsont's horses and went to seoﬂ K
‘the agent at Fort 5311, Wilson, becoming alarmed, fled the eamp, \
Meanwhile, the agent had contacted the post commandant,

Coleonel Rapald S. Mackenzie, The colonel ordered Lieutenant

katthew Leeper to take a squad, arrest kilscn, and search for the

missing travelers. The next day, t he lieutenant's patrol took

Wilson into custody. ¥ilson eonducted the soldiers to the scene

of the double tragedy. There, he was ccmpelled to show where the

bodies were hidden.

A routine search of the wagzon disclosed the left boot of the
elder Harris. Inside the boot was found $345.25, which Wilson 4n
his haste had overlooked. Since Wilson was a Negro; the lieutenant

’ had no suthority over him,:80 he sent for a de;uty marshal, within
s few days, the Negro :.as en route to Fort Smith. 7

Osee Sanders lived near Tahlecuah in the Cherckee Nation.

Luring the Civil Kar, th~ handscme Sanders had fought for the Union
in the 3d Indian Home Guards, Rewas 29 years old. A farming '
Indian, Sanders eked out his livelihood from the soil.

Nearby lived Thomas §, Carlyle, a white man, whc had a
Cherckee wife, £s such, Mrs. Carlyle received Cherokee warrants,
which could be turned into cash. It was rumored that the Carlyles
kept substantisl sums of maney in thelr house,

Houses in this section of the country were built in two sections,
with a covered passage, called a “dog-trot® between. The "dog-trot"
was a cocl spsce much used during hot weather. Frequently, & man
would bring his work in from the shed and de it in the shade. It




o "““auddwly, their attention was drawnto two horsemen coming down

wife, their son, and another child were sitting 4n the "dog—trot"

tiw road. As they approached, Carlyle saw that one of them was
0!« Sanders, whom he regarded as a close friend. The cother Mdiﬁfuﬂ
“‘He had never seen. The two riders reined in their horses. Carly'f;“”f*”“:&ﬁ"
called and invited them to come in, and sent his boy to cpen the gate,
which was fastened on the inside. | '
Sanders and his coanpanion dismounted, tled their horses to
the hitching rack, and started up the walk, Carlyle, te his horrcy,
now saw that each of his callers had drawn a pistol., #®khat are you
doing with those!® Qarlyle called. He received no answer, Instead,
the stranger rushed up onto the "dog-trot". Carlyle grappled with
him, At the same time, Sanders pointed his revolver at Mrs. Carlyle
and the boy., Terribly frightened, the woman called for her children
and fled for the meadow, about 150 yards from the house, As they
ran, they heard three shots. She and her brood took cover in the
weeds and tall grass., In terror, the woman waited until she saw
Sanders ané his confederate ride off into the rapldly gathering
darkness,
Retracing her steps, she found a horrible sight., Her husband
and her children's futher was lying dead on the grand at the foct
of the steps in a pool of blood. The house had been ransacked. A
pocketbook containing a small sum of money was gine, as was the trunk
in which the Cherokee warrants were hidden,
Mrs. Carlyle ran with her children to the nearest house, The
neighborhood was soon aroused., Next day, a posse st rted out to
look for the killers. Sanders was arrested g his home, three miles
from the scene of the crime, The unidentified man had disappeared.
Sanders protested his innocence. He claimgg g didn't know the
whereabouts of his alleged ecnfederate,
e w Hnnwhile, the officers had been studying the tracks left br

SSvehey were pronounced identical.
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sy _ 8andors was taken before the U. 8, comnissioner. MNe decided ~ = =
thm was enough evidence, and Sanders was ordered to Fort Smith fw
Eml before Judge Parker's court. Kre. Carlyle was called to thi
t.md Between scbs she told her at,ory of what had happened on z %
that terrible August evening, five montha before. The Jury went

out on January 5, 1876, When it returned, the foreman anncunced

that Osee Sanders was guilty., Judge Parker, in passing sentence,
reminded the Indian in impassicned voice of the shocking crime he

had committed and of how he had made the wife & widow and the
children fatherless. 8

Judge Parker set Friday, April 21, 1876, as ex:cution day for
the six men convicied of capital crimes at thc Hovember term of
court. |

Word reached Parker that a tremendous throng was expected.

The judge didn't quite comprehend this, for he had thought the
people of the frontler wculd be zo sickened by the first mass
banging that they wouldn't want to see another. Instead, their
appetites had been whetted. People who hadn't seen the first mass
hanging wanted tc¢ be present at thie one.

On the day of the scneauled execution, the ¥estem Independent
published a 12 column spresd ccncerning the men and their crimes,
under the heading, "A CARNIVAL OF HANGINGI® 7

The day before the men were slated to mount the scaffold,
Marshsl Fagan received a telesram from kashington., The message

reads;

£5

¥ashington City, D. C.
April 19, 1876

To J. F. Fegan: = 1 have t:is day granted & re-
prieve to Osec 3anders, sentenced to be hanged on the 2iat
inst. Suspend his execution. Acknowledge receipt,

U. 8. Grant 10 )
" The Jt:igc was shlkon. ~ Por the first time it had happened t.."




nust feel, He a sked Parker what he planned tc do,
o ses. 81 am going to do nothing about it," retorted Farker, "he

*,

" "our President.”

thranged. Early on the 21st, the crowd moved out ento the reservaticn
to get positions as near the gallows as possible and "to make sure

of being present at the first move in the drama.® The newspapermen
estimated the spectators to number between 6 and 7,000.

At 7 o'clock the five felons were unshackled, In sccordance
with their recuest, the "black gowns were dispensed with and they
were dressed neatly but plainly in the usual citizens' dress,
furnished by their friends" or by the jailer, Major Pierce. The
condemned left the U. 8, Jail and started for the gallows at 10:30,
They were guarded by eight deputy marshals and attended by four
ministers, Reverends Sample, Greathouse, and Grandde, and Father

‘ Smythe. Aaron Wilson puffed a clgar,

- hfter their arrival on the scaffold, Marshal Fagan read the
death sentences, which were fcllowed by prayers and the singing of
hymns. Takin; sdvantage of the opportunity cffered by Marshal
Fagan, several of the doomed men addressed the erowd., After Leach
had finished speaking, Fagan inquired, ®Anycne else?"

There was no answer,

"You'd better get rid of that cigar,” said Hangman Maledon,
Aaron ¥ilson tossed it aside. Then the blagk cap was drawn
over his head. As socn as all the caps and ropes had been adjusted,

Maledon walked to the lever at the end of the platform., After
waiting a moment, he pulled. At 11:45 the t rap sprung and the five
men dropped to their deaths. 12

Surming up what he had seen, Editor Wheeler wrote in the kestemn

£ Jadependent




The executions had to-day counts up eighteen / 19/

"% human beings who have suffered by the sentence of the

. United States ccurt for murder since August 1873 ~- two
© years and eight months,

This ia a fearful commentary on the morals of the
Indian country, and terrible as such scenes are, and
shocking as they must be to the finer feelings of
humanity, it must be admitied, that such crimes as these
men were found guilty of, merits the severe punishment
meted out to them.

The certainty of punishment is the only sure
preventive of ¢rime, and the administraticn of the laws
by Judge I. C. Parker, airce his advent as Judge of the
U. 8. Court for the Westemn District of Arkansas, has
made him a terror to all evil doers in the Indian country.

The determinaticn shown by the Judge that the laws
shall be faithfully and fearlessly administered, and the
firmness of purpose he has displayed, has won for him
the cenfidence and respect of the members of the bar and
our citigens, as well as of the law abiding men of all
races {n the Indian Territory, and it will soon remove
from the westem I}iﬁrict of Arkansas the odium under
whiceh he found it.




LAV ENFORCEMENT AT FORT SMITH 1871 - 1896

Chapter V

Siv
feix More Msn Stand on "The Gates of Hell"

Within less than five months, there was ancther multiple
hanging at Fort Smith. Four men were scheduled to die on the grim
scaffold on September 8, 1876, ¥hen these felons had paid for their
crimes, it would make {5 who had "been executed, within a year, by
the sentence of the same court; on the same spot and on the same
"gallows,"

Who were these men? What were their cerimes?

Sinker Wilson, a young Cherokee, had been convicted of murdering
Datus Cowan. This was in 1867 when the U. 8. Court sat at Van

. Buren; Judge Caldwell had sentenced Wilson to be hanged on February 7,

(- 1868,

) ] Only two witnesses, both whites, had been examined &t the trial,

The first reported that near Rock Creek he had encountered a man
(Cowan) "driving sheep, and further on his way he met —- two men
and a small boy." The other witness for the prosecution testified
that "he was behind this man and met two men and a small boy, and
further on his way he found the sheep driver dead, and he seemed to
have been killed but a very short time,%

Sinker's lawyer asked the witness, if Sinker was "the boy he
met," |

He replied that he wasn't sure, for "he was only traveling
through the nation and knew no one,®

After being convicted, éinker was locked up in the Van Buren

§:§‘“V3‘u to await execution. Within a few days, cne of Sinker's tal}?g“«}wr%» ]
& aroh poners procured & knife. With ghis weapon, four of the pris 3
e %‘%ad the prison door and escaped,
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-;4large until the sutumn of 1675, At that time he was taken into

ek mabed Downing's, so he prepared to spend the night. About ‘m”w .,

P .‘.'.A o
ER RN
R Rl B w

Shortly after Sinker broke jail, his brother told him that he
tnd another man had killed the sheepherder, Sinker remained at

,ust.uxy by a deputy marshal. Wwhile en route to Vinita, Sinker u,f
"Hs hands from the cuffs and escaped. He returned to his homs.
Ezekiel Miller, a half-breed, ran a:sndll store in the Saline

bistrict, near Sinker's home. Soon after Sinker's second escape,
Miller spproached him and inquired, *Sinker 1 understand ycu have
sald you were ;oing to kill me, is it so?v

Sinker replied that the had never thought of killing him or
anyones else; and if he had heard that, he guessed the boys had
tald it for a joke,

About twe weeks later, Miller's stors bumed., khen a deputy
marshal investigated the fire, Miller told him that Sinker was the
boy who had escaped from the Van Buren jail. Miller would have
Sinker arrested by the Cherckee authorities on anarsen charje, and
4f the marshal were fon hand, he could take charge of hir, and ‘iake
business'.”

Sinker was taken into custody and tried for arson. Upon
bedng found innocent, tz: marshsl arrested Sinker and brought
him tc Port Smith. At the May 1876 tem of court, Sinker was identified
8s "wWilson, alias Flyer Wilson, alies, Sinker Wilson, alias Acomn,”
who had been convicted of murder and sentenced tc death by Judge
Caldwell nine years before. Judge Parker, although the Indian
protasted that he was innocent, resentenced Sinker to be exccuted
o September 8, 1876, '

James Hanson lived on the Hiwan Frairie in the Choctaw Nation
and watched after George Dovning's stock. On October 15, 1875,
Hmnson caught a train for Stringtown. After transacting his business
in town, he went to see Downing. It was late in the day when Hanson

5
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Downing awakened Hanson and told him that his wife had been murdered,
Pumng on his clothes, Hanson rushed home. The first thing he 2

o
3

] ‘aau on entering, his cabin "was the body of his wife whom he had j

%
3
ks

Ea fvjtrieat.l'x, a victim of the knife of a brutal assassin,”

About 2 p.m, & woman who lived nearby had chanced to drop
by the Hanson's house. 3She knocked and there was no response,
She heard a baby crying. When she opened the door, she saw Mrs,
Hanson lying on the floor on her right side in a pool of blood, her
head toward the door, Her left arm was around her baby == her
last act had been to protect it,

An examination of the cabin indicated that Mrs, Hanson had
fought desperately to save her 1life, The room and the porch were
splattteied with blood,

As soon as it was light, Hanson and his friends started searching
for clues outside the house, They soon found where & horse had been

‘ tied to the comer of the fence, dout tensteps from the cabin, The
hoof marks made by the suspect's horse were followed about a mile
in a southward direction toward Potapas?®,

Upon questioning Frank Page, a neighbor, Hanson leamed that
Samuel Peters, a 28-yearwold Choctaw, had left his house about 11
a,m., on the day of the murder, Peters had told Page that he was
going to his ghcle Potapas!, Peters was sald to be riding "a little
bay pony mare." Several other people now came forward and said that

on the aftemoon of October 15, Peters had met them near Potepas',
To one he had cried, "Hurry up, a white person has been killed,"
to another, "You had better go fast, & white person has been beaten
to death,”
About four days after the murder, a warrant was sworn out for
Peters! arrest, When taken into custody at Potapas! cabin, the
rime suspect had a shotgun in his hand and a knife in ﬁs;scabbaxﬂ_je- VB A
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Blood was found on his pants and on the inside of his coat sleeve,
.~ -3h0e coat had recently been washed, Peters denied that he was the. .« ‘g 3%
'}kﬂlér. He adnitted, that he had been present, when another Ghocg;?-; ‘
Gi.bson Lewis, had murdered Mrs, Hanso, The arresting deputy ma ,,f 12 ¥ _
hwever, was satisfied that Peters was bieé man, *“ "‘*’ E \

While in the U, S, Jail awaiting trial before Judge Parker,
Peters told a number of his fellow prisaners that he and Hanson
had been friends, but this feeling had turned to mistrust, when
& yearling and some corn and meat belonging to Hanson had been
stolen, Hanson accused Peters of the theft. The Choctaw brooded
over what his friend had said. Finally, he determined to wam
Hanson not tc continue telling lies about him,

When Peters reached Hanson's house on October 15, the white man
was absent, Wrought up, the Indian stepped inside the door to
tell Hanscn's wife, Charity, that her husband must quit telling people
that he was a thdaf. Since Peters didn't speak English too well,
Mrs. Hanson had trouble understanding him, She, however, could
tell that he was deeply t roubled, Becoming frightened, Charity
tried to push the door closed, Peters seized her; a struggle ensued,
Drawing a inife from his pocket, he opened it, and stabbed Charity
Hanson. 1In a frenzy, he slashed at the screaming woman again and
again, Breaking away, Mrs. Hanson ran to the room where her baby
was, picked &} up, and tried to escape, Follewing the woman, Peters
continued to strike her with the knife,

The Jury on June 21 found Peters guilty of the murder of
Charity Hanson, 2

John Valley, a Peorda Indian, and a white man, Eli Hackett,
lived on Spring River. In mid-November 1873 Hackett and Valley's
brother and mother had difficulty over the payment of annuity
money to a little girl, Hackett's child. The child lived with
.,-#pckett!s brother, and he, Eli, and Valley all advanced elaims to y i
".‘lcnv. Agent Hoag asked who the child’s parents were,

5{#.




' Hackeétt said he was the father, whereupon the agent paid him
¥ -the “annuity. TS

Beavers. About 8 o'clock there was a knock at the door, Beaversz
“arose and weat to the door. The caller was John Valley., Although '+~
John had been drinking, Beaver: invited him to come in out of the
cold, As socn as Johnshad sat down,by the fire, the host poured

him a deink of whiskey, The heat of the room and the additional
1liquor caused Valley to blackout.,

After about 30 minutes, Valley, without rising, drew his pistol
and shot at Hackett twice, the first ball striking E1i in the chest,
while the other hit the chair in which he was sitting, When shot,
Hackett leaped up, threw his hand to his breast, and screamed "Lord."
He 8 taggered cut the door, Valley remained seated for several more

minutes, then got up and followed Hackett,
Hackett, after leaving Beaver's, walked to Ed Black's, a short
‘ distance down the road., He hadn't been there more than one-half
hour before Valley showed up. Eefore Valley could enter the cabin,
he was met by Frank Boyer,
Valley asked Boyer, "wWhere is Eli?"
He was told by Boyer that Hackett "was in the other room,"
"Do you think I gave him a fair shot?" Valley inquired,
®] guess you did," Boyer replied,
"1f you don't think it is a fair shot," Valley retorted, "I'll
give him another one,"
Boyer allowed that Eli didn't need any more,
At this Valley said, "I will leam him to cheat my brother,/"
_ Valloy was arrested in the full of 1875 and taken to Fort
Smith, Tried before the May 1876 term of Judg e Parker's court,
Valley on May 20 was declared guilty. 3
#7% sva7, Before September 8, the day which Parker had scheduled for th‘
m.utims, Osee Sanders' reprieve expired, When President Grant™,
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_ retused to intervene a second t.ime, Parker added Sanders to the list

o , ihe year, not many would turn out to watch the hanging. They werq*
"'fooled, however, According to the editor of the ¥estern Independent, ~
®"a circus could not have drawn & greater concourse than was congregated
around the foot of the scaffcld on this occasion, and as much

curiosity evinced as i1f an execution had not taken place for a-
centuxys s

At 7 o'clock the irons were removed from the four condemned,
and the prisoners "made their final preparations.”

The doamed were brought from their cells at 10:30, The "procession"
was formed in front of the cell. Accompanied by their spiritual
advisers and escorted by the d eputy marshals detailed as guards, the
felons "started for the gillows where the last scene was to be enacted.®

After their arrival on the scaffold, the death warrants were
read, religious exercises conducted, the prisoners made a few remarks,
and then shook hands with each other and with their friends, The
ropes were adjusted, the blagk caps drawn over their faces, and at
11155 the drop fell, All the men's necks were snapped; after a few
struggles the physicians declared the men dead.

The ¥estern Independent informed its readers, "On no similar
occasion has better order prevailed, the marshals on duty taking
every precaution that nothing disorderly should transpire to
detract from the solemnity of the scene,"

* % =

Deputy Karshal Kidder Kidd reached Fort Saith on November 21
from the Cherokee Nation, Among his prisoners was Buzzard-Flop,

The redman was charged with murdering a man two years before in the
Canadian District. At the time that he was tumed over to Jailer




. .perpetrated on Horse Creek in the Cherokee Nation. A séttler's ‘

‘,t}the -heart, the comspirators crammed his body inte a box and rolled

"‘appropriated are being properly applied.... The court and the

The week before, & particularly cold blooded murder had been

“wife had beccie enamored of the hired man. She talked the hired
lgnrlnto killing her husband. After shooting the victim twice hm

it into a gulley. The dead manias the owner of ihree teams and
had $300 in his pussession., These were taken by the killer and
his paramcur, who when last reported had crossed the Arkansas
and were heading down the Texas rosd. Although the marshals gave
chase,‘the lovers succeeded in eluding them and were never made
to answer for their crime in Judge Parker's ccurt, 6
During the last week of November, Jim Hendrick, who had

broken out of the U. S. Jail the previcus summer and had made his
escape by swimming the Arkansas Kiver, was recaptured by Deputy

Cunstable George Rivercemb, When the western Independent went

to press on Decerber 5, Hendrick was "safely embedded in his old
7

hcme, "
Abcut the same time, Jonas Thompscn, a Choctaw, who had also

brecken out of Major Pierce's "guest hcuse" returned to Fort Smith

in the guise of a horsethief. He was promptly arrested. According

to Editer wheeler, "Jenas is a naughty Choctaw end brim full of
theft. He now rests quietly in the District Jail."

Major Pierce, the highly respected and efficient Jailer,
died of a heart attack on January 8 of the new year,
Burns was named to replace the deceased as Jjailer of the U, 5.
Jail, 8

* O ¥

The coolness that had attended Judge Parker's arrival at
Fort Smith gave way to enthusiastic support. "Cconfidence in the
court has been restored," wrote the editor of the lerald. "Moneys
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R f_tnd great deliberation,®

o - had-been tried and convicted at the November 1876 term of court.

: 2prkina had bee: convicted on December 16 of murdering his illegfti.sz;'G

A later issue described Parker as "a man of coolness, calmness

Even a "stroke of ccnscience" seemed to have gripped Ccngress,”

By an act passed on UYanuary 31, 1877, the 4L4th Cungress amended
Section 533 of the Revised Statutes to read:

The Western District of Arkansas shall consist of
the counties of Benten, Washingtcen, Crawford, Sebastian,
Scott, Polk, Sevier, Little River, Howard, Montgomery,
Yell, Logan, Franklin, Johnson, Madison, Newten, Carroll,
Boone and Marion, and the country lying west of Missourl
and Arkansas known as the Indian Territcry. The Eastemn
District of Arkansas shall include the residue of the
state, 11

Thug the portion of Arkansas now attached to the wWestern District

. weuld consist of 19 counties in compact form extending from the

Missouri-Arkansas border southward across the state to a line even
with the southern boundary of the Indian Territory. Although
Cingress had reduced the jurisdiction of Judze Parker's court, it
"gave evidence of common sense in thic manner of the changes wrought
as commended them to all feir minded peoplees...the work of the
gerrymanders was destroyed.® 12
At the same time, Section 572 of the hevised Statutes was
amended to provide that regular terms of ccurt in the Western District
would be ¢ nvened at "Fort ?;ith on the first Mondays in Fcbruary,

* ¥

May, August and igvember,"

In 1877 ten malefactors were sentenced by the Court for the
Western Districtfar capital crimes. February 26 was scheduled as

the day on which Judze Parker would pass sentence on three men who

" At 10:20 Irving Perkins, a Negro, was brought before the baj

Mg oy -
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childe The crime nac taken place in the Creek Nation. At his trial,

iﬁ"'gférkins had protested his innocence. His request for a new trial.fﬁ

hpefaon. Parker was unmoved by this demcnstration; Perkins receivei
his death sentence without a "murmur,® 14
Next to be hailed before the judge was Charles Thomas, who
had been c:ndemmed for killing a fellow mulatto in the Indian
| Territory. Parker allowed Thomas to make a statement. The giant
mulatto began by saying:

he had nct received Justice; did not deny the killing
of the mai, but claimed to have comuitted the deed in

| self-defense, He said that one man whe testified
against him had told "as big a lie about the killing
as any man in the world, and didn't know any more
truth than a hes did about holiday,."

>

According to the editcr of the western Iudependent, Thomas!

Ustatement was not as intelligently given as that of Perkins, but

‘, the manner in which he zave it showed that he did not appreciate
the occasion, but spoke with much vindictivenes:, towards ZT§22_7
all concerned in the case against hime"

Judge Parker weited till Thomes bad findszhed his tirade,
before he warmed the condemned that he had best he thinking about
a way of preparing "his soul to umeet his God "

It waz unseascnably warm at Fort Smith, an’ all the windows in
the courtrocn had been thrown open to admit & breeze, Judge Parker
as he spcke to Thomas sat at his bi; cherrywcod deskx. The doomed
man was seized by the urge to make a break. Behind him to the right
was an open window, but several deputy marshals intervened. Behind

the Judge's desk was a window, while between Thomas and Parkert's
desk was a table covered with a mass cf bouks anu documents, This
table, Thomas reascned, could serve as a "stepping stone" to the
%oy ﬁf Parker's desk, and from there to the open window it was




. but a leap. Thomas suddenly sprang to the table, and from there to
-+ ¥he top of Parker's desk. The judge's reflexes surprised e\rerybody">
h TPhomas breke for the w:indow, Parker grabbed him, Thomas wrenéh
free, but before he could reach the window, he was tackled by Clérk
[ of the Court Wheeler,
Thomas was brought back before the bar. While the Sudge passed: . \
sentencg it tock four deputy marshals to hold him, After the
death sentence had been pronounced, Thomas was shackled and returned
to his cell, 15
As soon as the courtroom had quieted, the marshals brought
in Black Crow, a full-blood Arapsho., A "blanket Indians Black
Crow had been convicted of murdering the son of Dr. Holloway at
Fort 8ill, two years before. Black Crow was unable to speak or
understand English., Through a Negro intérpreter, he denied that
he had committed a capital crime. When told of what was to come,
the poor Indian seemed to regard "the affair as samething of pleasure
more than that of death, as he received the news with a smile,®
' (ne of the spectators felt Black Crow huu "seen years of wild life,
as his gray hair will testi:fy, but this last act of his will end
his career and the first ideas of civilization willbe taught him
on the gallows on the 27th day of April, 1877.% 16
Before the fatal day arrived, recently inaugurated President
Rutherford Hayes intervened. The sentences of the three men were
commuted to life imprisonment at the U, S. prison at Mom@«?’ﬂ%et
West Virginia, In 1883 President Chester Arthur gave Thumes an
executive pardon. 17
Three men were convicted of capital offenses at the August
term of court, which closed on October 13, Two of the felons
sentenced to death by Judge Parker on October 12 were white, while the

other was a Negro,
lvilliam J. Meadows and several other men fancied that they

,;,.,,,.Jr {4‘9;:' o




carried out their scheme, they derailed a locomotive, but failed to
: 'inflict. much damages Not satisfied, they succeeded in throwing a 3 ViR
Becc.nd train from the track. This timc, one man was killed and thret ;

E O

.yn.chéf railroaders scriously injured, ;y9;

""A small day book" belonging to Meadows was fcund at the s cene -
of thc wrecks After being taken into custody, Meadows broke down
under questioning ard told the suthorities where the tools used

to loosen the rails were hidden,

Since Meadows didn't have any money, Judge Parker appointed
four leadiny members of the Fort Smith tar (W, ¥, Cravens, T. H,
Barnes, E, E, Tiller and Thomas Marcum) to defend him, Although
the defense lawyers did their best, the jury declared their client
guilty. 18

Themas He FRobinson had agreed to help Mr. Cannon drive cattle
fron Texas to Misscuri, As the men were getting ready to cazmp for
the night on the plains cut in the Indian Territory, Cannon bawled
out Robinscn for abusing some of the steck, Robinson called on
his employer for an explanation., There were hot words, Threats
were made; Robinson pulled his gun ana shot and killed Cpnnon.

At his t rial before Judge Parker, Hobinson was ably defended
by Thomas H, Marcum and James K,. Barnes. After the defendeat had
been found guilty, Marcum made a léngthy argument for a new trial,
which was overruled by Parker. 19

A Negro, Joshua Wade, was arrested for raping Elizabeth Hale,
& Choctaw, near Caddo, Wade, like hobinson, was represented by

Marcum and Bames. The editor of the Western Incependent reported,

"He [ Wadej is one of the most complete animals in develojument that
ever enjoyed human shape, It is true he has human reason, but his.
animal instincts greatly preponderate,"

wade, along with Meadows and hobinson, was scheduled to die on

i Jtnuary 18, 1878. <0 Onee again, President Hayes intervened,
i
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?wrest of their lives at the Detroit House of Correction, while hadc

of going to the scaf ffold, Meadows and Robinson were to spend the

;u'&.»'w- :’-&
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f'_gé to be impriscned for life at Moundsville, 21
4 Nine Nezroes were brought to trial in Deczmber 1877 for the’ i%i&"& 3
of Perry Ross, a Negro, in the Creck Kation on May 15. The Jury .
on December 12 found Carclina and Peter Grayson, Man Lewis, and Robert
Love guilty as charged. Judge Parkér on February 25, 1878, senteneed
the four men to death, The execution was to take place on June 2i,
President Hayes, however, commuted the sentences to life inprisonment
in the Detroit House of Correction. In June 1887, Carolina Grayson
died, Before he passed away, he stated that although the others
were present at Koss'! hcuse and ell knew that trouble was brewing,
he had fired the fatal shot. 22
#* % »

Deputy Marshal John Willdiams arrested and lodged in the U, S,
Jail on January 18, 187¢, Joe Benheur, who was charged with raping
the six-year-old daughter of fugust Briclet. The Briolets lived
in the Choctaw Nation near Fort Smith. 23

Although this crime camsed considerable excitement lccally, time
was too short to (et it added to trhe cascs ic te c.nsidered by the
February grand jury. Nevertheless, the Court for the Western District
found plenty to keep it busy whe:s called to crder by Judge Parker
on the first Monaay of February, , '

"Une of the most remarkable trials that ever sngaged the
atteation" of the court was the murder trial of Elizabeth and
Dorcas Owens which began on February 15 and lasted till the {3th,
The two women, mother and daughter, were charged with the murder
of Ezekiel Hurd,
Hurd and the defendents had lived on a farm on Red Kiver in

_ the Choctaw Nation, Their dwellings were about 200 yards apart, and X




sent word by %one or two members of the family" that 4f they didn't

. 8top, he "would come down and stamp them L the Owenses_/ into the:, swr s

‘Zground. Gn another occasion, Hurd threatened to "come down and ?}":

kil], the whole d.. 4 outfit.” "

/% Accompanied by Julla Barrett, Hurd on May 26, 1877, rode past’-
the Owenses, As the horsemen passed, Elizabeth Owens walked out of
her house, (Calling:to Hurd, she demsnded to know if he planned %to
carry his threat into effect.®

Rurd shouted for the old woman to "go to h__1" and rode em,

After an sbsence of several hours the riders returned, As
they did, Elizabeth Cwens picked up a shotgun and accosted them
in the road, and asked Hurd, *Are you going to do what you said
you was?®

- Hurd replied, "If youare willing to drop [itJ, 1 am,*

"See that you do 1t," Mrs, Owens snapped. Turning around, she
started to return to her house. As she did, Hurd leaped off his
horse and seized her by the hair with one hand and caught the shotgin
with the other, Throwing Mrs, Owens to the ground, Hurd bezan stomping
her,

Obediah Owens, Elizabeth's husband, was on the gallery skinning
a coon. Up until he heard his wife's screams, Obediah hadn't
taken part in the quarrel., Obediah and his daughter, Dorcas, rushed
to Eligabeth's assistance. The husband asked Hurd three times to
let go of his wife, Hurd refused, Whereupon, Obediah stabbed Hurd
with his barlow knife in the chest » about two inches above the
breastbone, Hurd staggzered back several steps and collapsed, Within
& few minutes, he was dead,

The Jury deliberated about cne hour before returning a verdict
of not guilty, Much interest was manifested in the trial for several
reasons, First, Elizabeth Owens claimed to be the neice of Confederate

{A «mlndier General Humphrey Marshall of Kentucky, and as such she t.m :

sr %blood back to Chief Justice Marshall,® Second, this was the ‘fiye

%that females had been tried for murder in Judge Parker's caun‘t'

»..ﬂ‘%j'f‘&pprmtly, the verdict was very popular, because it was followed iy A
¥general applause,®
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. _ _ There was so much evil to combat in the Court m the Western -
e ﬂDiatrict that one term of court faded intc another. (n July 31, :

remaining time between now and August 5 will be occupied in sen- H
tencing the guilty and perfectinz the business of the past tem,®
He was favorably impreéaed with the "quiet and systematic working
order” in which Parkert!s court conducted its proceedings. Everything
seemed to work like "well-oiled machinery,® The officers were always
at their posts, ard the only time there was any tumult, nervousness,
and vexing delays it was due to tardy Jurors, the occasional "long
winded chin-music” that an attorney was compelled to indulge in "to
satisfy a client,” or where & ®stupid Jury® seemed to require an
interpretation of the evidence. At such times, the evidence was
"repeated and rehashed® until scarcely a fragment of the original
was remembered. Not infrequently the prosecution and the defense
. attorneys would "slide into encounters" when the courtroom was
"made to resound with the clash of cold s teel reverberating from
helmets of brass, on which the Court at cnce bid them hold their prancing
steeds,"

Judge Parker, according to the editor, never failed "to come
to the rescue of a bewildered witness when he is being borne to
the earth by an over-zealous effort to invalidate his testimony
or fasten the crime of perjury on him because he is on the wrong
side.”

To realize that the judge was decidedly "master of the situation"
served Lt o inspire respect and confidence, In addition, the calm and
unimpressive dignity which characterized Parker's "patient and
untiring eamestness of purpose to give the mosttrivial @ses the same

__attention as those of momentous import" enabled the prisoner at thg L
barto feel that he would receive that justice to which he was legs
utiod 2 ;
Forty-five Year pld Joe Bonheur was retried by Judge Parker't SO
. conrt in August. A previous trial before the May term of court had
ended ina hung jury. Bonheur was accused of reping the daughter of
Auguat Briolet. Like murder, rape was punishable by death, It was
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n.v. 8

: “t)'_’etrmg combination of legal talent to encounter the prosecution.;, o ad

well therefore that the court "gave the priscner the advantage of

to i'ea]ize that they have been perpetrated by a being wearing tho
human form and endowed with instincts above the brute creation.”
Many members of the Fort Smith medical fraternity testified in
detail to give the prosecution and the defense such assistance as
might be had from professional experiences,

Bonheur's court appointed lawyers gave a good account of
themselves, Colonel Marcum went "into this case with all the vehemence
of his ability, and had he been laboring for & thousand dollar fee
he could have not put in better work," Colonel Cravens who had few
equals and no superiors in close reascning powers, made a telling

.- gpeeeh_for thé 0ld Frenchman. J. K. Barnes attacked in his usual

hard-hitting fashion the case being woven by District Attomey
Clayton, He concentrated "everything available" and drove it home
"with sledge~-hammer-like power," Other defense lawyers "filled up
&he ranks, throwing themselves into the breach where exhaustion
caused the leaders to falter and for hours argued such strong points
of defense before the jury that a hope of escape from the fierce
grappling clutches of the powerful prosecution was now evident in
Bonheur's face,® |

Judge Parker delivered his charge. After the jury had filed
out, the prisoner and the spectators awaited with "almost breathless
suspense the result of this his second trial for the same offense,®

Not guilty was the verdict. %Poor old Joe wnose head was
bending, was now restored to liberty,® wrote the editor of the

Western Independent. 26

‘ During the first week of October, Augustus Hecht was tried
la"the U. S, District Court for killing Colline, This shooting ‘
':q place near Fort Gibson. Ehe Hecht trial excited unususl .
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in where equals in intellect, ability and adroitness in law matters
are. -pitted against each other to measure swcrds in the public arm’ﬂ”
° ,“jjust.ice. In this trial, Prosecutor Clayton met his match in

Nk

powers of argument as marked him in the pyes of the multitude as \
& rising star among lawyers," Although it was believed that Clayten
presented a good case, Mr, Yantis "walked away in triumph with his
client with only a trace of manslaughter,® 21

John Post Oak was not as fortunate as Hecht and Bonheur,
He came before Judge Parker's court accused of a cold blooded crime «e
the murder of John Ingley and his wife in the Creek Nation, The
couple's infant son of 12 to 16 months had been left to perish for
want of food and water, Post Qak's erime had been too much for
him to conceal in his "untutored breast," and he had talked too
muchs This “confession" and circumstantial evidence resulted in

. Post Oak's conviction on August 16, 28

When the November term of court opened, it was confronted
by another full docket. There were four murder cases ; three
assaults with intent to killj "of the light-fingered fraternity
that believe in equalization of property without working for it;
one who did not understand the revenew law, and wne who delivered
himself from jail before his time was out =~ 32 in all." In addition,
there were ten cases that had been held over from the August term
of ccurt, 29

James Diggs, a Negro, was brought before the November term
of the court accused of muriering J. C. Gould, a cattle drover,
Gould bought cattle in Texas and drove them to Kansas. On his last
trip he had hired two men tc help him, Hiram Mann and James Diggs,
Leaving Kansas, the trio headed for Texas to pickup a herd of cattle,

;03 the night of August 4, 1873, the cowboys stopped at a deserted SR
hﬁi’h. The cabin was in Indian Territory near the Kansas line, i




During the night, Diggs awoke, took an ax, and bashed in Gould's

{"‘_and Mann's heads. After rifling his victims' pockets, Diggs ,believinx. -
that both were d ead, left the cabin with the §26 that hie crime had
ég't'ed.
< ""The next morning, a settler living about two miles down the
road was startled to see a Negro, riding toward them, like the devil
was in pursuit. Diggs excitedly explained that his employer and
Mann had been slaughtered by two Texans » Who had entered the eabin
Just before dsyureak. Diggs related that he had escaped by hiding
in the woods. From behind a log, he had watched and waited until
the killers had ridden off,

A posse was organized and hastened to the death cabin, There
they found Gould dead., Hiram Mann's skull had been crushed by an
ax, but he still breathed., A close examination of the ground showed
no hoof scars. Equally interesting, the posse was unable to find
the log where Diggs had hidden. Diggs remarked that he only thought
the unwelcomed visitors had come on horseback, Perhaps, he continued,

they were afoot,

Their susplcions were aroused, so the posse questioned Diggs
closely. The Negro sore that he didn't have any money, When
searched, it was found that he carried $27 in greenbacks cached
in the lining of his coat. Diggs explained that he was afraid
toadmit thet he had the money because the posse would think he
had stolen it. Information was obtained that Gould had recently
been paid that amount in corresponding bills, Diggs' was arrested
and taken to Fort Smith. Vhen no witnesses appesred toc testify
against the Negro, Judge Story directed that he be released,

Digge gowldn?t keep his mouth closed. One of Marshal D. P,
Upham's (Upham had replaced Fagan as marshal on July 10, 1876.)
bright young deputies, James C. Wilkinson, heard about the affair, o

e learned, however, wamtt too.encoiraging, Hiram Mann had ©
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~ remained uncenscious for 30 days, before making & miraculous recovery.

":‘give up. Diggs, who had heard that the case had been reopened, /)
diaappeared from his usual haunts., Wilkinson became a manhunter,
He finally caught up with and arrested Digss in the Osaze Kation,
Mann now came forward to identify Diggs "as the man whoe dug the ax
into Gould" and himself,

This time, the Jury decided Diggs was guilty of murder,
Judge Farker sentenced Diggs to be executed on Decenmber 20, Commenting
on the sentence, the editor of the Westem Independent observed, "He
will therefore accompany John Post Oak on that fearful voyage and
prospecting tour, not in search of the remains of Sir John Franklin
or the North Pole." 30

After being in session only five days, funds were exhausted;
Judge Parker was compelled to continue all criminal cases on the
docket till the February term of cocurt., The editor of the Elevator
complained:

This is for various and obvicus reasons a serious
misfortune to the district. Having occurred bofore it
is becoming decidedly monotonous, and strenucus efforts
should be made to prevent its repetition. As the criminsl
docket was very large, a considerable number of witnesses
anc prisoners on bond were in the attendance, many of whom
came hundroeds of miles from the different naticns of the
Indian Territory.

Besides the g reat disappcointment occasicned to these
people, the expenses, of the ccurt are largely increased,
and sericus injury done to prisoners in Jail swaiting
trial. Some of thex would doubtless be discharged on
trial and all are being punished before trial and camvie-

tion. The [ Justice / Department at Washington repeatedly
prozised, we understand, tc furnish the nccessary funds
for defraying the expenges of the term, and why it falled
to do so is a mystery.

%77 The editor of the Western Independent informed his subscribers




.. by -the gentlemen of the pfess that Post Oak had some idea of escaping,

Post Oak and Diggs. Persons who expected to witness the executiom
were warned that it would be private, "as the gallows has been 5

@nélosed so that it will be impossible for any one to see from th

" 5

gﬁﬁ#ide." 32
A rather grim joke which originated with ocne of the court
official was circulating about Fort Smith, A local 1ife insurance
agent had asked Colonel C. to introduce him to people who might
wish to insure their lives, The colonel replied that he thought
he knew two who might avall themselves of the opportunity, At
this, the agent expressed thanks for the expected business; but
when he learned that it was "Diggs and Post Oak who are to be hung [sic /
on the 20th, his mercury fell to zero," 33

On Friday, December 20, Post Oak:end Diggs were taken f rom
thedr cells. After listening to their death warrants, which were
read by Assistant Jailer Barnes, they were invested "with convict
Jewlry" by Jaller Burns, The condemned felons were escorted to the
enclosed scaffold, Besides their spirituxl sdvisers, the Reverend V. V.
Hgrlan of the Methodist Church and Reverend C. G, 8mith of the Baptist
Church (Colored), they were accompanied b, guards Reeves, Hechler,
Rutherford, Lewis, Allison, Washington and Wheeler, and Jailer Burns,
The hanging party entered the enclosure a few minutes after 1 p.m.

A short time before, Doctors Eberle and Bennett of Fort Smith
and Doctor Davenport of Scott €ounty had showed up. They, along with
8ix members of the press, were admitted by Selaski, "who acted as

guard on the ramparts,®
Ascending the platform, the prisoners took their assigred
pesitions. Religious exercises were held by the two men of the cloth,
Post Oek declined to make any final remarks, but engaged in an
audible prayer, "seemingly trying to gain all the time he could.* He
called for Marshal Upham and asked several questions. It was supposed

éomuse he had asked the marshal to "provide him with a pair of pup:
.



o ”1he ude ne effort.” Nevertheless, it seemed clear to the witnessug :
; thnt, Post Oak was more reluctant to die than Diggs, "who said he
':'_’.jacaped this thing for five years and had now asked God for pardon,
"""'and attributed his present condition to drunkenness and gambling,®

sole shoes, but the programme being different from what he expected,

By

Diggs had made a written confession, admitting his guilt and
the Justice of his punishment, while Post Oak had verbally acknowledged
his crime to Marshal Upham and his two spiritual adviz®rs, Harlan
and Smith had devoted many hours to the two doomed men to help
bring them to & "proper realization of their fearful condition,”

Ten minutes before two, the black c aps and ropes having been
adjusted, the trap was sprung. The two men dropped to the extent
of their cords. Post Osk's neck was broken, and he was declared dead
in 11 minutes, Diggs wasn't so fortunate; his death resulted from
strangulation, He expired in 8 even minutes from the time he fell,
and "his writhings and suffocating conVulsions were horrible to
behold.® After about 20 minutes, the bodies were cut down and
placed in coffins,

Thus died the 16th and 17th persons to be executed at Fort
Smith in the three and cne-half years since Judge Parker had become
district juige., Reporting the execution to its readers, the
Westermn Independent observed that these men had been "brought here
for trial and condemned for crimes committed remote from this state, w=
the U. S. Court located here has a jurisdiction of over seven hundred
miles of territory, extending north and south » €ast and west, but

not one of these crimes has been committed near Fort Smith or in the
state orr Arkansas; yet we may expect taunting comments from an inimical
press which seems to be determined on conferring the odium of these
executions to the state of Arkansas," 34

* # #




FR Westem Disf.rict. Althdug,h he was a Democrat, the editor of the i

Nestem Independent erdorsed the campaipgn, These petitions, he

: President Hayes, like the people of the Western District, ual"£%r-*5“
impressed with Clayton's rccord. On January 20, 1879, the chief
executive reappointed him, 36

Most Fort Smithites were becoming sensitive to the reputation
that the numercus hangings were givinz their city. The Western
Independent on February 12 pointed out:

Frontin; the city on the SW is a Government Keserve
of about 300 acres, a porticn of which was once occupied
as a military fort. Its walls, bastions, bloeckhcuses,
magazines and officers' quarters [ slc 7 are in part still
standing, and are occupled by the U, S. Court officials,
and it is entirely separate and distinct from t he city.
Here are ccnstantly ccllected by the U, S. Marshal and
his deputies, the malefactors from a vast extent of
territory west of the State., Several times each year
courts are in session for the t rial & punishment for
criuies committed in the Indian Territory. 7The frequent
execution of murderers at this place have led to unjust
opinicris as tc the moral status of the city, when in
fact we have nothin; more t¢ dc with the» than any other
part of our state, and our city is not entitled to the
odium of these executicns which find their way into a
thousand papers without explanaticn. We believe not
one of the .../ 25_/ who have been executed vithin five
years, committed his crime any where near this place and

certainally not in this state, 37

After having been in recess for scveral weeks, the Court for
the Western District reconvened on the first Mcnuay of February. The
court efficlals, following their brief vacation, went back to work
with renewed energy. From the eupaneling of the jurors up t1ll
February 12, the editor of the Western Independent wrote:

scarcely an hour of working time has been lost, and more
. than the usual amount of business has been attended to,
..+ Everything seems to conspire to make short work of the
-minor casea, Although there is a sameness in the routine
of the court, business that must make it irksome and
hackneyed to Judge Parker, he nevertheless goes through
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with his impressive chargedsand instructions to the juries
7’88 though it were the first one of the kind, and it is
“always an interesting hour to those who assemble at the
‘opening of the court, as the true intents of the law and
‘of jury trials and all the responsibilities involved are
Ty’ oo fully set forth in clear and unmistakeable language, On
Saturday last scores of witnesses were called up and made
happy by being paid and dischargeds A number of the
culprits are taking advantege of the evident disposition
of the court to be somewhat lenient where they plead
guilty without involving so much time and expense, 38
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LAW ENFCRCEMENT AT FORT S:ITH 1871 - 1896
Chapter [P

The Battle Against the Forces of Evil Continues

The Court for the Western District of Arkansas in March 1879
was all powerful. In addition to 19 Arkansas ccunties, the district
included 70,000 souare miles of Indian Territory, Conseguently,
the jJurisdiction of Judge Parker's court encompassed more territory
than any other in the United States, For this reascn, it was more
expensive to the government than any other district eccurt, a fact
which at times seewed "incomprehensible" to the congressmen in
Washington, "when the necessary appropriations for defraying the
expenses of the court were applied for.”

Pecple familar with the court who knew the vaxt nusber of
cases handled, together with the costs and expenditures, were ready
and willing to commend its officers "for their efficiency and
a strict performance of duty.Y

Expenses for the court for the Yast half of Fiscal Year 1879
had been $59,008, A large percentage of the business transacted
during the current fiscal year had been carried over from previous
years. The appropriation for expenses of the court had been so
small that the Attorney General was cospelled "to refuse any further
funds for this district to defray the expenses of the February and
May terms" of 1878. The court accordingly had been required to
remain in session almost continwously from July 1, 1878, to
mid-October to dispose of lLusiness properly chargeable to Fiseal
Year 1878,

.... buring the period July 1 - December 31, 178, 151 persons ;m.;‘nqu,‘r

- ‘3( M
S s
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been assesseds Of the criminal case trieds 2 were for murder, 2
’ for ‘manslaughter, 1 for rape, 15 for assault with intent to kill,w
2. for mail robbery, 4 for counterfeiting, 1} for tigamy, 3 for 5
jperjury, 2 for bribery, 70 for larceny and mbbe!‘)n 31 for violaﬁ'

" ""of the internal revenue laws, and 22 for introducing whiskey into e
the Indian Territory.
Frisoners, depending on the type of offense and the term of
the sentence, were sent tc various correctional institutions, Those
receiving sentences for more than ons year were generally sent to
the Detroit House of Correction, and those given terms of one
year or less to penitentiaries in Misscuri and Arkansas,
Judge Parker's Court had given no "little prominence" to
the state as well as to Fort Smith. Of late, it had become a
terror to the lawless marauders who frequented the wilds of the
Indian country. Except for the protection which the court afforded,
‘ many of the most industrious, thrifty and law-abiding citizens

of the Indian Territory wouldn't feel secure while pursuing a
peaceable life. That there was any peace and security for these
people was chiefly due to a well organized force of deputy marshals,
commanded by Marshal Upham,

Upham had demcnstrated to friend and foe that he was the most
efficient and capable marshal to have held that position since the
Court for the Westemn District had been estabilished in 1851, His
executive ability and superior business capacity entitled him teo
the position he had occupied since 1876, Major C. M. Barnes,
the chief deputy, was the accountant for the court, His records
wore forwarded to Washington witheut a "spot or a blemish." Indeed,
no “crookedness™ in the slightest dezree had ever been detected
in Major Barnes' accounts., The editor of the Western Independent
cited Barnes as eminently fitted for the position and he cannot

' be Sousted, "
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Criminals brought before Judge Parker could consider themselves
"7’4n the "scales of Justice." Parker was "among the eminent 3uristi*””“‘$é
_o(_the country, and his lega2l opinions" were accepted as authoritv
;Sy'the attorneys of the Fort Smnith bar. He was noted for his
'timpartlality. Frequently, his charges to juries had found their .-
way into print, and were favorably commented on for their intrinsic
leyal merits,

“Judge Clayton" was recognized by the Fort Smithites as the
"ablest advccate the United States has ever had before this Court,.®
Clayton was "far above medicerity in the profession of law,®
and filled his office to the satisfaction of the court. Cifted
with an excellent "retentive memory and incisive logic,® Clayten
skil1lfully menipulated the minutia of evidence successfully,
and won many & hotly contested case in the face of talented

opposing c.unsel,

Clayton's assistant in 1879 was Captain Gecrge A. Grace.
A graduate of the Albany Law College, Grace, for a young man, had
few peers in his profession. He was an eloquent speaker, logical
reasoner, and filled his position with eredit.

Stephen Wheeler doubled as Clerk of the Court and U, 8,
Comniesioner, Assisted by his deputy, Samuel A, Williams, ¥heeler
mastered hic numerous functions ir highly ercditzble manner,

Assisted by a respectable corps of guards, Charles Eumns
was in charge of the U, 8. Jail. Doctor J. E. Ben:ett loocked
after the priscncrs' health, !

The crime rate was sc high in the area over which Parker had
Jurisdiction that though the ecurt worked leng hours it was hard
pressed tc keer abreast of new business., 1t seemed that Marshal
Upham's hard-riding deputles were unwilling to give the officers
of the caurt any rest,

"*“ﬁ Deputy Marshals Willard and Columbus Ayres reached the
61& Garrison on February 10 tram the Cherokee Nation. Seven
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prismers, two of whom (William E1l4ott and J. N, Stockton),were
logged in at the U. 8. Jail by the two marshals, Stockton had shotjy "
.ajiun at Vinita on January 22, The correspondent for the Elevato:
__;t.h‘tmght Stockton locked like & "hard citigen." Willard Ayres told
" "the newspaperman that he believed Stockton to be of unsound mind;
The high sheriff of the Cherokee Nation, Oam Sixkiller, and
several guards reached Fort Smith on March 21 with a priscner,
Harry Sisson. Sisson had been tried and sentenced to death by the
Cherokee suthorities for killing a man near Tahleqush, two years
before. Since the evidence was circumstantial, Farker had
issued at writ of habeas corpus directing Siss®n. to be brought
before his court,. 3
Deputy Marshal Wheeler captured G, E. Chase, an escaped convict
at Stringtcwn, Choctaw Nation, on April 1. After taking Chase
into custody, lheeler walked about the village on the lookout
for another man for whom he had a2 warrant. As the marshal and

his priscner entered a store, Chase snatched a shotgun. In the
struggle which ensued, the gunwas discharged and burst, injurying
both men. Chase, taking advantage of the confusion, took to his
heels. le was recaptured four days later by Leputy Farshal Burns.
wWheeler's brother on learning of his injury sent a carriage to
KcAlester ¢ to bring him back to Fort Smith for hospitaliszation,
Late on April 14 Chief Deputy Marshal Barnes detrained at
the Fort szith depot. Barmes had with him Uriah M, Cooper, who
was charged with murdering Robert A. Donnelly at Caddo twe
years before, Shortly after the shooting, Cooper had fled the
Territory. Since then, the officers of Jud,e Parker's Court had
been quietly trying to ferret out his hiding place, Information
was finally received that the wanted man was living in Henderson
J'Gounty, North Carolina, Barnes had been sent to the east to

4

’mo the wanted msn into custody. When questioned by District &
ﬁtomoy Claytm, Cooper swore that he hadn't been present when g
iknnolly was slain, 5 s

% Seadk W e g v . s
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~‘[repainted and renovated,

He wanted the room tc look its best,
\‘vhen the Hay term of court convened on Monday, the 5th. 6 B
,{:;. Jailer Burns notified Judge Parker on May 2 that there were::

43 men in jeil awaiting action by the court. They were charged:
with: murder 8, assault with intent to kill 8, larceny 16, violating
internal revenue laws 10, and illicit distilling .,

The first important case to be tried before Judge Parker at
the May term of court had to do with trespassing on the Indian
lands. A Kansas Negro, Ben Reese, had been arrested for
cutting timber in the Cherokee Nation. In deciding the case,

Parker would determine the validity of the Cherckees' title to

the 1land under treaties they had signed with the government. The
case could have important repercussions on the proposed establishment
of a Territory of Cklahoma.

In accordance with instructions from the Attorney General, the
case had been referred to Parker's Court. FReese was represented by
DuVal and Craven. The question to te decided by the Judge was whether
the "law of the United States applied tc a case of cutting timber on
the lands of the five civilized tribes."

The law which Parker was to interpret read:

Fvery person who unlawfully cuts or aids, or is
employed in unlawfully cutting, or wantonly destroys,
or procures to be wantonly destroyed, any timber
standing upon the lands of the Unlted States, which in
pursuance of law, may be reserved or purchased for
military or other purposes, shall pay a fine of not
more than five hundred deollars and be imprisoned not
more than 12 months. Uec. 5388 of the Revised Statutes
of the United States.

Since the evidence demonstrated that Keese had cut the timber
on lands belonging to the Cherckees, Parker held that these lands

.. Were held by the Cherokees "by a base or qualified fee." Conseqpantlyyﬂ‘

hﬁie was no right of reversion to the government of the ﬁ% 5
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United States, but only the possibility of a reversion. Such _
bo&ng, the case, the lands in question were nct lands of the Unitad ;

'_‘pmgl offense to cut timber on such lands, 8

Hardly had the Judge disposed of the Leese case, before he = \
was called on to.preside at an important murder trial.
Thirty-one-year-old KEenri Stewart was born in the Choctaw

Kation, His father was wi;ite; his mother was part Choctaw, A

gocd-locking, six footer, weigzhing 190 pounds, Stewart had been

educated at Yale for the medical profession. After graduating,

Stewart had led "an eventful career in the West, South Americay.

Eurcpe, and the West Indies. In 1877 he had deserted his wife

and four children ir 1llineis and retumed to the Indian Territory.

He joined Sam Esss, and for a time he was a member cf that bandit's

noctoriocus gang of Texas train-robbers,

In April 1878 he and his cousin, Wiley Stewsrt, had been

grr.ested for "intreoducing whiskey intc the Indian country." They

applied to Dr. J. B, Jcnes of Caddo, Choctaw Xation, to go their

bends  Dr. Juenes refused, At this, the twe men became belligerent

and threatened revenge.

Shortly thereafter, the Stewart cousins rcde into Caddo and

encountered I'rs Jones at the rallroad station. Wwiley, whu was

drunk, started an argument with the dcctor and accused him of

having them arrested., Henri pulled hiz revelver. He shot at

Jones and w-unded his intended victim in the left hand. whereupon,

Wiley pointed his double~barrel shotgun at Dr. Jcnes. After

hesitating a uctent, Wiley pulled the trigger gending & charge of

buckshot crashing intc the "unarmed end helpless" doctor. Tne

blast was fired at such close range tist Ythe wound inflicted

_ was only about the size of a silver dcllar, and some of the

¥ ":'“Qhot passed &ntirely through the body.¥
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Following the shooting, the Stewarts galloped off. After ‘
'making a circult of the town, they returned and defied the erowd :K'”m
hich had gathered at the scene of the murder. A Chbetaw:« £
‘”dﬁ%f&ft and posse pursued and overtook the killers on the open
pnairie. 4 desperate gunbattle ensued., The Stewarts severely
wounded several menbers of the posse and escaped. Henri was traced
to ¥isscurd, srresied, and escorted tc Fort Smith for trial. At
the time, Henri wss tried, his cousin was still at large.

During the four dasy triel, Henrl Stewsrt, while manifesting
an intense interest in the proceedings, ¢showed: no eign of fear,

He even held his composure on the day the jury rendered its verdict
of guilty.

Accordin; to the editor cf the Western Inderendent, Stewart was
defended by able ccusel, while the prosecution was conducted with
usual ability and eloquence by Clayton and Grace. "The attorneys'
speeches and Judge Parker's long and impressive charge to the
Jury were subjects of great interest and adniration tc the large
nucber of spectatorsr 9

Willlam Elliott, whe liked tc be called Colorade Bill, had
been born in Chic in 1847. A fine appearing man of limited education,
Elliott had Joined the Union army in 1863, Keceiving his discharge
in 1865, Elliott haa drifted to the frontier, where he “led a wild
14fe,"

Colorado Bill resached Muskcgee in the latter part of February
1879, and established his residence at Ruth Sheppard's house of
ill-fame, On the evening of March 2, two young men, David J.

#Cocke®™ Brown and koss Cunningham, went to the brothel, All hands
played cards and drank freely. shortly after midnight, Brown threw
himself "on a bec¢ in & drunken stupor," while Cunningzham continued

the fearousal.?
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Erown started tc obey, but as he staggered to his feet, he grabbed
LT q‘ﬁi@ninghﬁm's pistel. Elliott sterted shooting. One shot at.ruckz"
Cunninghaxn in tho leg, while three ripped into Brown's breast |
: jand head. %hen firing his f£inal round, Elliott placed the muzzle’
“of tis revelver close tc his victim's head, and sent a bullet

crashing into his brain. Rubbing the smokiny weapon across the face
of the corpse, f1liott boasted that he had killed many better men.

Handing Cunningham's pistol tc his miztress, Elliott commanded
her tc shoot the first man that darkened the door, Ellictt then
‘paced the floor refusing tc permit anyone, except John Woods whom
he sent for his horse, to leave. Falling tc secure a horse, Flliott
scught to escape afoot. '

Deputy Marshal Stephenson was sent after Elliott., Coming
across the killer's trail, Stephenson tracked him to "his secret

St L

haunts in the woods, pounced upon him while gsleep and took him
into custody,"

The Elliott trisl lasted iLhree days. Sc¢ overwhelming was the
eviderice that the jJury returned a verdict of gullty after deliberating
only a few moxents. According tou steo:ries rezching Fort smith,
Elliott's beast that he had killed scveral other men was tiue,

It was said that he was wanted for murder in sever:l other states.

Elliott maintained during the trial v"stoical indifference
and indul.ed in & good deal of braggzsdocio after hearing the verdict
which consigred him to an ignominious death."

The editcr of the hestern Independent reported, ”Hegéfflliot@J?
is the second man convicted of murder during the present teim of

the U, 5., Court and will soon expatiate his blociy deed on the
gallows, unless saved by executive clemency." 10
Stewart and Elliott were taken before Judge Parker on the

morning of June 11, Before passing sentence, the jud;e asked

‘4fthey had anything to say, "No," Stewart replied; Elliott r

%?i J-hvo nothing tc say, Judge, but if it was to do over,
%o dé the same thin: sgain,®
WA e
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3”416 kwo men to be "hung on Friday, August 29, 1879, between the he

A thelr doom, Stewart and Elliott were manacled: and""re'tu'rﬁ‘édl’to”vftﬁeé;},4

' -~ &b their disposal., The governzent, the Western Independent urged,

As socn as Elliott had finished speaking, the jud_ e sentenced

AN

9 d.m. and 5 p.m. " After listening to the words which spelled’

"

When the kestern Independent went to press ion July I, the _
editor noted that the Kay term was about over. The ccurt, at the
moment, was disposing of the few remaining civil cases on the
docket. 4 glance at the proceedings would suffice to demonstrate
that ®an immense azcurt of hard work has beer. ecconplished in a
brief period." The officers of the ccurt, the editor reported,
certainly;

merit the congratulations ard thanks of the people of the

district for the efficient manner in which they have

periormed their casplicated and difficult duties. Judge

Parker, has presided with marked di;nity and ability...

adl the officers of the ccurt have worked faithfully,

intelligently, and in perfect harmony, and have proved

themselves eminently worthy of being retained in their
res;pective positions, 12

* 4 o«
The week before Judse Parker called the August term of ccurt
tc order, the Western Independent warned that a "large part of the
Indian country is completely overrun by d esperadoes,” It was reported
that many of these "lawless charscters” had banded together for
the purpose of pillage and mutual protection. In general, the
outlaw bands numbering from 25 to 60, ranged north of the Canadian,
The bandits wers well-armed wxith revolvers and long-range repesating
rifles. Besides driving off horses and cattle, comxitting robberies
and murders, these badmen insolently defied the officers of the law,
Marshal Upham and his deputies were doing everything in their
pover to curb this evil, but they were plagued by the limited means

3

i;iwd promptly furnish Marshal Upham with necessary funds to ¢
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out thesé "defiant desperadces, before the increassd numbers shall
ey ‘réquire the expensive attention of the army.” 3 53*
' . One of the ~ost talked about cases to be tried before the Augu:t‘
tom of court was a eivil suit, The Federal government had entcm
a suit against former Marshal Fagen for £1,618.84 on his official ™
bond. Fagan countered with a claim that the government owed him
$24,000, The case was complex, and required the examination of
several hundred accounts, and took up the court's time for two weeks,
It wus ecncluded on August 25, and resulted in a verdict in favor
of Fagan for $2,916,27, Abcut £9,000 worth of accounts weren't
passed upon by the jury, because there were rno certified copies
of them as required by law. Judge M. L, Rice, Colonel R. C. Kewton,
and Colonel Erdizzolara represented Fagan, while Clayten argued for
the government, 1
President Hayes refused to intervene, and Henrd Sgewart and
Williem Flliott realized that they were to die. -August 29 dawned
bright and beautiful, "and the sun shed its lustrious rays through
the prison bars of the U. S. Jail as if endeavoring tc cheer the
hearts" of the condemmed killers,
At five minutes past 2 p.m., Stewart end Elliott ascended
with "firm ster and fearless mein" the scaffold which had been
erected in the Garrison enclosure. They were attended by their
spiritual adviser, Reverend Sample, and a number of guards and
deputy marshals. Keverend Sample made a few remakks, "expressing
perfect satisfaction with his intercourse with the priscners and
their spiritual condition.” Next, h¢ offered a fervent praycr, in
which he was joined by the doomed,
¥hen asked if he had anything to say, Elliott declared that
he was inrocent of the crime for wiich he was ccnvicted., He
claimed thet he had shot Brown in self-defense. Elliott swere
t.xm he hadn’t killed on account of Ruth Shepperd, but admitted f,,,'
ﬁns wicked to have taken up residence at & brothel, and that E _%'

ﬁr‘p’un g
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‘ he was ashamed of himself., After stating that he had forgiven
. everybedy, Ell.ott announced that he had "made peace with God, |
5’ and was willing to die." He then shock hands with those around 3.,
hf.mand bade them goodbye. As the black cap was being drawn ove;
ﬁhil head, Elliott ramarked, "Be sure to break our necks, boys, asd
“don't punish us.® & Et
Stewart declared that he hadn'{ planned to speak on the '
scaffold, but would avail himself of the opportunity of saying a
few words. lnstead of regretting his current situation, Stewart
considered it a "blessed priviledge; was confident that he had
found grace, and would soon be happy in abetter world.® He spoke
of the thief on the eross, who had found forgiveness at t he last
moment of his life,
Stewart stated that he entertained malice toward nc one,
Jerking the rope with his hand, he shouted, "Thank God for giving
us such a speedy means of pasaing from this life to eternity.®
At 23130 Deputy Marshal Barnes signaled Jailer Burns by a move
‘ of his hand, and the trap fell. Elliott's neck was broken by the
fall; he died without struggle, Fithin 16 minutes, his pulse had
ceased to beat., Stewart's neck was not broken; his limbs twitched
convulsively for about five minutes, and pulsation ceased at nine
minutes. The bodies were cut down at ten minutes to 3. Stewart's
renains were taken charge of by his stepbrother, Arthur T, Stewart
of Atchinscn, Kansas, and were interred in the eity cemetery.
Elliott's body was buried on the military reserv:tion.
The execution had taken place "privately" in the old Garrison,
where 25 other criminals "had been launched into eternity.®” (nly
& few court officials, members of the medical fraternity, the press,
and a few invited guests were present, %
The editor of the St. Louis Times-Journal commented gifticslis>
on the execcution of Elliott and Stewart. According to the St. lLouis
. ’,ger, these "executions will make 135 that have occurred in Atk?nlu
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I since Judse lke Parker was induced to doff the congressional toga
.. .A4n Missouri and don the judicial ermine in Arkansas.” Parker, the -zt~
‘?t’}itor wrotes g

- 18 & mild-pannered man with a peaceful smile and a pale
eye. But when the sunlight of that smile and the glnce R S
of that palegre rest upon a murderer, that murderer might =~ 7
Just as well as not make his peace with man and heaven,

Parker 15 so kind and ccnsiderate that he never harices
up a murderer's soul either by expatiating upon the
enornity of the offense of depicting the disgrace and
pangs of the death he is about to suffer,

"Please be kind encugh,” he says in soothing tones,
"to put your self in readiness to be present at your
execution six weeks f rom next Friday.”

He is so affable and ccurteous and so popular among
the killing class, that men have been known to travel
weary miles to get within the jurlsdiction of Parker's
Ccurt to kill a man, in order to be sentenced by this
genial official and strung up by his gentlemanly and
efficient sssistants., 1%

Gommenting on the article in the Times-Journal, the editor of
‘ the westem Independent observed, "Though written in a style of
v levity inappropriate to the subject, yet it was evidently well-
intended and paid & merited tribute tc the affability, courtsey
and uncompromising Jjustice of Judge Parker."

Since the article in question was likely to ¢ reate an erroneous
impression of Arkansas, the Westerm lndependent felt it was only
right to pcint out that the court over which Parker presided was
located in westermn Arkansas, but obtained most of its business
ufrom the Indian country." In the four years Parker had been judge
there had been 42 indictments for capital offenses., Twenty-nine
of these hacd been convicted and sentenced to death, but:: enly
18 had been exccuted, Cne had been slain trying to escape, ten had

had their sentences commuted to life imprisonment, while 13 had been

EIEIN
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Not one of these felons had been from Arkansas, All were from
the Indian Territory; the majority were brought hundreds ¢f miles to
the P:rt Smith court. Consequently, the editor wrote, there should

b; 11ttle surprise about the enormcus amount of business transacted
by the U, 8. Court, when cognizance of its extent and Jurisdiction
were considered. Throughout a territory exceeding in area the states
of Missouri and Arkansas, Parker's court exercised police powers,
executing the criminal and general intercourse laws,

Vhile there were Indian courts, they were "inveriably a travesty
on Jjustice."” They could only take cognizance of cases wherein all
the parties involved were Indians and citigens of the Territory.

All other cases involving a United States citizen, irrespective of
his nationality, appertained to the U, S. Court,

The "anomalous character! of the Territory made it a "comparatively
safe harbor for lawless people and especially for the worst classes

‘ of criminal refugees from the States."” The great danger, difficulty,
" and expense of executing writs in such a wild and vast area operated
in a great measure as a license to crime, If Parker's court were
provided with necessary funds, the editor pointed out, it was safe to
say that it would remain in continuous session. Despite its limited
means, Parker's court disposed of more criminal business than all other
Federal courts in the Union, 17

During the August term of court, about 30 prisoners pled gullty
and were sentenced for crimes committed in the Indian Territory. These
men had stood accused of larceny, assault to kill, and for violation
of the intercourse law., After listening to their pleas, Farker,
depending on the gravity of the crime, sentenced them to the penitentiary
at Little Rock or the Detroit House of Correction.

Congress had failed to make an appropriation for a regular term
of court, 80 the prisoners deemed it wise to enter a plea of guilty
ip c:poctaticn of receiving a shorter term of confinement. This
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‘passed without the report of a shooting. HMany times, the victim was

ﬂaﬁﬂiﬁtgﬁ people that a half-breed had killed Chancey.

actiocn on their part had saved the government a considerable sum,
because it was estimated that each trial by jury cost about $200. 18

s:;c_m
¥

fﬁ; killings in the Indian Territory continued. Hardly a week *

an innocent bystander, such as when on the morning of August 2, a
detachment of the Creek Light Horse rode into Muskogee. John Vann,
& Cherokee with a reputation as a gunfighter, was "parading the streets
armed with a six-shooter." Since this was against the Creek law, the
Light Horse sought to disarm Vann. He refused and opened fire. Vann
was cut down with a bullet through the brain. Several of Vann's friends
raced to the scene. Additional shots were exchanged. A member of the
Light Horse was mortally wounded, as was James Carter. A young salesman,
Carter had been employed in Dickens' store, and had rushed to the window
when the shooting started. As he looked outside, a stray ball struck
him in the neck, severing his jugular vein. 19

Other times, the death of the victim had been premediated.

Chancey Lugard owned a farm ten miles north of Eufaula. On June 9 the
old man was plowing his corn. His stepson, James Heaslett, happened

to be in the area. The young man took cover in the bushes near the

edge of the field. As Lugard reached the end of a row and started

to turn his team, Heaslett shot him in the back. As he fell, the stepson
dashed from his place of concealment. Bending over the dying man,
Heaslett sent a bsll from his pistol crashing into Lugard‘'s head.
Heaslett, maddened by the sight of blood, used his revolver to beat
out the old man's brains,

Cora Lugard, the victim's little eight-year-old daughter, was
also working in the field; she heard the shot and then saw the horse
bolt. She caught the horse near the fence. As Cora was calming
thgwbgagt, her half-brother dashed up and told her that he had killeqd

LA

c;J{i}Qar. Heaslett told Cora to go to a nearby lndian's cabin and
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‘ The crime was quickly reported. A party of Creeks led by

B, F. Chapman and Thamas Adams soon were hot on the murderer's trail,
Heaslett was overtaken and captured near Okmulgee, When arrested,
héf’ha"d’ in his possession a pistol which was "covered with his father's
gory locks" and brains. Since both the victim and the killer were

(_ citizens of the United States, the Creeks notified the U. S. marshal

l to come and pick up Heaslett, <0

| With such goings on in the "Land of the Six-Shooter," it was
only natural that when the Hovember 1879 term of court opened, Judge
Parker found that there were a large number of cases awaiting action

by the grand jury. A breakdown of the crimes revealed:

Murder 6
Manslaughter 1
Assault with intent to kill 9
Larceny 35
Introducing liguor into the Indian Territory "
Violating Intemal Revenue Law 8
Total 70
‘ Forty-three of these men were confined in the U, S, Jail, while

thm At the same time, there were

48 cases pending in court: 9 murders, 3 for manslaughter, 7 for
assault with intent to kill, 9 larceny, !2 vioclations of the internal
revenue law, 7 for introducing liquor into the Indian Territory, and
1 resisting arrest. Of this number, 19 were being held in the jail
and 29 had been bonded. 2!

¥riting of the opening of court, the editor of the Elevator
reported that the influx on November 3 was very great "consisting
of white men, colored men, (probably two or three times as many
negroes as whites), Indians ... , and persons of all shades from the
fairest to the blackest ... . We go to the courthouse:
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raising on the steps to the porch on a level with the floor of
. the court room, and looking around we see, outside the wall, (for
the court house is situated inside of a stone fort), wagons Bd i
_ scattered all around, men and women hurrying to and fro among
*. ' them, llke a large camp, though more scattered than a military
" - one would be, From the wagons, over steps leading over the walls
"' "of the fort and through a double yate in the walls, comes a stream:. ... -
of men and women, three-fourths of whom are negfoes, Indians, and
mixed to the court house. They stand around in groups and talk,
but it is like geese zabble to us, '
Everything is managed in the court room with due decorum, as
in the U, 8. Courts in other states where the general make-up is
the white man alone, though this could not be the case in such a
mixed multitude without extraordinary efforts, and for which the
court deserves praise., There are probably 500 persons indicted in
this court per year, and it is believed to be the largest criminal
U. S. Court in the Union. < '@ 22

While the court was in session on November 13, a drunken white man
created a disturbance., Judge Parker told the doorkeeper, Dan Harris, to
; take the drunk "out of the presence and hearing of the court." Harris
f called for assistance. Aldecd by ancther Negro, Harris escorted the drunk

from the courtroom to one of the gates leading through the old Garrison

‘ wall, As they pushed the man through the gate, he fell, his head striking
one of the great,stone gate posts. The drunk received a nasty gash,
Subsequently, he was taken to the Avenue House, where he died two days
later.

A coroner's jury was convened to investigate the matter. It was presumed
that all persons who had witnessed the incident would be called on for
testimony. The editors of the Elevator were surprised on making routine
inquiries as to the jury's verdict to learn that there had "been no
sufficlent investigation such as to satisfy the public,*

Commenting on the case, the editors observed:

This being an offense charged to have been committed by a

colored man on a white man, as there is considerable prejudice already

existing on account of treatment of some white men in this place

by colored officers, should have been fully, fairly, and openly and

publically investigated, and the examination of witnesses :ln the case

should have been full. The district attormey, /Mr. Clayton’ 7who vas -
. - hers, should have attended to it in person we think. We have known .

-, Dan, the party charged with this offense...from his boyhood, and he hll

»+7 always borne a good characterj,..and it is due to this comunity that
‘ _ . ..any such supposed offense should be well investigated. Lo

We think it most probable from the character of Dan, and fm T
what we can gather from bystanders, that Dan, on getting him / the drunk]
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to the gates, gushed hard forward through the gate, and the... drunkéz,
...~ Probably was eaning backward, and he arris / pushed him forward
" "an upright positicn and left him, and he tottered back and fell and.. .-
‘fractured his skullee.; but what we have been able to learn and predicate .
‘our opinicn on is not satisfactory to the public, nor do we believe the. .~
‘4nvestigation as had is satisfactory. 223 . &

 fhe campaign by the Elevator to gst the case reopened failed. Within
few dayé, most people had forgotten the incident.

Almost as soocn as the court could dispose of the cases, the deputy
marshal’s brought in new business.

Deputy Marshal G. H. Kyle reached Fort Smith on November 5 with two men
charged with murder, The accused were lodged in the U. S. Jail. One of the
men, Sorrell, a Negro, had been arrested in killing a half-breed Shawnee
Sam Bob during the sumzer, The shooting had taken place on the Goose Neck
Bend of the Verdigris, 16 miles south of Coffeeville, Kansas. Sorrell and
sam Bob had bought a barrel of cider, which they took to a Negro celebration.
There, the two men had quarreled over the cider. Sorrell handed his pistol
to Bill Fowland, a white friend. Fowland took the pistol and killed Sam Bob,.

The second prisoner was George Wingfield, Wingfield had killed another
white man (Roberts) at the Cross Timbers on the Missouri, Kansas and Texas
kailroad in April. Kyle had been called in.When he investigated the matter,
Kyke learned that Wingfield and Roberts had fouzght over a dogz. Wingfield
had shot Roberts in the hand. Roberts had armed himself and planned to
seek revenge. After several days, he told Emanuel Blossor that ¥ingfield
and his brother were too much for him, and he planned to leave the country.

Wingfield appeared at Blossor's house about nocn and asked where Roberts
was, He was told that he was on Elossor's ranch, Roberts, learning that
Wingfield was gunning for him, prepared to leave. Before doing so, he
stopped at & Shawnee's to gel something to eat. Bread and meat were given
to him, FEoberts told the Indian that Wingfield was following him and planned
to kill him. He then rode off.

within & few minutes, Wingfield thundered up, and asked the Indian where
?ﬁ;i;;htb visitor was. g
4 -"hg’:’ji;‘mwnee replied that he had just left.
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Wingfield zalloped off in the same direction, Chortly thereafter,
_the Indien heard several pistol shots. Another Shawnee, The Fox, who
was hunting saw ¥ingfield shoot Roberts. Eeing frightened, he fled
éhswscene of the crime and told his uncle what he had seen. The uncle:
quickly rounded up a number of his neighbors. Guided by The Fox, tho ! ‘
party visited the place where the shooting had occurred. There, thqy i ’\\
found the body of the victim. Roberts had been shot in the back, and
three or four times in the chest. By his side, lay the bread which had
been given him by the Shawnee.

Almost eight months passed before Kyle was able to arrest Wingfield
and escort him to Fort Smith., <4

Thirteen days later, on November 18, Deputy Marshal Wheeler showed up
at the U. S. Jail with five prisoners. These men (two charged with murder
and the others with larceny) had been taken on a sweep through the Creek
Nation. The men charged with murder were Dan Henderson and M. B. Miley,

Texas drovers. On the 9th the two cowboys had ridden up to James Connors'
cabin near Eufaula. They shouted that they wished to see Connors. As
Connors stepped outside, Henderson shot him in the temple. According to

witnesses, Connors had given the Texans no offense.
Wheeler, who was in the area, organized a posse and went in pursuit of
the killers. Within a few hours, Wheeler had taken the two drovers into
custody. 25
James Heaslett was brought to trial on November 21 for killing Chancey
Lugard. The defendant admitted his guilt. Wwhen put on the witness stand
by his lawyers, Heaslett claimed that his stepfather had subjected his
sister "to outrages inhuman which produced her death 3 or 4 years ago."
Moreover, the defendant continued, Lugard had committed incest on eight-
year-old Cora. Heaslett swore that he had learned of his stepfather's
crimes in May. Since this was immediately before the shooting, his
attorneys argued that it had caused temporary insanity on the defendant's
. pa:p. To support Heaslett's contention that his stepfather was guilﬁg qr

1ncost, the defense attorneys (Cravens, Fenno and Pratt) called the moth
{]ittle Cora to the stand. Both women corroborated Heaslett's t :
ﬁ,Jhdge Parker gave the case to the jurors on November 29. The Juny

118



i of court. 27

remained out for three days and nights. After failing to reach a verdict,
, the . Jurors were discharged on the night of December 2. According to the
B fbreman, the Jury had stood eight to four for conviction. The Juxy égg

On Wednesday, the 3d, the case of the United States vs. Uriah
Cooper for the murder of Robert Donnelly was called up. Ccoper was
charged with shooting Connelly at Caddo. By profession Cooper was a
photographer, well educated, but a physical wreck because of dissipation.
Donnelly worked for the Missouri, Kansas and Texas Kailroad. While at
work one night four or five men induced another railroad employee by threats
to go to the car which Donnelly used for his office. In response to his
friend's call, Donnelly emerged from the car. As he did, Cooper shot him.

Cooper was represented by a battery of four lawyers (Marcum, Barnes,

C. V. buckley, and Welsh), while Clayton and Grace appeared for the
government. Twenty-four witnesses, 17 for the prosecution and 7 for the
defense were examined.

The fight was hard on both sides. Testimony was closed on December 9,
while two days were taken up with the closing arguments. When the jury
returned, the verdict was guilty. Cooper, on hearing it, broke down and
cried like a baby. 28

When the liestern Independent went tc press on December 10, the
U. 5. Court had completed the fifth week of its November term. So far,
between 4O and 50 cases had been disposed of. These included indictments
for larceny, assault with intent to kill, and for viclatiaons of the
intercourse law. An unusually large number of witnesses had been in
attendance. Most of these had been discharged in the interest of economy.
Only those were being retained whose testimony might be required by cases
currently in progress or docketed to be heard in the immediate future.

Owing to the meager apprcpriation made by Congress for defraying the
+ expenses of the November term, the officers of the court had been roqnir!d’

; '"qtico nthe most rigid economy." <9 *

55 ;ﬁiii‘xhe moment there were 80 prisoners in the U. S. Jail, some of a
4uho- were auaiting trial, some awaiting sentence, and some serving sﬁﬁrt‘*'vfi
terms. Because of its vast jurisdiction, the court had to "sit nearly
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21l the time.” Its annual budget since the advent of Judge Parker ranged
230 §f~

P e

] ‘_,‘i";-af John Thompson Staggs. The deceased had moved into the Chickaaa 3
Naticn from Texas e¢nly a short time before he met his untimely end. Siaggl"‘“‘:42
body had been found near a Panola county crossroads; his horse was standing
nearby. The Chickasaw Light Horse had 1nvestig£ted the death but had failed
to take any action, Since the victim was white and the chief suspect was a
young Chickasaw, a deputy U. S§. marshal took over. He discovered that Jackson
Marshall had been seen near the crossroads a short time before the body was
found. In addition, it was leamed that there was bad blood between Marshall
and Staggs. Marshall was tzken into custody and sent to Fort Smith for trial.

When the Jury found Marshall guilty, it caused considerable surprise in
Fort Smith. The editor of the Elevator reported that the evidence against
the defendant was "made up of many apparently trivial circumstances,® which
didntt seem tco important. 31

George Wingfield was tried during the last week of December for the
murder of Koberts. Most of the evidence against Wingfield was by his own
admissions. Thomas Barnes, the man wWingfield had retained as one of his
attorneys, made a masterful address to the jury. Bames' eloquence succeeded
in winning for his client an acquittal, 3%

On Monday, December 29, James Hicks was brought to trial. Hicks was
accused of killing Oliver Gregg in the Cherokee Kation. The murder had
taken place the previous June., Hicks and his brother were reportedly

interested in property owned by their mother, who was living with Gregg.

They were afraid that this property at her death might go to her and Gregg's
illegitimate dhild., The prosecution charged that Hicks had killed Cregg to
get him ocut of the way. Hicks' brother had fled the area. As the tastimony
developed, the evidence pointed to the brother as the killer., Judge Parker,
when he charged the jury, announced that the evidence was insufficient to
‘ultifyl-ﬁccnviction. 33 4 %;"“E
' ;Jal Upham on the last day of the year discharged and paid off af}

)3’- '

L P A
Simﬁ%fa‘“for the murder of Neally Sanders. The editor of the Elevator
informed “his - readers that the court, even after this case was concluded,
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might sit in judgement for several weeks on civil matters. At the end of
the year, there were 8, prisoners in the U. S. Jail, including 20 to 3. - .
who had been convicted at the November term, 34

- Samuels' fate on January 6 was entrusted to the jury. Within a e e
few minutes, the jurors returned, and the foreman announced that Samuels
had been found not guilty. 35
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W ENFORCEMERT AT FORT SMITH 1871 - 1896
Chapter VII1
A Year Passes Without Any Hangings

1880 was the first year since 1877 in which there were to be no
executions at the old Garrison. Throughout the entire year the gallows
stood idle. During the summer, the scaffold was given a coat of "@hite-wash.'
The Fort Smithites began to breathe easier. They reasoned that crime in
the Indian Territory must be on the decrease, !

Although no felons were hanged during 1880, there was more than
enough work to keep the court busy.

At the time the Court for the Western District convened, on February 3,
there were 29 prisoners in the U. S. Jail awaiting trial. They were charged
withs

Murder 8

Assault with intent to kill [N

Larceny 12

Violating Internal Revenue Laws 3

Perjury 1
2

A similar number were out on bail.
People familiar with the court reported that the "crowd attendance" and
the docket were not as large as usual., 3 .
James Heaslett was retried at the end of the second week of the term
for the murder of his stepfather. The testimony had been taken and the
opposing attorneys had concluded their arguments by Wednesday, the 18th.
This time the Jury was able to agree. At 6 p.m. the foreman announced
that a verdict had been reached. Heaslett was brought from the jail into
the courtroom. In his presence, Parker read aloud “the jury's fatal verdict
of guilty." Young Heaslett remained motionless in his bax, and "evinced that
stolc indifference sc unexpected of him by those who had witnessed the
ordeal before.* B w
- :ﬁgéslett was scarcely 20 years old, "and sad, indeed, will be the cad '"'f




Immediately following the conviction of James Heaslett, the court
took’uy the case of John Ames. The defendant, who was charged with murﬂor,i~f$§
had becn in the U, S. Jail for over a year awaiting trial, Ames! trial 3304 v
ot short duration. The prisoner was acquitted, as the evidence showed thtt:

B

he had killed in self-defense. Next, came the case of Albert Bunch, a Négro, :
accused of murdering another member of his race near Scullyville., The
evidence was so slight a.ainst Bunch that he was discharged “almost without

& trial,» 5 |

On February 25 the case of John Miller, who was charged with murder,
was docketed. The attorneys, on Tuesday, March 2, completed their arguments,
and Miller's fate rested in the hands of the Jury. The jurors remained out
till ¥ednesday aftemoon, when they returned with a verdict of not guilty. é

Following the acquittal of Miller, Green Cook was put on trial for his
life, This case was quickly disposed of. 1t took the jury only a few
minutes to decide that Cook was innocent of the murder charge.

The next murder case on the docket was that of George Baldridge, who
was accused of killing Foreman in the Cherokee Nation. Ealdridge's trial
ended in & hung Jury. 7

Judge Parker on ilonday, March 28, passed sentence of death on Uriah
Cooper, James Heaslett, and Jackson Marshall, The first two were white;
Marshall was a Choctaw, Parker scheduled the executions to take place on
Friday, June 18,

When asked if he had anything to say before sentence was passed, Cooper,
raised his right hand and in a faltering voice, invoked ®Heaven to strengthen
him while he made a few remarks.® Cooper swore that he had never threatened
Donnelly's life; that he wasn't dressed on the night of the shooting as it
was stated by witnesses; that he didn't have a shotgun at the time and place
stated, He had fled the scene of the crime, he explained, to escape from
Scott and Magee, who had been the triggermen and who had threatened his life.
His voice getting louder, Cooper exclaimed, "vhile my body stands before the
court 8 wrecked vessel, my soul rides the waves of 1ife perlectly free trnl"":
.:u .u_u of the blood of Robert A. Donnelly.® 1
: -”ifter passing sentence, Parker told the doomed men that he didn'lviﬂﬁih;f

‘to 'uound their feelings by referring to their offenses." He reuindod ‘them '
n and of heaven's "inexhaustible mercies, and exhorted
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them to make good use of their reraining days in constant, earnest and
tervent preparations for death,n 8

#® 9 &
""'Meanwhile, the deputy marshals were out hunting up new business for' © -%
the court. Five bootleggers reached Eufaula on the evening of February 7. ‘\

They established their base of operations in J. H. Crabtree's store. Deputy
Marshal Wheeler was notified of the whiskey runners' activities. Accompanied
by five men, Wheeler headed for the store. As the lawmen approached, they
were sighted by a lookout. At the first alarm, the boctleggers scattered.
Marshal wheeler commanded, "Halt!" when this brought no response, the
lawmen opened fire. The bootleggers shot back. "For a short time the
popping of pistols and shot gune reminded one of the 'late unpleasantness'.®
Altogether about 30 shots were exchanged. WKheeler succeeded in capturing
one of the whiskey runners and wounding a second. He also found himself

in possession of a pair of saddlebags, three quarts of rotgut whiskey,

and the bootleggers! horses.

L (ne of the posse, Joshua Sanders of Webbers Falls, received a charge
of buckshot in the left leg. Dr. W. H. Bailey was called on tc pick out

the shot and dress the wound. ?

Deputy Marshals Ayres and Stephenson stopped at Caddo in the Choctaw
Nation on February 18. The two deputies were on the lookout for Dave
Fulsom, the 17-year-old son of a Choctaw district judge. It was common
knowledge that the judge's son was engaged in running whiskey into the
Indisn Territory. The officers were waiting at the depot when Fulsom
clambered off a north bound train with eight bottles of whiskey in hie
carpetbag. Vhen the lawmen called for him to surrender, Fulsom drew his
pistol and opened fire. The officers fired back, killing Fulsom instantly. 10

#* %%

f v Judge Parker called the Court for the Western District to order B I

. 1@% were 54, prisoners confined in the U. S. Jail auaitd.n‘,‘
trial. These men were charged with:
—

12,



Murder
. Manslaughter
=it Assault with intent to kill
‘- Robbing U. S, mail
.+ Counterfeiting
*: . Resisting process
lLarceny 2
Violating Internal Revenue Laws

Besides those awaiting trial, there were 15 men serving out their sentences,
and two (Cooper and Heaslett) waiting to be executed. This gave the jail a
population of 71. At the same time, 4O prisoners by posting bonds had.secured
their release pending their trials. !!

Once again, a shortage cf funds compelled Judge Parker to restrict the
May term of court. According to the Fort Smithites, the two weeks which the
court was in session "presented an exceptionally lively and interesting
spectacle.” Hundreds of people from westerm Arkansas, the neighboring states,
and the Indian Territory "thronged the spacious court building or lounged about
the beautiful garrison grounds." A "motley mass of nationalities,
Caucausians, Africans, wild and semi-civiliged Indians commingled, and
presented the most strikingz contrasts in languege, manner, garb and general
appearance and offered a rarely interesting study to the students of humanity.n

Parker and his corps of officers "were as busy as bees," Each man
displayed a “thorough mastery" of his duties, and all worked together in
harmmony. Through their joint-efforts a "huge criminal docket melted away,

VMOBMNMDDNWORN -0

like snow beneath a tropical sun.”
On Saturday, the 15th, Parker had announced that funds for defraying the
court were exhausted. He discharged the jury and continued the remaining
criminal cases to the August term. The premature closing of such "an important
tribunal,® the Fort Smithites complained, was a great misfortune, Not only
would it greatly increase the cost of the court, but it materially checked
va much-needed salutary influence over its vast jurisdiction, seriously
obstructing the prosecution of justice and works a deplorable hardship en
-any people, particularly the witnesses living at a great distance and ;-
pruean-a confined in jail awaiting trial.® :
Plrkcr's ourt, however, had made “good use of its brief session,t:
The porsonnel had worked hard to make the limited means stretch as far &k :
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a8 possible, Out of the 59 cases tried, there had been 45 convictions.
1'hm hundred and twenty-two witnesses had been examined, and 77 mdicbmaatl s

$HB J P

_Ntumadm the grand jury in six days. Thirty-three cases, 1ncludin&
—for am'dex', had been continued and scheduled for the August term, sm
bf- t{w cnvicted priscners had been sentenced to the ULetroit House of i
Correction for terms exceeding cne year; the remsinder, who had been given
terus of less than a year, would be confined in the U. S§. Jall and the
little Kock Penitentiary.

For the abbtreviated term disburserents to witnesses and Jurors
totsled $9,950. In this respect, the editor of the Vestern Independent
felt called on to cite HMarshal Upham for the "astonishing feat of
successfully maintaining the immense business and expenses of his
departzent since the 30th of last June, without any appropriations from
the govermnment. We hope that his confidence in the government may not be
disappointed, and that he may be continued in the positicn for which he has
proven himself so exinently qualified....* 12

The death of Jackson Marshall in late April had left only two gmdemed
men in the U, S. Jail. Attomeys Craven and DuvVal, through the intervention
of U. S. Representative Thomas Gunter, succeeded early in June in getting
President Hayes to commute Heaslett's death sentence toc life imprisonment. 13
Then, at the last minute, Layyers Marcum and Buckley learned that the President
had agreed to commute the death sentence of their client Lriah Cocper,to
impriscoment for life in the Detroit House of Correction. 4s the editor of
the Elevator informed his readers on June 18, S0 we have no hanging here
to-day. The friends of Cooper are much pleased, he having been convicted
on circuustantial evidence, altogether, and they believing him entirely
innocent of the charze.®* 14

To try to rally support for the reappointment of Upham as marshal for
the Western District, the Western Independent on June 23 cbserved that he
had been in office almost four years, a period lenger than any of his
,j-udhu predecessors, During his term of office, Upham's adm:)istnum
‘hd M *signalized® by strict honesty in every department and & M
: ¥ of every duty under his jurisdiction. In the deadlock betw‘q_
m&. and Congress relative to appropriations, Judge Farker's Conrtjm., g
been one of the few which continued to perform its regular duties without
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intermission. This was, the editor wrote, due solely to the patriotiem
and liberality with which Upham advanced the necessary funds,
In his treatment of the prisoners placed in his charge, the newspgpo -
repOrted, Upham was in advance cf his times. Heretofcre, the prisanerl»
while awaiting trial and serving their terms had been allowed "to lie 1& o
their cells at an expense to the government and an injury to themselves."
Host of these men were used "to the free life of the Territory," and became
i1l when confined, At their request, Marshal Upham had permitted them to
do light work on the Fort Smith streets and in the Garrison enclosure,
Thus at one stroke he had benefitted both the community and the prisoners. 15
The editor might as well have saved his ink, because President Hayes
eight days before had named Valentine Dell, U. S. Farshal for the ¥estem
District. Besides being a Republican wheelhorse, Dell owned and edited
the New Era, a rival of the Western Independent and the Elevator. Dell took
charge of the office on Monday, July 26,
As soon as Dell had taken over from Upham, he named his staff: J. H.
¥ilkinson of Washington was to be chief clerk, Jake Ayres assistant clerk,
and C. C. Ayres jailer, Two of the guards at the jail, J. Williams and
Salaskl, were discharged. Lobert Thompson and wiley Eailey would reblace
them, Dell's deputy marshals would be: Willard Ayres, G. H., Kyle, J. H.
Berry, Jack Rutherford, Hugh Simpson, James Bourland, 2. W. Moody, R. J.
Topping, F. R. Barling, D«ight Wheeler, and J. Mcleir. 16
The editor of the Elevator was sorry to see Upham replaced. He felt
that during his four years in office, General Upham had given satisfaction
to the entire Kepublican party. Indeed, it had been frequently remarked
that Upham was the best marshal the Western District had had since the war,
As the editor informed ‘‘his readers:

The marshal has control of a good deal of patronage, and if
disposed, can be of material advantage to the people of the district
and particularly in the immediate vicinity of the court, and at the
same time do the government no injury. We hope we will not have

- cause to camplain in the future and that every department connected - :
-:with the office of marshal will be conducted in such a manner as 30
reflect credit upon the office, and be of great advantage to the *
*gpvarnment in suppressing crime in the distriect. 17

.-8x weeks before Dell took office, Deputy Marshal Mershon reached e e
Fort Smith from the Red River country of the Indian Territory. He had with
him 11 prisone;rs, whom he deposited in "Bums' cooler." Two of the men,
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Charlie Palmer and Thomas balderston, were accused of murdering & man near
Tuhomingo, three weeks before. Palmer, having lived for several yeai‘;",.ﬁ}
Sebastian county, had many friends in the Fort Smith area, !7 .
3 dccasionally the old Garrison was used for activities besides law®
":enforcrement. Cn June 30 the marshal allowed the Van Buren and Fort Smith -
baseball clubs to play in the "U. S. court-house enclosure." The contest
which was watched by a large crowd was won by Van Buren 37-17. 18

3 % %

The Court fer the Western District of Arkansas on Monday, August 2,
was called to order by Judge Parker. When Judge Parker loocked over the
docket, he found that there were more then 100 criminal cases awaiting
action. More than one-half of the men involved were confined in the
U. S. Jail, while the remainder were free on bond. 19

Dan Henderson was finally placed on trial for the murder of James
Conncrs near Eufaula, the previous November, The trial lasted from

‘ Friday, August 6, till ¥ednesday evening, when the jury returned a verdict
e of manslaughter. <20

The next murder case to be brought before the August term of court
was that of the United States vs. Charles Lee, alias Solomon kilson.

During the summer of 1876, George Boyer of Wellington, Kansas,
determined to make a trip to Texas to buy cattle. His wife and her younger
married sister (Mrs. Cles) accompanied Boyer. Both women were "handsome

and attractive." A young man calling himself Solomon Wilson was employed
to go along and help drive back the cattle, Mrs. Cies left her child at
home in Kansas with her husband, On the trip to Texas, Wilason and Mrs. Clies
had an affair. Boyer, learning of the situation, warned Wilson to keep
away from Mrs. Cles.

At Fort torth, Wilson purchased a pistol, "a self-cocker of heavy
caliber." After buying a herd of cattle, Boyer prepared to return to Kansas.
.Boforc 1eav:mg Texas, boyer hired another drover, Joe Davis. gj; Wi
8900 after fording Red River, Boyer was informed by Davis that Hﬂ " )
‘vias nngry with him and was packing a pistol. Wilson had spoken to Davil oi" S
;unpoding the herd. He would then take the horses and ¥rs. Cies and’ ctr!.ko
out for Arkansas. If Davis wished, Wilson remarked, he could come along.

guir
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Should Davis huve eny troubtle with Eoyer, %1lson urged him to "shoot him
down like a hog." e
When the party camped for the night, Boyer, after eating, threw hiEself
dcun on a pallet. His wife started putting away the dishes, while Wiléén lnd
ﬂrs. 01es sat nearby lunching. Eoyer, who didn't own a gun, suddenly g;twﬁp; i
walking over to the wagon, he picked up Davis'! pistol. Circling the vehicle,
Boyer sat down and called, "kilson!"
Boyer told kilson to come over and sit down, because there was an
account which he wished to settle, The cattle trader told wWilson that he

had heard that he was gunning for him, He wanted Wilson to forget such

A%
¥

.!-q-

nonsense and give up his pistol,

kilson refused. Hot words were exchanged,

Mrs, Boyer begged Wilson to hand over his revolver as that was all
her husband wished.,

At this, Boyer leaped to his feet, As he took a step forward, Wilson
drew and fired. The shot struck Boyer in the neck., He was knocked to the
ground. Nrs. Boyer threw herself on her fallen husbtand to protect him,

Ignoring the woman's screams to "stop shooting assher husband was dead,®
Wilson pumped four more shots intc the body. On doing 80, he held his pistol
80 close "as to powder-burn the wounds and set fire to the victim's clothing.®

After the shooting, Wilson took Davis' pistol from the deceased, walked
up a nearby ravine, anc fired several rounds. Joe Davis, who was watching
the cattle at the time of the killing, didn't see the shooting. Hearing
shots, he spurred his horse and rode to the nearest house. He told the
people there that he knew Wilson had murdered Boyer.

Accompanied by Davis, the farmer raced to the scene., When they
encountered Wilson, he showed them Davis' gun, and told them that he had
killed his employer in self-defense. He let the farmer inspect the pistol,
remarking as he did, "to notice and recollect it, as he would be called as a

witness."
.. A8 soon as Boyer had been buried, his widow hired several men to assist .

hor 1u driving the cattle on to Kansas. On their arrival, much excitei‘hif
mﬂﬂ-d Wilson and Mrs, Cies claimed that Boyer had fired first. npr-ovor."‘

thqy swore that Mrs. Boyer lied when she said that four or five shots had beem .
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‘ fired into her husband after he had been cut down. Apparently, most of the
:,noighbors believed the widow. Fearing that Wilson would be lynched, l{ra. Clea!
‘father warned him that he had better leave the country. W%ilson fled t,o e
:’;’:)ol_:og;q-o. Returning to Texas in 1880, he was arrested and brought t.o,?ort
Smith, 2
Identifying himself as Charles Lee, "Wilson's" trial commenced on
August 24. It was late Monday afternoon, the 30th, before the prosecution
end the defense attorneys had presented their witnesses and final arguments.
¥hile Lee admitted slaying Boyer, he argued self-defense. The jury remained
out over 48 hours. When the jurors filed back into the courtroom, the
foreman announced that they had been unable to agree. Judge Parker scheduled
the case to be retried at the November term of court. 21
Three men (William A. J. Pinch, M. K. Pickens, and John Finch) were
brought to trial on September 11. The defendants, along with four others
who hadn't been taken into custody, were charged with killing Reddick Miller,
a Negro. Miller had been killed several miles from Colbert's Station, the
. previous January. hkeddick and a second Negro, Joe Tally, had been accused
of stealing a plow. Tally was captured by the vigilantees and given 200
lashes. Vhen the men came after Reddick, he took to his heels. The
vigilantees shot and presumably killed the Negro. Although no one saw
Reddick's body, several witnesses claimed that they saw him fall near a tree.
Later the vigilantees gathered near the tree and a wagon drove up. From a
safe distance, the witnesses watched as the whites picked up an object which
looked like a body. When the wagon was driven off, it disappeared in the
direction of the Washita River.
A month later, a body was pulled from the Washita, with 50 pounds of
stone attached to it. It was supposed to be the corpse of the missing Negro.
At the trial, Joe Tally was the chief witness for the procsecution. The
defense attorneys claimed that the three men on trial had no part in the
lynching of Reddick, and that the four men still at large were the guilty
.. ppgtioa, 2
% : !ho editor of the Elevator informed his subscribers while the t.rhl
iﬁ‘«l p’bgrcss, ®"Boil it down and we see three men imprisoned and being t!)i.d
‘ ffoi' their lives, four are fugitives from justice, one killed, another. ll.oot ﬂ
whipped to death, and the government placed at an expense of thousands of
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‘ dollars, all about an insignificant six dollar plow," 22

o @ The case was given to the juny on the evening of the 17th, Returning

o verdict, standing seven to five for conviction. After discharging‘tb: ;
ffJurora, Parker scheduled the case to be retried at the November term of court;
Commenting on the case, the editor of the Elevator noted, "the unfortunate men
will be compelled to spend another long period in jail before they can get
a new trial." 23
Lum Smith was placed on trial for murdering Mike Allen in the Indian
Territory five years before. The jury on September 23 declared Smith guilty
as charged. 2
The trial of Charles Palmer for murder began on September 22, and
continued till the 26th, when it was given to the jury. Aifter being out a |
short time, the jurors filed back into the courtroom, and the foreman |
announced a verdict of "not guilty." Palmer was relcased much to the relief
of his wife, mother, sisters, and many friends who were in attendance. <25
‘ ' As soon as the Palmer trial was finished, the case of George Baldridge,
who was charged with killing Foreman, was sgain taken up. When the Elevator
went to press on the evening of September 30, the trial was in progress. The
editor announced, "This is the last murder case that will be taken up at this
term, and will prcbably end the criminal business, the balance of the term
being devoted to civil cases.” 26
The jJury found baldridge not guilty as charged. #7
Judge Parker on Gctober 12 passed sentence of death on Lum Smith.
Execution was scheduled tc take place on Friday, Lecember 17. Lum was the
only one of the nine men accused of murder convicted at the August term of
court. <8
David L. Payne was a crusading white frontiersman obsessed with a desire
to smash the Indian monopoly of the lands in the Indian Territory. He was
backed by two powerful forces--land-hungry farmers and the railroad interests.
: congreas had granted several railroad companies right of way through tho-a
Indiln eountry and had voted three corporations land grants, uhenevor th. 3
:Indinn?%itles could be extinguished. The railroads were accordingly i <

. :"Aﬂ.i‘ous';s Payne to break the Indiane' monopoly. AR
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‘ Payne and Parker were destined to clash over the ceded or unassigned
Okla.homa lands. Though earmarked for the redmen, this region was not assignpd
f-o a.ny tribe following the treaties sizned with the representatives of thi <
l&ve Nations in 1866, Claiming that white men could Homestead or p‘i%aemp%m
land Payne and his Boomers moved in. Evicted by the armmy, they tried: again.

A squad of United States soldiers on August 13 reached Fort Smith with |
Captain Payne and five of his Boomers (H. H., Stafford, J. K. Jarratt, J. Brophy,
A. H. Riggs, and ¥. H. Smith). The Eoomers had been arrested in the Indian
country hear Fort Reno. Payne and his followers were turned over to the
U. S. Court as trespassers., A large number of Fort Smithites were on hand to
see Captain Payne. (ne of them reported:

Capt. Payne is a stalwart young man, over six feet in height,
35 or 4O years of age, wears a broad brimmed hat, blue flannel
shirt and heavy boots. He locks like the stuff pioneers are made
of, men who are able to face the hardship and danger of the wilderness
and open the way to civilization.

29

Captain Payne claimed that he wasn't an intruder on the Indian lends.
. lie announced that he was merely seeking a home for himself and his companions
on land belonging to the United States, The territory in question had been
ceded to the United States by the Indians for a cash payment. He was merely
exercising his rights under the Homestead Act, & right which heretofore had
never been denied tc any citizen, 30
Judge Parker held &t @ prelimimary-héaring that there wasnt't any
criminal charge against Payne and his comrades. They were accordingly set at
liberty and cited to appear at the February term of cour!{ Yto znswer charges
of going, the second time, into the Indian Territory," Captain Payne would
have preferred tc answer this charge at once, Since it was a very important
case, the editor of the Elevator informed his readers, it would be decided
wby His Honor Judge Parker, when tried in accordance with the genius of our
Republican institutions, consistent with the spirit of the age we live" in,
48 the Fort Smithites saw it, there were only two points of law involved
i.n ;he case: Section 2147 of the Revised Statutes provided that the Presidcnt
Qould uac the military to remove from the "Indian Country, all perscas tom_a wr
on gontrary to the law;" and Section 2148 which stated that “persm
. o t,ummg to such country, shall be liable tc & penalty of $1,000," Soct.im
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‘ 2149 couldn't apply to the case in question, because Payne wasn't on any
tribal reservation. Consequently, the editor of the Elevator was unablg.
to see that Payne had violated any law. The lands on which the Boomefﬁrk?*
had 1ntended to settle weren't Indian lands but belonged to the Unitql
States. It was unreasonable to assume that the stipulation made by thl'
Indians in ceding these lands tc the United States so they might be uaed
to settle other redmen thereon was velid. 1t was argued by Payne and hie
supporters that there was no reason that whites shouldn't be allowed to
gettle on the lands in question in the interim., The Boomers felt these
lands were as much open to settlement as any other of the public surveyed
lands in the country. 3!

Payne and his lawyers pointed out that the land on which the Boomers
had squatted had originally been reserved for the Indians. But in 1866
all the territory west of the current boundaries of the Creek, Seminole,
and Chickasaw Nations had been sold back to the United States. The acres
on which Payne had settled had been sold to the United States without

. reservation or condition. Section 2257 of the Revised Statues provided
®"all lands belonying to the United State to which the Indian title had
been or may hereafter be extinguished shall be subject to pre-emption.”
Lands not subject to pre-emption were enumerated as "included in any
reservation by any treaty, law, or proclamation of the President; lands
included in any incorporated town or town site; lands actually settled and
occupled for purposes of trade and business and not agricultural, and mineral
and saline lands." 32

o more important case had ever come before Judze Parker. The Indians
appropriated money to assist the prosecution. After sll, they said, if the
court upheld the Boomers, it would "legalize the overwhelming of our whole
territory." Payne was also opposed by white cattlemen who leased the ceded
lands. In addition, many people living in the Cis-Mississippi agreed with
the Border Minstrel of Guthrie, Kentucky, that the Boomers were "coomiting
land piracy and highway robbery on the poor Indians.” , )

: : .Laged up on the other side were the railroad companies and whitc;jwqﬁ

? ?3roﬁ§il53men. These people were anti-Indian on principle. Beaides,"_u r

‘ h Aojclaimed that he was the victim of the "rascality® of "certain h!iba ;;5
officials," behind whom were the "powerful moneyed influence of the cattle

kings who are using the country as grazing fields."
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Payne had hundreds of sympathizers in Fort Smith. When Parker

continued the case, it looked to same as if he were afraid to face the 1ssuov.%
i Two days before the soldiers reached Fort Smith with the Boomers, i

Deputy Harshal killiard Ayres camped near Cherokeetown. Accompanied hy

Zack Moody and ______ Gregg, he rode out to arrest three men for larcen§‘fo: e

whom he had warrants, wWilliam Fisher, Henry Alfred, and Emanuel Patterson.

The first two were taken into custody without difficulty., Eefore going

after Petterson, Ayres left his two prisoners with ¥oody.,

Dismounting and walking up to Patterson's house, the marshal knocked
on the door and asked for Patterson. Someone called from inside that
Patterson had gone to Cherokeetown and wouldn't be back till morning,

Ayres then shouted, "Open up and strike a light, 1 must search the house,"

Three shots fired in rapid succession crashed through the door, one of
which struck Ayres in the chest. Staggering backward, the marshal collapsed
near the fence. Eefore dying he pulled out his notebook and scribbled,

"To my brothers: Be Christians, I died by unknown hands,® Taking advantage

of the excitement created by the shooting, Patterson made his get away,

The marshal was buried at Cherokeetown by his brother (Ben), Moody and others,

A reward of $200 was offered by Ben Ayres for the capture of willard's killer., 33

Marshal Dell awarded Deputy Marshal Ayres!' widow the contract for
feeding the prisoners in the U, S. Jail. His actions in this matter were
applauded by the townspeople, 34

John Q. Adams and his daughter Arena J. Howe sharecropped on the farm
of George Ferryman, near Childer's ferry., At this time, Albert Church was the
acting postmaster at Tulsa., He became interested in the Widow Howe. On
several occasions Church allegedly abused her. Mrs, Howe accordingly secured
& pistol with which to protect herself.

On Saturday night, Church came riding down the road toward Adams' cabin,
Arena called to Church to stop, As he reined up his horse, she opened fire,
shooting him twice. One missile entered the heart, the other struck Church
in the shoulder, The body remained seated on the horse until the "life blood
hgd dyod his flanks crimson an both sides." It then toppled to the groqnd* -

f; jﬁﬁ _Howe left the corpse where it fell. It was soon discovered h§5. o
neighbor and carried into Adams' cabin. Arena admitted that she hed killed .
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Church, but she claimed that his death was justified. Threats of lynching
were soon uttered. At this, Mrs. Howe, accompanied by her father and two
children, went to the river, secured a skiff, and started down the Arkansalc
They uere arrested on Monday by Captain Gube Childers of the Cherckee Ligh

- Deputy Harshal Jack Rutherford and his posse in September arrested
Ho-pi-juk-kee, a Negro-Seminole mix-blood, who was wanted for rape and
assault with intent to kill. After making the arrest in the Seminole Natiom,
the posse started for Fort Smith, As they were crossing the Pottawattame
Reservation, the lawmen were attacked by six Seminole gunmen, In the
ensuing gunbattle, one of the would-be rescuers was killed, along with the
marshal's horse. Taking advantage of the confusion, Ho-pi-juk-kee escaped.
Rutherford, after securing the assistance of the Indian police, went in
pursuit., Fifteen days later, he got his man. This time, kutherford reacﬁed
Fort Smith, and on October 16 he turned Ho-pi-juk-kee over to Jailer C. C.
Ayres. 36

The Court for the Westermn District reconvened on November 1, "with a
large amount of business before it." Eefore adjourning for the morning,
Judge Parker had empaneleud the grand jury. It was Viednesday, the 3d, before
the petit jurors were ready to begin hearing cases. 37

One of the cases which had ended in a hung jury received prompt attention
from the new term of court., Charles Lee, who was charged with killing Boyer
was a young man "of prepossessing appearance" and was well liked by all who
had become scquainted with him since he was incarcerated in the U, S. Jail.
Once sgain, Lee's battery of attorneys (the Barnes brothers, Colonel Craven,
william Mallette) arsued self-defense. The jury this time reached a verdict
and declared Lee guilty cf manslaughter. Judge Parker lost no time in giving
Lee the maximum sentence for this offense, ten years in the Detroit House of
Correction and a §$500 fine, 38

, The following week v41liam A. J. Finch, M. K. Pickens, and John Finch
uero retried for the murder of Reddick Miller. After listening to the's
¥01{E;hco“and the arguments of the defense and the prosecution, the jury
rotutnld a verdict of "not guilty as charged." 39 g
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‘ On Thanksgiving Day, the prisoners at the U. S. Jail were treated to a
regular feast by Jailer C. C. Ayres. About this time, the editor of the
,g._l_evat-or received a "well-written article from one of the priscmers.® The w
contrasted the prison as administered by Upham and by Dell. He claimed that
tha difference in fare was "very great," and wrote of the kindness of nr. Den.
New cots and blankets had been received with gratitude by the priscners, for
which they thanked Marshal Dell, Judge Parker, and Dr. J. E. Bennett, the \
medical attendant. In addition, the prisoners were now furnished "papers
and periodicals, and treated with charity and kindness.” Jailer Ayres and
Reverend Harlan, the Methodist minister, were alsc complimented. L0

Chief Ceputy Marshal Huffington and eight men left Fort Smith on
December 14 with 21 priscners. Twenty of the convicts wers to be taken to
the Detroit House of Correcction, while the other one was to be left at Little
Rock Penitentiary. After the departure of “this load"of prisoners, the U. Se
Jeil still had 59 unwilling guests. &1

Lum Smith, who was to have been executed on December 17, was given a
respite by President Hayes until rebruary 18, 1881. In view of this decision

. by the President, most members of the Fort Smith court felt certain that
Smith's sentence would be commuted. 42

The Court for the weslern Listriet adjourned on December 18, As scon as
he could get his business sgquared sway, Judge Parker and his family left for
St. Louis for the holidays. &3

As at Thanks iving, the prisoners at the U. 5. Jail were treated "to a
good Christmas dinner." Afterwards, they were allowed to listen to Christmas
carols sung by the chilaren of the bBelle Crove chool under the direction of
Mmes. Lipe and shepperd. &4

News that Lum Smith's death sentence had been commuted to life
imprisonment reached Fort Smith curing the first week of the new year. 45

Judge Parker and his family, on the evening of January 21, retumed to
Fort Smith from 5t. Louis. Their many friends were glad to see them back
again in good health and spirits, L6
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LAW ENFORCIMENT AT FORT SMITH 1871 - 1896
Chapter VIII

1881 Brings More Hangings

Judge Parker on Monday, February 7, called his court to order, At the
time that the February term opened, there were 52 prisoners in the U, S. Jail
awaiting trial. In addition, there were a large number of accused who had
posted bond. The criminal docket accordingly was "very full, the usual number
of murder cases .., and no end to the whiskey, larceny, and assault cases."

Shortly after court had opened, the officers, jurors, witnesses, and
spectators were startled by a shot. A hurried check showed that John Armstrong,
a guard, had dropped his pistol on the rock floor of the guardroom, The
weapon had discharged. The ball struck Armstrong in his leg between the knee
and ankle. The bone was so badly shattered that it was feared amputation might
be necessary, !

At least 200 witnesses registered with the court during the first three
days of the session. Tragedy cut down two of the witnesses on opening day.
Isom Carter and his fourteen-year-old-daughter, Celia, had come to Fort Smith
to testify against Alexander Jackson, "who was charged with committing a
nameless crime on the person of Celia.," The father and child remained at the
courthouse most of the day.

Along toward dark, they walked to the Poteau. Carter planned to spend
the night with a brother who lived on the opposite side of the river, Getting
into a light skiff, they started across, The Poteau was booming. Large
quantities of driftwood were being borne down by the current. Out in the
middle of the stream, the frail craft collided with a log and capsized, The
father and his daughter grabbed hold of a passing log. Since the water was
very cold, the girl soon lost her grip and sank. The distraught father held
on grimly and shouted for help as he drifted downstream. People hearing his
frantic calls rushed to the bank of the Poteau. It was dark, so they were oo
nnnblc to find any boats with which to go to his rescue. At lest the oxiQ
305304; 1% was presumed that Isom Carter, like his daughter, Lad drvunod.f

“*“Beveral days later, Carter's body was recovered from a pile of driffvood i
about midway between Fort Smith and Van Buren. Judge Parker and the officers
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of the court fretted because the Carters were the principal witnesses against
Jacksen, . 2 ERRAS S
-,"iOne of the first cases called to t rial was that of George hashingtcn Phdgett
vho i#s charged with the murder of W. H. Stevens, Padgett had been born 15 v
Smith county, Texas, on November 29, 1858, His parents were farmers, The e
father died while Padgett was a child, and his mother remarried. Left largely
to himself, the boy leamed to ride and break the "wildest bronchos." Becoming
a cowboy, he left home in 1880 to work for W. T. ¥aggoner, the owner of a huge
cattle epread in Wichita ccunty, Texas. Cn June 15, 1881, Padgett left
Waggoner's ranch. Crossing hed kiver into Indian Territory, Padgett encountered
a large herd near the Comanche Agency. The trail boss, ¥. H. Stevens, had
agreed to drive 2,200 head of cattle from Texas to a Kansas railhead. Padgett
introduced himself as Charley Wilson, and Stevens hired him to help with the
drive.

Among the cattle were four or five strays branded with the waggoner mark.
Padgett claimed the right of taking charge of these strays and accounting for
them to Waggoner. Stevens refused, This was the seed which germinated trouble
between the two men, Henceforth, Padgett tock a great dislike to his boss, He
was heard by the other drovers to make threats against Stevers' 1life.

While encamped on Salt Fork at the mouth of ::: Pond Creek, Stevens on
July 26, 1880, put his hands to work "cutting out" cattle tc be sold. Padgett
approached Stevens and demanded to know what he proposed to do about the

¥aggoner cattle,

"No one should cut them out," Padgett warned,

Stevens, who was unarmed, was in his shirt sleeves. Padgett held a
cocked revolver in his hand. Hot, abusive words were exchanged. Turning,
Stevens asked a bystander to give him a pistol. Stevens, failing to get one,
wheeled his horse about and started to ride off. As he did, Padgett leveled
his pistol, and shouted, "Damn you, 1'll shoot you anyhow,"

"Bang!" roared the pistol. The ball struck Stevens in the side Just below
the right erm, killing him instantly. ey
; 4Phdgott sought to escape. He was followed and captured six miles f : :
tgootini. On being taken, Padgett remarked, "well, I'm sorry i done it, ﬁét‘;
this is the seventh man I have killed." When brought to trial in February
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. before Judge Parker, Padgett claimed that he was joking when he made that
statement. .
Durinb the trial, Padgett was represented by Thomas Bames and W. !.ﬂfpivbf
Mdlletﬁe _They argued that thelir client was guilty of manslaughter not mumdcr,'ﬂ
because Stevens had brandished a drover's whip in a threatening manner,  The egf
Sury didn't agree, On Thursday,the 17th, after deliberating for 24 hours, the
jurors reached a verdict of murder, Padgett, seemed to have expected the worse,
for when t he foreman made his announcement, he showed "no emotion." 3
The next murder case on the docket was that of Arena Howe. She had
killed Albert Church at Childer's ferry the previous August. The Jurors were
unable to agree, ten standing for conviction and two for acquittal. After
discharging the jurors, Parker continued the case to the May term of court,
Arena celebrated the occasion by giving birth to a girl at | a.m, cn March 3. 4
William Brown had been born in March 1854 in Davis county, Missouri,
Shortly thereafter, Brown's parents moved to Crayson county, Texas. Like
Padgett, Brown became a cowboy. In 1878 he went to the Chickaéaw Nation; .

. where he married a Miss Love, The groom and his bride set up housekeeping at
white Bead Hill. brown in the summer of 1880 went to work at Fort Sill. There,

his employer was McGarvey, who held the contract for putting up hay for the
post quartermaster. After work on the evening of August 19, McCarvey's haying
crew sat around their tents, talking and waiting for bedtime. Erown challenged
Bob Moore to a foot race., Fifty cents was wagered. Moore_proved to be the
swifter and won. The two men argued; a fight ensued, Moore whipped Brown
badly.

Bob Moore and Ralph Tate cccupled a tent a short distance from where
the fight occurred. Brown, smarting from the double defeat he had absorbed
from Moore, procured a rifle. Taking cover near the trail leading to Moore's
and Tate's tent, he waited to "get even with Moore."

Soon a man was heard approaching. Erown fired. The scream which
followed the shot showed Brown that he had made a terrible mistake., He had
mortally wounded his friend, 17-year-old Ralph Tate, and not Moore, Browmn
tlei}tho camp, After stopping briefly at his home at wWhite Bead Hill, 50"77 L

gcdtinnpd on to Texas,

‘ A Tl
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Kr. Tate, the father of the dead boy, follewed his trail for 600 miles
through tho Indian country and into Texas., After 28 days of hard travel: %
i-“r.fl‘at.o avert.ook and captured the killer near Henrietta, Texas. Brown j
was manaeléd and & trace chain padlocked abecut his neck. 1In this fasﬂicu.
the father led kis son's murderer sll the way to Fort Szith. There, durihgﬁk“
the first week of Cctober, he turned Erown over to the Jjailer.

The spectators at the trial pronounced Erown "not & vicious looking man,®
Erown's trisl closed un Fridsy, March 4, when the jury, after being ocut only
an hour, brought in a verdict of guilty. The defendant listened to the
Judgesent without betraying the slizhtest emction., His lawyers (Harcum,
wWathan, and buckley) had made a ¥stubborn and well planned fight for their
client, but without success." 5

The great excitement durding the second week of March was the trial
of Boomer Payne., Captain rayne had reached Fort Smith from Kensas on Hareh 4
to "stand trial for settling on United States land in the Indisn country,®
Payne ana his boomers hac spent the winter on the Kansas-lndian Territory
border, kept at bay by baycnets in the hands of United [tates troops. because
of the severity of the winter, the Boomers for prctection from the cold had
been compelled to iive in dugouts., ‘
Payne was accompanied to Fort Smith by his attorney Judge reker, a
former judge of the ¥issouri Scprexe Court. Judge Baker would be assisted
by Colonel karmes, The editor of the Elevator made no secret of his feeling.
He infcorzed his readers on Harch i1

¥e trust this matter will soon be solved. It is bad enough to have

& Chinese wall at our doors, but worse when it is expected that it

shall not be.bounded by a line on the west side of the Indian settlements,
but extinguished by cession to the Government, for, be it remembered,
these Semincle lands were ceded, without any reservation, to the

United States.

iﬁfter listening to all the arguments in the Payne case, Farker announced
that he would take the matter under sdvisement and announce his decision at
tho lly term of court. 7 s
% “Pagker then adjoumned court until April 10 and "scooted” off to 3 ¥ Lade.
) %ﬁ‘udshed to get a little rest from his constant labor, and "to
orlthi dusty court room, and away from tihe bore of weary lawyers, with iﬁ&ics: a
tongues.* 8
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Marshal Dell kept his deputies constantly on the go. Jack Rutherford
and his posse started in late January for Fort Smith from the Seminole Nation
\d.th two prisoners. One was Ho-pi-juk-kee, who had been turned loose by" the ..
authorities when the grand jury had failed to bring in anc 1ndict,ment.
Retuming to his Nation, Ho-pi-juk-kee had promptly run afoul of the lml
This time,he was charged with obstructing justice and assault with intent
to kill, The other prisomer was & white man named Eoutwell, accused of

larceny. _
(n the last day of January, the party camped 30 miles from McAlester.
At daybreak the next morning, Ho-pi-juk-kee got hold cf a Henry rifle and
comnenced beating bLoutwell over the head. As soon as he felled the white
man, the Seminole "struck for tall timber;" the marshal and A. B. Ward
pursued on foot. Ho-pi-juk-kee ignored the officers' command to halt.
They fired. Cne ball struck the fugitive, killing him instantly. After
burying the redman, the lawmen took the injured Boutwell into McAlester.
Leaving him with a doctor so he could receive medical attention, the
marshal pushed on to Fort Smith. W¥hen he made his report, Rutherford
observed that he didn't know what prompted the Indian to make the attack,
while boutwell ha¢ been too badly injured to make a coherent statement, 9

Deputy Marshal J. H. Berry on February 6 arrested Charlie Clark and
Wright hogers. The two Negroes were accused of killing a man whose body
had been found the previous year in the Poteau bottom, about eight miles
southwest of Fort Smith. To try to conceal the crime, the killers had
covered the remains with logs and brush. Clark and Kogers who were long
time residents of the Scullyville ares were lodged in the U, S. Jail by
the lawman. 10

A citizen of Atoka,P. H. B.,addressed a letter to the editor of the

“flevator on March 17. The correspondent complained that Deputy Marshal

D. He Layman was prowling about the country “with a common woman."
Actuated by prejudice and greed, he was in the habit of stopping to "hunt
Jout 1ittle cases! that had little merit in expectation of shaking down tht
mtort.mte victim, M :

~ fhe Elevator for March 25 carried a copy of P. H. B.'s letter, Ohi L
Deputy Marshal Huffington promised a full investigation. If the charges '~ -
were substantiated, he promised to fire Layman. 12
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. Deputy Marshal Layman lost no time in replying to the charges brought
against him by P. H. B. He pointed out in a letter to the editor of the
Elevator that it was a "well-known fact®" that the whiskey trade thrived © -
in Ltoka._ Cases cof drunken lawlessness were commonplace. Men under tﬁd
.'mfluence were in the habit of shooting into houses, racing their hors )
about the streets at breakneck speeds, and shouting and cursing at the 7t -
top of their lungs. Layman had been asked by several law-abiding citizens \
to curb the whiskey trade and the disturbances,

Information was given Layzman that a box containing liquor consigned
to D. Mark was at the railroad depot. Taking post, the officer watched
the box until it was picked up and conveyed to the house of a licensed
trader, who had given bond not to introduce whiskey into the Indian Territory.
when he opened the box, lLayman discovered it contained seven gallons of
whiskey. After being arrested, the man, whom Layman presumed to be a good
friend of P. H. B., had offered him $50 to tum him loose, 13

Deputy Marshels Jack Rutherford and J. T. Ayres crossed the Poteau into

. the Choctaw Kation on April 9. They held a warrant for the arrest of Henry
williams, a Cherokee-fegro mix-blood, charged with stealing a pistol and
several other items. Williams scught to flee the marshals. lie was fired
on, one of the projectiles striking him in the back and inflicting an ugly
wound. Vhen the lawmen returned to Fort Smith with their prisoner, the

priscn doctor removed the ball. 4

Marshal Valentine Dell started for Detroit on April 18 with 22 prisoners,
whose sentences rangea from one to ten years., Six other felons would be
dropped off at the Little Rock Penitentiary. Eight deputy marshals accompanied
Dell to Detroit, while G. H. Kyle and George Williams were to stop at the
Arkansas capital, The departure of these convicts cut down the population
of the jail to 77, 40 of whom were serving short term sentences. In additdon,
two county prisoners were cenfined in the U, S. Jail. 15

% # %
ﬂio May term of the Court for the hestem District began on Mondv”
*tho ﬂdf After empaneling the grand and petit Juries, Judge Parker rul
‘ ;gd.nst Boomer Payne. Citing many precedents, the judge ruled that t.h.
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;landa in questien, though unassigned, were clearly a part of the Indian..
ccnntry.‘ Pledged to keep white men out of the Indian Territory, the
ZUnited Btates Government had adopted the intercourse laws, These proY§§,
for the expulsion of white persons who tried to squat there without permit
Second offenders could be fined §1,000.

That was the law, said Parker, and "it must not be expected or asked
that ... the courts will break or even bend the timbers of the law,"

In other words, the Boomers must stay out; and David L. Payne was
fined $1,000,

That was the limit of the statute., Had there been a provision for
a prison sentence, Parker would probably have sent Payne up; because the
Judge agreed with Attorney General Benjamin H. Brewster, who wrote the
next year that Payne was "an old and notorious offender, and deserves
severer punishment than can be meted out to him in the present state of
the law,"

Even so, the Parker ruling aided the Indians. The Nations celebrated
the decision as an important victory, while the Boomers and their allies
viewed it as a real setback, 16

The trial of Amos and Abner Manley for the murder of Eli McVeigh was
taken up on May 4. On the night of December 13, 1880, two young Creeks,
Amos and Abner Manley,ages 18 and 17, stopped at the house six miles from
Eufaula occupied by Mr. and Mrs. Eli McVeigh. At the time that the Manleys
rapped on the door,Mrs. McVeigh had gone to bed.

The Creeks shouted that they were cold and wished to come inside and

get warm. McV2igh asked where they were going.

"To Mrs., Sweet's to pick cotton," they replied in English.

McvVeigh asked them to identify themselves,

They replied, "Moody."®

Whereupon, McVeigh told them that the fire was out, but that he would
gct,np and kindle one. Pulling .on his clothes, HcVeigh let them in and 7.
tml;t t fire, As soon as the fire was roaring, McVeigh told the broth
that ir they wished to spend the night, he would make them a pallet té;

gl At . e
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aloop on.
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The Manleys announced that they would like that,
] Lighting, a lamp, KcVeigh made the Creeks a bed, and they laid dcm
Af‘ber the Indians had retired, McVeigh went back to bed. Since one of
Hra. HcVeigh's, 18-month-old-twins was 111, she was up with the child
off and on most of the night.

Mrs., McVeigh, along toward morning, awoke her husband and told him
to get up and take care of the baby while she got dressed, McVeigh pulled
on his clothes, 1it the lamp, and sat down by the fire with the baby,

Bill Barmnett, the McVeigh's hired hand, was sleeping in another bed
in the same room., The pallet on which the two redmen rested was before
the fire. While McVeigh was rocking the infant, the Manley brothers got
up and stood next to the fireplace. They laughed and talked to each other
in Creek., Neither the McVeighs nor Barnett knew what they were saying,
All this time, McVeigh continued to rock the sick child; Mrs, McVeigh
end the other baty and Barnett remained in their beds.

Finally, one of the Creeks stepped out of doors, returning he asked
McVeigh for tobacco, After handing the Indian some, McVeigh took his
pipe off the mantel and started smoking, The two Creeks stood in front
of the fire smoking for a few minutes, Suddenly, they wheeled about., As
they did, they held zun<one.asix-shooter and the other a pocket pistol)
in their hands and fired at Mr. McVeigh. As they shot, McVeigh sprang to
his feet and fell. As he did, he threw the child to one side and shouted,
"0, Lord!®

Bill Barnett jumped out of bed » 88 the Indians tumed their guns on
him. One of the balls grazed Earnett's shoulder, At the same time, Mrs.
McVeigh scrambled out of her bed. She was shot at and missed. Barnett
grabbed the smailer of the brothers and sought to wrestle him to the {round.
The other Creek raced outside and returned with an ax. He struck Bamett
on the head with the weapon, Bamett fell to the floor. His assailant
struck him a second time on the head with the ax, The next time the ax
fell, thc Creek miased his wmark and chopped off Barnett's left hand at -

2 wﬁc Bamett was struggling with the brothers, Mrs, McVeigh watchcll
vith her two infants in her amms. The larger Manley struck at her three '
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. times with the ax but missed, as Mrs. McVeigh leaped onto the bed with her
babies._ At this moment, the family dog dashed into the house. 'rurnixg wimeEr O

' e childran. Taking the ax with them, the two Creeks ran out tl;w,
N Hra. icVeigh rushed to her husband and saw that he was dead. Satisﬁod G
t.hat Barnett had been killed, she crept to the door and saw the killers
standing near the wood lot reloading their pistols. Taking her children
with her, Mrs. McVeigh ran for Dr. Temnent's house a quarter mile away.
She was barefooted and clad in her nightclothes. Shortly after she had
reached Tennent's, Barnett staggered in the door. He was terribly weak
from loss of blood. Barnett remarked that the first he had known of the
loss of his hand was when he recovered consciousness, reached for his
Winchester, and his bloody stump came into contact with the weapon.

¥hen she returned and examined her husband's body, Mrs. McVeigh found
that he had been shot in the forehsad and the stomach.

The Manley brothers were arrested within the week at their parents?

‘ hame by Hence Posey and Captain Berryhill. Taken to the Eufaulas Hotel,
Mrs. McVeigh identified Amos and Abner as the men who had murdered her
husband.

The case was given to the jury on Saturday, May 7. Two days later,
the foreman reported that the jurors had been unable tc reach a verdict.
According to the reports reaching the spectators, the Jury had stood 11
to 1 for conviction. Judge Parker lost no time in scheduling a retrial.

It was slated to begin on May 25. The Manleys' lawyers (Marcum, Buckley,
Casey, and Boyd) resorted to the "most ingenious legal efforts" to
establish an alibi for their clients. Two women and six or seven men,
all Indians, were called on to sustain a story that the brothers were
somewhere else on the night of the murder. But their alibi was shattered,
when District Attorney Clayton and his clever assistant Grace compelled the
witnesses for the defense to contradict one another.

the second trial closed on Fridw, June 3. This time,

3 MLl
% ez -_-.'

. &61 ?ntriék McGowan for the murder of Samuel Latta was in progress. Dur&n‘ ::x@ ;
. the week, Arena Howe had been allowed to change her plea to manslaughter. ;
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She was sentenced to IQ years at the Detroit Home of Correction and fined
$200, - 18 o
_'; ‘ ;_;‘_m. McGowan hed been bom in Ireland in 1846. His father died, and
the mother with her three sons and four dsughters emigrated to the Unitod:.:"-
States. Mrs. McGowan and her brood settled at Burlington, New Jersey.

In 1858, Patrick left home. He went to Philadelphia, where he secured
employment as a clerk. Four years later, McCowan moved west to l1llinois
and enlisted in the 12th Illinois Cavalry. Before being mustered out in
1865, Patrick h&d become a sergeant., Following the war, he went to Texas,
where he stayed for two years before returning to Illinois. 1870 found
McGowan living in the Chickasaw Nation. Soon thereafter, he married Mary
Boutwell and took up farming.

Believing himself secure under Carl Schurz's orders "protecting famm
laborers," McGowan cultivated a small tract in partnership with Sam Latta.

A violent quarrel on May 2, 1880, dissclved the partnership. On the evening
of July 13, latta was visiting at Boutwell's, where his widowed sister and
her child were boarding. After supper, Latta went out onto the gallery.
Lighting his pipe he started to romp with his little :niece. Feeling the

call of nature, Latta excused himself and walked out into the peach orchard
to relieve himself. As he sauntered back toward the house, there was a roar
of a shotgun. A charge of buckshot struck Latta in the right side. Throwing
up his arms, he screamed, and fell tothe ground.

The blast startled Latta's sister who was in the house washing the
supper dishes. She dashed outside to where Sam lay dying., As she did, she
saw Pat McGowan running off in the opposite direction, Assisted by another
woman, she carried Sam into the house, and then went for help. On the way
back, she encountered Pat, who told her that he had killed Sam.

On the day before the shcoting, a man named Hunter, who believed he had
been insulted by Lstta, had ridden over to McGowan's, He was sald to have
nrged Pat to get rid of Latta, The day following the murder, Pat stopped
M’. Alemder Poff's cabin, V¥hile there, he told Poff that he had shot: thtl.

. Y ‘the trial which began on May 12, McGowan was defended by the Bnmu
Srothdre, Jdo K, and T. H., and William Msllette. They argued that t.heir
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client had acted in self-defense. Latta having threatened McGowan's life
on aevaral occasicns, When the case was given to the Jury on the l7th, B
@ Jurors were out only a short time before reaching a verdict of guilhi;_;;?;'
: _On Thursday, June 16, Judge Parker "slated out the terrible future "= -
to five unhappy men, who gazed with craned necks and eager half-dispairing
eyes." George W. Padgett, William EBrown, Patrick McCowan, Amos and Abner
Manley were sentenced by the Judge to be hanged on Friday, September 9, 1881,
between the hours of 9 a.m, and 5 p.m,
Padgett took the news with "great firmness." The Manley brothers
were stolid and indifferent, McGowan was nervous and excited, while Brown
was “heartbroken," 20
; In May 1880 Charley Bowlegs, Tul-wa-har-jo and three other Seminoles
T forded the Canadian River from their nation and crossed into the Chickasaw
Nation. The Indians told several people who questioned them that they
: were looking for stray cattle. Bowlegs and his companions had a grudge
against Scott Lavis and Bateman, who lived just over the line from
. their Nation, During the night, the redmen posted themselves on a sand bar
- from where they could see the cabin in which Davis and Bateman lived,
Shortly after daybreak, they sighted Davis and a second white man,
Thomas Factor, riding toward them, Bowlegs and his party took cover in
8 ravine, which commanded the trail traversed by Davis and Factor. The
unsuspecting whites rode into the.asbush, Factor in the lead, As soon as
Davis came within range, Bowlegs sihivuted, "Fire!"™ Shots rang out, and
Davis fell from his mount. He was still breathing as the Indians dashed
up. One of the attackers placed the muzzle of his rifle to the head of
the prostrate man and blew out his brains,
After telling Factor to "go on home," the assassins hid the body in
a nearby hollow tree. They then pushed on several miles. Bateman was
sighted plowing a field, Hotioning for his confederates to be quiet,
Bowlegs and his four companions dismounted. They crept to within a short
distance of where the unsuspecting Batemsn was working. Once again, Bovlcgl
gavo the order to fire. His companions refused » Whispering, "We killed cnc;
you K1l thie one,® Bowlegs accordingly crawled up to the fence, Bringing
. his Henry to his shoulder, Bowlegs shot Bateman through the body,
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Subsequently, Bowlegs committed suicide, while cne of his confederates
uas killed in a brawl. Only one of the group, Tul-wa-har-jo, was taken {nte: ™%
pustodys .- At his trial during the last week of June 1881, Tul-va-har—jé’:
% adm“lt_.ted‘ firing cne shot at Davis. He, however, swore that he didn'tzm‘
thathowless planned murder, when he crossed the Canadian. According to
Tul-wa~-har-jo he had gone with Bowlegs to serve as interpreter, since he
supposed t.hey were looking for strays. Tul-wa-har-jo swore that he wasn't
present when Bateman was slain.

The jury returned a verdict of guilty, and Parker sentenced the Indisn
to death.

Factor was arrested and brought to trial at Fort Smith at the same
time as Tul-wa-har-jo. He was charges with conspiring with Bowlegs to lesd
Davis into the ambush, Evidence was produced by his attomeys to cause doubt
in the jurors' minds, and he was acquitted. 21

Although the May term of court had ended, there continued to be plenty
of activity around the U. S, Courthcuse. OCn Friday, July !, United States
Collector of Revenue A. S. Fowler encountered Marshal [ell near the Carrison.
Fowler was hot under the collar over some remarks published in Dell's paper,
the New Era, regarding his official ccnduct. (Calling Dell to account, Fowler
beat him unmercifully and left him unconscious, 22

Marshal Dell filed charges against Fowler., When the case was tried in
city court, Mayor Brizzclara fined Fowler $50 and costs. 23

Immediately after the trial, Marshal Dell, two deputy marshals, and
one guard left for Detroit with five convicts. The "worst character" of
the group making the trip was Joe Miller, aliss Dutch Henry. As his name
indicated, Henry was of German parentage, though in complexion and physical

features he resembled an Indian. Henry had been c onvicted of horsestealing

and ;iven a year. This was his third trip to the Detroit House of Cgrrection.
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Star Erown, a Delaware Indian, had been sentenced to serve two years
5£o§r1n§xpducing and selling whiskey in the Kation. Several of his best

et Aﬁwellins afire. A woman had been trapped in the cabin and had bnrn-i; :
to death. The three other prisoners, all whites, had drawn terms for aelling;;
whiskey and assault with intent to kill. <2k

The body of a white man on July 8 was found 18 miles south of Stonewall
on the Okmulgee road. knen Deputy Marshal John H. Berry examined the remains,
he found that the deceased had been shot in the back of the head. The motive
was robbery since the pockets had been turned inside out. In the dead man's
carpetbag with his clothing were found four pictures, several receipts for
"Cockran's Furniture Polish" and a letter addressed to "E. . Cockran, Eureka
Springs, Ark.® fram "J. J. Chambers, Wellsville, Franklin County, Kansas."

The unfortunate man was supposed to have been traveling to Texas. Though
he didn't have much to work on, Marshal Berry hoped to establish the identity
of the deceased and apprehend his killer. Lerry accordingly asked all the
newspapers in Arkansas, Kansas, and Missouri to carry a story on the finding
of the body and the documents found thereon. 25 _

A reporter from the Llevator decided to interview the six prisoners in- the
U. 5. Jail awaiting the hangman's noose. After procuring a pass from the Jeiler,
the repcerter was escorted into the basement of the old "Soldiers' Cuarters.®
The three white men were in Cell Ko. 1; the three Indians were lodged in
Cell Ne. 2. Go far as the correspondent could observe, they were all confident
that their sentences would be commuted. 26

Deputy Marshal lLayman and & three-man posse brought in Frank kocco on
Thursday, July 28. Roccc was one of the kingpins of the illegal whiskey trade
in the Indisan Territory. The bootlegger had engaged in freguent brushes ﬁith
the law. On one occasion, he had been captured, and had given bond for his
appearance in the Court for the Western District. Learning that he would draw
& two year sentence, Kocco disappeared. He next appeared at the home of !homas
a. 1hcmaa, his bondsman. To cover Thomas' loss, Roeco gave him $600 :

ionﬂ ct wood. Shortly thereafter, the man who was supposed to be uatch1n§ s
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Rocco stepped outside to get an armful of kindling. Rocco, seeing his chance,
picked up & shotgun and leaped on a horse sideways, his feet being shagkleds...;
tﬁz;rgggzo where the guard was cutting wood. Ccvering the man with the, sk
ofco Pelieved him of the keys to the shackles and $60, i
thm he again picked up Rocco's trail in July, Layman pressed tho. ¢
hard, After four days, the lawmman leamed that the whiskey peddler was holed
up near Eufaula at the home of Jennings, Layman, on reaching Jennings', found
that Rocco had gone to the creek to bathe. The posse tock cover in the
house snd awaited his retum. In a short time, Rocco rode up to the gate and
alighted. As he was tying his horse to the hitching post, Layman walked up,
pistol drawn, and commanded the bootlegger to surrender. Roecco's hand shot
toward his holster. The revolver misfired, thus saving the lawman's life.
Shaking his head in disbelief, Rocco dived for cover behind a tree, as layman's
posse charged out of the house. Shots were exchanged. Rocco, concluding
that he was badly outnumbered, left the shelter of the tree and made for the
prairie, turning and firing as he ran. The posse continued shooting. Four
. bullets struck the fugitive; he fell to the ground. Fthen they examined Rocco,
the posse found that while the wounds were painful, they weren't dangerous.

Four days after Rocco was lodged in the U. S. Jail, Dr., Bennett cut &
ball cut of the prisoner's neck. Though it was a very painful operation, Kocco
didn't flinch or change the expression on his face, Brought before Judge Parker
on August 3, Rocco pled guilty to five indictments for introducing whiskey.
Parker sentenced him to one year in prison on each charge. 27

#* 5 ®

One man was convicted of a capital offense at the August term of court.
In the summer of 1879, Se-quah-nee, a full-blood Sac and Fox, accepted an
invitation to a green comn dance., He was a powerfully built, handscme Indian.
Unlike the members of the Five Civilized Nations, Se-quah-nee dressed like his
fathers, hickory shirt, blue blanket, fringed legsins, and beaded moccasins.
Sesquah-nee had a daughter, Wah-su-quah. She had gone to the white man's

Saga0 b

. %” &'. , f’or a number of years, the Sac and Fox and the Fawnees had bO.':, ‘

goed“ioﬁu; both tribes looked forward to the occasion, There were t}ﬂ Aokt
days of feasting, races, and dancing — a typical Indian celebratioen,
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kith "jolllficatlan" over, Se-quah-nee and the other members of his tribe
startod aouth to their homes, On the first night out from the Pawnee villago,
they had Just pitched camp, when a nondescript white man, who was walking icroan
tho Prairie, came up. He told the Indians that he was hungry and asked[for
food, ELE

After he had eaten, he resumed his journey. Se-quah-nee waited about
an hour and started in pursuit. He soon overtook and began to stalk the
unsuspecting traveler.

Aleng toward morning, Se-quah-nee returmed to camp and proudly
displayed the white man's scalp. The other Indians rejoiced over the trophy,
and pledged each other to secrecy.

Se-quah-nee back at his village showed the scalp to his squaw and
daughter. Wsh-su-quah told her father it was wrong to kill, Se-quah-nee
explained that the man he had slain was a horsethief. Killing a horsethief,
he said, was Justified. ' .

wah-su-quah brooded over what she learmed. She deciied to report what
had happened to the 3ac and Fox agent. After listening to what the girl
had to say, the agent gravely announced,he would have to make a report to
the authoritics of what had happened. When notified of the killing, Marshal
Dell sent two deputies to Se-guah-nee's village. They arrested the Indien
and took him to Fort 3mith.

Prior to the trial, wWah-su-quah traveled to Fort Smith. She arrived
in her picturesque garb--a rather pretty girl in a rough and rugged white man's
court.

when Se-quah-nee was placed on the stand, Prosecutor Clayton and the
defense attorneys had to direct their questions through an interpreter. The
jury on August 9 brought in a verdict of guilty. Eleven days later, the
Indian was brought before Judge Parker to learn his fate. Lefore pronouncing
sentence, Parker asked Se-quah-nee if he had anything to say. The Sac and
Fox replied, #] want to tell the truth; I did not kill the man I am accused
ot killing it was an Indian I killed; he stole my horse." E gF'

' Llsked if he believed in a hereafter or Divine being, Se-quah-nee ansuur.d,
andians never hear about such things. I no believe anything only ther‘ be
God someplace,” 28 A
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killiax Mckinney was scquitted of the charge of murder by the Juty on
August 23! In January 1881 a white whiskey peddler, Jeseph Kewscm, rod‘
1nto l&small Chickasaw village, about 35 miles north of Red Fiver, Tvo.

Hewsom end his two confederates got into a dispute, During the melee, K
Newsor was mortally wounded., McKinney, who was a bystander, and.Taylor were \\
taken into custody and brought to Fort Smith for triel. Taylor turned state's
evidence ageinst McKinney and was released. The acquittal of McKinney and the
failure to cepture Fa}ro "left the guilty party scot-free," the editor of the
Elevetor complained. 29

Marshal Dell determined tc put the *zovernment employees about the
Garrison and U, S. Marshal's office into uniform." This was carried out
at the end of August. The uniforms were “neat but not gaudy." Those of
the marshal, the chief deputies, and Jailer Ayres were "a suit of navy blue;
a sack coat, not overly embellished with brass buttons; a single strip of
gold cord down the pants, a regular army hat, with a gold cord and tassel,
ormanented in front by a tasty shield, enclosed by a wreath of braid work,
in the center of which in raised letters, 1s the official position of the
wearer." The guards! uniforms were of the same material and style as the
deputy marshals -- the only difference being & plain blue strip running down
the pants. The "bad e on the dashing" locking hat told the visitor that he
was gazing upon a "Guard U. S, Jail,® 30

A repoyter from the Elevator visited the U, 5. Jeil on September 7.
He discovered that preparations for the impending hanging had been completed.
The scaffold h:id been erected in an enclosure in the southwest eorner of the
wall surrounding the Garrison. The area was very small, the correspondent
observed, and wouldn't admit more than 50 witnesses, He pronounced the
surroundings anything but inviting:

The scaffold stands eight feet above the ground. A stairway

of 12 steps, 3 feet six inches in width, leads up the platform, which
is 14x15. The trap is twelve feet long by three wide, and is so . ..
.Aarranged as to give way in the center when sprung, each half being . .
e - hingee. The cross beam over head is seven feet two inches above
‘the platform, and is of heavy timber. The ropes are sc arranged l .
fto give about six feet drop. # deep trench had been dug directly ™ - },X
": yunder the trap, so as to prevent the feet of the condemned men from™

striking the ground. Every attention has been given and great care
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- 1s being taken to prevent any botch work. The witnesses will be
ébiLimited to about forty. None other than members of the press, the':

‘walls surrounding the Garrison, and will have positive orders tp
" shoot any person or persons who may attempt to enter the gates 2 i e
~scale the walls or steps.

When he spoke with the condemned felons, the newspaperman found that
they were very bitter against Attorney General kayne MacVeagh. ¥hat made
it so galling was the thought that with President James Garfield incapacited
by an assassin's bullet, they had been unable to appeal for executive
clemency. Padgett and McGowan were especially bitter at not being granted
& "respite" until the President could have recovered sufficiently to have
studies their cases., The HManley brothers were closeted with their aunt.

She planned to remain at Fort Smith till after the execution and take
their bodies home to the Creek Nation for interment. Their appearance
showed that they had been weeping. 3!

The doomed men retired at the regulation hour -~ 8 o'clock on
Thursday, September 8. Amos and Abner Manley dropped off to sleep immediately,
Brown, Padgett, and McGowan remained awake until after 11 p.m. All awoke
early, and were up by 6 a.m. Each man dressed himself in & neat black suit
ard cloth shoes provided by Marshal Dell. After eating a hearty breakfast,

the men smoked cigars.

A rumor reached the reporter for the Elevator that the Manleys had
finally confessed to killing McVeigh. ln cowmpany with the Keverend Jeffett,
the correspondent visited their cell. While acknowledging the crime, they
refused to give any details.

At 9:45 a detachment of the Frontier Guards commanded by Captain P. T.
Devany marched into the Garrison. Devany detailed some of his men to guard
the walls; the remainder were to help the guards escort the prisoners.

Jaller Ayres entered the box in front of Cell No. 2 at 9:50 and called for
Brown, HcGouan, and Padgett, who responded promptly. After shaking hands 3@&h

’thqdr.f‘llow prisoners, they entered the box. All looked pale, and thqy::‘ L
Ly ;amximsly about. At an order from Ayres, they held out their' :
'tn&‘vcrcAhandcuffod. The trio, one at a time, passed out into the halluay,
uhich cxtended across the front of their cells, Two deputy marshals teok
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charge of each man as he emerged, They stood in the open court several
minutes; while the jailer went to get the Manleys. e
The party started for the enclosure in which the scaffold atood.;;él
the door clanged shut, the reporter locked at his watch: it was 9:56, -
condemned, a deputy marshsl on each side, marched in the following order:
Padgett, Erown, McGowan, Amos and Abner Manley. A detachment of Frontier
Guards brought up the rear. All the doomed men were hatless. When about
one-third of the way across the parade ground, Brown fainted. A halt was
called while he was doused with ice water. As he staggered to his feet,
brown remarked, "I have been very sick for some time past and am feeling

very weak,"

The march was resumed, and the enclosure reached without further
incident . Entering the gate, each of the felons glanced at the ugly-looking
frame work from which they were to leap into etemity." Ascending the steps
of the gallows, the condemned sat on a bench beneath an awning which shielded
them from the boiling sun, Chief Deputy Marshal Huffington read the death
warrants in a clear distinct voice, Huffington had finished at 10:08, As
he ceased, Reverend Jeffett announced, "Let us pray.* Those upon the scaffold
knelt; those in the enclosure below uncovered. A murmur was noticeable from
the end of the platform where McGowan knelt and confessed to Father Smythe,

At the conclusion of the prayer, the men took their places on the trap, all
faced north; Padgett on the right, McGowan, Lrown, Amos and Abner Manley in
that order to his left., When asked if they had anything to say, Padgett
spoke first. He claimed that his killing of Stevens was in self-defense, but
bid goodbye to all and hoped to meet them in heaven. i{cGowan remarked that
his shooting of Latta was justified, while he spoke with emotion of the wife
and children he wculd be leaving "to the mercy of the four winds,"

"] die an innocent man," he'remarked, fbut bid you all farewell,®

Brown stated that "he would rather have died than tc have killed the
one he did, for he [fTaQ§7 was his friend."”

*] feel that 1 will meet you all in glory. I am ready and willing to go,'
Brows excladmed,

“Amos and Abner Manley admitted they had killed McVeigh, but observ!d that
he h.d "threatened their life, and the witnesses had sworn falsely against them,"
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The black caps were placed over the men's heads. At 10:30 the nooses
were adjusted and the scaffold cleared. Padgett didn't want the cap on. .
HcGowau's last words while waiting for the trap to be sprung were, "As m
drop out of the world together, let us hope we mey meet in the next,.®
At 10:32 the rope was cut. The trap fell, and the five men plunged into
"etemity." They dropped about six foet. McGowan, Padgett, and Erown were
dead in about six minutes; the two Indians “"died hard and struggled for some ~
time, dblood running from the mouth of one and over his clothing.®" After
hanging 22 minutes, the bodies were cut down and placed in coffins. Padgett's
was taken away by relatives, and the others were buried on the reserve back
of the National Cemetery.
The group of onlookers dispersed; the Frcntier Guards marched back
to their Ammory. Within ten minutes, no one would have known that there
had been a hanging within miles of the Carrison, 32
On September 19, a pall of gloom was cast over Fort Smith by the news
that President Garfield had died. A mass meeting was held at 10 a.m. on
the 23d at the U. S. Courtroom. The entire builcgng was drapped in mourning.
An arch of black extended from the tmerd.can Fla;g. an cach side, directly in
front of the ge! t. A portrait of the martyared President, encircled
with a wreath of evergreens, entwined with trape, adormed the well back of
the épgw The words "Our Martyared President" appeared in black
on the white margin of the pict.u—re. The room was filled to overflowing.
A greal number of pecple occupied the large porticos in front and rear of
the building. ’
7‘_—%&'— Brizzolara called the gathering to order, and stated the object
of the meeting. On his motion, Judge Parker was called to the chair,
Memorial services were conducted, and a resolution drafted expressing the
community and the court's grief. 33
Four days before his scheduled date with the noose, Se~guah-nee éni6 i
October 10 told Interpreter Harris of & dream he had had., He had dreamt
that he would “see the com grow again, sprout from the kernel, tassel out.,
and yleld its fruitage of yellow ears and the dream whispered hope to hh :
uddoned heart, and told him he would escape the death by hanging.® :
77 Always sincere and understanding of the Indian trying to comprchmd
the ways of the white man, Judge Parker had been touched by this case, )
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He and Distriect Attormey Clayton accordingly addressed a petition to
President Chester Arthur asking for a camutation of the death sentence,
"; The day before Se-quah-nee was to be executed, a telegram signed hy
the chief executive was handed to Marshal Dell., The President had aeen
f£it to change the sentence from death to life imprisonment in the Detroit
House of Correction. Se-quah-nee, on being told of his good fortune, grunted,
"mighty glad.m 3k

Tul-wa-har-jo was also saved from the gallows., On the application of his

attomeys, a new trial was granted. This time, the Seminole was discharged. 35

Several days before the two Indians had escaped the gallows, & correspandent

for the Elevator visited the U, S, Jail., He was surprised to discover the
prisoners in both cells holding a moot court. A priscner had been caught
stealing, Inmates were detailed as judge, lawyers, jury, and witnesses;
After the examination of the witnesses, the judge gave the case to the jury
"in a dignified manner that brought our hat off as we recognized the embryo
judical tone of authority.* Within a matter of moments, the jurors returned
a verdict of guilty. "We understood the reason for the speedy sentence when

the guards informed us that the penalty was sweeping and cleaning up the cell,"

The deputy marshals continued to bring in men accused of crimes as fast
as the court cculd dispose of their cases.,

DeLaughlin lived in the Choctaw Nation, Jjust across the border from
Rocky Comfort, Arkansas. Crossing the line, he broke into and looted
Je Te ¥right's store at Cerro Gordo in Little River county. Goods to the
value of 600 to 700 dollars were stolen., Suspicion immediately focused on
Delaughlin, because of his reputation as a burgler and horsethief. Wright
set out in pursuit, and overtook his man near Hot Springs. When apprehended,
DeLlaughlin was clad in a suit stolen from VWright's store, Delaughlin readily
confessed his guilt and promised to make restitution, Searching DelLaughlin's
cabin, Wright recovered most of his property.,

Wright took the thief before U, S, commissioner Jerry T. Cotton of
Rncky Comfort; Delaughlin pled guilty as charged, After recovering the rest
of the goods, a member of Deputy Marshal James G. Farr's posse, McAshworth,
took DeLaughlin to Farr's cabin in the Choctaw Nation, Before the marshal
retumed, five men (J. T. and J. B, Wright, ¥. B, Roberts, ¥kiley McElroy, end
James Collier) showed up at the cabin about midnight,
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Demanding DeLaughlin, they took him outside and hanged him to the nearest
tree. Upon his retum, Marshal Farr was told what had happened, The lawman .
lost 0o time in taking the five vigilantees into custody. Farr and hig
priaoners reached Fort Smith on the evening of November 3. 37
Deputy Marshal Addison Beck and his posse had ridden sfter the notorious B
bootlegger Dr. Odum, Beck was informed that his man was traveling through
the Cherokee Nation disguised as a race horse owner. Just south of Coffeeville,
Beck and his men sighted the suspect. He was driving a wagon. Recognizing
Beck, Dr. Odum reached for his revolver. Beck beat him to the draw, shooting
the whiskey peddler through the shoulder. Odum threw down his gun and
surrendered. As socn as the doctor recovered sufficiently to travel, Beck
took him to Fort Smith and lodged him in the U, 5. Jail., 38
Whiskey flowed freely at Eufaula on Christmas Eve. A young Creek named
Grayson and Weir, a white man, had words. Both drew their pistols and started
shooting. Grayson was struck by two balls and killed., Ross, a bystander, had
taken to his heels st the first shot., PE:lieving that Ross was involved in the
fracus, Zeno Johnson, a member of the Creek Light Horse, shouted, "Halt!"®
Ross failed to obey the officer’s command. Thinking that Ross had been a
party to the Grayson killing, Johnson shot and killed him, In the excitement,
Weir made his get away. Thirty-six hours later, Veir's body, a bullet hole
in the head, was found two miles from Eufaula. Three men were dead. The
only man involved still alive was Johnson. Taken before the U, S, commissioner,
Johnson was cleared of the manslaughter charge, 39
Meanwhile, the November term of Judge Parker's Court had convened, A§;>
this session of the Court for the Westem District, there were no convictians
for capital crimes. Robert Sullivan was tried on Monday, November 28, for
the murder of a three-year-old-child which he and his wife had adopted.
Sullivan was escorted into the courtroom by Jailer Ayres. The jury was
called and swormn. Through his attorney, Sullivan pled guilty to a charge
of manslaughter. District Attomey Clayton was agreeable, and made his
address to the jury. Returning, the jury was ocut only a moment. Except for .
thc pnesing of sentence by Judge Parker, all was over in 16 minutes, &

One norning the child started to ecry. Sullivan shouted for the child to
shut up, or "he would kill it if it didn't.n
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The crying continued. Whereupon, Sullivan seized a "big whip" and beat
the child over the head. Picking the child up he hurled it on the bed, all
the while continuing to beat it, until the helpless 1little thing went intéd
apasma and died. 40

Harshal Lell and four deputy marshals on January 6, 1882, left Fort-Smithu“
for the Detroit House of Correction. GCuarded by the officers of the law were
11 felons, who had been convicted and sentenced to terms of from cne to ten

years at the November session of court, b1

Although Dell did not know it, he was on his way out as marshal.

Judge Parker had been disappointed when President Hayes had named Dell to the
office. At that time, he had described Dell as "ill natured, irascible and
impractical ... 8 friend c¢f bad and reckless men who enly want an opportunity
to filch money from the government." Several months later, he wrote the
President, "If we had the strong arm of an able and honest and effective Marshal
to protect us, we could enforce the law and make its power felt ... In the
interest of justice and right, peace and security, send me a man who can and
will do his duty."

President Hayes failed to respond to Parker's suggestion. Now that
Chester Arthur was President, Farker again went after Dell's scalp. He was
assisted by District Attorney Clayton and the prosecutor's brother, Powell,
Republican boss of Arkansas., 42

Succumbing to pelitical pressure, President Arthur during the last week
of January recommended that Valentine Dell be removed as marshal for the
Western District., The President nominated Thomas Boles in his place. When
the Elevator went to press on February 2, the Senate hadn't confirmed Boles®
appointment. Commenting on the chamie, the editor observed, "Mr. Dell has
filled the office well and we do not see why he should be removed,® &3

The die, however, had been cast, and Dell was dismissed February 20, 18¢2.
Boles, his successor, was a native Arkansan. He had been Judge of the Fifth
Judicial District from 1865 to 1868, served three terms in the U. S. House

of Bepreaentxtlves, and was recelver of the land office at Dardenelle at tha .

~,

limo ot his appcintment.
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LAW ENFORCEMENT AT FOKT SMITH 1871 - 1896
Chapter IX
1882 Sees Only One Hanging at Fort Smith

Judge Parker, when he called the February 1882 term of court to
order on the 6th, found the docket not "quite" as large as usual., At
the moment, there 50 persons in jJail awaiting trial. They were charged: -

Murder 12
Assault with intent to kill

Rape

Larceny i
Violating revenue laws :
Introducing whiskey intc the Indian Territory
Selling liquor to Indians

Perjury

Resisting process

After the grand Jury had been empaneled, Farker delivered one of
his "forceable" charges to the jurors. It was listened to with great
. ifiterest by a "large attendance." The editor of the Kesterm Independent
reported that the courtroom is always packed when "Cld Ironsides" charges
his jurors. !
Thomas Boles reached Fort Smith on the evening of M¥arch 16 and on
the following day he took the marshal's oath of office. Marshal Dell
turned over his keys and badge to Boles on Saturday, the 18th. Boles
made two immediate changes in the. personnel under his supervision —
C. M. Bames was named chief deputy marshal and Charles Burns jailer. 2
George Taylor had married the daughter of "Cld Man" Downing, a
prominent citizen of the Cherokee Nation. At the reception, there was
plenty of whiskey. John Still and Jesse Love got very drunk. There
was a row, which ended in pistecl shots. Still and Love were killed, while
#0ld Man® Downing was mortally wounded. Since Taylor was a white and the
others were Indians, he couldn't be tried in the Cherokee courts, Arrested
in August 1881, Taylor had been lodged in the U. S. Jail. At the trial -«
Ihieh btgm on the last day of February, the prosecution was unable to

»».,.!» §

prove that Taylor had killed anyone, or that he even tock a hand in the :
. ﬁy:t.. -Gonsequently, the jury on March 7 returned a verdict of not guﬂty.‘-“-*’ :

s DWW NO R\
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The next capital offense toc be taken up by the Court for the 4
'hestenn District was the United States vs. Edward Fulsom., Edward uaa?f
1; alightly built Choctaw of good family, His father was Judge Fulaah'
;OIEScullyville. Cn his mother's side he was connected with the McCurte@nl

?ahn Pages, families which had produced many Choctaw leaders. After quitting
school, Fulsom became a drifter and cowboy. Fulsom had served one term in

the penitentiary.,

In February 1881 Fulsom rode into Fort Smith one morning and began
drinking heavily. He scon ran out of money. Undaunted, he sold his mount,
tlong toward evening, Fulsom determined to return to his home. Seeing
that his horse was still tied to an awning post on Garrison Avenue, he
mounted and rode away. The buyer spotted Fulsom as he turned the corner
of bth Street going toward the reservation. He gave chase, Fulscn was
overtaken before he reached the Choctaw line and arrested. The Sebastian
county prosecutor was unable to get a conviction and Fulsom was released.

Shortly after his trial, Fulsom fell in with Hobbs. The two men went
to work for Dock Woods, rounding up wild horses. Fulsom and Hobbs on
August 12, 1881, stopped at the grog shop run by John Stewart on the line
between Scott county and the Choctaw Nation, After filling up on rotgut
whiskey, the two cowboys started playing cards with Stewart. There was a
dispute; Stewart was shot several times, At the trial before Judge Parker,
Fulsom claimed Hobbs fired first, but he admitted under crogs~-examination
by Judge Clayton that he had pumped five shots into Stewart as he lay on
the flocr unarmed and helpless.

William Massengill at this time entered the saloon. He was shot.
While Fulsom finished Stewart off by beating him over the head; Hobbs
lunged for Hassengill,'who was struggling to rise. Taking his pistol,
Hobbs beat the unfortunate man over the head until he was dead.

Emerging from the saloon, Hobbs and Fulsom swung into their saddles.
As they raced away, they let go with wild yells. Five miles from the scene
o‘qfhe nurders, at the home of Jesse i. Wright, they reined up their .t..d.;&f;
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thqy had just killed two men. f%

gfulaom Was hiding out at Waldron, Arkansas. He sent one of his posac,
Yates, 40 make the arrest. Hardly had Yates taken the fugitive inte ™~ ~ *'

and asked for cartridges to reload their pistols. They bragged that_

Three months later, Deputy Marshal Thomas E. Posey learned that f A

custody than he was confronted by a number of Fulsom's kaldron friends.
They compelled the embarrassed posseman to turn his prisoner loose.
When he learned what had happened, Marshal Posey rode into Waldron and
rearrested Fulsom. before his friends could intervene, the lawman on
November 16 had his man locked up in the U. S, Jail. On being informed
of what had happened, the Elevator informed its readers, "Posey has ...
/ Fulson_/ where mobs do not:break in.®

The Fort Smith court lost no time in dealing with Fulsom. He was
convicted of murder on March 11, and the following month Judge Parker
sentenced him to be hanged by the neck until dead. Fulsom's executiocn
was to take place on Friday, June 30. &

(ne week after the February term of court had convened, Deputy Marshal
Beck and his posse reported in at the U. S, Jail from & sweep through the
Cherokee Nation with six priscners. One of these prisoners, Negro
horsethief Lawrence Fisher, had escaped from camp during a blizzard., He
was recaptured the next aay, after a long chase, by six Cherokee who turned
out to assist Beck. Wwhile camped on Wolf Creek, 125 miles from Fort Smith,
the marshal and his party were attacked by unseen raiders. A large number
of shots were exchanged, but no one was hurt. While on this patrol, Beck
and his men surrounded the home of George Parish. Beck had a warrant for
the arrest of Parish and his two sons. The wanted men made a break for
the woods. As they did, the officers opened fire. Since it was very dark,
the Parishes escaped. Subsequently, Beck heard that "Old Man Parish®" had
been shot in the leg as he fled. 5

Deputy Harshal L. W. Marks reached Fort Smith on Sunday, March 19,
;itp tour»prlsoners. One of these was a woman, Polly Ann Reynolds. H;as”’“

b f;lda, an amazon of 280 pounds, was charged with killing another uuinn

ig'iib:';“ her in the side at & New Year's Eve party, near Webbers Palfaf

-
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In view of her size, the editor of the Elevator jested, "May be she puahed
the 51:‘1 over and fell down on her.*® 6 :
;~; ‘.Hardwick, who was lodged in the U, S. Jail accused of robbery, so
to ompo on Saturday night, March 18, He removed a few bricks from oni [

the fireplaces and sought to go up the chimnegr, Hardwick's plan was frustutod
by the guards before he #got a good start up the chimney,® 7

Ex-arshal Dell and three guards left Fort Smith on March 25 for Detroit
with six prisoners. The departure of these felons left 43 priscners in the
U. 5. Jail. Sixteen of these men were serving sentences, cne was "billed”
for Detroit, cne (Fulsom) was convicted of murder, and eight were county
prisoners. Among the men awaiting trial were ¥Wright and his four
confederates charged with taking DeLaughlin from a member of Deputy
Marshal Farr's posse and hanging him, Already, this case had been continued
for two terms. On Thursday the attomeys for the defense had asked the
court to subpoena 22 witnesses. Parker had granted their request and
scheduled the case to be tried on May 22. 8

(n June 1! hard-riding &ddison leck ané his posse case in from the
Cherokee Nation. Beck turned over to Jailer Burns six prisoners, four of
whom were accused of whiskey violations, while the others were murder suspects,
Negro Aaron Cobler was charged with killing a man named Batey in the Creek
Hation, threc years before; Tee-o-lit-sa was accused of murdering Cockran
and introducing liquor into the Indian Territory. 9

Ed Fulsom on ¥Friday, June 30, was to be hanged for killing Stewart and
Msssengill, The execution would be witnessed by about 20 persens. At
1l a.m. the mournful procession left the jail for the scaffold. Fulsom
was accompenied by the jJailer, his guards, and Reverend J. L. Eerne of the
Episcopal Church, The condemned had been baptired about two months before,
Even before that time, he had been receiving the “unremitting® care of his
kim!ly spiritual adviser,

" on the way to the gallows, the Hisere de Profoundie and other penitential
palml of the church were read. After mounting the scaffold, Fulsom kndt ez
with ﬂ;o dniltcr, made the sign of the cross, and responded to the "Litaay &Y :
of thc 301, Name of Jesus.® The doomed man was calm and "showed" no -m ]
of fear. “Ne was asked if he had anything to say. '

"No," he replied.
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The rope was adjusted, the black cap placed, and at 1ig!7 the trap
sprung. - There was no struggle, not even a muscular centortion. His hands’: "7
and !_'eet were motionless, as he was allowed to hang like a "statue” for 65“
minuf.es, as the pulse grew wesker. ¥V¥hen the body was taken down and pld
in the coffin, Reverend Berne read the funeral service, 10 IRy

As the deputy marshals pressed théir drive against crime in the district,
the mumber of persons confined in the U, S. Jail increased. On July 13
Jaller Burns reported 92 priscners. £ number of these succeeded in getting
released on bond; several who were "serving sentences were discharged" at
the expiration of their terms. Vkhen Burmms made his report on July 27, there

were 81 prisoners, 15 of whom were charged with murder, while ten were

serving sentences in the U. S. Jail, !

When Judge Parker called the August term of court for the Western
District to order on August 7, the attendance was "very large.® On the
same day, the grand ‘.. and petit jurors were empaneled and charged by
Judge Parker. Through Thursday afternoon (the 10th) over 40O witnesses
had reported at the clerk's desk. At the time that the court opened, the
docket contained &3 cases, the parties to which were c onfined in the

U. S, Jail:
Hurder 17
Arson FA
kape 1
Assault with intent to kill 11
Perjury 1
Robying U, S. Mail 4
Retaining pension money 1
Intreducing whiskey into the Territory 13
lLarceny 30
Passing counterfeit maney 1

In addition,there were about 30U cases pending, the parties to which had

posted bail, 12
while some men spent months in jail awaiting trial, others received

prompt action in Parker's Court.
£ ax Saturda.y night, August 5, Ed Peuterbaugh and Lee Hardin stole

SQuIlyvillo They also carried off two saddles and bridles belonging
to c..pt.ain Minehart, The captain and one of his employees started in
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pursult the next morming. Striking the culprits' trail, they pushed on
rapidly, and overtook the two horsethieves near Green HcCurtain's place;’ .-
The men had ‘abandoned the horses and had struck out afoot into the mountainl &
When he reached Fort Smith, Minehart turned over Peuterbaugh and Hardin, i
along with a third man who was also wanted for dealing in other people'a S
stcck, to Jailer Bums, \\
The editor of the Elevator warmed his subscribers on August 11,
"vhen Minehart goes hunting and strikes a warm trail he seldom fails to
bring in the game, and he deserves credit for promptness 1n bringing
these men to justice and safely lodging them in Jail,.®
Peuterbaugh and Hardin pled guilty on three different charges., They were
sentenced during the third week of August by Judge Parker.
Unlike Peuterbaugh and Hardin, J. T. ¥right, Wiley McEquy,‘B. Wright,
W. W. Roberts, and James Collier had been locked up in the U. S. Jeil for
a year before their trial for killing Delaughlin took place. The case was
called up on August 24. The defendants were represented by J. K. and Thomas
Barnes, W. MJMallétte, and Judge Steel of Sevier county. Judge Clayton
conducted the prosecution, A large number of witnesses were paraded to the
stand by the defense attorneys. On the second day of the trial, three of the
defendants (B. Wright, Dr. Roberts, and Collier) were discharged because of
lack of evidence. Judge Clayton pressed hard to obtain a conviction against
J. T. Wright and McElroy, while the defense countered with "lick for lick, and
made equally as vigorous fight, setting up as their defense an alibi in both

cases,"

Prosecutor Clayton closed his arguments to the jury at 6 o'clock on
Monday evening, the 28th. Judge Parker instructed the jurors and they retired,
They were out only 20 minutes when a verdict of acquittal was brought in.
nThe scene of rejoicing in the court room when the verdict was rendered,"
the correspondent for the Elevator reported, "is more than we can describe,..." 14

The Court for the Western District took up the case of Jimmie Jones on
Pridqy, September 1. Jones a well-known government scout stationed at Port
} ,?f, charged with murdering James Davis and Charles Hurd. The decn‘lld
'hld bcln ‘accused of horsestealing in Texas., Jones had arrested them near =
Port Sill. When 3ast seen alive, the two men were in Jones' custody. 7

164




. A day or two later, their bullet-riddled bodies were found 17 miles from
Fort 8il11, hsnging from a tree. Jones, at the trial, swore that he had
tumed Davis and Hurd over to officers from Clay county, Texas, after t-hey .
had produced writs for their delivery. The trial ended in a hung Juxy__én_
had tovbe rescheduled. ‘ }2?_“.

éharles Patton was a 25 year old Negro. On Sunday, May 28, near Atoka
he had attacked 12 year old Dora kright, shortly after she had returned from
Sunday school. The pretty, little Choctaw girl had gone to a spring near
her home, "where it seems the brute was watching for her." Patton approached
Dora from behind, and clamped one hand over her mouth to keep her from
screaming. He had been arrested within 48 hours. His victim identified
him by the brass ring he wore on his wrist and his slouch hat, FPatton's
trial lasted several days. The case wes given to the jury at 6 p.m. on
Tuesday, September 19; a verdict of guilty was returned at 10 a.m. the
next moming. 16

¥hile the court was struggling to pare down its August docket, the

‘ deputy marshals were continually bringing in new business.

Deputy Marshal Beck rode into Fort Smith on September 3 with four
prisoners, all charged with introducing and selling whiskey in the Indian
Territory. One of the men, Ben Bowlegs, had been taken into custody at
winfield, Kansas, with Dick Glass, who was wanted by the Farker: : Court for
murder and horsestealing. Beck had gone to Kansas to claim both men, but as
the Cherokee authorities had offered a reward of $750 for Glass, the Kansans
wouldn't release him, To keep from being turned over to the Cherokees, Glass
had pled guilty to a chargé of horse theft in Kansas. ‘ccording to the
Elevator, Class was "an Indian-Negro, and cne of the worst men in the Indian
country, being covered with wounds received in fights with the officers of
the law in endeavoring to arrest him." The Kansas lawmen had caught Glass
while he was sitting in a barber chair getting a shave,

At a courthouse 40 miles from MuSkogee, the Creek authorities had 18
pr.i.acners under guard. Beck had warrants for ‘four of them, %Yhen they . ..
learned that Beck was enroute to pick them up, these men broke Jail.' Nino ot
t!n !8 were scheduled to be tried by the Creek authorities for paﬂ.icipaun‘

‘ m SAnds' rebellion. A few days before, 13 others had been tried for the same
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offense._ Convicted, they had been put through a "course'of sprouts,
receiving one hundred lashes each on the naked back.® 17

; 'ueutenant C. W. Taylor of the Gth U. S. Cavalry reached Fort smm
Sy rail on Septexber 20 with an old antagonist of Parker's COurt-~Boomé§‘ -
Payne. Captain Payne was accompanied by 13 of his followers (ten men, “two
women, and a child). Fayne and his fellow Boomers remained in the

lieutenant's custody till noon on the 21st, then Chief Deputy Marshal C. M.
Barnes served papers on those who had been ejected from the unassigned lands
for the second time. They were to be sued by the government for §1,000
damages each. First offenders would not Le prosecuted. After the processing
of the pupers, the lieutenant was relieved of his responsibility and Payne

anc¢ his men given their liberty. A box containing ten rifles and four

pistols taken from Payne's party would be 8old at public auction by Marshal
Boles. According to the Elevator, "The intrepid Captain appears in excellent

health, and take thc matter very easy." 18
Captain rayne addressed a mass meeting on Wednesday niﬁht, Septexber 27,
at the courthouse. while paying proper respect to the U. S. Court, Payne
denounced the army for the way it had treated him. He cited the laws of the
United 5tates to prove that upon his arrest, he should have been conveyed by
the most direct route, and with as little delay as possible, to the nearest
place beyond the boundary of the Indian Territory where he could have been
tried. Instead, the military had detained nim 12 days and then transported
him by a roundabout 1,200 miles to Fort Smith. The army had tried, in vain,
to get him to agree that he wouldn't secure a writ of habeas corpus. At
Henrietta, Texas, Lieutenant Taylor had been served with a writ, but he had
refused toc obey it. Whereupon, a warrant for contempt had been issued by
the county judge of Clay county against the lieutenant. When the sheriff
came toc arrest Taylor, the lieutenant ordered his troopers to load their
pieces. With loaded guns and fixed baycnets, the military drove the civil
officgrg_from the platform of the car. 19
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.- BAYONET RULE!" screamed the Elevator after its editor had heard
of Payne'a treatment at the hands of the arwy,

fam near Vinita., A seccnd man, Willliawm bsilson, found employment on tho
farm in August 1882.

(ne day Sweeney informed an officer ¢f the Missocuri Pacific Railroad
that one cf their trains would be robbed on the night of . Septexber 18,
Sweeney reported that in additioen to hi.mself, the robbers would be Frank
James and Jim Commings. James and Commings were to board the train four
miles south of Vinita; he and a fourth man would get on at Chauteau.

On the night in question, a number of officers boarded the train
at ChQuteau and concealed themselves in the bagzjage car. Sweeney and

kilson were on the platform of the smoker. Vhen Conductor Warren came
through and asked Sweeney and Wilson for their fare, Sweeney drew a
. pistol and *shoved" it under the conductor's nose and ordered him to
throw up his hands, Warren obeyed., OSweeney rifled his pockets, taking
his pistol and some money. When he had finished this task, he wheeled
and shot Wilson through the brain. 4s Wilson fell from the platform, a
small pistol which he had in his hand struck the railing and discharged,
the ball atriking the conductor in the face, inflicting & dangerous wcund.
The train stopped at the place where Jumes and Commings were supposed
to get sboard but nothing happened. When the officers took Sweeney into
custody, he identified his dead companion as Ed Miller, a notorious menmber
of the James gang. Since Miller had been dead more than a year, the lawmen
became suspiciocus. They decided that Sweeney had wanted to get Kilson out
of the way and had concocted the tale about the impending train robbery to
get a chance to kill him, and then claim he was the noted Missouri cutlaw,
for whom there was a big reward, thereby gaining immunity for himself as
Bob Fprd had when he shot Jesse James, e had played his cards badly, ..ws .-
W’ u;d was taken into custody and cscorbod to Fort Smith by capuﬁ’
s‘; mr and Detective Prather of the Missouri Pacific. Sweeney m ey
lodged fn the U. S. Jail charged with the murder of Wilson and the robbery > ..,

£ of the eonductor, 20
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Deputy Marshal Farr, accompanied by & three-man posse ,called at .%&Ek;v B
Shgyneeteun, Choctaw Nation, to arrest Dr. J. S. Lemnox for the murder et v
Tbm Ibﬁhg. Lennox and seven confederates were waiting as the lawmen rod‘
into the village, Without warning, Lennox and his friemds opened fire, ' -
The posse shot back. Two of Lennox's men (Lewis Qastleberry and Joe Hobinson)
were gunned down by the lawmen. Lennox ancd two of his crowd escaped, while
the three others, along with the two wounded men, were disarmed, The wounded
were left at Shawneetown to allow their injuries to heal, while the posse
returned to Fort Smith with their three companions. In the skirmish, &
ball had ripped through Farr's hat, which was as near as any of the
marshal's party came to being hurt. 2!

'R

There were a number of interesting trials at the November 1882 term
of the Court for the Western District. ,

Lee Morrales, a Hexican, had been released after spending a year ‘.-
for larceny in the Detroit House of Correction. Having served his sentence,
Morrales had been given a pass on the railroad to Atoka in the Choctaw
Nation. Morrales caught a train out cf Detroit on Decenber 15, 1881,
Detraining at Atoka, Morrales started for Fort Worth, Texas, Since he had
no money, he traveled afoot. Yorrales stopped at John Jacobs! cabin and
asked for food and lodging. These were cheerfully provided.

Morrales repaid this kindness by stealing a pair of boots and other
articles. Jacobs and a friend pursued Morrales on foot. At Caddo,
dispairing of overtaking the thief, they gave up the chase. Returning to
their homes, they stumbled on Morrales' camp, which they had missed, on
their way to Caddo. Making s citisen's arrest, Jacobs and his friend
started for Atoka with the Mexican. Before going very far, they decided
it was too much trouble, so they killed Morrales and removed the boots
which he had stolen from Jacobs.
k“Afggba body was soon discovered and identified as the man whom Jacobs
14 ging. Jacobs was arrested and taken to Fort Smith. His plrtn‘% 5
gg grinn was never identified or apprehended.
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Hailod befcre the Court for the western District, Jacobs' trizsl began am’)i:
&3: Gaber l&. The jury found the defendant guilty. 22
?_ In tha fall of 1881 two Texans, Robert Msssey and Edward P. 01arke;’

were ret.uming acrose the Indian Territory to their hemes., Nassey had o o
fallen in with Clarke in Kansas, and they had driven cattle as “chums."
They had been to Dakota Territory with a herd of cattle.

Fassing through the Chickasaw Nation, the two men were aeen by a
puzber of settlers. Massey at that time was riding s large brown horse
and Clarke a grey mare. The horse appearsd to be "ridden down,” while the
mare was in good "fix." Clarke had an ivory handled plstol with a large
sE® eut in the handle, and his name diuly engraved on the butt.

The cowboys stopped at a herder's camp. There, they introduced
themselves as Beb burns and Bill Dixon. Before pushing on, Burns told
cne of the herders that he was going under an assumed name because he
had killed a "man up in Dakota" and that Massey was his correct name.
puring the night, "Bumns" and "Dixon" had quarrelle:d over a blanket,.
Threats were voiced. Hext morning, "Burns” told the herders be would
wplow (larke's brains out.” The drovers were lsst seen at a point ten
ailes from where Clarke's body was subsequently found. Massey at that time
was still riding his brown horse and Clarke the grey mare, Hassey was alone
when he reached the hed Lhiver ferry. fThe boatman recalled that he was riding
a grey mare. kKeturning tc Texas, Masssy swepped the mare for another animal.

in the first week of February 1882, Hr. Bean was hunting in the Chickasaw
Netion. Bean saw wolf tracks leading from the bank of & strea: into a
nearby hole, Following the tracks, Bean located a suspicious object
covered with debris. At first, he thouzht it was the carcass of an animal,
Removing the rubbish, Bean sav a human foot and raised the alarm., As
soon as the neighbors had sssuabled, they disinterred the bedy. Upen
cmmination, it was found tnat the deceased had been shot in the back
ct thc bud by a pistol ball, the projectile emerging over the rig_.,ht. m‘
ﬁ; )ﬁy had been stripped except for the trousérs: and & red »
MM sround the neck. About 40 yards from the hole in which the ec&oqj’
had been stuffed was a pile of ashes. usifting the ashes, the men found - e
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four or five %hirt buttons, the remains of & saddle, several copper
tast.enings such as were used on leggings, and some buckles. Boots and a';'épur
?}g@;&: yep subsequently idmtified a8 belonging to Clarke were found g
about t.m feet from the remains of the fire. B
The body was badly decomposed, having been partially devoured by Rt \
animals., Btudying the scene, Bean and his companions decided that the
victim had been killed, while he was sleeping with his head on his saddle.
Before leaving Abilene, Kansas, Clarke had written his parents in
Comanche: county, Texas, that he would be home for Christmas. Christaas
came and there was no sign of the son. About the beginning cf the new
year, the parents becane alarmed. The father had inquiries and
advertisements inserted in several Kansas papers regarding the whereabouts
of his son. Ome of the discoverers of the body read one of these notices
and wrote the elder Clarke. The father at once hastened north, carrying
a photograph of his son.
Reaching the Chickasaw hation, Mr. Clarke satisfied himself that
the body was his son's. Like Tate's father, Clarke went in search of
the killer. He disccovered where XKassey had turned his horse loose, ten
miles from the scene of the crime. He followed Massey and t he grey mare
to Texas, only tc learn that Massey had sold her. #r. Clarke kept after
Massey until he located him about 25 miles from Fort Sill. Haking s
citigen's arrest, Clarke found his son's pistol in the possession of a
man, who edmitted that he had purchased it from Massey,
when the case was tried before Judge Parker in early December, the
defense attorneys (Colonel Craven, T. H., Barnes, and Mellette) argued
that Messey had shot Clarke in self-defense. Taking the stand, Massey
swore that Clarke owed him money. The two men had quurrelled over the
debt; Clarke had shot at him three times but had missed. He had then
killed Clarke and kept the horse for what the victim owed. When asked
b, Px-ouout.or Claytoni¥hy he had not buried the boots, Massey replied
thist fie mist have forgot them in the excitemsat. =
;!i e jury retired late on Saturday evening, the §th, and & nniict; 7
't. peturned till 11 a.m. Monday moming. Before the decision was \\
snnounced, Massey was brought up from his cell., When the verdict of

7
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guilty was declared, he turned very pale. His attorneys esked that the
Jnr: be. polled. After this was done, Jailer Purns slipped a pair of
handcuffa ovar Hessey's wrists and returned himto his cell,

6_' ,_uy'a mother and brother had come up from Texas for the trial. ¢
the "deepeat sympathy® of all who witnessed the proceedings were felt CRHRIE
for the mother whose erring son was “doomed to end a wild career on the
scaffold.®

Commenting on the trial, the editor of the Weekly Independent
informed his readers, "Rotert Massey is twenty six ysars of age, and his
victim was but twenty at the time of his tragic death. The case just decide&
is to be sincerely regretted by all concerned, yet it is seldom that a
murderer ever escapes the vigorous prosecution of Judge Clayton....® 23

Robert Massey's mother left for Denison, Texas, on Decexzber 14, That
morning she visited her scn for the last time. Chief Deputy Marshal Barnes
kindly tendered the mother and son his private office. Since he was
forbidden by regulutions from leaving a condemned man alone, Lames remained
quietly in the office when Massey was brought up from his cell. 2,

Sam Paul and James Koss were well-known members of the Chickasaw
Light Horse. They had arrested a man named Hawkins as a horsethief. While
in custody of the Lizht Horsemen, Hewkins had been killed. The Chickasaw
legislature appropriated $2,000 to be used in defraying the expenses of
the defense. With this money, Paul and Ross hired four prominent Fort |
Smith lawyers, Duval, Cravens, Barmes, and M:llette. Ameng the spectators
&t the trial which bezan on December 14 were Paul's wife. and three little
boys. The Paul-Ross case ended in a hung Jury. When the jurors were polled
4t was found that six were in favor of acquittal, the remainder felt that
the two Indians were guilty of manslaughter., 25

Back in 1876 Slaughter and his wife were living st the home of Windham
down in the Chickesaw Nation. ¥illiam willis one afternoon showed up drunk
at the Windham ranch. He was loud and obnoxious and was heard to swear
mt hc‘vould kill someone before he left,

g

.gf:.'.-,

pyss { .
ﬁnh hd previocusly shot and wounded him, it was believed that he uu_g._
ﬂu one the badman was gunning for. Hardwick accordingly lost no time qey b

leaving.
7
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he 4 {tacked Slaughter with a khife. In self-defense slaughter shot willfs
morhlly wounding him, Slaughter's friends persuadeii him to leave the ?‘;
country to avold being killed by Willis! brothers. Fleeing the Chickasaw
Nation, Slaughter went to Texss, and from there to Memphis, Tennessee, All
this time he traveled open}y and used his name. In the summer of 1882,
Slaughter had settled at Fort Smith. Shortly after his arrival, Slaughter
was recogniged by Hardwick and several other residents of the Chickasaw
Nation and arrested, Slaughter was tried for the murder of Willis during
the third week of January. On Saturday, the 20th, the jury acquitted him
of the charge, 26
T There were so many cases on the docket that the November term of ccurt
all but merged with the February term. dJudge Parker on Thursday, February 1,
had the guards bring the two men convicted of capital crimes at the November
term before the bar. Before passing sentence on Eobert Massey and John
Jacobs, the judge “made a very impressive talk" to the two felons, When
asked if they had anything to say, they replied in the negative, Parker
then sentenced them to be hanged on Friday, April 13, 1ée3, 27

The court lost one of its deputy marshals in December by accident,
On Mcnday evening, December 10, several young men were standing at the
bar in Thomas Rogers' ‘*alcon at the hesd of Garrison Avenue. They were
laughing and talking loudly. Policeman John Keating drew his pistol to
frighten "Dummy," a local mute. As he did, the hammer of his pistol
accidentslly struck a post, causing it to discharge. The ball struck
off-duty Deputy Marshal Ed Burne in the shoulder. The missile glanced
downward through the right lung. Despite the best efforts of Drs. DuVal
and Beiley, young Burns died within 48 hours. Ko one rezretted the death
more than Keating. The two men had been good frienda. Kot desiring to
serve cn the police force any longer, Keating submitted his resignation.,.{?.
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LAY EnFOKCEMENT AT FOLT SITH 1871 - 1896

Chapter X

Congress Reduces the Jurisdiction of Parker's Court

According tc the infermaticn reaching the press, Judge Parker's court,
when it opened for the Eebruary term on the 5th, would be confronted by &
g lighter docket than usual.™ At the moment, there were only 38 men in jail
waiting to be tried. About 15 of the inmates were charged with murder, while
18 were serving sentences, But since several deputy marshals were ocut on

patrol, it was felt that the populatich of the .

Préparatory for influx, the jail was "being rencvsted and whitewashed

from pillow, / g;c_7 to post, and everything is being gotten in readiness
_for the springtround-upl,®

Meanwhile, Marshal Boles and three guards had left for Detroit with
ciéht priscners convicted at the November term, !

Just as the editor of the Elevator had predicted, the number of men
incarcerated in Burns' "boarding house" was increased cn Swiday, the Ath.
Deputy Harshal J. (. Wilkinson's posse reached Fort Smith wﬁ;h eight prisoners.
Wilkinson's team had been out 55 days. During this time, the pcsse had visited
the Sac and Fox Agency, Cantonment Supply, Fort keno, Tulsa, and Vinita. The
weather ocut on the prairie had been bitterly cold, As wilkinson expressed
it, "it must have been 20 or 30 degrees below Cairo." One of the posse,
%illiax Farmmer, had frozen his hands and feet; one prisoner's nose had been
frost bitten. while the party was in camp on Janudry 9, near Cantonment
Supply, one of the horses had frozen to death, 2

The trial which attracted the most attention during the third week of
the February temm was that of Sam and Belle Starr. In April 1882, Belle
and Sam stocle several horses, taking them from the open range near their
Yomger s Bend home. They intended to sell the animzls on the Hcﬁlestcr
iil'kd’..




e Belle on April 20, 1882, told John West, who lived five miles down
theroad,that ghe wanted to "pass some horses,” Would he help her corrit
theap i o »

?f‘-’".ﬂ’d,a?lt‘.v\;greed to help Belle, since he apparently expected to shere ig <7 i’
the profsdds. Then he spotted a large bay horse with & star on iis forchead
and & rope mark on its left foreleg. This animel, as Jomn and Belle knew,
belonged to Andrew Crane, & eripple who lived nearby.
"God damn the horse," snapped Belle, adding that she didn't "want to
steal it.* But steal it she did,
¥hen he learned of vhat had happened, Crane limped over to Younger's
Bend, and had a "right smart® talk with Belle, It was a fine horse, Crane
remarked. Jt was geited and worth all of 385. Crane wanted the horse back,
or else the money. '
»yell," said Belle, Crane was "a poor boy and a crippled boy." She
felt sorry for him. He ought to go get $30 from ¥est, and she would taKe
care of the rest of the amount., But, she warned, Crane had better watch
his step and not talk to any of the Fort Smith deputy marshals.
John west, however, refused to give Crane the $30. ¥hen the cripple
told West of Belle‘'s sugyestion, he cursed and growled that "he'd be damned
4 he would pay for scmething he did not zet, that they had been trying for
some time to get him into something of that kind.*
Crane returned to the Starrs.
nHe ought tc be in hell...,* Lelle roared on hearing what West had
said. "He got forty dollars of the money," she raged.
Sam Starr was even more vague. Sam claimed that while he hadn't
stolen the horse, “he almost knew who tock it but ... he could not swear
to it."
That might bte, complained Crane, but he was out a good horse. Not
that he wanted trouble, he just wanted the money. If he got satisfaction,
ke promieed to leave the ares and go out West "to keep down & fuss.® -
?% mugm., sadd Belle, she would put up $30; that would be bett “ :
than giving it to the "big lawyers® down at Fort Smith, She would go §m . s

+o Nuskogee and would send Andrew Crane the bills in a letter, but he daust
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his f;thor came to his assistance, Belle denounced Crane senior &s a “dix;n ,
old Arkanaaa hoosier" who should have "kept his mouth shut." Crane's 3% :
brother-in-law receivid muich the same treatment when he rode over to Younger's
Bend. {Mrs. Starr came cut with a tirade of abuse and said if. she ever got
but of this she would make it hot for us fellows.")

Finally, somecne took a shot at Andrew Crane. At long last Crane called
in the law, le was joined in his complaint by & Cherckee, Sam Campbell, whose
grey mare had been taken by the Starrs,

varrants were sworn out in July 1882, and the dependable Deputy Karshal
L. W. Marks made the arrests that fall at a iegro's cabin near the Usage line.
Belle and 5am came in without a strugile, hoping they would be released after
& preliminary hearing before the United States commissioner or, failing
that, in open court. while awaiting trial they seciired ‘release ‘on bail,
The 3tarrs also paid for the services of a good law firm, Cravens and Marcum,

The defense attorneys did what they could to win acquittal for their
clients at.- the commissicner's hearing (in Getober 1882) and in a four-day
trial before Judge rarker (February, 1853). They argued citizenship - the
rule that the Court for the kestern Listrict couldn't handle quarrels between
Indians. Eelle was clearly under Farker's juriadiction; despite her "marriage®
to Sam, she was legzally "a white woman and not an Indian,” S5am, &3 a
Cherokee, could not be charged with stealing Campbell's horse, because
Campbell was also & recman, (ravens and Karcum cbserved that Crane, too, had
Indian blood and perhaps was a citizen of the Cherockee Nation. Crane, however,
proved that he was living in the Territory "as a »hite people.® Consequently,
Sam was unable tc win his release.

Next, the defense fought to use a case of measles to set up an alibi.
The horses had been run cff during the third week of April 1882; there were
a uwlbor of defense witnesses prepared to swear that Sam was tdown eick" S
tm Rtreh ti11 the end of May; belle was at his bedside "most of the
ﬁh it,ory was exploded when District Attorney Clayton caught several :
for ‘the defense in contradictions. "I can't exactly keep dates,” Sln'i am
confessed. Old Tom Starr did worse,
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"‘531:d0n't know what date of the month this 1s," he admitted under':k$
crosc-éiikination, “"lndians den't keep the day of the month like white.;h ‘
QQ t“p 4% by the moon.® : TR

“The only othér recourse for Cravens and Marcum was to attack the Lot
creditability of John West, the prosecution's key witness., But West was fimm
and:%tuck to his story, Judge Parker and District Attomey Clayton helping
pim s little., The fate of the defendants was sealed in the minds of the

Jurers.

Parker's court was jJammed during the trial; all eyes were on Belle,
Everyone could see that she was very homely, with her thin, long mouth, her
hawk-like nose, her large ears and coarse hair, and scrawny frame. She
lacked grace of carriage and looked much clder than she was,

Belle was active, though. She refuseu to take‘the stand. She dashed
off nctes to hor attorneys. GShe cried when some one mentioned Jim keed, a
former "husband.” While Sam seemed sad and dull, Belle looked up at Judge
Parker with a "bold and fearless glance,”

It didn't help. The Jjury found Sam and Belle gullty of stealing Andrew
Crane's horse, and alsc ruled that belle had taken Sam Campbell's mare.
This verdict suited the judge, who then sentenced each of the defendants to
one year in the Letroit House of Correction., 3

On July 20, 1882, william H. Finch, a tailor and camp retainer at Fort
- 5111, was sent for by Post Commandant Mejor Guy V. Henry. The 30-year-old
mulatto had been reported to the major for some small infraction. Refusing
to appear, Finch stole a grey horse from Hr. uinette and fled the Territory.
He was arrested about August 10 st Decatur, Texas, by civil authorities.
hotified of Finch's apprehensicn, Major Henry sent a three-man detail to
return the prisoner to Fort $ill. This party consisted of Sergeant Bush
Johnson, and Frivates ¥William Crimpkey and Jerry HMcCarty of the 9th U. S.
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The prisoner's feet were shackled, while the guards prepared supper, M‘ter
e‘ma two of the guards, Johnson and Grimpkey, threw themselves cn the %%

WA ‘!‘ho prisoner having feigned sleep seiged this opportunity. Graspirﬁ R
a carbine and a pistcl, he shot Grimpkey with the pistcl and Johnson with
the carbine, Hearing the first bang, McCarty came racing up the hill just
in time to see Finch shoot Johnson. A thicket screened McCarty from the
killer's view. Wwhile McCarty watched, Finch rifled Johnson's pockets and
found the key to his shackles, After wnshackling himself, Finch hid the
two carbines in the grass and saddled and bridled one of the horses, After
taking all the provisions, a carbine and a pistol, Finch fled, At Caddo,
he abandoned his horse and caught the first south bound train, getting off
at Denison, Texas.

After the departure of the killer, McCarty came out of hiding. He
found Grimpkey dead and Johnson dying. Johnson cried, "Ch,Lord! Ch, Lord!®
and said that Finch had shot them, McCarty was directed to go to Fort Sill
and get a doctor. Eefore riding off, McCarty spread a sheet over the dying
sergeant to keep off the mosquitos,

It was 8 p.m, before MeCarty rode into Fort Sill, Hajor Henry ordered
out a detachment to bring in Finch., A doctor acccmpanied the patrol to sss
if he could save the badly wounded Johnson. The detachment didn't reach
the scene of the tragedy until 9 otclock the next moming. Ey that time
Jolnson was dead, The dead were placed in a wagon, and the detail returned
to Fort Sill.

Shortly after the slarm to be on the lookout for Finch was Sssued, he
was spotted in Deniscn by U. S, Deputy Marshal T. M. Wright. Arrested,
Finch was taken to Fort Smith.

B. T. DuVal and Thomas H. Barnes defended Finch at his trial which
closed on February 23. At the close of Earnes' address to the Jury, Finch
\dl‘hurd $o remark, "he had not a shadow of a doubt of his acquittal.® iy

m gﬁua stand, Finch swore that McCarty had done the killing and
fﬁn lun his freedom. The case was given to the jury about 5 p.m. ; %#
the' §ufors remained cut about 35 minutes, before returning a verdict of

n



@ h

guilty as charged in the indictment.
) Sueeney was brought to trial at the end of the first week of March'.
4. murder of William Wilson. Much to the surprise of the Fort
sziﬁitéa, Sweeney was acquitted.
“"Robert Brown was arraigned on a charge of killing another Negro, "who = "
came to his house while he was entertaining a few of his friends with a
dinner and conducted himself very badly.”" The jury convicted Erown of
manslayghter. 7
Jimnie Jones was retried for the murder of Davis and Hurd. His
previous trisl had ended in a hung jury. Jones' attorneys (T. H. and
J. K. Barnes, and W. ¥. Cravens) had rounded up additional witnesses.
Judge Farker gave the case to the Jjury on March 20. After a short
deliberation, a verdict of "not guilty" was returned. Jones walked from
the courtroom, surrounded by his friends, once more a free man. During
his long imprisonment, Jones "by his gentlemanly deportment and happy
disposition"” had gained the good will of all those with whom he had come
‘ in contact. Every "at.tache’ of the jail and marshal's office expressed
b themselves as truly glad that Jimmie had been able to establish his innocence.®
Tee-o-lit-sa was watching on July 6, 1881, as Emanuel K. Cockran made
his way afoot across the Choctaw Nation. A particularly brutal looking
Creek, Tee-o-1lit-sa was in need of money tc attend a green corn dance. He
decided to kill and rob the lonely traveler. Borrowing a pony from a friend,
he trailed Cockran to a secluded spot. There he surprised his victim, shooting
him through the back of the head. Tee-o-lit-sa rifled the dead man's pockets,
securing §£7.40.
It was sometime before the finger of suspicion pointed at the Creek.
The information carried by the newspapers describing the finding of a body
on the Okmulgee road, and the effects found in the deceased's carpetbag
enabled the authorities to establish his identity. Cockran's brothers,
hoping to spur the search, offered a reward of $200 for information leading
~&o thc detection and conviction of the killer. Deputy Marshal Beck undertOOk
fthe case. Assisted by the local people, he was able to discovqr :

. ib nkc cart.ain, he hired John Sinner, a full-blocd Creek, to gain

178



the suspect's canﬁdence. Sinner inveigled Tee-o-lit-sa into telling m
og’m surder. '

‘i ’ ?;m as his agent had reported what he had heard, Beck swore
umnt for Tee-o-1it-sa's arrest.

Meanwhile, Tee-o-1it-sa had boen tried in a Creek court and convicted
of horsestealing. He was sentenced to be whipped and sent to his home without
bond. Knowing that the redman would return at the appointed time to receive
his punishment, Marshal Beck arranged to be on hand the prescribed day, in
early August 1882,

Beck rode up in time to witness the first blcgu from the whip. He waited
until Tee-o-lit-sa was released from the post, and then stepped forward and
placed him under arrest. Taken to Port Smith, Tee-o-lit-sa bwadutriad at
the February term of Judge Parker's Court. While ably defended by his
attorneys, the evidence was too overwhelming to admit of acquittal.
Tec-o~1it-sa on March 24 was found guilty. 7

Bama Heha was convicted of murder in the first week of April. About
the sane time, & telegram reached Fort Smith announcing that President Arthur
had commuted the death sentence of John Jacobs to imprisomment for life,
The President, however, refused to intervens in the case c¢f Robert Maseey.

Bud stevens was @ Texas horsethief. 3Shortly before he fled Texas, ue
married a girl of 16 summers, some 20 years his junior. Escaping into the
Indian Territory, Stevens hid cut in a cabin in the fastnesses of the
Arbuckle Mountains,

Nearby lived a hegro fasdly named Loftus., One of the sons, Henry, was
a rensgade. Henry had fallen in with Martin Joseph, another Negro, and
between them they had committed a mwber of aines,

Joseph and Henry Leftus on April 20, 1882, rode over to Stoms' cabin,
They asked Stevens to help them steal some horses, which they had spotted
grazing in a secluded mountain valley. Stevens agreed to help the Negroes
run ett tho horses. The young wife accompanied the three men.

o the Negroes and her husband went ahead to rig up a corrsl

e

e uiabnah-d. After driving the mustangs into the pen, the outlaws " A,

ntutod roping and branding thea. Taking ldmtago of Stevens' moecnp:t:tcn,w

Joseph erept up behind and shot him in the back. Jossph: and Loftus left the
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body t.o rot and returned to camp. There, they told Mrs, Stevens that Bud
had beeh sericusly injured in a fall from his horse and that he vas as?ng &
1 he unsuspecting woman accepted Joseph's invitation to "moun fﬁ’"

ha§ meraly been 8 ruse on the part of Joseph and Loftus to possess his uifc.

After the trio had ridden some distance, Joseph suddenly leaped from his

horse and pulled Yrs. Stevens with him to the ground. Eoth Negroes raped

Krs. Stevens, As she sat crying, with her apron pulled over her face, they

shot and killed her. Carrying the body to the top of the mountains, the

Negroes hurled it into a fissure, along with the victim's saddlebags filled

with her clothes, & quilt and other articles,

Not long afterwards, Joseph got drunk and told the whole story to

¥illiam, Henry Loftus' brother. Willism was afrald of Martin Joseph, so

he kept the terrible secret to himself. Subsequently, Joseph killed Henry
‘ Loftus, and left the area. Following his brother's death, Willlam kept

quiet until he was certain that Joseph was gone, He then told his mother
and father what had happened., Recalling the words of Joseph, William and
his parents rode up into the Arbuckle Hountains. Just as Joseph had said,
they found the fissure, Arcund the entrance wers scme of the girl's clothes.
Next, they searched for and found Bud Stevens' remains. |

Old man Loftus lost no time in contacting ¥r. Henderson, a local
merchant. After viewing Stevens' corpse, Henderson notified Deputy U. 5.
Marshsl J. H. Mershon. The lawman made a thorough investigation of the
case. Martin Joseph's hideout was located. Arrested, the Negro was escorted
to Port Swmith.
when he walked into the office of District Attorney Clayton, Mershon

1ifted a grain sack from his shoulder and dropped it to the floor, remarking,
"here's the bones of the horse-thief.”®
Asince this was not too extraordinary, Clayton glanced up and qum,

m;!lhcn related tho facts of the case. Whren he had finished,
‘Orut lod" roared the marshal, "that well is full of ratt.lumku.
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After a pause, he added, "But 1'll get them," one of my:.men "wanted to

ba 1et down there with a rope but I didn't think it was necessary; but 1! T
you'xanﬁ ‘the woman's bones 1'11 get them,*
E“:;fxershon and his posse returned to the Arbuckles, The posse who had
valunteered to go down into the fissure was a tall, gaunt Pennsylvanian
John Spencer. One end of a rope was fastened around Spencer's waist; he

was lowered slowly into the hcle. Xo sooner had his fest touched the bottom
thaﬁ‘- he spotted a large number of rattlesnckes,

- 9Lift me out for God's fake!" he shouted, The men above hauled away as
fast as they could, Wwhen Spencer emerged his face was }{ivid and he was
tresbling., "Rattlesnakes!® he gasped. "The place is filled with them."

while Mershon and the others were d iscussing ways of getting rid of
the rattlers, Spencer recovered his wits. Speaking through gritted teeth,
he said, “Give me that lantern.® Without another word, he was again lowered
into the hole,

This time, taking advantage of the blinding effect of the lantern on
the snakes, Spencer pointed his pistol at the head of the nearest rattler and
pulled the triggers The discharge put out the light in the lantern, and
frightened the remaining snakes into retreating into their holes. Pulling
out a sack, he bezan gsthering up the bones, together with the saddlebags
and clothing. His work completed, Spencer shcuted, "Pulll”

At the trial in the first week of April, the bones of Stevens and his
wife were produced as evidence, The jury was composed of five whitestand
seven Negroes, Allen bobo, a legro, was chosen foreman, ¥. . Cravens and
J. K. barnes were retained by the defense. Although they made strong arguments
for agquittal, the jury was unimpressed. After brief deliberation on April &,
a verdiet of guilty was returned. 9

Paul and Ross were petried at the end of the second week in April,
The Jury on Sunday, the 15th, declared Sam Paul guilty of manslaughter,
while acquitting Jin Ross. Judge Parker on the last day of April sentenced
Paul to tm years in the Detroit House of Correctica. 10 ]
g‘; ubm. Massey was scheduled to be hanged on April 13. According.
th mn, Massey was "a good locking young man, about 5 feot. 10 inchuj‘
vhiakors, dark hair, blue eyes, and weight about 205 pounds, '

A
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‘ hrzo Ilﬁ, und the fall broke his neck. He fell at 11:37 and was pronoumd W;_}{‘;‘-

The usual ap;licstions for a pardon or a commubtation were msde by
Hassey's lawyers to President Arthur. They were rejected. ‘::hile waitin; L

¥ e

11 o'eloci:, Kobert Xassey was taken from his cell and escorted to the 5allm
by the jailer, chief deputy marshal, and guards. The execution party was
followed by about 20 spectators and several reporters, who had received
peralssion to attend the hanging.

As the processicn left the jail, Reverend Meianus, who walked to the
left of Massey, bezan reading the service. The spectators bared their heads.
Massey, who was handcuffed, asked Guard %1lliams to remove his hat for him,
which was done., Although he was going tc his doam, no man in the "party
walked more erect, nor with firzer, steadier step than the condemned.® Upon
the scaffcld, Massey sat, stood, or kneeled, according to the service which
was continued by Eeverend McManus, While seated, ldassey looked calmly at
the gallows and the rope, and then at the solemn faces below and in front
of him, After the prayer had been read, Massey's attorneys advanced and
shook hands with him, as did Jailer Eurns and the guards, He asked his
lawyers to mmke a public statement for him, His voice was clearly heard
by those below,

Chief Deputy ‘arshal EBarnes spoke up, "Hr. Massey, if you have anything
to say, please speak louder so that all may hear you,®

Massey, undaunted by Barnes! remarks, stepped to the front of the
platform and in a loud, clear voice said, "I don't think justice has been
done me here; 1 am innocent of the charge. I don't deny killing the man,
but I did it in self-defense to save my own life. I know the evidence was
strongly against me, but 1 az innocent. 7This is all I have to say."

He was then placed under the e¢ross-beam of the gallows and upon the
trap. Fassey's feet and arms were tied, the ‘cap placed over the head, and
t.ho noose adjusted. The moment the preliminaries had been completed, =
M'Bu'nes waved his hand, and Jailer Eurms @prang the trap. With

*{2‘
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dead in 12 minutes. About four or five minutes after the fall, a little
stream af blood trickled down the right lapel of his coat., On removinii
the eap, t.his was found to have issued froem his nostrils. .

Capuin John Willisms, who had been sent to Fort Smith by Iaassey'o
friends and relatives, took charge of the body, which was placed in a coffin
anc laid to rest in the city cemetery. n

Coufronted by a shortage of funds to defray the May term of court,
Judge Parker on April 18 issued an order postponing its opening until
July 2.

At the end of April, there were 78 priscners in the U. S. Jail.

Of these, 17 were awaiting transportation tc the Detroit Mouse of Correcticn,
5 were waiting to be sentenced, and 21 were serving time, 12

Judge Parker on May 5 sent for the three men convicted of capital
crimes at the Februury term of court—Finch, Tee-o-iit-sa, and Joseph.
when Finch was called before the bar to receive his death sentence, he
delivered a "sei speech” to the court. Clothed in "elegant phraseology"
which had been commitied to memory, Finch "indulged in insinuations against
the Judge, jJury, and prosecuting attorney.® He made the usual complaints
that he hadn't received a fair trial. In conclusion, Finch asked Parker to
intercede in his behalf with Fresident Arthur,

kWhen Finch had finished his “speech,® Judge Farker "warned him of the
danger of clinging to the last hope of punishment and exhorted him to use
the time allotted him preparing to meet his Msker."

The three aen were to be executed on Friday, June 29. 13

RN

Chief Harshal Boles kept his deputies conatantly on the go while the
February term of the Court of the Western listrict was in session,

Chief Deputy C. K. Barnes and four guards on March 19 left Fort Smith
for the Detroit House of Correction. With them went 21 prisoners, including
Sam and Bells Ltarr, 14 .
boputy Karshal Addison Beck and his posse reported in at the jail q 3
m;.‘mt, March 25. They bad 11 priseners for Jailer Burms. Four of Yhewm .
(Jitfu"cm latta, Wesley Hays, Ed. Bohannan, and John Hobinson) were cith-s
of the Choctaw Nation; they had been taken into custody at Caddo for robbing
freight cars, In addition, Hays wae charged with shooting into a caboose of
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a passing Missouri, Kansas and Texas freight train. Six of the prisoners
were .accysed of being bootleggers. Cne of these was Sam Osage, a Cherokel‘ 7
ﬂe'had'tne reputation of being a very "hard citizen,” having served a_t.hroo'

e ]

year ,f.em{ in the Cherckee penitentiary at Tahlequah for larceny. Salomof
COOh, ‘the remaining priscner, was charged with concealing stolen goods l;t’
Muskogee,

During the patrol, Beck had sent two of his posse (John Mc¥eir and
John Dyer) to arrest Austin, Bettie Hicks, Jennie Pigeon, and Arch Whitewater.

The persons wanted by the law were reportedly holed up in the Cherckee Nation
between the Greenleaf and lllincis rivers.

Proceeding to Austin's cabin, the posse found and arrested Jennie Pigeon.
vhile McWeir took charge of the priscner, Lyer rode over to talk to several
men who were standing at the edge of the timber watching. One of the men
was Austin. When Dyer demanding that he surrender, Austin drew his revolver.

‘He opened fire as he took cover behind a tree. Geveral shots were exchangedj
Austin's companions scattered into the bottom. Dyer retraced his steps,

and he and McWeir started for beck's camp with Jennie Pigeon. They were
soon overtaken by Austin and three other determined characters. The outlaws
shot at the lswmen with their long-range Winchesters. Abandoning their
prisoner, MckWelr and Dyer f{led.

while camped near Muskcgee, beck was potified by one of his informants
that a éuspicious locking white man was loitering in the area. Since it was
believed that he was a horssthief, Beck sent McWeir to make the arrest.

When Mcheir returned with his prisoner, Beck recognized him es an old acquaintance,
Tan Sales, whom he had escorted to Fort Smith some time before on & larceny
charge. Sales said that he had traded for the "fine" white horse he was
riding back in Barry county, Missouri.

Beck took Sales into custody, while he forwarded postal cards with
descriptions of the suspect and the horse to a number of Missouri sheriffs.
Within a short time, the sheriff of Jasper county arrived and paid Beck $40
&rmré for Sales. Next, the owner of the mare arrived and gave Beck $25 fw
‘recéy 1ng the animal which he sold to Beck for $110. !5 5
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from Denison, Texas. Glancing at the paper, Boles leamed that John 3.mw;
Lannox'a band of desperados had shot up the camp of Deputy Marshal Laymé%
kglling the marshal and releasing three prisoners. Layman at this tili;, ;
uaa oﬁt“after Lennox and a confederate named Randall. The previous Augusi,.”/:
T&ﬁdigﬁhg of J. E. Farr's posse had arrested Kobert Jones at Lake West,
Choctaw Nation. Jones was charged with the murder of Dr. Bailey., Shortly
thereafter, Toung had been attacked by Lennox and Randall. Struck by a
hail of bullets, Young had died.

Marshal Boles feared that the murderous Lennox had killed a second
menmber of his force, Such was not the case. The report of Layman's death
was premature. That two-fisted lawmen had escaped the ambush, although he
reported the death of a boy who had agreed to show him where Lennox was
hiding out. 16

At times, the Court for the Western District was given the ticklish
problem of investigating a gunbattle, when there were two sides to the
story. Such a case occurred in May 1883, According to Deputy Marshal
Mershon, he and Deputy Marshal Cutter had been sent out with warrants
for the arrest of the Carson brothers, who were wanted for the cold-blooded
murder of two white men, Blankenship and Hiddleston, and the killing of an
old Negro known as Wiley, Twenty-five miles east of Caddo, the marshals
arrested Lason Pis-ok-cha. Having taken cover in the brush near their
father's cabin, the brothers opened fire. Each of the boys was armed
with two pistols. After shooting up most of their cartridges, the
Carsons broke cover and charged. A load of buckshot from Cutter's
shotgun killed, Janah, the younger, while a ball from Mershon's plece
wounded the elder, who took to his heels and escaped. The only injuries
suffered by the lammen was when a bullet graged Mershon's finger. A
bystander, however, was wounded by a shot from one of the Carsons.
Lason Pis-ok-cha was released, and the officers returned to Sherman, Texas, 17
Lason Pis-ok-cha's story differed completely with Mershon's report.“d "

ug. f took him outside. As they did, one of them exclaimed, 'No,-iikﬂr
tho man," and he was released. Moments later, another member ef;ahxpﬁr;i
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the party shouted, "Look out!® and opened fire en three toys and a young
man. uho wére sleeping under a nearty shed. One school boy, 10- year—o]ﬁ“‘f;:}
Jotin_ I.tmn, was gunned down within three fest of his bed. Lankin Picken
ﬂbd:wl‘lile a third youngster, Gimlet Mike, was cut down as he scught
t.o escape.' Mike had s pistol, but he had dropped it before bteing knocked™ *
from his feet. An examination revealed that the weapon hadn't been fired.
Two of the boys died the next day, while doctors held little hope that
the third would recover,

Lason Fis-ok-cha let it be known that the posse had no reason for
gunning down the boys, Upon being informed of what had transpired, the
Chickasaw authorities asked Judge Parker to order an investigaticn. 18

The grand Jury when it met in July ignored the charge which Lasan
and the Chickasaw authorities had made against Deputy Marshal Mershon.
The reason cited wes that, although publicized, no cne had come forth
to testify that the persons killed were school boys. Those who had
asked for the investigation had feiled to bring any witnesses. Mershon
and Cutter had both been present at Fort Smith and had sworn that their
report of the affair was correct. !9

Chief Deputy Barshal bvarnes st 11 s.m. on Fricay moining, June 29,
entered Cell No. ! in the U. S. Jail and read the death warrants to the
condemned men. 3ince Tee-o-lit-sa didnt't speak English, his had to be
interpreted. He nodded and grunted ssaent. Joseph also appeared nervous
and uneasy during the reading of his warrant, but Finch's “manner was
composed and indicated a more plucky resignstion than his less intelligent
fellow unfortunates,®

The three men wersv neatly attired and all wore flowers in their
lapels. Finch, however, had on a much better sult than the others.
After the warrants had been read, the prisoners were conducted from the
cell to the gallows., They werc accompanied by the guards and clergy,
. and followed by the reporters and spectators to whom tickets of admission
hﬁ*b: n granted. After the trio had been seated on the scaffold, Ren“’*
113458 ¥ead from the scriptures. Next, "Jesus Lover of my Soul" was ﬁ&
rla&md ioaeph josning in the service, which was closed with a prmrv
Reverend Jeffett.

he condemned then stood side by side, and each was asked if he had
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‘anything to say. The interpreter put the question to Tee-o-lit-sa, “quggg‘
plied by pointing to his heart and slowly shaking his bowed head. Ma
FJoééph?remarked that he had nothing to say. Finch was asked last anQZ 5
“answered with a "very mannerly bow." Just as Finch began spesking, Tee-o-1it-sa,
becare too faint to stand, and was escorted back to the bench.

As soon as Finch was finished, final preparations were made., Joseph,

when the cap was drawn down and while the noose was being adjusted, began
to shake. Tee-o-lit-sa had to be supported until the drop fell, after which
he never quivered and was dead in 210 seconds. Joseph's pulse ceased
beating in six and one-half minutes, while Finch was pronounced dead at
nine minutes.

The Creek's neck had been broken by the fall, which was not the case
with Finch and Joseph "whose bodies and limbs writhed and twitched convulsively
for several minutes after they dropped." The bodies were allowed to hang for
20 minutes. The editor of the Elevator reported, "Thus three men have paid
the penalty of six murders and the terrible power of the law is again shown
forth to warn against its vioclation.n <0

oo &

A special term of the Court for the Westerm District was opened by
Judge Farker on Monday, July 2, with a full docket. %hen proceedings wers
resumed there were 61 prisoners in jail awaiting action. They were charged:

: Murder 6
§ Rape 1
i Assault with intent to kill 5
Larceny 25
¢ : Introducing spiritous liquors 23
. Illicit distilling 1
3 At the same time, there were about twice this number that has posted bond

to guarantee their appearance in court. 2!
Mat Music was the first uman accused of a capital offense tried at the

‘:‘cbout July 14, 1881, had taken liberties with a seven-year-old gxrxn AT
‘ xivi.ng the child a veneral disease. The child had lived with Music and his ek
wife, since they had no children of their own. When on trial Music claimed
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that t.he cutrage had been comnitted by a neighbor. The Jurors didn't agrn
vitﬁﬂmue, and on July 14 they returned a verdict of guilty. 22

.L ﬁéﬁenw the Elevator went to press on July 20, the murder trial of ‘I’h,
O'Komer iras in progress. The defendant was charged with killing beand%
Brom, a kyan:iotte Indian, at the Quapaw Agency, August 7, 1882. Brown, &
member of the Indian police, had arrested O'Keener for cutting hay in the
Territory. While the officer was sleeping, O'Keener had awakened, laid his
hands on a pick, and plunged it into his chest, Since being locked up at
Fort Smith, the prisoner had given every indicatiocn that he was insane.
O'Keener's lawyers accordingly argued that their client was "mad.®

The jury, after deliberating 2J hours, brought in on July 24 a verdict
of "Not guilty as charged.® According to a spectator, O'Keener's countenance
"expressed neither joy, nor emotion, nor thanks, nor anything except a
complete blank indifference.” at the foreman's announcement, 23

Marshal Boles!' deputies continued their drive against the forces of
evil throughout the second half of 1883. Deputy Marshal L. ¥. Marks and
posse rode into Fort Smith on August 12 from Maysville with the Tittle krothers,
Robert and J. M. Fobert was charged with the murder of Mayers, which had
occurred 11 years before in the Cherokee Natiocn; J. M. was aceused of
introducing whiskey into the Térritory. 7The Tittles had been taken inte
custody at Vinita, 2k

Fannie Echols was a bright-looking Negro girl of 20, a trifle fleshy
but neat and attractive, She and John Williams worked for Mrs. Crabtree
at Eufaula cut in the Creek Nation. Though not married John and Fannie
found it convenient to live together., Fannie was pleased with the arrengement
till John developed a possesaive streak. Thereafter, their relations weren't
s¢ pleasant. me%—day, John tried to kill Fannie. He shot five times at a
man named Brown who had intervened. Friday before the fatal night, Jon
had whipped Fannie until Mrs, Crabtree made him stop.
W} hot night in July 1883, another one of Fannie's Negro admirers
'to)thoir room and hung Hs pistol and holster on the bed. As nmh"‘

pittol Both made a dash for the gun. In the scuffle, Fannie pulled tho
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. trigger, while the muzzle was pointed at ¥Willlams® body,

,;; Fumie'a story, however, didn't explain why persons within easy hear_in; -
had heard no noise except a pistol shot, and Fannie's exultant shout, “ﬁzori
I'vo knled him,*

“fhe victim was found in bed, in a supine position. A bullet had rippd
through his body and was lodged in the floor below -- fired, apparently, by
some one standing over Williams' recumbant body. Arrested, Fannle was
hustled off to Fort Smith and lodged in the U. S. Jail, 25

In the same room with Fannie Echols was a white wouman, Mally Allen, who
was awaiting trial for larceny. She gnd her husband, Charley, had been
brought to Fort Smith from Chetopa, Kansas, about the middle of July., The
Allens were accused of stealing three horses. As a reporter for the Elevator
walked out of theirtreom one day, Fannie called, "Say, tell them in your
paper as they have only two women to feed they might afford to give us

. sapsthing & little extra, for we are getting tired of having the same thing

every day.

. Fennie lost her rI0Ommate in the latter part of September, when Molly
and her husband were convicted in Judge Parker's Court and sent to the
Detroit House of Correction for a year, 26

Deputy Marshal Hershon's posse reached Fort Smith on August 26,
following a successful six week patrol. Twenty priscners, four of them
(Andy and Earrington Colbert, Frank Thomas, and Zedeek Jackeon) charged
with murder, were turned over to Jailer Burns. Ancther man, Charlie Carter,
had escaped before the posse rode into the old Garrisen, 27

Deputy Marshal keck and one of his men, Lewis ¥erritt, reined up their
horses near Big Vienne in the Cherokee Nation at 11 a.m. on September 27.
The vagon with the prisoners and guards had gone ahead. Beck and Merritt
headed for a cornfield to arrest John Bark. Although the charge againet
Bark was minor, he had a desperate reputation. Bark, sesing the officers
riding toward him, prepared to resist. He was joined by Joe Jacks, a
nmulm Cherckee-Nezro mix-biood. Jacks fired first, Beck was cut ggu\

_g bgﬂgitin the forehead. Herritt emptied five chambers in his molv’lt

be Fore being felled. Two of these balls lodged in Jacks' body. K 5t

Em shot once in the head and once in the chest, clung to life un%

( Bark beat cut his brains with s six-shcoter. Leaving his badly wounded
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coMrade and the two dead lawmen, Bark fled.
'_Beck and Merritt were brought to Fort Smith on the 28th. After aziufi'iry
Qoat-nox'ttm examination by Or. Bennett, their bodies were interred in QA’

\?.s.

cjit} emtary. The editor of the Y¥levator commenting on the doutls

g

wrot 'f

Addison Beck was one of the oldest and most efficient
deputies on t he force, and was a gentle, quiet and scber man.
His wife and three amsll children reside at Muskogee and are
left almost destitute,

Lewis Merritt was & young man about twenty-two years of
age, who has been living here for a year or more., His former
home was in Jackson, Tenn., where, it is said, hs has relatives

and many friends,

Deputy Marshal Ayres left Fort Smith on Sunday night, Cctober 14,
with a ten man posse to arrest Jackson Jacks for the murder of Beck and
Merritt. Ayres and his men made a forced march. By daylight, they were
in the neighborhood where the shooting had occurred. From [dck Anderson,
Ayres learned that the badly wounded Jacks had been carried to Tom EBearpaw's
cabin. The marshals surrcunded the house, but no resistance was offered.
Jacks was loaded in a wagon and taken to Fort Szith. Dr. Eemnett, on
examining t he wounds in Jacks' chgst, pronounced them dangercus but not
serious. <29

Two weeks before the Kovember term of court was scheduled to be
called to order, Judge Farker was called on to make an important ruling
bearing on the jurisdiction of the Indian courts. The law of the United
States provided that fuzitives could be extradited from one state or
territory to another to stand trisl. Parker in Ex parte Morgan ruled
that the Indian country was neither state nor territory. Consequently,
the tribes had no way of getiing custody of an Indian criminal who had
fled to Arkansas cr Texas. Nor could the Indians get rid of men wanted
in Kansas or Massechusetts by tuming them over to those states for trial.
.- 100 bad, said Parker, it was a shocidng situation, but "the courts
&o agt...nke the law.® 30 :
: ;ﬁgs Parker convened the November term of court on the 5th, The >
pd Jury wos filled on the day court opened, but it was the next arttfh*&h
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ibotorevthe petit Jury was empaneled. 3 gas
‘ ‘Dﬁring the final days of November, and the first week of Decembcf
; _J:Qmith court disposed of a number of interesting cases. Zedeag
"Jackson was tried and acquitted of the murder of Pat Nall, also a Negro‘.
The jury which was trying G. G. Handall for manslaughter was discharged
on the 23d. Standing 11 to 1 for acquittal, the jurors had failed to agree
on a verdict. Since Rancall was a prominent lawyer of Denison, Texas,.this
case had attracted considerable attention. Randall was charged with being
an accessory at the killing of Tom Young, a member of Deputy Marshal Farr's
posse. At the time of the shooting, Young was endeavoring to arrest Robert
Love for murdering his stepfather, Dr. Bailsy. Randall was Love's
brother-in-law., 32

Fannie Echols, after a three month stay in jail, was brought before
the bar. At her trial, Fannie swore that John williams was "jealous of
me, arnd had been in the habit of whipping me cn different occasions a
long time." Fannie repeated her story of her midnight visitor and the
fight for the pistol. To many of the spectators this story sounded plausible.
Hemember this, John Killiams had taken advantage of the girl, and had
whipped her besides. Prosecutor Clayton refused to sanction Yiss. Echols!
explanation. The jury agreed and on Lecember 18 ruled murder. 33

The jury in the Joseph Jackson murder case deadlocked and was discharged
on Tuesday evening, iecember 11. They had been out since Friday. Buford L.
Summerhill in the third week of December was tried and found innocent of
the murder of his stepfather, James Boyd. This killing had taken place
several weeks before in the Choctaw Nation. 34

paniel Jones had been sent to the Texas penitentiary at Huntsville
for embezzlement in 1876. His sentence was to run for two years. At this
time, he had a wife and two children living in Scott county, Arkansas,
Bill Jones had looked after Dan's family (a wife and two children), while
»his qous;n was away. When Dan was released and returned to Scott counhy,
he' 9983'5 third child. Bill readily acknowledged the parentage.
ffihixy was apparently settled, and the two cousins were constant

“sompanions. E VMO

&
7
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Uninown to Eill, however, [an broocded over what had happened. Lunning

"'““1_ ©F the lav, Dan and Ed11 Jones fled Scott county and took refuge in ‘
tko Chwt.aw Nation, where Bill took a wife. BEoth fanilies lived 4n a ql

m the night of August 6, 1879, Eill's wife was awakened by a "bangil‘-zf
Leaping cut of bed, she found her husband lying in a pool of blood. Dan
was standing near the bed, a lighted candle in his left hand. Bill's pistol
lay on a table near the head of the bed, an empty cartridge in its chamber.
The only other occupants of the house at the moment were Dan's wife and
children. 4n investigation by the suthorities disclosed that the ball had
struck Bill in the cheek and ranged upward into his head,

No cne was arrested at this time for the murder. Nine months later,
Dan was brought to Fort Smith on a larceny charge and convicted. The court
suspended sentence. while Dan was in jJail, he was indicted by the grand
Jury for the murder of his cousin. [lan's lawyeraku (¥, M. Hallette and
¥William M., Cravens) argued that BEill was in the habit of bmn%ishing a
piatol in his sleep. This theory, didn't account for Dan being at the bed,
1ight in hand, immediately after the fatal shot. The jury on December 22
brought in a verdict of guilty. 35

*uew

Congress on Janumry 6, 1883, passed an act which aimed at the reductiem
of the jJurisdiction of the Court for the Western bListrict. It was provided
that the part of the "Indian Territory lying north of the Cansdian Hiver
and east of Texas and the one hundredth meridian not set apart and occupied®
by the Five Civilised Nations should be annexed to t.'he United States
Judicial bistrict of Kansas. The U. S. District Courts at vichita and
Fort Scott were given exclusive jurisdiction over all offenses cormitted
within the limits of this area against the laws of the United States. The
rezsinder of the Indian Territory not amnexed to the District of Kansas for
Sudicial purposes and not part of the Five Civilized Kations was assigned
u nd \muld constitute a part of the judicial district for the Northq'l'
det pt Texas. It was provided that the new enactment would have g4

e ST A
S

&M m any cases which had originated in the territory transferred Mw

fad ‘sosmemced or were pending in the Fort Saith Court, 36 g,
This enactoent had no noticeable affect upon the volume of work coming
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tér tho Western District increased month by month,
TE.;' i3 In vieu of this situaticn, local pressure began to build up durin‘
iho fali of 1883 to try to get congress to appropriate funds for the
cmatmctim of better facilities for the Court for the Western District.

The Elevator for XKovember 9 announced that a mass meeting would be held
at the U, 8. courthouse "for-the-purposs of rallying support for putting

up a building here suitable for U. S. court roome and Karshal's office,

and U, 8., Revenue and post office,®
In addition, the editor thought it would be wise if the government

erected at Fort Smith "a prison-in-which to eonfine prisoners now sent

by hundreds to Detroit at great expense every year.,.," It 4s too bad,
he eontinued, that a U, 8. courtroom should "be immediately over a jail

in which 50 to 100 prisoners are always confined, and that in an old

Government barrack /Tsic 7 that did not chance to with

the rest.» 37

. The hue and cry raised by gtho Fort Smithites was heard in Washington.
When they filed their annual repbrt.s for 1863, both the Secretary of War
and the Attorney General took cognizance of the inadequate prison facilities
at Fort Smith. It was pointed outs

[ The district ccurt at Fort Smith, Ark., has jurisdiction
! over many criminal offenses in the Indian Territory. A large
number of prisoners are, therefore, necessarily held at that
/ place. The county has no Jail. They are, therefore, confined
in the basement cof the abandoned army barracks, now used for
court purposes., Cfficers of this department who have recently
visited Fort Smith report that the two rooms in which are
constantly crowded from 50 to 100 priscnsrs, are totally unfit
for use as a jail, being damp and unhealthy. Nothing separates
the foulest murderer from the detained witness, Young and old,
irnocent and guilty, all are crowled together. Although a
physician is in constant attendance, prisoners who have
entered this jail in apparent good health have, after a fow
months' confinement, been released almost physical wrecks.
A remedy for this state of affairs is absclutely necessary,
and“as the county will not probably erect a jail for several B
:1‘”’ 1 recommend that congress make provision for the erection
jg e by the government,

xo= }0 ihow Washington and other interested parties just how much

Iy

business the Court for the Western District disposed of during a year,

PR S
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ihe editor cf the Elevator compiled and published a table. puring 12
months (Novezber 1, 1862, to November I, 1883) Judge Parker's Court had
h&gﬂ}qd];h@ fallowing cases: I .
L ¥ N Murders—twenty-six - 13 convicted, 8 acquitted, 3 nolle prosged,’...
and 2 ignored. B
Arson -~ (ne -~ dismissed.
Kapes — Five —- 1 convicted, three nolle prossed, and
1 ignored.
, Assault with intent to kill -~ Forty-four cases —— 20
convicted, 8 acquitted, 8 nclle prossed, 4 ignored and 4
forfeited bond,
Perjury —- Three -~ | convicted, ! acquitted, and 1
15“07960
Introducing spiriitous: liguors into the Indian
Territory -—— Two hundred and thirty — 181 convicted, 15
scquitted, 14 nolle prossed, 14 ignored, and 7 forfeited bend,
Carrying on business of retail liquor dealer without
paying tax -~ eighty-seven -~ 62 convicted, 7 acquitted, 6
nolle prossed, 10 ignored, and 2 forfeited bond,
Violating internal revenue law —- Sixteen — 6 convicted,
‘ one acquitted, 4 nolle prossed, 4 ignored, and one forfelted

bond.
Fraudulent claims against the inited States - four —-

2 convicted and 2 nolle prossed.
Sellinz proprietary medicine -- one —- convicted,
Forgery -- one -~ convicted,
Ewbezzling U. S, Mail -- three — all convicted,
Fraudulent pension contracts — one =~ convicted,
Passing counterfeit money -- two —— convicted,
Receiving stolen goods — two —— 1 convicted and
1 acquitted,
Cutting timber from government land -- two -- convicted,
I1licit distilling -- five -- 2 convicted, one acquitted,
one nolle prossed, and one ignorec.
Intimidating witnessee — one —~ acquitted.
Resisting process ~- seven -- 4 convicted, 2 acquitted,

and 1 ignored.
Contempt —- 28 -~ | convicted and the rest dismissed.

The grand jury during the same period considered 5688 cases, of which
288 wers convicted, 55 acquitted, 78 nolle prossed, 47 ignored, and 20
forfeited bond. 1n addition, there were:

mstriﬂl by Jm '.....l.l.....ll00...'00000.4.‘0.00...7
* Number of applications for witnesses in behalf of :
“defendant at U. S. expense oxamined and acted on ..evecenes W3S
¢+ .27 7 Number of witnesses recognized in open eourt «.eeveece 575 S
¥ %0t - Number of murder cases tried by JUTY sseeeccceccsessse 20 i v
; Number convicted of murder 9; of manslaughter & .eccee 13
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Number of days consumed in trial of murder cases ......116

4 - Nuzber of accounts examined and allowed for actual :

'kmea ‘0.l.'."'...‘.‘.......ll......'..'....ll.."....l.26

‘U Number of orders to pay witnesseS.eeecsretssvccccsces !,996

s “Nunber of marshal's accounts current examined and

~‘pp.mved .'...'....lQ.b'O...l...'.......'.O....O...C.'.....‘ A’

“= " ‘Number of other accounts, commissioners'&e., examined

md appm‘& ..Q.O....'0....0..l.....l......'l‘.ll.....'.'. 30
Number of sentences passed upon defendants convicted.. 368
Number of civil cases on docket November 1, 1882 ,.... 70
Number of civil cases commenced during Year cceceecesss158
Kuzber of civil cases pending between November 1, 188%,

and Xovember ', '883 ....................-........-.......;.228
Number of civil cases disposed of between November 1, 1882,

md sovmber " '%3 ‘..00....0.....‘...‘..O‘..Cl....l‘l.....92
Number of other orders jjade during sald pericd in

relation to jury, coumissioners, &c., and entered of redord.396
Number of pages of record written and made up during _

’.id u” ....'.".0...OOD....I..C..'....O0.0.Q..OOIOQ....I.,’%
Number of days of court held during said yearieccseesse291

The court during this pefiod had convened regularly at 7:30, took
recess at 12 noon till 1130 cfclock, and adjourned about 5 p.m. Frequently,
‘ aight sessions lasting till " p.im. had been held.

: At the November 1883 term there had been 59 convictions. Twenty-two
of those ccnvicted were sentenced to the Detroit House of Correction. 1Two
(Fannie Echols and Dan Jones) had been found guilty of surder, while 35 had
received jail sentences. Thirty cases were disposed of by acquittal on
Jury trial or nclle prosgqui

In jail awaiting th; February term of court were 35 priscners, charged

%a follows:
Murder : 15
Assault with intent to kill 3
Larceny . 9
Introducing spiritous liguor into Indian Territory 7
&b’%ﬂung Ve S, Mail L

All told, there wers 59 confined in the U, S. Jail, 20 of whom were
serving time and. four awgiting sentence for capital erimes, Of these 59,
three were women, Fennie Echols, a white woman with a little baby charged

|ty mirder, and a white girl doing time for larceny. 39 e
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LAY ENFORCEMENT AT FOHT SMITH 1871 - 1896
Chapter XI

Pressure Hounts for the Corstrudtion -6f.a New.Jafl

LT . seEr =
When the Court for the Western District convened for the FPebrugry
188, term on Monday, the 4th, the courtroom had been "cleaned up” and
recarpeted. | nunber of important cases were disposed of by the

- February term of Judge Parker!s Court,

Thomas L., Thompson and James O'Holeren were bootleggers., They set
up shop in 1883 at Humphrey Coltert! 8, 18 miles southeast of Johnscnville
in the Chickasaw Naticn. Besides being sickly, O'Holeren was a stranger

to the area.
The neighbors first noticed that O'Holeren had disappeared, when

. Thoapson began asking if they had seen his partner. Thompson explained

that O'lioleren had started for Denison, TMexas, for treatment and should
have returmed within 20 days. The geaignated time had passed, and O'Holeren
had failed to show up, ’

When an overly inquisitive neighbor asked why he had Jim's horse in
the barmn, Thompson explained that he and his partner had traded mowunts,
It was soon observed that Thompson also had in his possession the horse
he claimed to have swapped with Jim. Thompson explained this, by saying
that he had ®found the horse, saddled ang bridled, but minus a rider, "
Conssquently, he was afraid that something terrible had happened to his
friend. He urged that a search party be organized,

For the next ten days, Thompson continued to fret. Finally, the
suspicions of the neighbors were aroused. Several men contacted Captain
T. %, ¥alker and rode over to Thompson's cabin. As they rode up, they
noticed a terrible stench and a swarm of flies hovering over the well,
When questioned, Thompson said the foul odor came from s dead hog that

hgd fallen into a dry well. He sought to keep the men from investigating :
tﬁ. lld.l. when he saw that they were determined to lower a man into t!p ;

1, ﬁm confessed that he had killed O'Holeren, had thrown his bdy .

-_,;-

’ h m inll, and poured in three barrels of ashes. Bar weie
\
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Examining the club, they found it was bloody on the small end; this
indicated that the person who had used it had blood on his hands when he
picked it up. The remains of the dead man were removed from the well, On
doing so, it was noticed that there was a stab wound in the breast.

Thompson's attomeys at the trisl, were unable tc give a satisfactory
explanation of how O'Holeren had received the chest wound. The jury on
February 22 wasted no time in bringing in a murder verdict against Thompson.

William Bullock of Howard county, Arkansas, started for the Indisn
Territory with a herd of cattle in June 1883, His four motherless children
remained behind with relatives, After disposing of the cattle, Bullock
started back home, He was afoot. Passing through the Red Liver country,
Eullock on June 27 encountered John Davis, & full-bleod Choctaw. The two
men talked awhile, then each went his way,

Bullock had hardly passed from view before the Indian decided to kill
and rob him. Taking a short cut through the woods, Davis planned to strike
the road ahead of his victismi. When he came out on the road, he saw frem the
tracks that Bullock had already passed, Once again, the redman took to the
woads and met with the same result. A third swing through the timber brought
Davis cut on the road ahead of Bullock.

Concealing himself behind a log, the Indisn waited. Bullock came into
view and was ambushed. Going through the pockets of the dead man, Davis
found $16.

_ The body was discovered within a short time. Since nc one was able to
identify it, it was buried in a lonely road side grave.

then Bullock failed to return from the Indian Territory, his friends
Wmmed. Suspecting foul play, a search was undertaken and the [Tay

2
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qwhile, Davis had talked toc much. Under the influence of
lo{muld several people of the murder. He also informed the girl l(

B e
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whom he was living of the foul deed. When taken into custedy, Davis was
vcaring boota which were identified as Eullock's, and had the dead m'(
pockltbook cn his person. Davis was found guilty; the jury returning wﬁ.hin
tin ninntea after leaving the courtroonm, 3 ?
’ A second Indian, Jack Womsnkiller, was brought before Judge Farker tt E

this time eharged with murdering a white msn. Nathaniel Hyatt lived in tho
Cherckee Nation, 13 miles from Maysville, Arkansas. Cn May 7, 1883, Hyatt
set out on foot for Arkansas, He was one of the solitary travelers who -
were always coming and going across the Indian natlons., Hyatt never resched
Arkansas, When his wife and friends gtarted asking questions, it was learned
that when last seen, Hyatt was with Jack Womankiller. The redman, who was
ca horsebeck, was said to be drunk and carrying two kegs of whiskey. '

On the 10th, a rider cbserved a large flock of buszards fceding near
the road, Investigating, he found a body, badly mutilated by the busgards.
Hyatt's wife was sent for; she identified the body by the cost, vest and
cane as that of her husband, |

Since the dead man was within two miles of the home of an Indien named
Tehee, the deputy marshals questicned him, Tehee told them that h’uankiller
had stopped in for dinner on the evening of the 7th. ¥hen Ethee ssked uhy
the white man haﬁn't stopped, Womankiller remarked, "Ch, I sent him along,
it don't make no difference; I intend tc kill him and you cen look out for
the guzzards up that way." Vuhen he left T@e's, the drunk Indian had ridden
in the same direction as Hyatt had gone.

By the time, Womankiller was taken into custody at Tahlequah, he had
told his girl friend, Ida Jones, of the murder. While ®crary drunk,” he
had also boasted of the erime in front of a crowd of Indians.

womankillepr's big talk and the circumstantial evidence brought a
quick conviction, On Wednesday, March 12, the jury pronounced Womankidley o>
guilty. o

;uliua Fulscm was more fortunate than Thompsen, Davis and Wemankiller.

4

nt

a“.

mxw and influential Choctaw, Fulsom rented land to W. F. Denten, i"‘*‘ :
ﬁj, funr. Denten and Fulsom had & violent argument on October 13, M' i
o'nr the division of the crop., Fulsom killed Denton. At the Novcaber } _

of court, Fulscm had given himself up and demanded a trial. The U, 8.
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commissioner allowed Fulsom to post bond until his case could be dockateth
@_ !t.hé end of February, Parker tried the case, : =78
i .‘som, as anticipated, pled self-defense, clsiming that Denton h EN
a‘tugqu him with a hoe, which was exhibited at the trisl, Since thm; e,
no Syewitnesses, the jury was compelled to weigh whether the Choctaw was - -4+ %
telling the truth, At the time of the trial, the Harvard educated Fulsom
was 55 years cld, Much to the surprise of Fulsom, the aury on Honday, March &,
returned a verdict of guilty of manslaughter, 5

Monday, April 28, dawned "cloudy and glocmy" at Fort Smith. - A visitor
at the U, S, Courthouse could sense that something unususl was about to
transpire. The officers and clerks "went sbout their duties quietly, and
spoke in subdued tones.® Judge Parker had a troubled expression, as one
might well have before performing a disagreeable assigniient, 3Several armed
deputy marshals wandered about. '

At 9:30 otclock Judge Parker took his seat; Marshal Beles was ordered
to brl*ng up three of the prisoners who had been. found. guilty ‘of wapital crimes,
8ilence gripped the courtroom as Thomas Thompson, Jack Wwomankiller, and
John Davis were brought in. They were accompanied by t he guards and two
interpreters.

Thompson was the first called to rise, When asked by the judge if
he had anything to say why the sentence of the court shouldn't be passed,
Thompson replied that he had killed a man, but that he hadn't cut him with
& knife. The court then passed sentence., Thompson was doomed to die on
the gallows on July 11, 1884,

Through an interpreter Jack Womankiller was sentenced to be executed
on the same day. Womankiller had nothing to eay beyond that it was “all
right.®

Parker alsec used an interpreter to doom Davis. Hy his remarks, Davis
demonstrated that he hardly realized his position, because he asked the
court "to be light on him,"

ﬁrat In en angry tone, he remarked that he wam't guilty a¥:

; that if the laws of the United States hanged innocent men...! R :
mld hnve to stand it.*
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Jones! motion for a new trial was overruled before Parker passed the

death uante-xce. ;
he Jast of the felans to be hailed before the judge was Fannie Ec)xoli.:
ﬁ!l flrst female tc be convicted of & capital crime in Parker's court. ‘;L‘Sh 2
was ”plainly though neatly dressed, and wore a nicely laundried sun bonnet." v
Fannie informed the court that %if she had not done what she did she would \
have been killed herself,® She stood up and listened with no show of
emotion as Parker sentenced her to the scaffold. V¥hen being taken from
the courtroom, however, she broke down, and was reiioved to her cell weeping. 6
Marshal Ecles! hard-riding deputies made certain that Parker's ¢ourt
had plenty of business., Deputy Marshal Andrews and his posse were at 3iloam
Springs, Arkansas, on Seturday, Becmber 1. Four Indians visited town late
in the afternoon., As the redmen s AThingbostheir. homes, Andrews and
his men tried to stop them four nfles lautheaat of Siloam Springs. The
Indisns refused to obey the lawmen's command to halt and opened fire, In
the exchange, one Indian (Noisy-Water) was killed and two horses wounded.
As the Indians fled, they abandoned five gallons of whiskey, 7
Deputy Marshal Harks ués more fortunate than Andrews, Marks reached
Fort Smith on March 10 and turned over to Jailer Furne five priscners, The
first cne Burns logged in was Daniel Iluckey. Only three months before, Dan
had been pardoned by Chief Bushey'head 6f:the Cherokees for:the murder: 8f
an Indian named Cobb., Before being pardoned, Luckey had spent 20 months
in jail at Tahlequah. During this time, he had been shackled and never
permitted to leave his cell,
Clen. Kannady was charged with murdering John Vann, near Muskoges,
four years before. '
Lawrence and Charles Baker had been taken into custody for larceny.
They were the sons of the notorious Jim Baker, who had died in prisen.
while Marks and his posse were arresting Lawrence, Charley had exchanged
shots with the lawmen, Fortunately no one was injured, but for his utiona
mrhf 'vould now have to face a charge of "resisting process." SR

; 11tth man was Zeke Moore, a cattle rustler, 8
* % %
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A rapping of Judge Parker's gavel signified quiet, and the Moy term
of the Court for the Western District was called to order e Nonday, the
6th J‘ndgc Parker en studying the report of Jailer Burms found that uwrdl
Wﬂ“ xaﬂmsu in the U, 8. @an awaiting trial. They were chargeda

nm 16
F5 "Assault with intent to kil 8
Arson 1
Attempt to wreck train 2
Counterfeiting 2
Illicit distilling 2
larceny , 10

Introducing liquor into the Indian Territory 7
In addition, a large mumber of people were out on bond, 9
The trial of kobert Tittle for the murder of John Mizer began on Xay 24,
and occupled the court until the last day of the month. Tittle was accused
of killing the victim on June 7, 1872. Since that time he had continued to
reside in the Maysville area until arrested by Deputy Marshals L. W. Marks
and West Martin,the previcus August in Vinita.
The deferdsnt wis represented by four powerful lawyers, Talliaferro,
T. H, Barnes, T. M. Gunter, and Hugh F. Thomason. These men argued thst
their client had shot in self-defense. Prosscutor Clayton based his case
on the testimony of four witnesses—Mizer's wife (who had remarried), the
deceased's brother and sister, and niece. All swore that Tittle had ridden
up to Niser's cabin and called him ocutside. After words had been exchanged
in regard to & debt of £1,75, Tittle had gumed kiser down, At the tinms,
they testified, Miser was unarmed,
The two witnesses put on the stand by the defense told a different story.
They sald that the two men had exchanged words; Miser had drawn first, dbut
Tittle had shot straighter,
After Parker had charged the Jjury, the jurors filed out of the courtrocm.
The next day, June 1, they returned, and Judge Parker was called, Kobert
Tittle was brought in between two guards, an; arxicus expression on his face.
His mother, his only relative present in the courtroom, fearing the result, ’
‘hgttho foreman announced the verdict, Tittle was unable to hear i




Judge Parker replied, "Kot guilty."
‘ Bob ‘rit.t.le, unable to econtain himself, shouted, "A righteous verdict”
g

conflict 1n testimony, ®coupled with the fact that the defendant had never o \

left the country, together with the great lapse of time since the killing,
was probably what the jury based their verdict upon,” 10

In rapid-fire order, the court tock up three more murder cases. Wwilliam
Curtis was tried for killing David McDenald in the Cherckes Hatiocn on April 28,
1883. He was declared gullty of manslaughter,

Ceorge Brashears and Jeff Robinson, accused murderers, were released on
June 2, when their cases were nolle prossed, "

Panhandle Jack was & Texas cowboy. On January 31, Jack was riding a
wild pony up a street in Tulsa. The animal fell. Tom Stufferbean, a
apect;}tor, started laughing end guying Jack, The cowboy was in a bad
humor from his fall. As soon as he gained his feet, Jack started bullying
Stufferbesn. |

His ruffled feeling assuaged, Jack left the scene, put up his pony
at a livery stable, and came down the street afoot. Jack entered a store
near where Stufferbegn was standing. Hardly had the cowhand dissppeared
inside the door, before Stufferbean snatched a shotgun from the wagon of
" some hunters who had just driven up. He followed Jack into the store.
Throwing the shotgun to his shoulder, Stufferbean ordered the cowboy to
drop his pistol., Jack disregarded the command and drew. As he did, Stufferbean
sent s charge of buckshot crashing into his face, putting out both eyes and
knoeking all his teeth loose. Some of the shot hit a bystander in the shoulder.’
Jack died from his wounds., Stufferbean was arrested by Deputy Marshal Marks
and taken to Fort Smith, '

Attorneys J. K. Barnes and B, H. Taboo grgued the case so well before

Parker's Gourt that the jury acquitted Stufferbean. 12

; 16883, Arch drove his wagon up to her house near Fort ﬁbsm,y _
m m irunk, and began abusing his lady love. Striking her, Arch knocked .. %
her into the woodpile., He then turned his ire on Mary's 12-year-old son,
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‘Jemes, Arch started after the lad brandishing an ax handle. The boy

raced into the house and snatched up & gun. When James came out the .
dcor td.th the gun, Arch charged toward Jshim. Suddenly, the stillneas -
’ &ghgtt..ered by a blast, The mother raced toward the sound of the shob
lﬁd t;md Arch sprawled on the ground, _ :
Mary and her son decided to conceal the crime. They carried the
body into the house, laid it on the slats of the bed, and covered it
with @& quilt. As soon as it was dark, they hitched up the wagon.
Loading the corpse onto the wagon, they drove to the area where Casey
had lived. There phey left the team and wagon, and returned homexgn
foot through the woods, ;

The next day, the wagon and body were found. When the neignoors
investigated, they traced the wagon tracks to Mrs. Matoy's. There, £hey
found dried blood in two places -- on the bed and leading from the bed
to where the wagon had been parked, This led to the prompt arrest of
Mrs., Katoy and James,

At the trial, the pgcsecuticn claimed that Arch Casey had been killed
on the bed. The jurors apparent.ly sought to compromise, because on Thursday
evening, June 17, they found Mrs. Matoy and her son guilty of manslaughter.
The next day, Judge Farker passed sentence, giving the mother and son the
maximum penalty, 10 years in prison and a fine of $1,000, 13

July 11, the day on which six felons were scheduled to die, was scon
at hand. According to the editor of the Elevator none of the condemmed
“seem %0 be making any great preparations for their departures unless it
is Fannie Echols, who was baptized in the river" on the last day of June
by the minister of the Negro Baptist Church.,

Before July 11, three of the six were saved from the gallows, Mat
Music, the rapist, received an unconditional pardon from President Arthur,
while on the evening of July 3, Marshal Boles received a telegram from
Washington that the President had commuted the sentences of Fannie Echols

-and_ Dan Jones to life imprisonment. This action was not unexpected by NGE

WQ ;fart* mthitea, because Judge Parker and District Atbomcy Clayten &
meé it strongly.» 15 s &8
s griday, July 11, was bright and besutiful at Fort Smith. The condesmed -
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had slept well and rose early on the fatal morning. Each was furnished
hy Jailer Burns with a suit of "black alpacca clothing, clean white shirtl—~m<w
shoes etc.” At an early hour, their spipitual advisers arrived. Reveréndf

R N R

Berne © ;ino Episcopal church attended Thompson; Reverends Butt and Frdnﬁx

Parke ‘of the Methodist church locked after Davis' welfare; the spiritual 2
needs of womankiller were supplied by Reverend Moore of the Nebro Baptist \\
church.

At 10:50 a.m. Chief Deputy Marshal Earnes entered the jall and read
the death warrants. Jailer Burns then placed a light pair of handcuffs
on each of the men. All the priscners in the jail came forward to bid
the doomed farewell.

The "ponderous doors" swung open at 11 o'clock, and the execution
party started for the gallows, being joined on the way by the ministers.
tscending the platform of the scaffold, the prisoners seated themselves.
After. the four men of God had given the men last rites, Jack Womankiller
asked that they be allowed to sing a hymn. Permission was granted. The
ministers said goodbye and departed. Stepping fcrward, the condemned took
position on the trap. While their arms and legs were being pinioned,
womankiller and Davis stood firm and erect; Thompson made a few remarks of
a religious nature. After the ropes and caps had been adjusted, the trap
was sprung. They were given a drop of six feet. Their necks being broken,
all were declared dead within 14 minutes. Two minutes later, they were
taken down and placed in coffins. By ! o'clock their bodies were resting
quietly beneath the sod.

Not more than 50 persons witnessed the executicn. Before being
dropped, Thompscn had handed Father Berne a sealed envelope containing

is version of the killing of C'Holeren. Thompson, as his last request,
asked that the club which he had used to kill his victim be used to mark
his grave. He wished it inscribed:
T. L. Thompson
Born the 10th Day of April, 1850.
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at the beginning of July with 14 priscners from the Choctaw and Chickasaw
Katima. One of those in custody, Ed HcCurray, was badly wounded in the, ;- .. ..
groin.‘ Ha e.nd his partner had been run down by the Indien police, In
the’ ensning guntattle, HﬁCurra.v bad been wounded, his partner killed, and
one of ths police shot in the knee. MNcCurray had been hauled sll the way i
from Tishomingo lying on & mattress in the bottom of a wagon bed.

¥hile on this sweep through the Territory, ¥ershon had killed a man
named Webb, who was wanted for murder and had resisted arrest. Near
Fishertown, Mershon had attempted to arrest Hamilton, a full-blood Creek,
on a charge of murder. The redman chose to flee. Curing the pursuit,
Hershon's horse fell with him; the posse which was following closely
galloped over the deputy marshal and horse, severely brulsing both,
Taking advantage of the ccnfusion, Hamilton escaped, only to die from
the wounds received in the chase, 17

Money provided by Congress tc pay the costs of running Judge Parker's
Court was frequently in arrears, HMarshal Boles received funds at the end
of July to pay witnesses and jurors for services rendered since June 30,
As yet, the marshal hadn't received any money from Washington tc pay the

witnesses and jurcors for thelr services prior to July 1. 18
* %%

Although a tremendous amount of business had been transacted at the
May term of court, Judge Parker found a full docket awaiting action when
the August temm began.

Sam Walters was convieted of briber, during the third week of August.
Back in 1879 while Upham wus marshal, Walters had been a deputy. While
acting in that capacity, he had arrested Campbell for manslaughter.
Campbell had been lodged in the Focky Comfort jail. vhile there, the
pﬂsoner gave the lawman $125 to aliow him to escape. The affair didn't
come to light until 1882, when walters had been arrested and brought to
Fort Smith for trial. While out on bond, he had Jumped bail and fled the
state. . ﬁething more had been heard of Walters until June 1884, when he
nna m.o Marshal Boles! office and surrendered, 19 :

Anh ‘Atidns was tried during the last week of August for the mmdu'
ot Jchn Dukes. On May 25 the two Negroes had had .an ‘argument down fn: the
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‘ Poteau bottom. Picking up a club, Atkins had killed Dukes, After considerable
deliberation, the jury found Atkins guilty of manslaughter, <20 )
?hree men were scquitted of murder charges by the Court for the k’eft.éﬂl:
‘Diat_.d‘l?‘t at the end of August and the beginning of September. William :%
Clingan 'and Charles Haines were charged with being members of a party thab:i-/n
had h_nnged Mondey Koterts and Robert Jones on July 26, 1880, ¥hen the Jury
brought in its verdict on August 30, it declared that it had no jurisdiction
over Clingan, while Haines was pronounced not guilty.
In April 1683 the badly decomposed body of an wnknown man had been
found sbout one and ons-half miles from Limestone Cap. Host of the clothing
had been burned from the body. Several weeks later, a young Choctaw, Thomas
McGee, bragged to his friends thdt he had killed and robbed the man in question.
This led to McGee's arrest. Upon investigating, the authorities discovered
that about the time of the murder, Tom was "flush with money.® This was
considered remarkable since Tom hardly ever worked. The testimony of those
to whom Tom had confessed was not corrcoborated by other evidence produced
. by the prosecution, consequently, the jury, after remsining ocut only a few
minutes, freed McGee, 2
Not so lucky was William Dickson. Sam Laster owned a store at Lake
West, Choctaw Nation. The local Negroes on December 10, 1883, decided to
hold a dance. In response to their request, Laster agreed to let them use
a vacant storeroom. The committee in charge of arrangexents asked the
merchant to be present to keep order,
While the dance was in progress, William Diskson and Mat Brown rode
up. Dismounting, the two heavily armed Negroes entered the hall. Dickson
began cutting up and climbed up cn the countsr on one side of the room.
He and his companion proceeded to make nuisances cf themselves by harassing
the dancers. Laster objected. When he tried to compel the two intruders
to quiet down and leave, Dicksan pulled out his pistol and killed Laster.
Both Dickaon and Erown wers brought to trial. Dickson was convicted of
rder on Septembsr 8, while Brown was acquitted. 22
‘ ﬁ);ndo Bond, a youth of 16 summers, came to the Indian Territery ;?
3 . .n, Ohio. He moved in with his uncle, George Stroud, a

\.

Ry

y midmi ot the Creek Nation. On April 9, 188, Bond had gone to the -
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homre or W. T. Townly, who was unacquainted with the led. Bond told 7 m‘g

that his \mcle and & neighbor, John Smith, were planning to take hiu u‘f@a ”
1t ‘*;mith, he continued, came around, Bond swore he would kill hi@x e
= 'After the toy had left, Townly concluded that he was crazy. Ho decided ;’-
to gb warn Stroud of his ™wild talk." While en route to Stroud’s, Townly
pagded Smith's cabin which was on the Stonewall rced, 30 miles southwest

of McAlester. On dcing so, he was surprised to see Bond talking to Smith.
Calling to Smith, Townly took him aside and reported what the boy was

telling about the neighborhood. Accompanied by Bond, the two men started

for Stroud's. Before they had gone & yards, Bond drew his pistol and
mortally wounded 5mith. At the time of the attack, Smith was unarmed,

At the trial, the defense claimed thet Bond was insane. This ples
was sustained by the jury. Wwhen the verdict was rendered, Judge Parker
remsnded the boy to the jail, saying that since the jury had found him
insane, the ®“court cculd not turn him loose on this comrunity until some
one came forward and took proper charge of him," 23

The Bond trial was the last case of any particular interest disposed
of by the August term of court, While the court might adjourn, there was
no rest for the deputy marshals,

Deputy Karshal Bass Reeves reached Fort Smith on September 1, with
15 priscners. Two of the 14 were charged with murder. Chub Moore, a
full-blood Chickasaw, was accused of being the leader of a band of
vigilantees who in 1877 had hanged a Negro for an assault on a white woman.
Frank Pierce of Reeves' posse had made the arrest on August 7 at gohnsmvine.
Moore resisted, Pierce shot Moore in the right thigh, To bring him to
Fort Smith, the lawrmen loaded Moore in a covered hack and placed him on a
-mattress. Moore, Dr, bennett reported, had survived the 265-mile trip
remarkablg well,

Following his arrivsl at Fort Smith, Moore's condition took auci o
turn for the worse. By Friday, the 5th, it was apparent that the only
poszlbll way ofsgsiing Koore's life was to amputate the shattered limb,
on htﬁ!'d\v ths operation was undertaken; the leg was taken off imediiiid: ;.
Sil,w ihc hip. An hour before he was taken to surgery, Moore made a ccﬁfcniﬁ.
Hc gan the names of a nuuber of rustlers. In regaxq_ to the lynching of the

or e
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Negro near Erin Spring, Moore said that he and ancther man had arrested
thc fx.egro and were en route to Fort Sill., They had been overtaken by_

e.nother part.y vho seized the Negro.

crlm waa Harma, who had killed a white man cn February 24.
’ Berore he had returned to Fort Smith, Reeves told Marshsl Boles, he had
made a shocking discovery: posseman Frank Pierce was a notorious horsethief.
Pierce was alerted to Reeves' discovery and fied the country, 24
Reeves, at the time that Pierce had dese;ted, held warrants for the
arrest of Frank Buck and John Bruner. ¥hile on the Canadian, Reeves
encountered the two wanted men but didn't recognize them, He asked them
about several persons for whom he held writs, Buck and Bruner agreed to
serve as gihidesiic, At noon the posse camped. The cook turned to and
started preparing the meal. Reeves was shocked to see Eruner "stealthy
pulling his pistol.” Suspecting that something was amiss, Reeves stepped
behind his horse and confronted Eruner. As he did, the marshal grabbed
Bruner's pistol, and at the saze time he drew his own. Glancing over his
shoulder, Keeves saw [uck was also drawing. HKeeves was the faster gun.
Bang! Bang! roared the lawman's gun; Buck fell to the ground dead. <25
Shortly thereafter, Deputy Marshal Seale came in and reported that
his posse had killed a man charged with larceny. The editor of the Elevator
was disturbed by this, He was afrald that many of the lawmen were too
ready to throw lead, he wondered what would be done with “this murderer, or
whether it is an offense at all for a marshal or & pesse to shoot a man
charged with larcery in the nation."
s¥hy is a U, S, officer,* h‘e inquired, "not punished for unjustifiasbly
killing a man? No man is so destitutc of a commcn sense as to know he has
no right to shoot a man not under arrest and not convicted of a erime,
merely becsuse he runa from him,» 26
Karshal Boles and a strong force of guards left for Letroit on September 29.
They had with them 33 prisoners, whom Judge Parker had sentenced to the houu
et umaeuon. Accoerding to court records, this was the largest number ot, i
Fisoners ever taken away from Fort Smith at one tims. Even with the dcpn&ic*f'»
ef thu; men, 61 were still confined in the U. S. Jail. 27 WET

N
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- k‘_rehal Boles on October 9 Teplied to a letter he had received fm
Ettiﬁmv Gmeral Benjamin H. Brewster. The attormey general, in resporg’t :
Ato pﬂtaurc from the public demanding 1x%provments in conditions at the
‘U. 8. Jan, wanted to know the number of prisoners currently Meameratad :
at Fort Smith, the average number usually confined, a dezceription of the’
roome used for "jail purposes,® and what facilities Eoles had for the care
of his prisoners.

To answer Brewster's first question, Boles prepared a tsble listing
the number of prisoners confined in theqv. S. Jail at stipulated periocds
since the first of the year:

Date, 1884, No. in Jail Committed Confined
i1st of Month during menth during month

January 1at, 78 17 95
February ist. 53 61 114
March 1st. A 66 140
April ist. 102 41 143
May 1st, - 80 68 148
June 1st. S0 30 120
July Ist. 51 &, 115
August 1st, 77 66 143
September Ist., 106 41 147
Total number during 9 months h54

Number in Jail 1st Jan., Brought domm 78
Total number confined during 9 month 532

The total nuwmber of days these priscners remained in jail
during this period was 21,599 which being divided by 274, the
nuzber of days in this period, gives us s daily average number
{n confinement of 78.82 +,

Boles reported that the men and boys were confined in cells in
the basement of the old Soldiers' Quarters. This building, he continued, was:

about 60 feet square, outside measurement, and is divided by a
partition wall th h the center, msking two cells —- The basement |
;. .-0f vhe bullding is dade of stone — the wall being 2 1J2 feet kR
‘hiek -- above the basement the building is of brick, the reof
heing orginally covered with slate, but is rapidly getting out
w1 & ‘Order — needing repsirs. The bottom of the cells are
a? ? .'sovered with flag stones, which 1s about two and one half feet
"= “helow the surface of the Earth — Length of Cells 55 faet,
brexith 29 feet, bdght. about 7 feet.

209




The main door to the cells are 6 feet 3 in high, by 4 feet !
. wide. The windows in the front of the cells are & feet and &4 sz
-“_1nchea high, by 3 feet and 3 inches wide, those in the rear end
7 of the cells being not quite -- 8o large -~ There are four
win;lows in front and four in rear of each cell,
;:v.s There is also a small door in the rear of each cell but
thev are not used, and hence are kept securely cleosed, The
front doors are secured by two shutters, the one on the inside
being of hsavy wocd, that on the cutside being of bar irca,
Inside each cell and including each front door is built of
light boards a small room out of which a door opens into the
cell, These rooms were built - as s protection to the front
doors and to prevent a rush being made Ly the inmates upon
the Turnkeys,&c, and in these rooms the lawyers see an@

consult with their clients, \

When females were committed, Boles had them lodged in the amall
brick house formerl,y used by the military authorities as the post guardhouse,
The guardhcuse %““ sbout 75 yards from the entrance to the U, 3. Jail, and
as such when in use, it neceasitst.eg the emplayment of cne extra guard
during the hours of darkness.

Since there were cnly two cells of egual size, the marshal was
compelled to confine:

8ll criminals gncd these only charged with misdexeanors
together in the same cell without resard to ages, charge
or physical eondition =~ The youth of teander years, often
charged with only a misdemeanor, is confined for months
with the condemned murderecr anc harden desperado -~
beaides this we have no place to keep the sick and
wounded separate from the wild, noisy, unfeeling crowd
around them.

Boles when the weather waan't too warm, would on occasicns have the
sick taken to a room in the attic over the courtroom:. This would have
been done more often, but it required the employment of additional help
to care for the patients.

To take care of the spiritual needs of the prisoners, Boles reported
that "through the philanthropic kindness of the ministers of the Gospel
and ‘soz0 01‘ the Christian ladies and gentlemen of this city; we have -

saching and Sunday schools in each cell every Sabbath.®
&!bo sooking and washing for the jail, the marshal wrotes

e :ifdone in & little vld boikstt house about 75 yerds away.
. “%:7 fhe facilities for cookin. . énd the sooking, is, of course
' supplied by ¥r. Ayres who subsists the priscners for me,
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ke have some commen pote or kettles with which water is
“heated in scme old fire places in this house, to do the
i - washing for the Jjeil and prisoners, using coal oil
. . . barrels saved in two equal perts for wash tubs -- I
““have no means of giving the prisoners baths, except to
.- bathe their hands and faces ..., without allowing them
..to take a set-bath in the cell, using a half barrel for
the tub,

The urinal tubs, which take the place of the earth
closet, shown in the diagram at No, 3. with the slop
tubs from the wash stands shown at &4 ..., are removed
twice a day, and carried outside the walls of the Fort
some distance and emptied into pits dug for the purpose,

Situated as the jail was, it was only "with the most rigid and
vigilant attention te its cleanliness and the free use of disinfectants"
such as lime that Boles had been able "to keep up the good health of its
inmates.® As he informed Attomey General Erewster, the fear was slways
with him that "some contazious disease would get into the jail.® If it
did, it would be impossible to suppress it without evacuating the Jsil,

Several years before, when a smallpox epidemic was sweeping through
the Creek and Cherckee Kations, Boles had recalled his deputies from
the "infected districts" for fear of introducing that plague into the
U. S. Jail,

The jJailer's office, Boles informed Erewster, wae a "little board
shanty®” in front of the guardroom. It was only about 9x10 feet and was
tinadequate and unfit" for the purpose for which it was employed.

Since there were no storerocms for the jeil and the property
belonging to the inmates, Boles saw that the stores and personal gear

were. "packed away in the attic of the court room and in the jailer's office.®

To help Brewster and the persomnel of the attomey general's office
‘understand what he was describing, Marshal Boles attached a ground plan

of the U. 5. Jail to his letter, 28
% & %

The U. S. Court recanvened on November 2, 1884. Little time was lost
}n cnpanﬁling the juries for the Kovember term. The docket which was !gg;t.
mo,- !pcluded 56 prisoners lodged in the U. 5. Jail. These prilmiig

.}‘

Vk_'ﬁfnl cction by the Court for the Western District were charged uatﬁ},;?
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Murder
.~ —.-Assault with intent to kill e
o o hmeny 17

h ﬁ:gy cases 1; ‘
In addit.ion, there were 66 men out on bond, making 129 cases on the criminal
docket tc be tried. 29

A number of men were placed on trial for their lives at the November
term of court.

George Alberti was a prosperous farmer in the Cherokee Nation. Having
& large quantity of land, Alberti rented part of it to Henry Meadows, Alberti
at this time employed an 80-year-old Negro, Fenn Morgan, to feed hogs and
undertake other light chores cn the Meadows' farm.

On August 4, 1883, Fred Ray, who lived at Henry Yeadows' house, returned
from Alberti's farm, where he had been employed for several weeks, while
at Alberti's, Ray had chanced tc overhear a passing remark that Fenn was
supposed to carry from $800 to $900 on his person. Ray, after eating his

‘ evening meal, asked Henry Mesdows' scn, wWilldam, if he wanted some money,

The 1{-year-old bey repiied, "Yes!"

Ray told him to "get your pistol and follow me."

At first, William hesitated., Urged on by the older man, he let his
greed get the better of his good judgement.

Twelve-yaar-old Joel Keadows followed his brother out of the house,

The man and the two boys headed for the corncrib. 4s they walked up, Fenn
was busy getting out a basket of corn to feed the hogs.,

Ray demanded money.

The o0ld Negro said he had none.

At this, Ray pulled his pistol, thrust it against Fenn's side, and
repeated the command. Poor Fenn pulled from his pocket a dime and a penknife.
kay refused the coin and cursed the Negro,

Becowing frightened, little Joel fled to the house. As he dashed mtn
tho ﬂ}cbt:, Mrs. Headows heard a shot. Her child screamed in terror,

R I

Wa kdlled old Fenn.® ¥
,:w‘lmnts after Fern had offered him the dime, Ray pulled the trigger, ;.

. l'he Iogro staggered and collapsed. Whipping out his knife, Ray cut awvay
Fern's cutside trousers., In the pockets of the inside pair, he found some

212



money. william ¥eadows was handed $8 as his share of the plunder,

By this time, Joel had returned. He was sent for a hos. Vith the hoo &
shanow grave was dug, into which Fenn's body was rolled, The hogs, withia
aevoral days, had rooted up the corpse. Aided by the boys, Ray dragged ﬁ'
body to a lake about 400 yards away and pushed it into the water. This'vil' iR
on Friday.

The following Monday, Ray attended a Negro barbecue. while there, he
remarked about Fenn's disappearance., Arrangements were made for the
organization of a search party. This group would begin its search on Tuesday
morning. Returning to Meadows' ho‘gse that night, Ray told ¥William to take
two pistols, the knife, and the $8 He was to go to Claremore. There, he
would catch the first train out of the Indien Territory.

When the Negroes reached Mesdows' the next morning, Ray told them
that he had found Penn's body in the shallow water near the edge of the
lake. Ray remarked that it was certainally suspicious the way young Meadows
had disappeared, when he heard that the lake was to be dragged. At the
sane time, Ray pointed cut that Penn had been shot.

A warrant was sworn out for the arrest of William Headows. Arrested,
Meadows made a full confession. Kay, when confronted by Meadows! statement,
denied knowledge of the crime.

Ray and the two Headows boys were brought before Judge Parker's Cpurt
to answer for the crime. The jury im the third week o.r November brought
in a verdict of guilty against Ray and william Keadows; little Joel was
acquitted, 30 ‘

Oon May 15, 1860, Henry Kich, & well-to-do white faruer. end
postmaster at Washita, was shot from ambush. At the time of the attack,
Rich was en route fram Cadde to Washita with the mail., Although badly
wounded, Rich succeeded in reaching his haome. Pefore expiring, he itbld his
fapily that shortly before being fired upon, he had met Robinson Kemp and
his stepson, Eduund Jefferson. It was theorized by several of the local
o,qt.hor&tics that Kemp and Jefferson, after talking with Rich, had takcnr W
dhos ‘fgngmrough the woods and vere waiting to waylay: his. Priends ¢t
&asm&,ﬁm ??xvincod that Rich had been assassinated by Bartinu,‘;
Mexican, and Thurman, a white gunmsn.
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Martinas and Thurman were taken into custody at Denisen, Texas, and
Cxtmdited to Fort Smith. On the day set for the trial, the jury was cﬂlci.
Slnc& :m witnesses appeared to testify, the two suspects were releaaﬁ.‘ L 3
ﬁ'hib t!.me, the finger of suspicion had been pointed at Sam Munn and PM
Robinsm. They were arrested, but dischargeﬁ for want of evidence.
Kemp, who was a wealthy Indian of 65 gurmers, and his stepson were now
taken into custody and charged with kich's purder, After being held in the
Fort Smith jail for several wecks, the Indians were released on bonds of
$3,000 each. Both msn were hailed before the August 1884 term of Judie
Parker's Court. When §‘neir case was called up on August 8, Kemp failed to
appear. It was discovered that he had jJumped his bond and left for parts
wknown. Jefferson was jailed. Kemp, fearing the result of the trial,
had left his bondsman holding the bag.
Kemp surrendered to the auticrities on October 12, and the case was
rescheduled for the November term of court. At the trial vhich was held
at the end of the first week of December, Prosecutor Clayton called several
. witnesses to the stand, They told of the words gasped out by Rich before he
t ;" died, concerniny Kemp and Jefferson. The defense produced a pumber of perscns
sho swore that Kemp and fiobinscn were at home on the day in questiom, helping
to erect an arbor under which to hold religious services. The Kemp-Hobinson
$wdal ended in a hung Jury. !
¥sson Holcomb had been born in Kentucky. Following the Civil ¥War in
which he had served in the Union army, Holcomb had emigrated to Missourl.
while living in Missouri, Holcomb had taken & wife. From Hisscuri, the
former soldier had pushed on intoc northwestern Arkansas. There, he settled
first near Jasper in Newton county, and from there he removed to Franklin
in Franklin counr, Along toward the close of 1882, Holcomb drifted westward
into the Indian Territory. He settled near McAlester's store on the
Canadian River,
, Holcomb and his friend, F. Seigal Fisher,tock a job in the swumer of
)ea; ‘pabting up hay. While working in a hayfisld on July 23, both wen et e
! After work, they started home together. An argument ensued. Moy i
§86t K1 friend in the back. Leaving the body where it fell, Holeeab f1eds
' ¥o Kuntucky. Arrested at Mt. Vemon by Fisher's brother in Narch IBSI.“”‘"“qus e
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Holcomb was brought to Fort Smith for trial.

A oicomb entered a plea of not guilty; he claimed to have shot Fishu' ?“"3
aq}f-dafenso. He swors that Fisher had a pistol. When they had 11
Ff;l{dr Ynd dravn the weapon and threatened his life. In the struggle u‘hi;i
ensned, Holcomb wrenched the pistol away"égom Fisher, and shot him in the
back,

Prosecutor Clayton, through his searching examination of witnesses,
demonstrated that at the point where the body was found the grass was knee
high and very thick. Strange to say, he observed, the grass hadn't been
knocked down. There simply was no evidence of & struggle, Clayton argued.
The jury in weighing the evidence, decided on December 19 that Holcomb was
guilty. 32 '

Three years before Judge Parker had been appointed to the bench, there
had been a killing near Tahlequah. William Feigle worked arcund the Cherokee
capital in November 1872, Feigle, on ;tovember 2h,, had walked into town.
3topping in at a shoépakexz;'(s ,he had his boots half-soled. ¥ith this business
taken care of, Feiglé left Tshlequah, taking the Fort Gibson road.

The next day, his body was found alengside the road, two niles from
Tahlequah. Examining the corpse, the Cherokee Light Horse found that besides
having bsen shot, Feigle's skull had been crushed by a heavy object, probably
a stone. The unfortunate victim's boots, hat, coat and overshirt had been
taken, along with any money, he might have been carrying. Feigle's murder
caused quite a sensation. Since Feigle had no relatives in the Indian
Territory, the authorities scon gave up their efforts to find the suler
or killers., At the time, where was s ome talk that & Cherckee-legro,

James Arcene, and a full-blood Cherokee, William Parchmeal, might have done
Feigle in.

Interest in the case finzlly lapsed, Eleven years later, Deputy
Harshal Andrews was assigned to the Tahlequah area. Andrews became interested
in the Peigle case. Keopening an investigaticn, Andrews was sble to scrape
ipqom ‘evidence to sesure a warrant for Arcene's and Parchmeal's aM =

fréiia ¥A8 apprehended on March 30, 188, dnd Parchueal in early Awh%g;
D m taken into custody, Parchmesl talked. He took Andrews to ﬁ 5

.“éuj;; of the eriwe and showed him the rock that he and his confederste N

e
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uud t.o,bash in Feigle's head, First, he explained, Arcene had pumped f
ohota inib the’6 vidtim, j
k two men were brought before Judge Parker's Court, Turning on L
’n%ot.her,: ‘Arcene and Parchmeal each claimed that the other was the murdom._x
The trial began on December 24, after 13 days, the jury was sent out to
reach a verdict. The case ended in a deadlocked: jJury, and the jJurors were
discharged. 33

William Hill lived just across the river from Fort Smith on the Jackson
King place in the Cherckee Nation. On Monday night, September 9, the cld
gentleman was murdered. The killer had fired the fatal shot through a erack
in the wall, The next day, ﬁill's son-in-law, willdsm Phillips, was arrested.
Charged with the murder, Phillips was lodged in the U. S. Jail, Most of the
evidence against Phillips was circumstantial. On §une 2, the two men had
argued violently; as a climax to the dispute Phillipa had shot the old man
in the heel. Arrested, Phillips had posted a peace bord,

Bob Hill, a son of the geceased, and Bob Lackey were alsc taken into
custody and charged with cem;;ncity in the killing. When they were brought
before the U. S. commissioner, he listened to the evidence and ordered thelr
release,

At .his trial, Phillips repeatedly denied his guilt. The Jury disagreed.
on January 20, 1885, a verdict of guilty was retumed. 34

The Zive men (Mason Holcomb, Fred Ray, William Meadows, William
Phillips, and William Dickson) convicted of capital crimes at the August
and Eovember terms of court were hailed before Judge Parker on January 31,
1885, Parker sentenced the felons to be hanged on Friday, April 17.

Deputy Marshal ¥ershon and his posse reported in at the U, 8. Jail
several days after the Novcmi;er term of court had opened with 14 prisoners.
One of these, Bob Wolf, was charged with murder. Wwolf had killed another
Negro (Frank Stockbridge) three months before. Bob and his victim hild been
m t.he same wench. On the day of the killing, Frank got to the hame .
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man who had the sudacity to beat him out of his girl and then laugh in hic o

'l'he asss.\ilt failed; the father recovered and swore out a werrant against hi. i \
child's traducer.

On Monday, November 3, three of Mershon's posse had gone to the honme
of old man Layson at the head of Glass Creek. They held warrants for the
arrest for mufier of Layson and his son, Jonas. As the posee rode up, old
man Layson, his eon, and several friends opened fire. A lively battle ensued,
Cld man layson was killed and Jonas badly wounded. Two of the pesse, bud
Pusley and Ceorge Pounds, were wounded, Pusley was taken to Denison for
hospitalization, There, he died cn the 10th, another victim in the struggle
to bring law to the Indian Territory, 33

The cenipresent Mershon was back at Fort Smith on December ZQ
that time he turned over to Jailer Burns six priscners. Cince the weather
was very cold, the prisoners who had been riding for several days in the
wagon were glad to get inside. Two of them, William and Kimon Hamilton,
were charged with murdering a Negro, andy Colbert, near Tishomingo. A
brother of the Hamiltons had been slain, and Colbert was presumed to be
implicated. The Hamiltons had gone locking for Colbert and had shot him
to death, Since then, although the killing had taken place in 1883, the
Hamiltons had eluded the law until captured at their home by three of
Mershon's posse. The previous June, a posse had surprised ths Hamiltons,
but they had escaped., though they were compelled to abandon their Winchesters.

.rum_m: January é, reported that his jail was becoming badly
overcrowied + AR n—ofh gigt Bhome » inmates, 37

36

‘n;e 48th Congress on July 4, 1884, had spproved two bills, which,

B thoir effect was 1ittle noticed, could be considered attacks on T
lon of the Court for the Western District. One of these enac e
4nted Fight of way through the Indian Territory to the Southern xanuf‘al
uT“ém" and the Colorado & Sants Fe railroads. The other gave to the

——
\~

~
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United States Circuit and Distriet Courts for the Northern District
of ‘l‘exas, the Western Listrict o
' _mg puch other courts as may be suthorized by Conzress," €omcurrent
Jurisdietion over all controversies arising between thé Southern
‘Kansas and the Gulf, and the Colorado & Santa Fe railroads and the
nations and tribes through whose land they might be constructed,

In addition, the aforementioned courts would have jurisdiction in
cases arising between the inhabltants of said naticns or tribes and
the railroads in questlon, without refersnce to the amount in
controversy, and "the civil Jurisdiction” of said courts *was
extended within the limits of the Indian Territory” without distinction
a8 to the citizenship of the parties'so far as was necessary to carry
out said acts.m 38

o e
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LAV FUFOMOACENT AT PORT SMITH 1871 - 1898

Chapter XII

The only case at the February 1885 term of court which elicited much \
local intereat was the retrial of Arcene and Parchmeal for the murder of
Feigle., This time, the Jury was able to reach a verdict. On March 28
the foreman anncunced that both men were guilty as charged, !

Because of an inadequate appropriaticn by the 4B8th Congress for the

| gepartment of Justice, there would be no money to defray the expense of a
Kay term of court. The witnesses and Jurors were accordingly notified to
remain at hame till July. This would constitute a great hardship on these
persons in Jsil awaiting trial.

At the time that the Elevator want to press on April 17 there were 45
prisoners in Jail scheduled to stand trial, Of these, 20 were charged with

’ murder. Unless Harshal Boles recalled his deputies from the Indian Territory,

-4t was feared that the jJail would be filled to overflowing before a July term

of court could be convened. To pen up from 100 to 125 men in-twocellsnot—

over "30 ,;_% in the editor's opinion, would be "very hard on them, |

ospecially during the hot weather."
Nmm“mmt, the editor observed:

The appropriations to run this court have fallen short
every year for three or four years past, and it is certainly
poor ecanumy on the part of Congress to mske insufficient
appropriations, when it is plain that it only tends to add

additional expense, for these men must be tried and the longe
their trials are delayed the greater the expense to the
governnent, and the more unjust to the prisoner, for in many
cases irnocent men may be incarcerated,

On Saturday night, April 11, a telegram from President Grover

Cleveland was delivered to Marshal Boles, announcing that the death sentences

of Holcomb, Ray, and Meadows had been commuted to imprisonment for life, 3
Rq'a attorneys, Winchester and Eryant, had prepared and forwarded a .
dmud ‘detter to the chief executive on the behalf of their clieat ~;~

. “’wfh“ that until the murder of Fenn Morgan, he had let a good life, . ...

4
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The people of New Madrid county, Missouri, where Ray had resided for tem
years had prepared and signed a petition in his behalf. The editor of the.... . .
Elevamr theorized that Meadows' sentence had undoubtedly been cowuted_}"’“' e

§i%es in the case and the petition signed and forwarded to kashinzf.ua

by his friends.
Honday esening, the 13th, brought another telegram from the President,

-Colonel Cravens had succeeded in getting the President to commute Dickson's

death sentence to life imprisonzent. This left only one man, Phillips, to
be hanged on Friday, April 17. As the Elevator went to press on the 16th,
Phillips was reportedly *anxiously awaiting and expectilng, a commutation, b
Indeed, Philli%g was so confident that his sentence would be commuted
that "he had made no preparaticns to meet his fate." (n Friday moming,
however, Phillips weskened and sent for s minister, Reverend T. J.
Hendrickson responded, and did what he eould to prepare the condemned man.
Even so, Phillips didn't abandon all hope until 11 o'clock, when a dispatch
was received from Washington announcing that President Cleveland declined
te interfere in his behalf,
Phillips then sent for his attomey, Colonel kalthen, le asked
¥Walthen to have his body taken to Mrs. Gans' house, whers his wife was
staying. ¥althen was to see that the body gas shipped to Ozark for burial
alongside Phillips' first wife. The lawyer “would sell the cow which
Pnillips had left at §'abe Payne's place to defray the expense of transportation.
About 11:30 a first class dinner was brought to the condemned by order
of Colonel ¥althen. After devouring the meal, Phillips spent his time until
his execution (which was set for 3 p.m,) in religious exsrcise and conversing
with his friends. At the appointed hour, Chief Deputy Marshal Barnes entered
the cell and read the death warrant. Next, Phillips said goodbye to his
fellow-prisoners and "marched forth to death, walking erect and firmly,"
his spiritusl adviser on cne side and Jailer Burns on the other,
= A 8000 &3 the party reached the gallows, Reverend Hendrickson otford
. W in behalf of the condemed. After Hendrickson had finished, %3 -
th 1} .. iﬁepped forward and tock position en the trap, immediately undér. "
un aocu. His legs and arms were pinioned. When asked if he had anythia;
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to say, Fhillips sald, "No!® The black cap was drawn over his head; the
Np. ‘adjusted. ::,’:':;"%’

LAt thie moment, it appeared that Phillips r:lnall.y realized his "awf\ll
cmditicn and certein dooa® for he began repeating the Lord‘'s prayer. As
t.ho words *Thy will be done” iesued from his 1ips, the drop fell, and the =
felon dropped through the trap to his death. Phillips' neck was broken.
kithin 14 minutes his pulse had ceased to beat, and he was pronounced dead, 5

'_ tn Fridw, Kay 1, & posse of 13 Texans led by Indian policeman James

W moved against a well-organized gang of cattle rustlers which operated
in the Delaware Eend section of the Chickasaw Nation. The lawmen were hot
on the trail of five rustlers (Tam Green, Jim and Pink Lee, Ed Stein, and
Della Hunter)., Before reaching the Lees! cabin on Mud Creek, Guy and his
men dismounted snd approached on foot. John Davidson met the lawmen about
100 yards from the house. He was placed under arrest, and a man detailed
to gusrd him. As the posse neared the cabin, Ed Stein threw open a shutter
and demanded to know what the posse wanted.

Guy called that he had warrants for the arrest of the Lees and Hunter.
Stein was seen to speak to a confederate. He then told Guy that if he had
any business to step around to the front of the cabin. Ouy did as requested,
Hardly had he done so before several chinks from between the logs were knocked
out, and two shots were fired at him, killing him instantly. 4 fierce
gunbattle ensued, Three additionel lawmen (Andy and James Roff, and
William Kirksey) were slain. The rest of the posse retrested to their herses,
abandoning their dead comrades, After the posse had been routed, the ocutlaws
fled the cabin and stsrted for Delaware Bend. As they did, they stopped
and told several people that "there were several corpses up at the ranch
which would spoil unless they received attention.” The report of the slaughter
arcused the countryside; a large posse was socn organized.

Jim and Pink Lee were able to elude the posse. They seemed to keep Just
far enough shead of their pursurers to avoid capture. To mske matters more
ditticult. for the authorities, the two brothers appeared to have more
mpathum in the Delaware Bend area than they. Tom Green and Ed St.oin,'
hoicwr. \m-e captured and taken to Sheruan, Texas, where they were Jan.d

35 AR £ '..: -
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They claimed that they had left the cabin before the shooting commenced, 7

Capt.ain sam Sixkiller in early June found himself hot on the t.rau‘ctw
t.!:e most notoricus badman in the Territory, Dick Class, Information hml
reached sukiller that Glass hnd several confederates had gone to Dmi!qa, s
Texas, to pick up a load of whiskey. Sixkiller and his men (Charlie Leflore"
and two other members of the Indian police, and Charlie McClellan, a \
cattleman) set up an ambush near Colbert's Station on the Denison.road.

¥hen the lawmen sighted the Glass gang approaching, one of the bootleggers
was driving the wagon, while the three others followed on their horses.
Sixkiller waited till the wagon had approached to within ten feet, when he
stepped out of the underbrush and commanded the whiskey runners to surrender,
The three horsemen put their spurs to their mounts. UDick Glass whipped out
his pistcl as he turned his horse. At this, the lawmen opened fire, Glass
and Jim Johnson were shot from their mounts, dead. Securing their horses,
the officers pursued the third rider about two miles before they compelled
him to surrender. FKeturning to the scene of the encounter, the lawmen
diséovered that the driver had uniiitched the team and fled on one of the
ani;zals. Charlie Leflore started after him, After a chase of six miles he
too was captured,

Meanwhile, the other deputies had placed the bodies of Class and Johnson
in the wagon. They were taken to Cclbert's Station, where Glass was
positively identified. According to the press, *This is quite a festher
in Sixkiller's cap, for the man who had the nerve tc step out in the road
in front of Dick Glass is & little above the average in bravery,® &

Charlie Leflore reached Fort Smith early on June 19 on the steaner
Border City with Sam and Richwond Caroline, who had been arrested at the
time that Glass end Johnson were slain. ?

The execution of Arcene and Parchmesl on Friday, June 26, was a "private
affair.” Very few spectators were present. khile the death warrants were
being read to the doomed, a driving rain commenced, It was still beat.ing
eown shen the condemned were taken Et:2 p.m, from the jail in which tbq o u
hid bcm gonfined for more than a year, ..,‘.g.?‘-w 3
‘the felons ascended the steps to the scaffold *with that Mﬂtem. oo
and stoicism so peculiar to the Indian race, :evincing no sign of nervo\unese |
or fear.® After the singing of a hymm and a prayer by their spiritual adviser,
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Reverend San Dean, they were placed on the death trap.
G ;»h'hile standing "almost in the presence of their Ged," Arcene and b
Parehéaéal confessed their crime, Thelr statements were carefully takell
dotm ‘by Professor Saunders, the court stenographer. After they had i
concluded thelr arms and legs were pinioned, the caps drawn over thoir
heads, and the nooses adjusted. Jailer Burns then pulled the trigger;

the two men shot through the trap, with sufficient force to break their
necks., After being declared desd, the bodies were cut down and taken

to the city cemetery for burial, 10
“ %

- When the Court for the Western District convened on July 6, it was
confronted by the largest criminal docket that had yet faced Judge
Parker, In Jail awaiting trial were 102 prisoners, A breakdown of
the crimes listods

¥urder 29
Assault with intent to kill 18
Arson 2
Counterfeiting 2
Threatening to kill 2
. larceny 27

Introducing whiskey into the Indisn Territory 22
All told, there were 117 in Jail., Of the others, 14 were serving sentences,
while one was an attached witness.
In addition, there were about 75 cases, the defendants to which
were out on bond, !!
Judge Parker had on docket 11 murder trials for this term of ecourt.
Orrine C. HeCarty's trial was to begin on July 10; Robert Wolf, the
13th; James Wasson, the 15th; Hobigson Kemp and Edmond Jefferson, the
20th; William and Kimon Hamilton, July 25; William Letterman, August 6,;
Meredith Crow, the 10th; Jeff Hooper, the 14th; James Walker, the 17th;
Blue Duck, the 24th; Bruce McKee and John Rice, August 29, 12 ‘
. The _ officers of the court, the jurors, witnesses, and spectators
wm upressed to note on taking their seats that since the Pebruary
court, th. courthouse had received a “general house cleaning.* 13
Orrine McCarty's lawyers succeeded in getting Judge Parker to
post.pone their client's ogse. The first gapital ocrime taken up by the
July term of court was the trial of Robert Wolf for the murder of Frank

Stockbridge. Wolf had been raised by Mrs. Lucy Walkins, a wealthy
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resident of the Chickasaw Nation. Upon coming of age, Volf had taken a

%ife., Wolf and his wife had separated. The husband accused a second):'
Negrb, Frank Stockbridge, of being the cause of his marital troubles.%
,On day as Wolf was out riding, he passed a neighborhocd dance hall. %
’éiockbridge and several colored girls were sitting in the front yard.
Reining up his horse, Wolf dismcunted. Passing through the gate, Wolf
started teasing one of the girls, Suddenly, Wolf drew his pistol and
turning to Stockbridge, he remarked, "I am going to kill you.”
Stockbridge rushed Wolf. While the two were struggling for the

weapon, it was discharged. The ball struck Stockbridge in the chest,

causing a8 mortal wound.
Wolf at his trial was represented by a powerful battery of lawyers,
William ¥. Cravens, J, K, Barnes and E. C. Boudinot. It was rumored that
Mrs. Wadkins had paid the lawyers $600 to represent her protege. Wolf
when examined, disclaimed any intention of killing Stocktridge. He said
that he had merely made the threat in jest and to frighten Stockbridge.
Under cross-examination by Mr. Clayton, Wolf admitted that the deceased
had caused the brealup of his marriage.
The Jury believed the prosecutor, and on July 25 brought in a verdict
of guilty.
Henry and Lewis Weaver had had difficulty with a man named Riddle.
kiddle secured the assistance of his friend Tucker. While Tucker held a
gun on Henry, Riddle gave Lewis a severe beating. The same night , kiddle
and Tucker stole a mule and a horse from the Weavers. Eefore they could
make their getaway the alarm was raised.
A large posse, led by Almerine Wadkins, turned out to hunt the thieves.
Riddle and Tucker were captured. After a rope had been tied around the
neck of one of the thieves, they remembered that they had hidden the stolen
animals in the ¥Washita bottom, about eight miles northwest of Colbert's Ferry.
¥hile en route to recover the horses, the posse drank heavily, After
finding the livestock, the suggestion was voiced that they hang Riddle lud

thﬁ%ﬁkiﬁs disagreed.
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| ,piétals ami opened fire, One ball struck Wedkins just below the heart,

His opposition enraged Lewis keaver and Jim Wasson., They drew thei.r

but not before he had pulled his pistol and fired three shots at his
assailantg without effect. Leaving Wadkins dead, Lewis Weaver and has§
g&lloped off.

Riddle and Tucker, the cause of the tragedy, were arrested by Marshal
Mershon and Policeman Leflore. The widow announced in the Denison Globe-Democrat
that she would pay $3,000 for the arrest of her husband's slayers, 15

On Mondey evening, September 24, a msn galloped into Colbertts Station
and reported that he had seen Jim hasson sbout three-quarters of a mile
west of town. Simp Bennett quickly collected a posse and started in pursuit,
Hearing that Wasscn had stopped at a cabin about a mile north of the ferry,

Simp sént a man racing ahead to see if he could engage the wanted man in a

conversation.

kiding up to the cabin, the inan dismounted and said he was looking for
cattle, He took a seat between \-.asson and the door, Simp and his posse
gown rode up.

As they did, Simp called, "Let's stop and get a drink," and dismounted.
Wasson didn't realige what was afoot. As the cowboys walked by him, Simp
wheeled, drew his revclver, and shouted, "Hold up.® Since Simp had the
drép on him, kwasson had anly one alternative and that was to give up, 16

" Wasson was a double murderer, In 1881 he and a confederate, Johnny
Mclaughlin, had killed Henry Martin, The killing had taken place near
Harney in the Chickasaw Nation. At the time of the shooting, Martin, who
was about 30 years old, was living at the homs of Mrs. Brooks, a wealthy
widow., On the fatal day, kasson and Mclaughlin rode up to Mrs. Brocks!
late in the evening. Calling to Mrs, Brooks, the twc armed men asked for
ﬁaépin. 8ince he had gone to the store, Martin wasn't in. Wasson and
McLaughlin, who had been drinking heavily, had trouble remcunting. They
had been gone only a few mouents when Mrs, Brooks heard several shots, ,
Shoru} thereafter, Martin's riderless horse trotted up to the house, .
of m. Ms' cowhands rode out to look for Martin., They found his

225



Wasson sad Melaughlin, but. they were allowed to flee the area, although
2 z;wm v marshal and his posse were camped nearby,
... Wusdon returned to the Red River country in 1882. As he had a bad :
*B.tatim, he was not molested. He roamed about the neighborhood at wﬁl
Mﬁng under ccver whenever a deputy marshal was known to be in the localit,y.
It was only after the killing of Wadkins and the posting of the large reward
that VWasson was apprehended.
District Attorney Clayton felt that he had a better ¢ hance of
convicting Wasson of Martin's murder., When Wasson was brought to trial
it was for the shcooting of Martin. Clayton's decision was vindicated,
&s the jury on July 30 brought in a verdict of guilty, 17
Kemp and Jefferson were retried by Judge Parker's Court during the
firet week of August. This time, Kemp was found guilty and Jefferson was
released. People farilar with the Court forthe Western District regarded
this as most unusual, because one man appeared as guilty as the other,
Kemp's lswyer, Colonel Cravens, promptly filed a motion for a new trial.
¥hen this was rejected by Judge Parker, Cravens appealed to President
Cleveland, 18
The Haxilton brothers, villiam and Kimon, were convicted on August 14
of the murder of Andy Colbert, 19
The trial of William Lettemman for the murder of Peter love in July 1864
ended on August 28 in a hung jury; the jurors stood seven for acquittal to

five for guilty of manslaughter. <0
Joseph Jackson and his wife were employed by Frank Tibbitts of

Scullyville, Mrs. Tibbitts had gone to Fort Smith to spend the weekend of
March 7-9 with her parents.

After eating breakfast on the morning of the 9th, Tibbitts went to
his store, 300 to 400 ygrds from his house, When he left, Fickson and his
wife were doing the dishes, About 8 a.m, Tibbitts, along with all the
neighbors, heard two shotgun blasts. Turning to a customer, Tibbitts o
ruurked that Joe must have gone hunting. Ancther man coming in with ngi “

ARUL wood, heard the shots. Shortly thereafter, he spotted Joo coning
oai‘“ nbhitts* house carrying s shotgun. i
" fater, Joe returned with a Negro woman and entering the kitchen found

s

¥
.

226



the body of his wife. She had been blasted with two charges from s
double-barrel shotgun. Joe felgned "great grief.® A thorough invest.iaaum e
convri.nsed ‘the people of Scullyville that Joseph Jackson was the mmderu' '
Leq Ca.nnon, a member of Deputy Marshal Searle's posse, heppened along
and took Joe into custody, 2t ' B

Joe cn September 15 was found guilty of killing his wife, 22

The McKee-hice case went to the Jury at noon on September 19, Five
hours later, the jury returned s verdict acquitting the two men of the
murder of D, Stewart, two years before. While the two deputy marshals had
ween attempting to serve a writ on Stewart, he had resisted. ¥hen gunned
down, Stewart fell with his Winchester in his hands, <3

The Widow Thruman in 1875 lived in the Chickasaw Nation. Since elfigible
wvhite women in the Indisn Territory were at a premium, the widow hed two
ardent sultors--Cub Courtney and Theodore Pitts. Of the two, the widow
preferred Pitts, conseguently, Courtney became extremely jealous of his
rival,

OGn the aftermoon of Sunday, June 8, 1875, Meredith Crow was visiting
at the home of Carson, the widow's nearest neighbor. Courtney, who was a
wild, reckless youth, rode up to the widow's house, while Pitts was calling.
Leaving Pitts in the house, the widow waglked across to Carson'sto avoid
Ceurtney.

As Courtney galloped up to the widow's, Pitts aimed at him through
the window. The cap snapped, but the gun misfired. Undaunted, Courtney
cursed Pitts at the top of his lungs. He then rode over to Carsonds. As
Courtney rode up, he pointed his pistol at t he people who had rushed:
outside to see what all the commotion was about. Whereupen, cyrw__ dr’éi his
gun and shot Courtney twice, killing him instantly. ’

Crow headed for Texss before any deputy marshal could rzach the area.
He remeined in Texas until January 14, 1885, when he was arrested by James
H. Guy. When brought to trial before the Court for the Western Distriet, )
Gm's ct.torneys argued self-defense, They claimed that Crow had ttoppd -
out. nt WIon'a house with no thought of harming Courtney. He had bm

rv$v-~

tmod tojake COurtney'a life, when the young man drew on him. The jury't.
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was uncenvinceds On Cctober 2, the jurors brought in a verdict of guilty, 25
- Beveral weeks after Judge Parker had adjourned the July tera of eogﬂ'., oo P
Prasiéent. Cleveland nominated, and the Senate confirmed as marshal for 4
'deatom Dist.rict John Carroll of Carroll county. At the same time, the: -
?résident ‘named Monte Sandels of Fort Smith to replace Judge Clayton u L
District Attorney. Since Boles and Clayton were Republicans, Cleveland \
had seen fit to replace them with two good Democrats. 26

Carrol) and Sandels were sworn into office on Saturday, November 1.
Carroll promptly named as his deputy mershals: A. J. Vanderventer, C. M,
Barnes, W, G, Nehms, Samusl Sixkiller, William H. Cravens, E. G. Garrelson,
D. W. Hoskins, and J. H. Mershon. 27

Meanwhile, the deputy marshals during the final days of Marshal Eoles
tern of office continued their drive against the forces cf evil,

Frank Cass and A. P. Goocdykoontz were found murdered near the Sac
and Fox Agency on Monday, August 24. When discovered, the bodies had
been "dreadfully mutilated by hogs..., the flesh having been torn from
their faces and limbs," The popular Vinita merchants had left their
hozes in s two-horse buggy, several days before on a cattle buying
expedition. Since both bodies were wrapped in their tlankets, the
authorities theorired that they had been slain in their sleep, The buggy
was parked nearby, but the horses were gone, The murderers hed also killed
Cass' dog.

Within six days, the authorities had solved the case and had taken
the kdllere into custody near Eufsula. ¥hen arrested the two suspects,
Kegroes Jake and Joe Tobler, had in their possession clothing, shotguns,
and rings belonging to the deceased, as well as Goodykoonts' gold wetch.

Jake and Joe were returned to Vinita. Since there was considersgble
sentiment for lynching the two Negroes, Deputy Marshal W, F. Jones lost
no time in taking the felons to Port Smith, En route to Fort Smith, Jake
and Joe made g full confession,
: "%f}t'he night of the double murder, they said, they had camped near et
thm R‘t‘;mt& Being acquainted with Cass, the Negroes heard him say
t&at ho cnd Goodykoontz were going west to buy cattle, After ret.irin,g,” ,'
the two Negroes decided to murder and rob the merchants. About midnight,™ ™" ~*




. they crept over tc the camp of the white men. ¥hile Jake shot Goodykoonts
twice, Joo blasted Cass and the dog, <28 -
;_’ 811303 the double-murder had occured in the srea transferred to tht
matrict of Kansas by the enactment of January §, 1883, the Tcbler brothqr. ™
wm Bent to Wichita for trial. There, they were convicted and hanged. 29t
Deputy Marshal Remey reached Fort Smith on Septexber 2 with Ed Stein
and ¥illiam Davidson, two of the notorious Lee gang. Llater in the day,

Deputy Marshal Morton arrived with a third member of the gang, T. H. Les. 3o
T

Assisted by & new prosecutor, Judge Parker called the November term
of court to order. Although a large number of cases had been disposed of
at the July term, the court, as usual, was confronted by a full docket. The
first murder casse called up was that of Luce Hammon, He-wah-nauck-che, and
One kiley.
4 lone traveler named Owens was passing across the Creek Nation in
March 1833, When he camped on the night of the 8th near the Semincle line,
. he was visited by "three half-civilized” Creek boys, Luce Hammon,
(s He-wah-nauck-che, and One ¥Wiley. They asked the white man for a chew of
” tobacco. Owens jzave each of them a chew and they left, As soon as their
benefactor had fallen asleep, the three Creeks crept back into his camp,
After shooting Owens, they robbed him of s small sum of money.
Owens didn't die imnediately. The badly wounded man was discovered
by another traveler and carried to a nearby cabin. Although he reccvered
consciousness before he died, Owens was unable to identify his assailants.
The three Creeks, howeyer, couldn't keep their mouths shut. They
beasted of killing a white man., Arrested,they were hailed before the Parker
€ourt. (n December 4 the jury returned a verdiet of guilty. Wwhen the jury's
report was interpreted to them, the Indians nogdﬁ approval, and they seemed
less concerned about it than any of the spectaébrs in the courtrocam.
Judge Farker and District Attorney Sandals » taking their youth into
Morauon (their ages ranged from 17 to io recommended that the thrke: 7 <
g?aamcd be granted executive clemency. . B

b
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. murder or another Negro named Adams. The killing had ukcn place in !hx-ch
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at a dance near Sandtown, Cherckee Hation, ¥hen court reconvened on Houday,
t&ia 10%1:, DPrew asked to have his plea changed to manslaughter., The LR
pronocutien was ggreeable,

";*' ."'fhe next trial to be taken up by the busy court was that of Arch
Backbone. Seventeen years before, Backbone had teen present at the mm!ar
of a Negro. Evidence was introduced to show that the defendant was a "mere
lad" at the time the crime was committed. While he might have been present,

it was srgued, he didn't take an active part in the killing. Backbone's
lawyers were accordingly able to get their client acquitted. As soon as

the verdict was announced, Backbone grasped the hsnd of each of the jurors. 32

Nelson Mercney on Christmas was found not guilty in his manslaughter triasl
of killing Deputy Marshal layman, three yeers before, layman had the
reputation of being a *rough character,” but at the same time he was one of
the bravest and most daring of the lawmen,

At the time of his death, Layman and his posse were canped near
Canterberry's cabin, The officers had in their custody three priscners, one
of whom was Meroney's father., On April 23 Layman and three of his friends
crossed the Red River into Yexas. They were accompanied by Jim McCeauley
who was scheduled to be marrio§ that day. 0ld man Meroney was allowed to
go along.

At the reception, after the wedding, all the men drank heavily. On
the way back to camp, Meroney gave Layman the slip. HKeturning te their
home, two of the men (Teel and Delaughter)got into a fist fight. The
fearless deputy marshal disarmed the two men. A man named Davis watched
the scrap. Teel called tc Davis for help. Davis, shouted that he would
standby Teel, and raced to his cabin and got a shotgun. Undaunted, Layman
disarmed Davie,

Teel now told Davis to go get Woods Kirk. En route, Davis stopped
at Canterberry's, shere he found Nelson Meroney and Gillan. After arming
themselves Davis, Meroney, and Gillan headed for Layman's camp, A short
dlaunco from the camp, they met Layman's posse with two prisomers, m&'@i"
tiicy'i-olmod. They then proceeded to where Layman and Teel stood. §
g 2
v?it.h one hand, while he drew his pistol with the other., On doing so, e T

fggh,,' T
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enarled for Meroney "to let go of the gun or he wouli srens iis head,®
a# Gillan fired at laymsn, The ball tore throughk “he dspuly marshalty *""

body, . Xo the marshal fell, Gillan shot hin a secand i':wo, while Davis

pumped two rounds into the dying anman as he writhed =:zon the ground,
ﬁeroney had been captured in Texas 3°Gillan and Davis =2 i1l et I o
large. 33

James Walker was acquitted by a jury on January 7 of the murder
of Bill Simmons at Cottonwood en January é of the previous year,

The next case to be taken up was the retrial of W, J. Letterman.
Once azain, the jury was unable to reach a decision. 34

More P, and kobert ¥. lLillard, were tried for the murder of a
Kegro woman named Colbert. On the night of January 6, 1885, Hamp Bowlin
and the Lillard drothers had ridge_n up to the Colbert house, Since they
had been drinking heavily, the trio was. lost. They wished to find the
way to Stonewall. Bowlin dismounted and rapped on the door. Colbert
refused to open up. Bowlin, becoming abusive, pulled cut his pistel
and shot through the door. Colbert shot back, wounding Bowlin in the
arm. As the Lillard boys fled, several additional shots were fired.
Bowlin's first shot had mortally wounded Colbert's wife, while a second
had injured a child,

Bowlin died of his wound on the 12th. Before passing on, he had
sadmitted firing first, but claimed that Bob Lillard had also shot, He
claimed that they had merely gone to the Colbert's house to have some
fun, In returning its wverdict cn January 17, the jury proncunced the
Lillards not guilty. 35

Elue Duck and william Christie spent the morning of June 23, 188,
at the Ross home getting drunk. Early in the afternoon, Blue Duck and

. Christie rode cver to Martin Hopper's. Hopper was not at home, so Christie

suggested they await his return. Wwhile the men stocd on the porch talking,

Mrs, Hopper went to the spring to fetch a bucket of water, While she was

q;mi.ng whter, five pistol shots rang out. Il‘oments later, the horse vhich?-’-:’—isﬁ:-“es;—‘-

q,ip&"t l;irod man, Wyrick, was using to plow a field came dashing w

ma imse, the plow still attached to the trace chains, ;
-~Christie swore that he was alone on the porch and that Blue Duck §
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disappeared Scrambling to his feet, Christie caught the runaway animal

snd ued it to the fence, Elue Duck now dashed up, in his hand he held. . 7 A

Haru.n Hopper's pistol. bkhen Mrs. Hopper returned from the spring, 3"

christie had the gun,
" "An element of mystery was introduced into the case by the quesuon o
of how Elue Duck and Christie came to get possession of Hopper's revolver,
unless he too had a hand in instigating the shooting. At the trial, §t
was proved that neither Elue Duck nor Christie had a gun at the time they
left Koss', Mrs. Hopper had watched as Christie pulled six cartridges
out of his belt and handed them to BElue Duck, Afterireloading the pistcl,
Blue Duck untied his horse and rode off, firing a shot at Willie Wolf,

& small boy. GStopping at Hawky “olf's house, Blue [uck bragged of having
killed Uyrick. Before riding off, the drunken gunman fired three times
at Hawky Wolf but missed, .

Before making any arrests in the Wyrick killing, the deputy marshals
made a careful investigation. They felt certain that Martin Hopper was
involved. In addition, Blue Duck had fled the area. If they tock Hopper
and Christie into custody, it was feared that Elue Duck might nct return,
khen they finally moved against Christie, the officers charged him with
introducing ihiakey into the Indian Territory. The arresting marshal
told Christie that if he would bring in Blue Duck, the introducing charge
would be dropped. Christie accordingly spprehended Elue Duck and turned
him over to the lawmen.

The grand jury after studying the evidence, indicted Elue Duck and
Christie for the murder of young Wyrick. The trial was held in the last

week of January. Among those in attendance was Belle Starr, Blue Duck's
current paramcur. Belle did all that she could to help her lover, giving

2o

him advice, and 81 up the best legal talent. On the etand, Blue Duck
denied having t.old anyone that he had killed Wyrick., Many who attended
the t.rial felt that Christie was as gullty as Klue Duck. If enything,
Bclh'l pruence prejudiced the jurors sgsinst her admiger, because
t.!;q ]ﬂjndged him guilty, while Christie was acquitted,

I3

Presidcnt cuvelnnd changed his sentence to life impriscnment "because of
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Blue Duck wasn't hanged. He was twice reprieved. In September was,
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' e 'at the utmost 7 feet. The small windows at each end are

gome doubt as to his guilt,.®
’ Accerding to Belle Starr"éana, Elue Duck was even luckier,

waé gecured and he was set free.®

This would indicate that Belle Starr was a woman of great power, able
to outwit: the United Rates Government and make the White House do her
bidding.

There was one drawback. Hlue Duck didn't get a pardon until March 1895,
He was in prison when Belle Starr died in 1889, where he was to remsin for
six additional years. 36

& &

Prg:;_sidcnt Cleveland had named an Arkensan, Augustus H. Garland, as
his Attorney GCeneral. Mr. Garland in the fall of 1885 recommended to
~the President that the United States build another Federal penitentiary.
The editor of the Elevator on December !1 urged the Fort Smithites to
institute a campaign to securs the institution. It was the editor's
opinion that Fort Smith could advance more "good reasons" why the :iore
penitentiary should be located there than any other city in t.he United
States, 37 ,

Additional impetuous to the drive to get better facilities for the
confinement of Federal prisoners at Fort Smith was provided by the article

written by Anna Dawes which appeared in February 1886. 38 ccording to
Hrs. Dawes: o~

The United States prison at Fort Smith consists of
two wotas in the cellar of the government building, with
no light except what comes from underground windows and
no outside ventilation, In these two rooms were confined
during the month of June...Z 1885_/, 109 prisoners; nine
of then accused of murder, snd two already convicted of
that crime. This is the whole prison!

A fuller description of this extraordinary place,
“this ‘Plece of medieval barbarity, only mskes the horror
‘worse. Each of the rooms, or cells, is 55 feet long and
.29 Teet bpoad. Their height from the floor to ceiling is

"-undernesth the wide verandss. The solid partition between
233

5 '-'A“'er a year," Harman wrote, "through the agency of unseen influencea, - 7
ol’_ hlch Belle Starr was said to have wielded the directing hend, his Paxﬂcm L




the twoe rooms prevents any draught. The climate st Ford Smith

-7 .18 that of the inierior of Arkansas, a long, hot, dry tummer,
7. with the close atmosphere of a valley amongst low hills. In
.-early June the days were already stifling with heat, and the
nights were relieved only by a warm breeze that blew off the
" river across the localities most favorably situated. Hoping
 to make the air more bearable, the flagstones of the fivor

are constantly wet down and the noisome air is heavy with

the rising steam and dampness,

Into these reeking holes are crowded eriminals of

every age andigegree, The court has jurisdiction over all

crimes committed: between the white men on the reservations,

s;einst white men by Indians, against Indians by white men,

under certain conditions. Ita prisoners are some of them

full blooded indians, wild and filthy beyond any eastern

conception; some are border ruffians who have lost none of

their villainy or their loathsomenessj..,. some are hardened

eriminals of the worst type who have fled the law of the

#5tates" to seek refuge in the wild Indian ccuntry; some

are innocent boys brought here for & trifling theft;

respectable tradesmen who have unwittingly infringed on

some stringent United States regulation about arms or

liquor., It is literally tfue thet at Fort Smith all
’ these persons are confined in the same room, the close,

unventilated, wretched place already descridbed. In the

midst of the desperados, the villains and the murderers,

are all those criminals already sentenced, whose terms do

not exceed a &in;le year. Those sentenced to a longer term
are sent to Michigen. Happy the convict whose crime is large,
in the Indian Territory, for worse is a single year of Fort
Smith than a cycle of Detroit!

The only opportunity for washing given to this multitude
of men is the single sink in each cell, There are no baths,
only now and then some more fortunate prisoner is allowe&‘t@e
use of a ¢ogl-oil barrel sawed in two, this primitive wash tub
being the best that is afforded by the government to this
institution. The perplexed officials have tried many expedients
to relieve the foulness of the place., The single bucket which
serves the convenience of this cunsiderable population is placed
in a closet in the chimney, that the odors may be carried off
through the cnly method of ventilation known to this jail.

The prisoners spend thelr time as suits themselves. No
work is possible. To relieve the tedium of the slow days, &
mock court is held and men are tried of such offenses as spitting
upon the flocr, and on conviction, are sentenced to sweep it, The

mooden cots and blankets which constitute the beds are put to one.:
“8ide during the day, or serve as seats. When feeding time comes
the rations are pushed through a slide in the door, and one after
andther these miserable beingsretire tc scme corner like dogs, to .
57 eat thelr portions. In this matter of exercise, a regular routine ¢« 3N
v ds kept up. The prisoners divide themselves into squads which merc f
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up and down the room at intervals; but be their stay there 1 ;é
...or short} they see no ray of sunlight, they breathe no single |
. ‘breath of outsids air., _ s

%% This dank, crowded, underground hole is noisome with odors

7,

R

.of -every description, dirty beyond description, horrible with
%2"%:81]) horrors—-a veritsble hell upon earth. What must it be for
¥ “the sick? lmpossible as it seems to credit the fact, the sick
and wounded must live in these same rooms. There is no other
provision for them, there is no other place they can be put.
It completes the picture to remember that small pox is a disease
very cammon to the Indians.
It should be made evident that for this state of things
the people of Fort Smith are in no way responsible. It is a
United States prison, and they have no more control over it
than they have cver the capitol at Washington., They would
welcome any attempt on the part of the government to remove this
Plague spot, and substitute a suitable and decent jail. Xor are
the officers of the court to be charged with neglect or blindness,
They do all thst in them lies to remedy the evils,
There is no question, shameful though the econclusion be,
ghere the blame lies, The worst fact in the whole disgraceful
séries is the fact that the national government knows all about
this horror. It cannot even plead ignorance, for the report of
the United States marshal in Getober, 1884, to the department of
Justice contains & full statement of the metter, with all the
particulars, the statistics, and a diagram of the prison. What
was done about it? In June, 1885, nothing had been done about it. 39

The ringing denunciation with which the Dawes article ended, "What excuse
has the government of the United States to offer for the existence and
continuance of this scandal?® helped produce results. -~

A bill appropriating $125,000 for the construction of a courthousé and
Jail at Fort Smith wae passed by the 49th Congress and approved by President
Clevelend on March 16. The bill as drafted called for $175,000:6f “sidch
$125,000 was to be expended for the srection of the courthouse and the
resainder for the jail, After reaching the Senate, the amount was pared
to $125,000, 40 ,

The 4Bth Congress on March 3, 1885, haé‘noved to breakdown the
barriers protecting the redmen in the Indian Territory in their right to
punish mezbers of their own tribes for offenses committed against each other,

i i k)
N

1 Any Indian committing against the person or property of igg

‘another Indien any of the crimes, as follows: murder, manslaughter

» raps, assault with intent to kill, arson, burglary and larceny, i - ' =
any Territory of the United States and within or without an Indien
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LAV ENFORCEMENT AT FOKT SHITH 1871 - 1896
Chapter XIIX
Karshal Carroll Moves the Prisoners into the New Jail

: Judge Parker presided over a number of interesting trials at the ™
February 1886 term of court. The first man accused of a capital offense
tried before the coﬁrt. was John W. Parrott, a carpenter.Kentucky born,
Farrott had moved to Sherman, Texas. Crossing inte the Chickssaw Nation,
Parrott went to Alexsnder's Store. There, hé entered into partnership with
the McAdams, father and son, to build a house. On July 1§, 1885, Parrott
and the elder McAdams had an argument over the division of profits.

During the dispute, McAdams threatened Parrott's life. Keturning to
his boarding house for his noon meal, Parrott armed hinself. W¥hen he
returned to work, he carried a pistel in his pocket. According to Parrott,
the elder McAdams again accosted himz. Hot words were exchanged. McAdams
hurled a chisel at Parrott, and advanced toward him with ax in hand, Parrott
pulled out his pistol and shot and killed McAdams, At the sourd of the shot,
Louis McAdams charged out of an adjoining room. Drawing a infe he rushed
his father's killer. Parrott fired again, mortally wounding the son,

At the trial, Parrott claimed self-defense. The jury dicn't agree,

A verdict of murder on two counts was returned, !

Tom Lee and Ed 5tein were brought before the bar during the fourth week
of Karch charged with participating in the sleughter of Deputy Marshal Guy
and three members of his posse on Mud Creek in May of the previous year.

The prosecution claimed that after the battle had ceased, six or seven men
had elipped from the Lee cabin and examined the bodies, At the same time,
the defense attorney sought to prove that the only ones in the cabin at the
time of the shooting were Pink and Jim Lee, who had been killed on September 6
in Cook county, Texas, by Deputy Marshals Heck Thomas and Jim Taylor. Ed
Stein and Tom Lee testified that they and the women and children had left
Cht ma before the shooting began. A verdict of not guilty was rondenﬁ :
t.h- grounda of identity not being positively proven, Distridt Atw
Mo).l ns unable to produce anyone who could Place Lee in the cabin li,
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reservation, shall be subject therefor to the laws of such
Torritory relative to such crimes and shall be tried in the

. dame courts and in the same manner and be subject to the same
.-penalties as are all other persons charged with the commission
. of paid crimes, and paid courts shall govern and have Jurisdicti

.+, 4n all such cases,
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the 4t.1m in question, while doubt was cast cn the testimony regarding - _;
: taih’us participation in the affair, 2 a
' 1 the summer of 1885, a gang of daring whiskey peddlers operaté
iu,'vﬁhl Chickaaaw Nation. Calvin James, the leader of the group, and three
of his men (Tony Love, Henry Robey, and Albert Kexp) on August Rcroand
into Texas to pickup whiskey. Kach man purchased four gallons. On the
return trip, James and Love lagged behind. 4s they rode through a holloew,
James shot Love in the head to obtain the whiskey he carried., James dismounted
and dragged his late partner's body off the fpad and hid it in the brush,
The dead man's horse was unsaddled and tumedi loose, ,
Riding on, James soon overtock Kemp and kobey. He warned them that
if they told anyone what he had done, he would kill them. When Love turned
up missing, questions were asked. It was soon determined that when last
seen he was riding with his three partners, The three men were promptly
arrested; Kemp and Robey told all they kmew. At the trial, they appeared
As government witnesses agsinst James. Convieted on April | of the murder
. of Love, James was brought before Judge Parker and sentenced to death on
April 30. 3
Kit Ross was part Cherckee and 25 years old. In 1883, while drunk, he
had visited the home of Jonathan Davia. Although Davis' wife was 111, Ross
rode his horse into the house, Davis in ejecting Ross, cuffed him about,
Subsequentlfo this difficulty, the two men met frequently. They
appeared tothe neighbors %o be en good terms. Apparently, however, Ross
wanted vengence. (n December 20, 1885, Davis rode into Chouteau to purchase
supplies. While Davis was in a store, Koss entered, He was intoxicated,
and loitered about the store until Davis started to leave, As Davis stepped
- to the door, Ross followed.
Addressing Ross, Davis remarked, "Kit, I believe we will have some snow,"
*Yes, I believe we will," Foss answered.
- 48 Davis stepped outside, Ross drew his gun. Bang! Bang! roared h&’ SRR
il fho pumped two balls into Davis' back. When Davis remsined on n"&’
,‘ﬂa tmxdly assailant dropped his hat and pistol and fled, Davu‘f
' pﬁm&d Rbu for 75 yards and fired two uneffectual shots before he btgn
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to wea‘xea from loss of blood. Assisted back to the store, Davis died that
nme,; i e
& q‘!ho 4ncensed citizens of Choutesu offered a reward of $150 for Rou
clspt.uﬂ. : six weeks later, Koss was arrested at Shawneetown by Wiley Be
‘f‘rieé before Judge Parker, Koss was convicted on April 3. As he was bﬁﬂgr
led from the courtroom, koss remarked, ®hell, they done it to me.® Ross

was sentenced to die on the gallows on July 23. &

Lincoln Sprole and Ben Clark rented land from Sam Faul in Pauls Valley,
Chickasaw Nation. The two men claéhed over water rights, Shortly thereafter,
Ben Clark and his 18-year-old son, Alexander, started for White Bsad Hill to
trade. The day was May 30, 1885.

Sprole, leaming of the trip, tock cover in a roadaide thickaft. and waited
for the Clarks to retum. Spotting the Clarks' wagon as it approached,

Sprole took aim at the clder man with his Winchester. Bang! The shot missed.
Ben Clark turned in his seat to see if he could see the unseen saiper.

Meanwhile, Sprole had pumped another round into the chamber. The
kinchester cracked azain, Clark tumbled from t he wagon, shot through the
chest. The horses bolted. At this, the boy jumped from the wagon.

A third shot from the Winchester broke the boy's knee., Alexander Clark
slumped. to the ground. Sprole dashed up, intent on finishing off the boy.
Alexander begged for his 1ife. Bringing his rifle to his shoulder, Sprole
shot the bay,fhk‘missile striking him in the right bresst and breaking the
collar bone. Sprele fled Pauls Valley.

The two badly wounded men were soon found. Ben Clark dled six hours
after the attack, while the son lingered for 17 days. Deputy Marshal John
williams reached the valley scon after the son had expired, Apprised of
the facts, he lost no time in tracking down Sprole, who had made for Kansas.
Arrested, Sprole was tuken to Fort Smith for trial. At the trial, Sprole's
lawyers based their defense on the contention that the "Clarks were had and
dangerocus" and that the defendant had great fear of them; he, thcretm,
wayladd ‘and shot"them to get them out of his way. The jury didn't agﬂp’ b SN
f Jobinson Kemp, Meredit;h Crow, and Kobert Wolf, three of the eight.
aewentd to die on April 23, were eacorted to the photograph gallery q\ ¥
Apru 18 to have their last photographs made, 6 Sl
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. Throughout the morning, people crowded around the Jail endeavoring
;}gef;a pesk at the econdemned, Marshal Carroll ordered the execution.f
6§£pbned til1l1 2 p,m.,, to await a reply to Rogers! message., Vhile awaitixk
t ﬂA%&gpé%ch ¥Wasson lay on his bunk "with his hat over his face apparéaiiy”
in deep thought.” '

Jackson was morose and out of humor with the world, He declined the
services of a minister, remarking "if he thought anyone could get him cut
of the fix he was in it would be all right, otherwise he thought no one
could do him any good,*

Two o'clock arrived and there was no telegram, Marshal Carroll,
accompanied by several deputy marshals and Jailer Neal Pryor, entered the
Jeil, M

Jackson and Wasson were roused from their bunks, Each was presented
with?a neat suit of elothing--shirts, undershirts, drawers, slippers, socks,
neck-ties and collars." As soon as they had dressed, they bid their fellow
prisoners goodbye, Wasson's farewell was very touching. Nearly every man
in the cell wept bitterly. Jackson, after completing his toilet, sought to
cheat the hangman by cutting his throat with 2 piece from an "old band saw,"
He botched the jJob, Aside from drawing considerable blood, the wound didn't

n:w

amount to much,

Before being taken to the gallows, the men were escorted into the "box
or anti-room," where they listened to their death warrants, after which a
light pair of handcuffs were clapped on them by a deputy marshal. They
were escorted to the scaffold through a crowd of saveral hundred spectators
who had gathered on either side of the walk leading to the jail.

On the platform, Wasson to stall for time asked for a minister, One
was prqcurf%t and an appropriate seriicevheld. While he was being pinioned,
Wasson wept, At 3340 the trap was dropped; the necks of both men were
broken by the fall. They remained motionless, and died without a struggle.
Within 20 minutes, Wasson and Jackson were declared dead, Their bodies

& A e PR A S
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were taken down and placed in coffins, 12 am«:
§-‘ Unlike his predecessor Marshal Carroll believed in working the prilbntrt ;
gn!ineh 4n the U, S, Jail. The Fort Smith Elevator reported on June 13 that the

A

court groundswere being cleaned off by the prisoners., At the same time, the
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The new gallows which had been erected for the occasion were "more
neat and substantial™ than its predecessor. The platform was 16 x 20 fact, =
Bupportad by solid oak columns 12 x 12 inches square; the cross beam wgs 9;
aolid oak 9 x 11 inches, 16 feet in the clear, and rested on two uprightﬁ e
columns of oak sixteen feet high, and about 12 x 12 inches square. The \
beam was braced on top by heavy timbers, the ends of which rested on the
upright columns. The trap door was sixteen feet long and three feet wide,
the drop fully six feet, 7

During the first part of the third week of April, a telegram reached
Harshal Carroll from Washington. Glancing at the messsge, the marshal saw
that the death sentences of Robinson Kemp, Meredith Crow, Robert Wolf,
He-wah-fuuck~ee, One Wiley, and Luce Hammon had been commuted to imprisonment
for life. The commutation of the three Indian boys' sentence had been
recommended by Judge Farker and District Aitorney Sandels. On doing so,
they had cited the boys' youth and ignorance. Kemp, Crow, and Wolf owed
their good fortune to Colonel Cravens, who had traveled to ¥ashington in
their behalf, 8

Cn Saturday night, April 24, there was a severe wind storm at Fort
Smith. The stockade surrounding the scaffold was "blown down and entirely
demolished, leaving the death trap in plain view to any one passing to
and from the court grounds." Since HMarshal Carroll was not opposed to
public executions, grave doubts were expressed: in Fort Smith as to whether
the stockade would again be erected. 7 o

James hasson confidently expected that Marshal Carroll would receive
a telegram from the President's office commuiing his death sentence. Late
on Thursday, April 22, a communication arrived announcing that nothing
would be done in Washington to stop his execution, When the message was
read to him, Wasson was badly shaken. He cried out that it was very hard
that he should be called upon to die, when all the other boys had been
allowed to live, with the exception of the Negro Jackson.

Hhaaon slept very little that night., At a late hour, he paced thoﬁ“
floor ct bhis cell bewailing his fate. On Friday moming, he still grua .
at atrawlo Congressman John H. Rogers had telegraphed Washington in hi‘?uaiﬂ,f“
behalf. 240
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marshal had fitted himself up a neat private room in the old Commissary,
juhere he proposed "to make himself comfortable during the summer," '3 7 :
‘ fén'Friday, dJuly 23, unless President Cleveland intervened three msn,A"
Iincpin Sprole, Kit Ross, and Calvin Jones, were scheduled to be executeds
is yet, ‘Marshal Carrcll had made no arrangements toc have the stockade ¥ A
surrounding the gallows put back up following its destruction by high winds.
Consequently, the scaffold was in full view. As the Elevator reported, "the
execution can be witnessed from the top of any building on the Avenue or from
the reserve addition without going inside the wall." 14

Marshal Carroll, however, had a change of heart. On July 19, Monday,
he issued orders to enclose the gallows, By the 23d, the day on which the
three men were slated to die on the scaffold, the stockade had been

reconstructed, !5

On Tuesday, July 20, a telegram reached Marshal Carroll signed by
President Cleveland stating that he had decided to give Kit Ross a two
week respite. This reprieve would enable the washington people to investigate
the case further, 16

Calvin Jones and Lincoln Sprole were hanged as scheduled on the 23d.
Two weeks later, since the President had decided not to intervene again in
the matter, Kit Ross was sent to the gallows.!7

The first carload of prisoners for the new Menard Penitentiary at
Chester, Illinois, left Fort Smith on Monday, August 23. Deputy Marshal
Jim Pettigrew and five guards were in charge of the 23 convicted felons

making the trip. 18

* % »
Five men were convicted of murder at the August 1886 term cf Judge
Parker's Court. .
John T. Echols was born in Fulton county, Georgia. He had emigrated
from Georgia to Sebastian county in 1870. Three years later, Lchcls had
moved 1nto the Chickasaw Nation, taking up land near White Bead Hill. %ﬁ;?@~5)J
Echolq,*iho had a wife and five children, was looked upon by his neighbort '
ffg iéw—abiding farmer, AR
%A'JIn februany 1886 Echols trsded a horse to his neighbor, 6ohn Pettenridgo,~
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Wﬁéﬁhﬁchols went in search of the yearlings he found only one, consequqntlyg k
hi"‘-sant ‘word to Pettenridge on February 16 that he must find the miesing
animal or return the horse. Pettenridge replied that he was busy hauling
logs to builQ.a cabin. As soon as he was finished, he promised to look

v-.

after the matter.

Fcliowing the receipt of this message, Echols and his brother-in-law
rode out into the woods where Pettenridge was felling timber. Pettenridge
was sitting on a load of logs as the men rode up, Hot words were exchanged.
Pettenridge told Echols that "he wasn't going to be bulldozed,..."

At this, Echols pulled his pistol and shot at Pettenridge. The missile
ripped through the brim of his hat. Frightened by the noise the team bolted.
Pettenridge leaped to the ground, as Echols fired again. The ball tere into
Pettenridge, knocking him down, while Pettenridge lay on the ground, begging
for his life, Echols pumped five more shots into hin. A

When brought before Judge Parker, Echols pled self-defense. He claimed
that the dead man had drawn a large knife and had sprang at him. Knowing
that Pettenridge was a dangerous man with a blade, he had fired five shots
in rapid succession, while the deceased was still on his feet.

Testimony ty witnesses for the prosecution who had examined the bady
shortly afterwards,placed the knife in the dead man's pocket, closed.

Since the nature of the wounds were such as to produce death almest
instantaneously, it was deemed unlikely that the victim would have closed

the knife and thrust it intc his pocket. The jJury agreed with the prosecution.
Echols on August 20 was convicted of murder, 19

A handsome mulatto, John Stephens, had been born in Iroquois county,
Illinois, in 1859. He left Illinois for the Indian Territory in the spring
of 1874.

ttlnighi, when Stephens dismounted in front of HMrs. Kerr's cabin, Entering ey
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he found Hrs. Kerr and her 16-year-old-son, Louis winters, sleeping on &
pallet near the door. Stephens hacked the two to death with an ax. §3’

< ; ;;:éome time before, Dr. Pile had testified against Stephens in a
IArceﬁy case. breaking in, Stephens rained blows on the doctor and his
wife with an ax. The Piles' child was bashed over the head with a board.
The hired man, who was asleep in the house, was also attacked.

Dr. Pile lingered for six days at death's door before he expired, his
wife, child, and hired man recovered.

1t was an extremely dark night, sc none of the victims were abtle to
recognize their attacker. In his hurry to get away from Dr. Pile's, Stephens
lost his saddleblanket and a "foot-rag." Subsequently, the blanket was
identified by vhitefeather as the one he had loaned the mulatto. The
authorities had a difficult time findinz a motive for the slaying of Mrs.
Kerr and her son, At first, it was supposed that Mrs. Kerr's estranged
husband had hired Stephens to do his dirty work. Kerr ana another son
were arrested as accessories, but the grand jury when it indicted Stephens
ignored the Kerrs, senior and junior.

At Stephens' trial, Mrs. Pile appeared as a witness for the government.
When the prosecutor called her to the stand, the woman exhibited her ghastly
wounds for the benefit of the jurors. The Jury on Septemcer 2, after

deliberating only 20 minutes, returned a verdict of guilty. 20
James Lamb and Albert O'Dell were young itinerant farm laborers. 0°'Dell

the older of the two had been born in Alabama and had moved to Texas with his
femily. Lamb called Crawford county, Arkansas, his home. Drifting into the
Indian Territory, the two men in the fall of 1885 found employment on the

farm operated by Edward Pollard and George brassfield near Lebanon in the
Chickasaw Nation. Besides picking cotton, the newcomers took & fancy to

their employers' wives. Mrs. Pollard tock up with Lamb and Firs. bBrassfield
ulth O'Dell. So open was the affair that it caused a neighborhood scandal.

; Next came the problem of getting rid of the husbands. Tne wives: and e
%ﬁﬁilrblovers discussed the subject and decided to force the issue. veats
1 t, then violence if necessary.

ir'g
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_Brassfield, either disgusted or fearful of his life, left his farm,
his uire, and his three children. 0%lell lost no time in moving in to-
the delight of the faithless wife, Pollard was not so easily 1ntimida€;d%’
Ho.éhntinued te live in his house,

' Cn the day after Christmas, Mrs. Pollard asked her husband to go into
Lebanon for coffee and coal oil. As he was tramping home through the snow,
Pollard was bLushwacked and shot through the head by James Lamb. O'Deli helped
Lamb hide the body. The two culprits then rejoined their paramours, taking
along the coffee which Pollard had been carrying when he was slain,

O'Dell and Nancy Brassfield celebrated by getting married. It made no
difference that she already had a living husband, the father of her three
children. As soon as the preacher had finished the ceremony, Lamb and ¥rs,
Pollerd tried to induce him to marry them. 1In respcnse to the preacher's
guestions regarding the uhereabouts of her husband, Mrs. Pclland said that
he had deserted her,

No, the minister said firmly. He was a frontier preacher and let a lot

. of things slide by. but he wouldn't help a woman cozmit bigaumy.

Two months later, Bd Pollard's body was found, by a hunter named Mathews,
less than a mile from his now deserted homwe. 0'Dell and Lamb -had pushed on
westward with their newly acquired families,

Deputy Marshal Mershon and his posse was camped nearby. He at once
began to unravel the mystery. Within a shert time, the clues led him to
Buck Horn Creek, where on March 7 he found 0'Dell and Mrs. Brassfield.

Mershon took Nancy bBrassfield into custody and told her that 0'Dell had
confessed. Nancy lost no time in blurting out everything she knew. After
arresting C'Dell in a nearby field, the marshal secured s confessicn by
acquainting him with the trap into which his lady Iriend hzd fallen. O'Dell
denied having killed Pollard, laying the blame on iacl. He, however, admitted
having helped hide the corpse,

Lomb and ¥rs, Pollard were followed by the lawmen to their camp on the
c;nadian River and arrested. The four prisconers were escorted to the marshai’dﬁ-

;Tjglgiraasfield learning that his wife was in custody, came and tookl?ﬁi%i :
his tuo #ldest children, leaving the baby. ¥
‘ o Upon being transferred to Fort Smith, the wicked quartette was lodgedn
in the U. S, Jail. HMrs. Pollard made bend and went to the home of her parents

PR
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;n Livingston county, Missouri, Before returning to Fort Smith, she gave
birﬁh to a child of which it was assumed Lamb was the father, “

rx-uit; BF her 11licit romance with O'Dell. Both babies died. Evidentif,
George Brassfield still had some affection for his erring wife, because he \\
Journeyed to Fort Smith to be with her in her last weeks of pregnancy. He
was too broke to put up bail, but he gave her what help he could when the
twins arrived.

The United States Government chose to try the men for murder and not
the women., Xrs, Brassfield and Mrs. Pollard would be held as material
witnesses,

khile courting and killing, O'Dell and Lamb had stuck together.
Arrest dissolved the partnersnip. Hiring separate lawyers, the defendants
attacked each other before Judge Parker. The Jury had 1little difficulty in
reaching a verdict of guilty.

As the day set by Judge Parker for their execution approached, Lamb
softened, Since he had only helped to hide Pollard's body, Lamb felt that
O'Dell should be allowed to go free. An application for a commutation of
the death sentences was prepared. After it had been refused, Lamb stated
that he thought President Cleveland ought to pardoen O'Dell, as he was not
present at the murder,

"My life is enough to pay for Pollard's, Hang me and let OfDell go,"
Lamb said, "for he does not deserve to be hanged."

This statement caused considerable sympathy for O'Dell. When notified
of this, Attorney General Garland wired District Attorney Sandels to question
Lamb to see if there was anything that hadn't been brought out at the trial.
There was nothing, and washingtbn refused to intervene,

After the execution of their lovers, the government decided against
bringing morals charges against the women in the case. That was in line
with Judge Parker and his prosecuting attorney's usual practice. The cqurt
cculd eaaily have specialized in the punishment of fornication, adultegy' "
fﬁcett,-kigamy, and the like., But the c¢fficials of the Court for the ﬁ%attrn .i
district preferred to set sex eside and concentrate on murder, theft, Qﬁﬁ;ﬂ%;;%i
whiskey cases, 2!
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btt, Kansas. Durin° the slack winter season, the brothers decided'

R I

The‘brothers were assigned to a grading crew working on the railroad begk’ :
TalSa-and Red Fork, in the Indian Territory. They~broubht with them in additicn
| to two good teams and wagons, plows, shovels, scrapers @nd camp equipage,

By early February, the two men had cleared $200. 8ince it was getting
near crop planting time, the Mahoneys determined to return to Fort Scott.
Leaving Red Fork, they picked up two tramps, Patrick kcCarty and Joe Stutzer.

From Fed Fork, the Mahoneys and the hitchhikers proceeded to Coffeeville.
McCarty and Stutzer, before leaving Coffeeville, decided to murder their
benefactors. Since there were few waterholes in the country between Coffeeville
and Fort Scott, McCarty suggested to the brothers that it would be wise if they
cooked several days' provisions before pushing an. The party accordingly left
Coffeeville, taking the road to Vinita.

. When t hey camped for the night, McCarty insisted that the brothers sleep,

while he and Stutzer stayed up and cooked rations. After the boys had dropped

off to sleep, McCarty drew his revolver and Stutzer picked up a shotgun,
Cautiously, they approached the wagon in which their victims were sleeping,
McCarty shot one of the boys in the eye; Stutzer's gun misfired. 4s the

:uninjured Mahoney scrambled to his feet, Stutzer felled him with an ax. The
blood from the dead men saturated the feather tick on which they had been
sleeping.

The next day, February 18, 1886, McCarty and Stutzer drove one of thelr
victims' wagons to Vinita. Camping in a nearby stand of timber, McCarty told
the townspeople that he owned the wagon and that he and Stutzer had been
working on the railroad.

ifter selling the mules and harnesa for $125, Pat gave the purchaser a
bill of sale. On doing so, he represented himself and his partner in crime

as Joun and Joe Ryan. Pat kept $105 and gave Joe $20 and the wagon and.o;heg

ﬂ"‘(“ *a

=

. murderers undoing The dog remained at the camp where his late mastere had o
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,~Bet thelr end. People noticed the dog's strange behavior. When thea&
:‘1n§estigatea, they discovered a suspicious looking mound. The mcundﬁé;p 5
Pened ‘and the bodies found. News of the gruesome discovery was car&i" o
;'thetpréss. ¥ithin a short time a host of deputy marsh:ls descended on “the: W

scene, .
4rs. Mahoney who lived in Neodasha, Kansas, had grown apprehensive when
her sons failed to return from the Indian Territory. learning of the finding
of the bodies, she proceeded to Coffeeville. The remains were beyond
identification, but she was able to recoznize the clothing and bocts which
were shown to her by the authorities. Questioning the local people, the
officers found one who recalled having smelled burming feathers and cotton
on the fatal night.
Having identified the victims and secured descriptions of their traveling
companions, the autherities began their search. ¥cCarty was traced to Dixon,
Kissouri. There, they talked with people, who had known the suspect at ked
‘ Fork. They told the officers that McCarty had been broke at the time he left
the Territory with the brothers. HcCarty was arrested. On his person was
found a watch which was identified as having been carried by one cf the
Mahoneys. Taken to Vinita, McCarty was recognized as the man who had sold
the mules and harness. Since the murder had been cormitted in the Indian
Territory, McCarty wes escorted to Fort Smith for trial,
Stutzer was traced to Fayetteville. There, the authorities found the
wagon and the horses which had been his share of the loot. The man with v
whom Stutzer had left them, reported that the wazon had been bloody. When
asked about this, Stutzer had remarked that "he had picked up two tramps and
allowed them to ride with him and one nizht he heard them Plotting to kill
him; he had kept quiet until they crawled into his wagon and then he killed
then both."
At Fayetteville, the authorities lost Stutzer's trail. The governor of
Arkansas, in hopes of spurring the search, offered $500 &5 a reward forvthq e

5

5—.

;?thﬂie'of Stutzer,

. ithe )!ahmey boys. 22 i

Judge Parker on Saturday morning, Octcber 30, had the disagreeable task
of eentencing to death five white men (Patrick McCarty, John Parrott, James
Lamb, Albert O'Dell, and J. T. Echols) and the mulatto, John Stephens,
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“convicted at the August term of court. By 8:30 a.m. a large number of'ﬂ

22

! spectators had assembled in the courtroom.

§ an arﬁéd guard on each slde. As they took their seats in the dock, g;;
reigned in the room. The quiet was not broken till Judge Parker hadizakéﬁ
his seat., Motions for new trials were filed' by all the lawyers except
those representing Stephens. Starting with rHceCarty and ending with Stephens,
the judge then passed sentence. The six men were condemned to die on the
gallows on Friday, January 14, 1887.°
Commenting on the day's happenings at court, the editor of the Elevator

observed:

The fate of these men is a hard one, but they brought it
upon themselves dellberately, and no one but themselves are to
blame for their present awful condition. Their sentences are
not only in accordance with the law of the land, but alsc with
the law of God, which says that "He who sheddeth man's blood
by man shall his blood be shed."” Let the law be enforced, 23

. Shortly after James Wasson had been convicted of the murder of Martin,
his partner in that crime, Johnny McLaughlin, had been apprehended. Mclaughlin
was placed on trial several days before Wasson was executed. His battery of
lawyers (bBen T. Duval, Thomas H. and James K. Barnes, and Colonel William
M, Cravens) claimed that their client "was a great distance from the scene
of Martin's murder,¥ District Attorney Sandels presbnted contradictory
testimony. Three witn~sses who weren't present tat masson'a trisl were
presented by the prosecution. Among these were hcsson's sister, who had
been McLaughlin's mistress. She claimed that on the day following Martin's
death, lclaughlin had said that he and her brother would have to flee the
country as they had murdered a man.
Despite a previous jury having convicted kasson on leas evidence,
the Mclaughlin jurors were unable to agree, By the time Mclaughlin was
retried in August, his partner had been executed. Once mgain, McLaughlin
.wes saved when the jury falled to agree, The case was brought before the: o
- oiember term of court., The jJurors this time returned a verdict of aqggitf
% I@pcording to people in the know, Wasson's lawyers had botched th‘ :.,J
. %3t ‘was felt that had they secured a continuance of his case until af“r g
McLaughlin had been apprehended and had they insisted on a Joint trial,




Wasson would have been acquitted of the charge of killing Henry Martin, and
would have stood an excellent chance of beating the rap for murdering 33@9;133 ‘

P
s
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~ Jailer Pryor was an unusually ccnsiderate man. On October 10 while
Johnny Nclaughlin was waiting for his third trial, Pryor took him and
condeaned murderer John Parrott out to the l1aGrende Hotel. There, the two
priscners dined with the aid of knife and fo;k for the first time in over
a year. After dinner the "boys" strolled around the city in "the besutiful
sunshine" which they seemed to enjoy. As the men had been quite 111, Pryor,
told a correspondent for the Elevator, that he felt the outing would do them
some good., 25

On specisl occasions, Thanksgiving and Christmas, the fare in the
Us S. Jail was better than many of the inmates had been accustomed to in
their days of freedom,

A prisoner wrote the editor of the Elevator a glowing account
describing Thenksgiving dinner;

A stuffed pig got loose and made its appearance on the table of
"Hotel de Uncle Sam" of which Mr, W. J. Johnston is proprietor,
last Saturday. As it is the practice of Mr. Johnston, and e
royal good one it is, to provide something extra good, for his
boarders to eat on holidays, his "pigship" was served at dinner
with the necessary accompaniments and side dishes, and devoured
with a keen relish by all who were so fortunate as to have a
ticket for the banquet,

About sixty-five guests now enjoy the hospitality dispensed
at "Hotel de Uncle Sam," and those who have made the proper
arrangements with the "powers that be," for the coming winter,
are looking eagerly forward to the "merry Christmas time," with
its accompaniment of egg-nog, and turkey and cranberry sauce,

After dinner, when all were too full (of pig) for utterance,
the guests fell into line in the marble floored? corridors, and
each received a plug of tobacco and a good cigar. Mr. Johnston
. As a big-hearted, jovial fellow, and has many guests at his hote 3
. most of whom come fram the E.I.T. Owing to the fact that Col. '
-dohn Carroll, the genial United States marshal is constantly
oliciting boarders for the "Hotel de Uncle Sam," Mr, Johnston

*

it‘:
. }\}* e
.Bearly always has a full house, and the undivided attention he é?'%

“~+-extends to each guest tends to make him a popular peraonage with 11, 26

"
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'~5The prisoners in the U. S, Jail, 62 in all, were likewise treated Lo A

,.«-4

and cigars. John Parrott, who was spending his second Christmas in Jail. J;"Q
was heard to remark that this meal surpassed "any dinner they have ever had

since he 'had been boarding there," 27
® 3 n

The life of & deputy marshal was becoming increasingly hazardous.
Horse races were held annually at Muskogee on December 23. As expected,
the excitement brought an influx of hard characters. To make matters
worse, a large supply of whiskey had been brought in for the occasion.
With such ingredients it was a foregone conclusion that there would be
at least one killing over the holidays, "There seemed to be murder in
the air.®

About 4 pem. on Christmas Eve, Alf Cunningham a reckless and blood—thirsty
Cherokee half-breed drew his pistol on Tom Kennard, a Negro member of the
Creek Light Horse. Alf returned his pistol to its holster without shooting.

The next time they met, Kennard got the drop on Cunningham and struck
him over the head with his revolver. This treatment aroused Cunningham's
fighting blood. He lost no time in getting in touch with his brother-in-law
Dick Vann. Between them, the two Cherokee breeds plotted revenge, Vann
was considered a "bad hombre," he had just been pasrdoned by President
Cleveland,

Learning that Vann and Cunningham were gumning for him, Kennard wisely
left town. The Cherokees, however, wanted blood, About 6 p.m. they ran
into Deputy Marshal Sar Sixkiller. Sam was standing in front of Sol Yates!
tin shop, as the two gunmen walked up. Without uttering a word, Vann and
Cunningham drew and blszed away. Bullets struck Sixkiller in the heart, arm,
and face. As the gallant old lawman slumped to the ground, Varinand Cunningham
‘turued and raced dcwn the street. Vann paused for an instant and sent; another
'5@11 taaring into the dead officer's body. He then rejoined Cunninghaﬁ Qif i

"v

'ﬁh@‘billard parlor, where the two killers secured their horses and gaIlopod

f&:‘,' Tae R

out of town.
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U. S, Commissioner Tufts cf Muskogee promptly issued warrants for the o

A%H

ibécause the killers and their victim were Indians and not subject to th

Sy, T <
Jurisdiction of the Court for the Western District. 28 ‘ ' Y\
* %o

A telegram was delivered to Marshal Carroll's office on January 4
from wWashington announcing that President C%gveland had commuted the death
sentence of John Parrott to five years in the HMenard Penitentiary. Parrott,
who had expected an unconditional pardon, was understandably disappcinted
at this news, <9

Parrott's sentence having been comnruted and ﬁcCérty having received
a reprieve until April 8, only four of the six sentenced to the gallows on
January 14 would die as scheduled., 0'Dell, Lamb, Echols, and Stephens were
taken from the jail and hanged on Friday, the 14th. 30 v

On April 4 Marshal Carroll received a wire signed by Attorney General

Garland. It read:

The president declines to interfere further with the
sentence of the Court in the case of Patrick MeCarty.
Acknowledge receipt.,

When the marshal read the message to Pat, he was momentarily unnerved
and turned as white as a sheet, He soon regained his composure, however,
and began "to look at the matter in its true light, but with his usual
stolcism.*

Two days before, Pat had been taken to the Catholic Church for confession
and to receive religious instruction in his adopted religion. The day before

his date with the gallows, he attended early mass, 31
According to the editor of the Elevator,no execution at Fort Smith since

that of John Childers back in 1873 had created as much local interest as that
of Pat McCarty.

ot ~Pat_retired at an early hour on the 7th, and rested guietly until»ubout>~.
-?‘}.!u, uhen he awoke, After walking about his cell for sometime, he agaiﬁ y
1nid dcun on his cot, where he remained until his usual hour of rising, :Pat  *
dressed himself in a suit of navy btlue, white shirt, and tie. Thus attirod,'#”
he attended 7 o'clock mass, When he returned tc his cell, Pat appeared in
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excellent spirits. During his few reraining hours behind bars, he talked
i!reelr nith his many callers. 35

"ZAt '8 few minutes before 2 o'clock, Father Smythe arrived at the jéi';
'ﬁftﬁtth had talked briefly with Pat, a guard announced that the time fof
thé”giégﬁiion was at hand. The death warrant was read; Pat was taken to
the gallows, He ascended the scaffold with "as much coclness as though
it was an every day affair with him, " Pat showed no signs of emotion.
His face "was bleached from long confinement in the Jail, and his legs
and nose seems a little more pinched than usual, but beyond this there
was nothing to betray his feelings,"

Upon reaching the platform, HeCarty knelt for 2 few moment's prayer

with Father Smythe. He then tock his stand on the trap, holding in his

hands a crucifix, .

Father Smythe addressed the crowd, about 75,which had been admitted
to the gallows enclosure. Next, McCarty told the audience that he was
"innocent of the crime." At the conclusion of his statement, McCarty
kissed the crucifix and returned it to Father Smythe. He shook hands
with most of those standing on the platform and bade them farewell, His
feet and hands were then pinioned, the black cap drawn over his head,
while he repeated his devotions. The rope was adjusted, while HcCarty
told Maledron to draw it tight.

At 2:07 the drop fell; the body of the convicted felon "going down
1ike a shot and stopping with that dull horrible sound that always attends
such events." Fat's neck was broken. He was pronounced dead at 2.38, when
hils body was taken down and placed in a neat coffin. 32

® * &%

The war ageinst crime in the Indian Territory claimed Sam Sixkiller's
successor,

Jim and Nark Cunnieus, and Ed Leeper broke into s Kissouri Pacific
freight carand stole 800 pounds of flour and three caddies of tobacco, :{_ R
Iho gtolen goods were taken to the camp, where they were cutting railroad

B

.Bd!s.father, when he saw what his son and his friends had done, i s

T

reﬁorted the matter to William Fields, Besides being a deputy marshal, Fields



served as a railroad detective, After securing warrants for the robbers!
arrest from the U, S. comrdissioner, Fields on Sunday morning, April 9,0"
tcok young Leeper and Nark Cunnieus into custody. The arrests were mad"*
nine miles northesst of EKufaula. Leaving the two men in charge of his posg y
Fiél&é, accompanied by Crowdy Nucks, started for the tie cutters® camp to
arrest Jim Cunnieus, Approaching the camp, Fields and Nucks encountered
Cunnieus, who was riding a mule, and was armed with a shotgun and a revolver.
Fields "threw down" on Cunnieus with his Winchester and called, "Jim,
I've got a writ for you, throw down‘your gun, "

Hardly had these words left the marshal's lips, when Cunnieus fired,
inflicting a scalp wound. Leaping from his mule, the badman used the animal
as a shield,

As he dismounted, Fields shot; Cunnieus replied with a blast from the
other barrel of his shotgun, Eighteen "turkey balls" ripped into the officer,
killing him almost instantly., Having emptied his shotgun, the outlaw whipped
out his pistol and began shooting at Nucks, who shot back. The two men
enzaged in a running gunbattle., Finally, Nucks sent a2 ball crashing into
Cunnieus* left thigh. Throwing down his pistol, the badman surrendered to
the plucky Negro. [During the skirmish, 40 to 50 shots had been exchanged.
Nucks!' clothing had been torn by several bullets.

The shooting caused tremendous excitement in Fufauwla. Cunnieus' friends
banded together and voiced threats of rescuing him, while the people of Eufaula
threatened to lynch the wounded gu